
City of Palmer, Alaska 
Regular City Council Meeting 

June 27, 2017, at 7 PM 
City Council Chambers 

231 W. Evergreen Avenue, Palmer 
www.cityofpalmer.org 

Agenda 

Mayor Edna B. DeVries 
Deputy Mayor Linda Combs 
Council Member Richard Best 
Council Member Steve Carrington 
Council Member David Fuller 
Council Member Brad Hanson 
Council Member Pete LaFrance 

City Attorney Michael Gatti 
City Clerk Norma I. Alley, MMC 
City Manager Nathan Wallace 

A. Call to Order

B. Roll Call

C. Pledge of Allegiance

D. Approval of Agenda
1. Approval of Consent Agenda

a. Action Memorandum No. 17-044: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute
a One Year Contract with the Matanuska-Susitna Borough to Provide Fire Emergency
Response to the Greater Palmer Fire Service Area (GPFSA) ................ Page 5 

b. Action Memorandum No. 17-045: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute
a One Year Contract for Rescue Services with the Matanuska-Susitna Borough
 .................................................................................................... Page 17 

c. Action Memorandum No. 17-046: Authorizing the City Manager to Execute a Contract
with Matanuska Electric Association for the Cost of Relocating the Primary Powerline at the
Palmer Waste Water Treatment Facility, for $62,000.00 .................... Page 27 

d. Action Memorandum No. 17-047: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute
a New Lease Agreement with FCA Properties, LLC, Solely Owned by Mr. John A. Biornstad, on
Block 3, Lease Lot 33, Palmer Municipal Airport to Coincide with the Completion of the Hangar
Purchase Agreement Between Mr. Helmericks and Mr. Biornstad ........ Page 35 

e. Action Memorandum No. 17-048: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute
a Renewed Lease Agreement with Artic’s Air Academy, LLC, on Block 3, Lease Lots 26 and
27, Palmer Municipal Airport Under an Original PMA Lease No. 77-1 and PMA Lease No. 81-3
Respectively ................................................................................... Page 79 

f. Action Memorandum No. 17-049: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute
a Renewed Lease Agreement with N A Holdings, LLC, Formerly Known as Colville Logistics,
LLC, Solely Owned by Mr. Jeff Helmericks, on Block 3, Lease Lot 30, Palmer Municipal Airport
Under an Original PMA Lease No. 78-1 and PMA Lease No. 00-2 Respectively
 .................................................................................................... Page 117 

g. Action Memorandum No. 17-050: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute
an Assignment and Consent to Assignment Agreement with Jeff Helmericks and Northern
Aviation, LLC, for the PMA Lease No. 92-1 on Block 3, Lease Lot 29, Palmer Municipal Airport
for the Purpose of Transferring the Lease from Mr. Helmericks to His Actual Operating Entity
 .................................................................................................... Page 161 

h. Action Memorandum No. 17-051: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute
a New Lease Agreement with the Federal Aviation Administration, for their Palmer Flight
Service Station Operations at the Randy Thom Flight Service Center Building Located at 901
E. Yukon Street .............................................................................. Page 215 

Page 1 of 478

http://www.cityofpalmer.org/


i. Action Memorandum No. 17-052: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute
Lease Amendment and Modification Agreements with Hinchinbrook Equipment Solely Owned
by New Horizons Telecom, Inc., Lease Lot 5, Palmer Municipal Airport
 .................................................................................................... Page 245 

2. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings
a. February 14, 2017, Regular Meeting ................................................ Page 263 
b. May 23, 2017, Regular Meeting ....................................................... Page 271 

E. Communication and Appearance Requests

F. Reports
1. City Manager’s Report .......................................................................... Page 277 
2. City Clerk’s Report
3. Mayor’s Report .................................................................................... Page 281 
4. City Attorney’s Report

G. Audience Participation

H. Public Hearing
1. Ordinance No. 17-009-Z-1-SL: Amending the Zoning Map to Revise the Designation of Tax

Parcel C8, Located in Section 4, Township 17 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian from R-1,
Single-family Residential to R-4, High Density Residential with Special Limitations
 .......................................................................................................... Page 283 

2. Ordinance No. 17-010-Z-1-SL: Amending the Zoning Map to Revise the Designation of Lot 8,
Lot 7 and the West One-half of Lot 6, Block 3, T A Smith Subdivision Located in Section 33,
Township 18 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian from R-2, Low Density Residential to CG –
General Commercial with Special Limitations .......................................... Page 365 

3. Resolution No. 17-021: Authorizing the Vacation of a 20’ by 113’ Alley Adjacent to Tract 3 and
Lots 8, 7 and 6 of Block 3, TA Smith Subdivision and Replacement of Vacated Area with a 20’
Utility Easement .................................................................................. Page 397 

4. Resolution No. 17-022: Accepting and Appropriating the 2017 Volunteer Fire Assistance Grant
from the State of Alaska, Department of Natural Resources, Division of Forestry, in the Amount
of $7,500.00 for the Purchase of Wildland Firefighting Equipment, Fire Safety Shelters,
Firefighting Suppression Foam and Wildland Fire Personal Protective Clothing
 .......................................................................................................... Page 409 

I. Action Memoranda
1. Action Memorandum No. 17-053: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Purchase

Insurance Coverage for the Period July 1, 2017, through June 30, 2018, per the Premium Quote
Submitted by the City’s Insurance Broker, Insurance Brokers of Alaska .... Page 415 

J. New Business
1. Resolution No. 17-023: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Enter into a Four-Year

Agreement with Motorola Solutions to Lease-Purchase Radio and Computer Aided Dispatch
Equipment in the Amount of $725,913.28, and to Lease Over a Term Ending No Later Than
August of 2021, and to Obtain the Equipment Under the Governmental and Proprietary
Procurements Section of Palmer Municipal Code 3.21.230 ....................... Page 445 

K. Record of Items Placed on the Table

L. Audience Participation

M. Council Member Comments
Page 2 of 478



N. Adjournment

Tentative 2017 Palmer City Council Meetings 

Meeting Date Meeting 
Type Time Notes 

July 11 Special 6 pm PRCRAB Joint Meeting 

July 11 Regular 7 pm 

July 25 Special 6 pm Audit Report 

July 25 Regular 7 pm 

Aug 8 Regular 7 pm 

Aug 22 Regular 7 pm 

Sept 12 Regular 7 pm 

Sept 26 Regular 7 pm 

Page 3 of 478



 

Page 4 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-044 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Action Memorandum No. 17-044 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute a One Year Contract with the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough to Provide Fire Emergency Response to the Greater Palmer Fire Service 
Area (GPFSA) 
 
Agenda of: June 27, 2017 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Denied 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Fire Chief John McNutt 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 

  Community Development    

X  Finance  

 6/8/17 

X  Fire   7 Jun 17 

  Police     

  Public Works     

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 

 

 

City Attorney   

City Clerk   
 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 368,622.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
X Creates revenue in the amount of: $ 368,622.00 
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
X Budgeted Line item(s): 01-00-00-3425 Fire Services Contract 
 Not budgeted   

 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 5 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-044 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
 GPFSA Intergovernmental Agreement 

 
Summary Statement:  
 
Since the mid-1960s, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough has contracted with the City of Palmer to provide 
fire protection and response services to the Greater Palmer Fire Service Area (GPFSA). This has resulted 
in a mutually beneficial relationship to Palmer and the GPFSA. The current contract will expire June 30, 
2017. The contract has been slightly revised to reflect the appropriate date and monetary changes, as 
well as operational clarity.  
 
The financial data has been updated to reflect the 2017 Council approved budget. With certain exceptions, 
such as the City and GPFSA paying the insurance on their prospective apparatus, the contract calls for the 
GPFSA to pay the remaining one-half of the City of Palmer’s Fire & Rescue budget. Operationally, 
combining fire service response for the City and the GPFSA allows for a larger pool of paid-on-call 
volunteers to respond to a call in either area, and it allows for a smaller, more streamlined overhead 
expense to the borough and the city. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
To approve Action Memorandum No. 17-044 Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute a 
One Year Contract with the Matanuska-Susitna Borough to Provide Fire Emergency Response to the 
Greater Palmer Fire Service Area (GPFSA). 

Page 6 of 478



Matanuska Susitna Borough and City of Palmer  Page 1 
Fire Service Area Agreement 
July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018 

MATANUSKA-SUSITNA BOROUGH  

GREATER PALMER FIRE SERVICE AREA  

and  

CITY OF PALMER 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL FIRE SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is made between the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, a municipal corporation, 
hereafter referred to as “Borough” and the City of Palmer, hereafter referred to as “City” for the 
provision of fire protection services.  

SECTION 1. Definitions 

In this contract hereafter: 

A. The term “Agreement” means the Matanuska-Susitna Borough Greater Palmer Fire 
Service Area and City of Palmer Fire Services Agreement. 

B. The term “Borough” means the Matanuska-Susitna Borough. 

C.  The term “City” means the City of Palmer. 

D. The term “GPFSA” means the Greater Palmer Fire Service Area.  

SECTION 2. Authority 

This intergovernmental agreement is authorized pursuant to Alaska State Constitution, Article X, 
Section 13 and A.S. 29.35.010(13) and is for the joint administration and exercise of fire 
protection services by the Borough and the City.  

SECTION 3. Term 

This contract shall be for one (1) year commencing on July 1, 2017, and ending on June 30, 
2018, subject to the termination provisions of Sections 20 and 21.  

SECTION 4. Compensation/Consideration 

A. The Borough shall pay to the City an amount not to exceed  $368,622 during the term of 
this contract, to be paid in two equal payments each in the amount of $184.311.00. This 
amount is based upon 50% of the Palmer Fire’s annual operating budget between the 
Borough (GPFSA) and the City, as per Section 7.B. of this Agreement. 

B. The schedule for payments shall commence with the first payment of   $184,311.00 due 
no later than July 31, 2017. The second payment shall be made no later than January 30, 
2018. 

Page 7 of 478



Matanuska Susitna Borough and City of Palmer  Page 2 
Fire Service Area Agreement 
July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018 

C. Payments made under this contract are subject to appropriation of funds by the Borough.  

D. The City agrees that any fire department operational funds designated in the budget for 
specific personnel or new equipment purchases that form the basis of the above amount 
of the payment that are not expended will be refunded to the Borough. 

E. Should an emergency or unforeseen event occur that will require additional funds for 
services under this contract, the City shall notify the Borough in writing of the amount 
and reason for the increase. The request then must be approved by the GPFSA Board of 
Supervisors. The payment of any supplemental funding shall be subject to available funds 
and Assembly appropriation. 

F. So long as the operating budget is funded 50% from the City and Borough as in Section 
4.A., any funds from the City Fire Department budget not spent during this fiscal period 
will be refunded to the Borough; the residual balance to be at the rate defined in Section 
4.A. The refund shall be paid by check.  

SECTION 5. Service Boundaries 

The City shall provide fire protection services within the GPFSA and to those other Borough 
FSA’s under the approved mutual aid and automatic aid agreements signed by the City of 
Palmer.  

SECTION 6. Vehicles and Equipment 

The City agrees to maintain all vehicles and firefighting and communications equipment 
belonging to the City and the GPFSA in a working condition. For major repair of Borough-
owned vehicles or equipment (any repair costing more than $1,000), the City shall first receive 
concurrence from the Borough Emergency Services Director prior to repair. For repairs 
exceeding $1,000 for GPFSA-owned vehicles, the total cost of the repairs will be paid by the 
Borough (the City will pay for its own vehicles). 

For Borough-owned vehicles in which an insurance claim may be involved, see Section 16 of 
this Agreement. 

The vehicles and equipment assigned to or purchased for the GPFSA shall remain the property of 
the GPFSA. 

SECTION 7. Expenses 

A. The City agrees that all funds expended under this contract shall be used solely and 
exclusively for providing fire protection services as per Section 7.B. of this agreement. The 
City further agrees to provide the Borough with an inventory list by station and vehicle of 
equipment assigned to or purchased for that station or vehicle, as per National Fire Protection 
Association (NFPA) 1901 and Insurance Services Organization (ISO) standards. The City 
will not be required to maintain separate inventories of Borough and City equipment. 

Page 8 of 478



Matanuska Susitna Borough and City of Palmer  Page 3 
Fire Service Area Agreement 
July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018 

B. Eligible fire protection services operating expenses for the City are as follows: 

a. Salaries and benefits for the firefighter personnel; 

b. A proportionate share of the salaries and benefits for City fire administrative 
personnel, as determined by their respective job duties and descriptions; 

c. Travel and expense reimbursement for fire protection related travel; 

d. Training: Firefighter training (structural and wildland), fire officer training, fire 
prevention training, fire code training, mandated Federal, State and local training, and 
any miscellaneous fire-related training; 

e. Utilities directly related to any City fire department buildings; 

f. Fuel expenses for fire apparatus, fire support vehicles, and motorized equipment and 
tools; 

g. Rental/lease of equipment directly related to fire protection, and rent/lease of facilities 
or storage space that is of benefit to the GPFSA; 

h. Insurance: 

i. The City will provide at its own expense workers compensation insurance, 
and unemployment insurance for all positions related to this agreement (see 
Section 16); 

ii. The City will pay the vehicle insurance for those vehicles owned by the City; 

iii. The Borough shall provide vehicle liability, and physical damage coverage on 
all Borough-owned vehicles that are directly involved with a GPFSA response 
or official business (see Section 1).     

i. Supplies: any supplies purchased that are directly fire related; 

j. Maintenance: any maintenance which directly benefit the fire protection services to 
fire facilities, vehicles and equipment;    

k. Personal protective equipment and uniforms purchased for firefighter and Officer 
personnel; 

l. Equipment: any equipment purchased for direct use in firefighting, fire administrative 
office, computers, and tools. 

C. Fire protection services operating expenses for the City that are non-eligible are as follows: 

a. “Miscellaneous” line item descriptions are not eligible expenditures under this 
Agreement; 

Page 9 of 478



Matanuska Susitna Borough and City of Palmer  Page 4 
Fire Service Area Agreement 
July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018 

b. City capital budget items are not eligible expenditures under this Agreement. 

c. Administrative overhead expenses are eligible expenses but must not exceed 10% of 
the operating budget total (exclusive of Section 7.B.b. above). 

d. Any and all operational expenses directly or indirectly related to providing rescue 
services shall be excluded from this Agreement.   

SECTION 8. Other Expenses 

A. The City agrees to bear the costs of all building and personnel supplies, office supplies, 
household supplies, salaries and wages, and supplies which are necessary or convenient 
to the operation of such fire protection services and the performance of the obligations 
hereunder provided. 

B. The City may, at its option, use the Borough’s purchasing system for supplies and 
equipment at the actual cost of such supplies and equipment. The Borough purchasing 
procedures and policies shall apply for these purchases.  

SECTION 9 Records 

A. The City shall provide a report at its own expense, to the Borough containing the 
following information: 

B. A copy of the City of Palmer annual audit, once approved by the Palmer City Council.  

C. Fire-specific records, including: 

a. Total number and types of responses for both the City and the GPFSA fire 
services, 

b. All City fire department expenditures detailing each of the line items in the 
budget, including the amount of the rebate (see Section 4F), if any. A preliminary 
previous fiscal year annual budget report no later than February 1st, and an audited 
annual budget report within 180 days from the close of the previous fiscal year. 

c. An annual training report, 

d. An inventory list by station of all fire apparatus and support vehicles, including all 
appropriate equipment for each vehicle as recommended by NFPA 1901 and 
related ISO standards.  

SECTION 10. Personnel 

A. The City agrees to maintain an appropriate number of full-time and paid on-call fire 
fighters to respond to fires within the GPFSA or for automatic or mutual aid as requested 

Page 10 of 478



Matanuska Susitna Borough and City of Palmer  Page 5 
Fire Service Area Agreement 
July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018 

by other Borough fire service areas. The City agrees that such personnel shall meet the 
minimum training standards of the City of Palmer. 

B. The City agrees that all personnel will comply with all requirements of federal, state and 
local mandates, including, but not limited to O.S.H.A., Homeland Security, and the State 
Fire Marshall’s Office.  

SECTION 11. Operating Procedures 

The City will provide fire suppression operations using city procedures that are interoperable 
with Borough Standard Operating Procedures as established by the Director of the Department of 
Emergency Services when responding to fires in the GPFSA or when providing mutual/auto aid 
to other Borough Fire Service Areas. 

 

SECTION 12. Public Safety Buildings 

The City shall insure that the three GPFSA Public Safety Buildings (Station 32, Station 33 and 
Station 35) are maintained with indoor heat for parking of the apparatus and storage of other 
necessary equipment and supplies. The public safety buildings shall allow for immediate and 
rapid entrance and exit of personnel and equipment. 

The Borough shall provide any capital improvements necessary to these Borough-owned 
facilities and will maintain the structure, the mechanicals, and the septic and water systems 
unless damage is due to negligence.  

SECTION 13. Relationship of Parties 

The City shall perform its obligations under this agreement as an independent contractor for the 
Borough. The Borough shall not supervise or direct the City other than as provided in this 
agreement.  

SECTION 14. Mutual / Auto Aid 

For the purposes of this contractual relationship between the Palmer Fire and Rescue and the 
GPFSA, there is no traditional mutual aid response to and from either the City or the GPFSA. It 
is agreed by both Parties that each response within the City of Palmer’s jurisdiction will be 
considered a City incident, and all responses within the Great Palmer Fire Service Area will be 
considered a Borough incident.   

SECTION 15. Nondiscrimination 

Page 11 of 478



Matanuska Susitna Borough and City of Palmer  Page 6 
Fire Service Area Agreement 
July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018 

In performing its duties under this contract, neither party may discriminate against any person on 
the basis of race, creed, color, religion, national origin, age, sex or marital status, physical 
handicap, status as a disabled veteran.  

 

SECTION 16. Insurance 

The City agrees, at its own expense, to provide workers compensation insurance for all 
firefighting personnel. The City and the Borough shall provide vehicle liability for their 
respective vehicles, physical damage coverage on agreed to vehicles for the term of this 
agreement: 

The City and the Borough agree to notify the other party immediately of any situation, incident 
or event that may cause a claim to be made against the other party. The City and the Borough 
agree to cooperate with one another in any accident or incident investigation and reporting 
required as a result of an incident involving the GPFSA.   

SECTION 17. Financial Records 

Expenditures of funds under this contract shall be made solely for the purpose of fulfilling the 
GPFSA’s fire protection duties and obligations, and to the same extent as may be required by 
law governing all other expenditures of the City, shall be subject to independent audit.  

SECTION 18. Additional Insurance. 
 
The City agrees to add the Borough as an additional insured to the same extent as it insures itself 
for professional liability, errors and omissions and excess coverage.  The requirement that the 
Borough be an additional insured shall only be required for those activities by the City in 
providing fire protection services under this agreement.   

SECTION 19. Assignment 

Neither this contract nor any interest created hereby may be assigned by the City or the Borough 
without the express written consent of the Borough Manager or the City of Palmer Manager. 

SECTION 20. Termination of Contract for Cause 

If, through any cause, the City or Borough shall fail to fulfill its obligations under this contract, 
or shall violate any of the covenants, agreements, or stipulations of this contract, the Borough or 
City shall thereupon have the right to terminate this contract. The City or Borough should do so 
by giving written notice at least thirty (30) days before the effective date of such termination.  

SECTION 21. Termination for Convenience of the Parties 

Page 12 of 478



Matanuska Susitna Borough and City of Palmer  Page 7 
Fire Service Area Agreement 
July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018 

Either party may terminate this contract for any reason at any time by giving a sixty (60) day 
written notice to the other party of such termination and specifying the effective date of such 
termination. In that event, all equipment, vehicles, supplies, reports or other materials that are the 
property of the Borough shall be returned to the Borough by the effective date of termination. All 
property of the City shall be returned to the City by the effective date of termination. The City 
shall refund to the Borough the prorated share of any monies paid to the City by the Borough for 
fire services under this Agreement. 

 

SECTION 22. Contract Administration 

A. The Department of Emergency Services Director or his designee will be the 
representative of the Borough administering this agreement. 

B. The services to be furnished by the City shall be administered, supervised, and directed 
by the City of Palmer Fire Chief or their designee.  In the event that the position named 
above or any of the positions identified under this contract are unable to serve for any 
reason, the City shall appoint a successor.  

SECTION 23. Modifications 

The Borough and the City may, from time to time, modify the scope and content of this 
Agreement. Agreements to modify must be in writing, executed by both parties.  

SECTION 24. Complete Agreement 

This instrument and all appendices and amendments hereto embody the entire agreement of the 
parties. There are no promises, terms, conditions or obligations other than those contained 
herein; and this contact shall supersede all previous communications, representations, or 
agreements either oral or written, between the parties.  

SECTION 25. Interpretation and Enforcement 

This agreement is being executed by the parties following negotiations between them. It shall be 
construed according to the fair intent of the language as a whole, not for or against any party. 
The titles of sections in this agreement are not to be construed as limitations or definitions but 
are for identification purposes only.  

If any provision of this agreement is determined to be void or invalid, the remaining provisions 
of the agreement shall be in full force and effect. 

SECTION 26. Mutual Understanding 

Page 13 of 478



Matanuska Susitna Borough and City of Palmer  Page 8 
Fire Service Area Agreement 
July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018 

The Borough and the City acknowledge that both have read and understand the terms of this 
agreement, have had the opportunity to review the same with counsel of their choice, and are 
executing this agreement of their own free will. 

 The covenants and conditions contained herein shall be the whole and complete agreement 
between the parties and shall apply to and bind the parties, their successors and assigns.  

  

Page 14 of 478



Matanuska Susitna Borough and City of Palmer  Page 9 
Fire Service Area Agreement 
July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018 

SECTION 27.  Venue 

The venue of any dispute that arises and results in the filing of a claim shall be the Third Judicial 
District, Palmer, Alaska. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this agreement at Palmer, Alaska, on this 
________ day of ___________________, 2017 

 

MATANUSKA -SUSITNA BOROUGH   CITY OF PALMER 

 

  

___________________________________ _________________________________ 
John Moosey, Borough Manager   Nathan Wallace, City Manger 

Page 15 of 478



 

Page 16 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-045 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Action Memorandum No. 17-045 

 
Subject: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute a One Year Contract for Rescue 
Services with the Matanuska-Susitna Borough 
 
Agenda of: June 27, 2017 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Denied 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: City Manager Nathan Wallace 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 

  Community Development    

X  Finance 
 

 6/8/17 

X  Fire  

 7 Jun 17 

  Police     

  Public Works     

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 

 

 

City Attorney   

City Clerk   
 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 50,000.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
X Creates revenue in the amount of: $ 50,000.00 
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
X Budgeted Line item(s): 01-00-00-3428 Rescue Svcs Contract 
 Not budgeted   

 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 17 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-045 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
 Rescue Services Contract 

 
Summary Statement:  
 
Since the founding of Palmer Fire & Rescue, Palmer firefighters have been responding to motor vehicle 
accidents within the City of Palmer. In the late 1960s and early 1970s, when the relationship was 
established with the Greater Palmer Fire Service Area (GPFSA), Palmer firefighters began responding to 
rescue calls throughout the GPFSA and other rescue response areas inside the Matanuska Susitna 
Borough. In 1980, Palmer Fire realized that specialized tools were needed to extricate entrapped victims 
from vehicle accident scenes. After several years, the City was able to purchase a vehicle dedicated to 
rescue and vehicle extrication duties. In the 1980s, training for rescue technicians was standardized, and 
since then Palmer rescue responders must undergo rigorous, ongoing training to meet certification 
requirements. 
 
There is no change to this agreement from the previous one. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
To approve Action Memorandum No. 17-045 Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute a 
One Year Contract for Rescue Services with the Matanuska-Susitna Borough. 

Page 18 of 478



FY18 Rescue Services Agreement: MSB and Palmer  Page 1 of 7 
 
 

AGREEMENT FOR RESCUE SERVICES 
 

By and Between the 
 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough 
 

and the 
 

City of Palmer 
 
 
 

A. Purposes:  
 
This agreement establishes the policies and procedures whereby the City of Palmer 
provides primary Rescue Services to the City of Palmer and the Greater Palmer 
Consolidated Fire Service Area, and mutual/auto aid Rescue Services to other 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough emergency services jurisdictions when requested.  

 
B. Definitions:  

 
For the purposes of this document, “rescue service” means: 

 
 Responding to on road vehicular accidents as dispatched with an appropriate 

number of responders and performing all tasks associated with a vehicular 
rescue including, but not limited to: 

 
o Establishing a safety zone to include blocking traffic if necessary; 

 
o Assessing the situation to plan for the safest possible environment for the 

responders, the patients and bystanders; 
 

o Stabilization of the vehicle(s) including securing batteries, airbags and 
insuring a stable platform; 
 

o Using appropriate tools to provide the safest and most efficient manner of 
extrication including all hand tools, saws, scene lighting devices and 
heavy hydraulics; 
 

o Assisting the ambulance responders in appropriately packaging and 
removing any and all  patients; 
 

o Insuring all extrication equipment is recovered; and 
o Preparing all rescue apparatus as quickly as possible to be ready to 

respond to another call. 
 

o Landing Zones- at non-approved FAA landing sites 
 

Page 19 of 478



FY18 Rescue Services Agreement: MSB and Palmer  Page 2 of 7 
 
 

 Responding to off road incidents as dispatched with an appropriate number of 
responders and performing all tasks associated with an off road rescue 
including, but not limited to: 

 
o Insuring all responders have appropriate personal protective equipment 

as necessary for the environment; 
 

o Assessing the situation to plan for the safest possible environment for the 
responders, the patient and bystanders; 
 

o Utilizing an appropriate number of responders, snow machines, and/or 
ATVs as necessary to perform a safe and efficient off road recovery of the 
patient(s); 
 

o Assisting the ambulance responders and/or flight medics in appropriately 
packaging and removing any and all patients; 
 

o Insuring all equipment is recovered; and 
 

o Preparing all apparatus as quickly as possible to be ready to respond to 
another call. 

 
 Responding as dispatched with the Matanuska-Susitna Borough Water Rescue 

Team to assist with any water duties as requested. 
 

 Responding as dispatched with an ambulance service to provide assistance with 
medical care or lifting assistance as necessary.   

 
C. Authority: 

 
This intergovernmental agreement for providing services and mutual/auto aid 
emergency services between the Matanuska-Susitna Borough and the City of 
Palmer is authorized pursuant to Alaska Constitution, Article 10 § 13, A.S. 
29.35.010(13), and A.S. 18.70.150. 
 

D. Insurance: 
 

1. The City of Palmer agrees to maintain commercial general liability and auto 
liability limits as shown below: 

 
Commercial General Liability 
$2,000,000 Each Occurrence        
$2,000,000 General Aggregate   

    
Auto Liability  

  $2,000,000 Combined Single Limit Bodily Injury & Property Damage  
    Any one Accident 

Page 20 of 478



FY18 Rescue Services Agreement: MSB and Palmer  Page 3 of 7 
 
 

2. The City of Palmer agrees to Maintain Worker’s Compensation Insurance, which 
shall be statutory as required by the State of Alaska. Employer’s liability shall 
maintain limits no less than: 

 
Bodily Injury by accident  $1,000,000 each accident 

 Bodily Injury by disease   $1,000,000 policy limit 
Bodily Injury by disease  $1,000,000 each employee 

 
E. Jurisdiction; Choice of Law, Severability: 

 
Any civil action arising from this agreement shall be brought in the superior court for 
the third judicial district of the State of Alaska. The law of the State of Alaska shall 
govern the rights and obligations of the parties.  

 
If any section or clause of this agreement is held invalid by a court of law of 
competent jurisdiction, or is otherwise invalid under the law, the remainder of this 
agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
F. General: 

 
The Director of the Matanuska-Susitna Borough Department of Emergency Services 
is designated as information coordinator for all parties to this Agreement.  This 
includes, but is not limited to, compiling, updating and informing all representatives 
of participating agencies of changes in operations and equipment that will affect 
support rendered or requested.   
 
1. This contract shall only be amended, modified or changed by a writing executed 

by authorized representatives of the parties 
 

2. For the purpose of any amendment, modification, or changes to the terms and 
conditions of this contract, the only authorized representatives of the parties 
are: 

a. Matanuska-Susitna Borough, Borough Manager 
 

b. City of Palmer, City Manager 
 

3. Any attempt to amend, modify or change this contract by either an unauthorized 
representative or unauthorized means shall be void.  

 
G. Terms of Agreement: 

 
1. It is agreed that the participants will assist each other with emergency 

rescue response, when requested. 
  

2. No additional manpower and resources are required to perform the support 
provided for in this Agreement. Resources are limited to equipment and 
manpower available at the time to the mutual/auto aid provider responding 
to the incident. 

Page 21 of 478



FY18 Rescue Services Agreement: MSB and Palmer  Page 4 of 7 
 
 

 
3. In the event of mobilization, support under the terms of this Agreement will 

be provided on the basis of availability at the sole discretion of the mutual 
aid provider and will continue as long as the mutual aid provider is able to 
provide assistance. 

 
H. Responsibilities: 

 
1. The protection area of this agreement shall include all lands, public and private, 

situated within the City of Palmer and the boundaries of the Greater Palmer 
Consolidated Fire Service Area for primary response. For mutual aid response, 
this agreement shall include all lands, public and private, situated within the City 
of Palmer and the boundaries of the Matanuska-Susitna Borough.  
 

2. In recognition of the urgent necessity for immediate and swift response in the 
event of emergency incidents requiring rescue services, and in order to protect 
human life and to assure minimum damage to and destruction of property, the 
City of Palmer agrees to provide primary response, and render assistance to the 
Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area and mutual aid response within 
the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, within operational capability using resources 
available at that time, when assistance is requested. 
 

3. The City of Palmer Dispatch Center, through MATCOM, or the Mat-Su Borough 
Director of Emergency Services (or designee) may request rescue unit response 
from the City of Palmer.  The dispatch of equipment and personnel pursuant to 
this agreement is subject to the following conditions: 

 
a. The responding department shall report to the Incident Commander 

or Officer in Charge of the incident and shall be subject to the 
direction of that Incident Commander or Officer in Charge. 

 
 

b. Mutual/Auto aid resources shall be released as soon as their services 
are no longer required.  Mutual/Auto aid resources may have to be 
released from the incident scene, if an emergency occurs within the 
City of Palmer and/or the Greater Palmer Consolidated FSA primary 
response area. 

 
4. In no event shall the rescue service of one of the mutual/auto aid providers 

to this agreement aid a jurisdiction of another mutual/auto aid provider if, by 
so doing, the area of the mutual aid provider responding to the aid of 
another would be placed in jeopardy.  The decision shall be made at the sole 
discretion of the Palmer Fire Chief, or Mat-Su Borough Director of Emergency 
Services. 

 
I. Waiver, Non-Waiver: 

 

Page 22 of 478



FY18 Rescue Services Agreement: MSB and Palmer  Page 5 of 7 
 
 

1. Each party waives all claims against every other mutual aid provider for 
compensation for loss, damage, personal injury or death occurring as a 
consequence of the performance of this agreement. 

 
2. The failure of the Borough or City of Palmer at any time to enforce a 

provision of this agreement shall in no way constitute a waiver of provisions, 
nor in any way affect the validity of this agreement, or any part thereof, or 
the right of the Borough or City of Palmer to thereafter to enforce each and 
every protection thereof. 

 
J. Interest, Non-Benefit: 

 
1. No member of or delegate to the Congress of the United States, and no 

resident commissioner, shall be admitted to any share or part thereof or to 
any benefit to arise from this agreement.  No member of the legislature or 
officer of the state of Alaska or the Borough shall be admitted to any share 
or part hereof, or to any benefit to arise from this agreement. 

 
2. No officer, member, or employee of the Borough or City of Palmer and no 

member of their governing bodies, and no other public official of the 
governing bodies shall participate in any decision relating to this agreement 
which affects his personal interest or the interest of any corporation, 
partnership, or association in which he is directly or indirectly, interested in 
having any personal or pecuniary interest, direct or indirect, in this 
agreement. 

 
K. Nondiscrimination:   

 
In performing its duties under this agreement, neither party may discriminate 
against any person on the basis of race, creed, color, religion, national origin, age, 
sex or marital status, physical handicap, status as a disabled veteran. 

 
L. Review, Negotiation or Amendment, Modification: 

 
1. This agreement will be reviewed annually by both parties no later than March 

1. 
 
2. The Borough and the City of Palmer, from time to time, may require 

modification, special review, negotiation or amendments in the scope and 
content of this agreement.  Requests to modify, review, negotiate or amend 
may be initiated at any time upon written request from any participant.  
Such written request will be submitted to the Matanuska-Susitna Borough 
Department of Emergency Services Director or the City of Palmer Fire Chief. 

 
3. Unless otherwise amended or terminated, this agreement will remain in 

effect for one (1) year beginning July 1, 2017 with one (1) optional one (1) 
year extension by addendum.  Upon approval by both parties, the 

Page 23 of 478



FY18 Rescue Services Agreement: MSB and Palmer  Page 6 of 7 
 
 

amendment(s) or modification(s) will be attached to and become part of this 
document. 

 
M. Integration: 

 
This instrument and all appendices and amendments hereto embody the entire 
agreement of the parties.  There are no promises, terms, conditions, or obligations 
other than those contained herein; and this agreement shall supersede all previous 
communications, representations, or agreements, either oral or written, between 
the parties.  

 
N. Contract Pricing: 

 
The Matanuska-Susitna Borough will pay the City of Palmer $50,000 (fifty thousand 
dollars) per year to provide rescue services as per this agreement. 

 
O. Termination for Convenience:  

 
The Matanuska-Susitna Borough or the City of Palmer may terminate this 
agreement at any time by giving written notice to the other party(s) of such 
termination and specifying the effective date of such termination.  Each party shall 
provide at least ninety (90) days’ notice of such termination.  In that event, all 
equipment, vehicles, supplies, reports, or other materials shall be returned to their 
respective owners. 
 

P. Interpretation and Enforcement: 
 

The City of Palmer and the Matanuska-Susitna Borough following negotiations 
between them are executing this agreement.  It shall be construed according to the 
fair intent of the language as a whole, not for or against any party.  The titles of 
sections in this agreement are not to be construed as limitations or definitions, but 
are for identification purposed only. 
 

Q. Understanding: 
 

The Matanuska-Susitna Borough and the City of Palmer acknowledge that they 
have read and understand the terms of this agreement, have had the opportunity 
to review the same with counsel of their choice, and are executing this agreement 
of their own free will. 

 
R. Implementation Clause: 

 
This agreement is effective upon the approval by resolution by the City of Palmer 
Council and the Matanuska-Susitna Borough Assembly. 

 
 

Page 24 of 478



FY18 Rescue Services Agreement: MSB and Palmer  Page 7 of 7 
 
 

 
 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough 
 
 
 
 
 
             
John Moosey, Borough Manager     Date 
 
 
 
 
City of Palmer 
 
 
 
 
             
Nathan Wallace, City Manager     Date 

Page 25 of 478



 

Page 26 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-046 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Action Memorandum No. 17-046 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Execute a Contract with Matanuska Electric Association for 
the Cost of Relocating the Primary Powerline at the Palmer Waste Water Treatment Facility, for 
$62,000.00 
 
Agenda of: June 27, 2017 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Denied 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Director of Public Works Chris Nall 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 

  Community Development    

√  Finance  

 06/06/17 

  Fire    

  Police     

√  Public Works    
06/06/17 

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 

 

 

City Attorney   

City Clerk   
 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 62,000.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 62,000.00 
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
√ Budgeted Line item(s): 24-01-12-6220 Grant 14-DC-125 
 Not budgeted   

 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 27 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-046 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
 MEA Letter of Agreement 
 MEA Main Powerline drawing 
 City Manager Memorandum of Waiver of Formal Procedures 

 
Summary Statement:  
 
Moving the main powerline entering the Palmer Waste Water Treatment Facility must be completed to 
facilitate space for the new MBBR system. This relocation must be completed prior to any major movement 
by the construction contractor with the project. 
 
The relocation agreement was not executed prior to the construction contract as planned by the 
administration in March 2017. 
 
This action was approved previously by the City Manager through a waiver of formal procedures in the 
best interest of the city in accordance with Palmer Municipal Code 3.21.280 Waiver of formal procedures.   
 
This memorandum is to finalize the actions taken by the city manager. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approval of this action memorandum allowing the City Manager to execute the contract with MEA.  
 

Page 28 of 478



Page 29 of 478



Page 30 of 478



Page 31 of 478



 

Page 32 of 478



Page 33 of 478



Page 34 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-047 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Action Memorandum No. 17-047 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute a New Lease Agreement with FCA 
Properties, LLC, Solely Owned by Mr. John A. Biornstad, on Block 3, Lease Lot 33, Palmer Municipal Airport 
to Coincide with the Completion of the Hangar Purchase Agreement Between Mr. Helmericks and Mr. 
Biornstad 
 
Agenda of: June 27, 2017 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Denied 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Airport Superintendent Frank J. Kelley 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 

  Community Development    

X  Finance 
 

 6/8/17 

  Fire    

  Police     

  Public Works     

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 

 

 

City Attorney   

City Clerk   
 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 2,406.69 
 

This legislation (√): 
X Creates revenue in the amount of: $ $2,406.69 
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
X Budgeted Line item(s): 03-00-00-3431  Airport Land Leases 
X Not budgeted  03-00-00-3431  Airport Land Leases (Increase $185.13) 
 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 35 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-047 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
 Draft Lease Agreement 17-007 & (Exhibit A) 
 Draft Memorandum of Lease Agreement 17-007 
 Hangar Bill of Sale Colville Logistics LLC to FCA Properties LLC 
 Hangar Improvements Made 
 Quit Claim Deed 
 Identity Documents 

 
Summary Statement:   
 
Mr. Biornstad has requested a new Lease agreement with the City of Palmer to coincide with the 
finalization of paperwork associated with his original hangar purchase agreement with Mr. Helmericks 
began in 2009.     
 
FCA Properties, LLC purchased the unfinished improvements from Colville Logistics, LLC in 2009 for $135K 
and has spent an additional $101K to complete them for a total investment in the improvements of $236K.  
Mr. Helmericks and Mr. Biornstad have finally completed and documented their agreement so this transfer 
of improvements and lease could be finalized.  Mr. Biornstad owns and operates Fish Creek Airmotive 
from this location which primarily repairs, rebuilds and adjusts airplane magnetos.  
 
In granting this new lease agreement, this City will be using its new leasing document and up to date 
lease language, receiving a rental rate increase from $0.06 to $0.065 cents per square foot, and actually 
conduct business with the appropriate operating entity on the premises. Mr. Biornstad will personally 
guarantee the new lease agreement for FCA Properties, LLC.     
    
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
To approve Action Memorandum No. 17-047 for approval to execute a new Lease Agreement 17-0075 
with Mr. John A. Biornstad and FCA Properties, LLC. 

Page 36 of 478



 
 

1 
 

City of Palmer 
231 West Evergreen Avenue 

Palmer, AK 99645 
907-745-3271 

 
 

PALMER MUNICIPAL AIPORT 
LEASE AGREEMENT No. 17-007 

 
Contents 
ARTICLE I - PREMISES, TERM AND RENTALS .............................................................................. 4 

Section 1.1 Premises and Purpose ............................................................................................... 4 

Section 1.2 Term and Renewal ..................................................................................................... 4 

Section 1.3 Rent ................................................................................................................................. 5 

Section 1.4 Rent Adjustment ......................................................................................................... 6 

Section 1.5 Determination of Fair Market Rent ...................................................................... 7 

ARTICLE II - IMPROVEMENTS ........................................................................................................... 7 

Section 2.1 Improvements ............................................................................................................. 7 

Section 2.2 Liens ................................................................................................................................ 7 

Section 2.3 Improvements Subject to Reversion or Removal ........................................... 7 

Section 2.4 Alterations and Other Improvements ................................................................. 7 

ARTICLE III - USE OF THE LEASED PREMISES ............................................................................ 8 

Section 3.1 Airport Purposes ......................................................................................................... 8 

Section 3.2 Compliance with Laws .............................................................................................. 8 

Section 3.3 Hazardous Materials .................................................................................................. 8 

Section 3.4 Americans with Disabilities Act ........................................................................... 10 

Section 3.5 Reservations and Exceptions ............................................................................... 10 

Section 3.6 Subordination of Lease to Requirements of the Federal Aviation 
Administration ................................................................................................................................... 10 

Section 3.7 Aircraft on Premises ................................................................................................ 10 

Section 3.8 Discriminatory Acts Prohibited ............................................................................ 11 

Section 3.9 Affirmative Action ..................................................................................................... 11 

Section 3.10 Maintenance of Premises .................................................................................... 12 

Section 3.11 Signs............................................................................................................................ 12 

Section 3.12 Improvements and Alterations ......................................................................... 12 

Section 3.13 Quiet Possession..................................................................................................... 13 

Page 37 of 478



 
 

2 
 

Section 3.14 Lessee’s option to Terminate ............................................................................. 14 

Section 3.15 Lessor’s Option to Terminate ............................................................................. 14 

Section 3.16 Right of Entry and Access ................................................................................... 14 

Section 3.17 Lessor’s Improvements ........................................................................................ 14 

Section 3.18 Aviation Easement ................................................................................................. 15 

Section 3.19 Right-of-Way and Easement .............................................................................. 15 

ARTICLE IV - TAXES, INDEMNIFICATION, AND INSURANCE .............................................. 15 

Section 4.1 Taxes, Assessments, and Utilities ....................................................................... 15 

Section 4.2 Indemnification ......................................................................................................... 16 

Section 4.3 Insurance ..................................................................................................................... 16 

ARTICLE V - ASSIGNMENT AND SECURITY INTERESTS ........................................................ 17 

Section 5.1 Assignment and Subletting ................................................................................... 17 

Section 5.2 Mortgage and Encumbrances ............................................................................... 18 

ARTICLE VI - DEFAULT AND ENFORCEMENT ............................................................................. 18 

Section 6.1 Default Defined.......................................................................................................... 18 

Section 6.2 Lessor Remedies on Default ................................................................................. 19 

Section 6.3 Lessor’s Failure to Enforce and Non-waiver ................................................... 21 

ARTICLE VII - GENERAL COVENANTS ........................................................................................... 21 

Section 7.1 Condition and Status of Premises....................................................................... 21 

Section 7.2 Risk of Loss ................................................................................................................. 21 

Section 7.3 Repair or Rebuilding ................................................................................................ 22 

Section 7.4 Condemnation ............................................................................................................ 22 

Section 7.5 Surrender of Premises ............................................................................................ 22 

Section 7.6 Reversion or Removal of Buildings and Improvements ............................. 22 

Section 7.7 Holdover ....................................................................................................................... 23 

Section 7.8 Notices .......................................................................................................................... 23 

Section 7.9 Rights or Remedies .................................................................................................. 23 

Section 7.10 Successors in Interest .......................................................................................... 24 

Section 7.11 Applicable Law and Forum .................................................................................. 24 

Section 7.12 Recordation of Lease ............................................................................................ 24 

Section 7.13 Severability ............................................................................................................... 24 

Section 7.14 Construction ............................................................................................................. 24 

7.15 Gender and Plurality ............................................................................................................. 24 

Page 38 of 478



 
 

3 
 

Section 7.16 Joint and Several Liability ................................................................................... 24 

Section 7.17 Entire Agreement ................................................................................................... 24 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 39 of 478



 
 

4 
 

City of Palmer 

231 West Evergreen Avenue 
Palmer, AK 99645 

907-745-3271 
 

PALMER MUNICIPAL AIPORT 
LEASE AGREEMENT No. 17-007 

 
 This LEASE AGREEMENT is made and entered into this ____________________(date), by 
and between the City of Palmer, a municipal corporation organized and existing under its charter 
and the laws of the State of Alaska, hereinafter referred to as the “Lessor”, and FCA Properties, 
LLC, hereinafter referred to as the “Lessee”. 
  

This lease agreement is not effective unless it is accompanied by signed and attached 
Exhibit A providing specific information for the following sections: 1., 1A, 1.1B, 1.2A, 1.2B, 1.3A, 
2.1, 2.2, 2.7 and 2.8. 
  

In consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained herein, the parties agree 
as follows: 

 
ARTICLE I - PREMISES, TERM AND RENTALS 

 
Section 1.1 Premises and Purpose 
A. Lessor does hereby lease, demise and let unto Lessee, and Lessee does hereby lease from 

Lessor, real property more particularly described as a parcel of land located within Tract 
B, Palmer Municipal Airport recorded as Plat No. 2006-15 in the Palmer Recording District, 
Third Judicial District, State of Alaska and further described in an unrecorded plat dated 
June 27, 2005 as follows: 

 
Palmer Municipal Airport, Block 3, Lease Lot 33 
 
Containing 0.85 acres or 37,026 square feet, more or less  

 
See Attached “Exhibit A”  

 
Parcel may be subject to additional easements and/or encumbrances not shown or 
depicted hereon. 

B.  Lessee shall use the Premises for the following Aeronautical uses only, and for no other: 
Aircraft Maintenance, Repair, and parking. 

C. Any use of the Premises for Non-Aeronautical activity is strictly prohibited, unless an 
approved amendment to this lease is adopted and fair market value rates for Non-
aeronautical areas are applied. 
 

Section 1.2 Term and Renewal 
A. The term of the lease shall be for a period of 20 years, commencing on the 1st day of July  

2017 (the “Commencement Date”) and ending on the 31st day of June of 2037, subject to 
the terms of provisions hereof. 

Page 40 of 478



 
 

5 
 

B. Provided Lessee fully and faithfully performs all of the covenants and conditions contained 
herein for the term of the Lease, Lessor may approve an additional period of 10 years at 
the expiration of this Lease so that the total number of years available to Lessee is 30 
years. As with the initial term at the start of and continuing through the renewal period,  
1. The rental rate will continue to be subject to changes as provided in Section 1.4 

““Rent Adjustment,”; 
2. The renewal insurance provision as provided in Section 4.3 will apply along with 

any other changes made in accordance with Section 4.3; 
3. The Lease will be subject to such other and further changes as are deemed 

necessary by Lessor for the reasonable protection of Lessor;  
4. In addition, if this Lease is renewed, it shall be subject to all provisions of the 

Palmer Municipal Code and to the City’s Regulations that pertain to the Airport in 
effect at the time of the renewal or amended thereafter. Including but not limited 
to the current airport regulations. 

C. To renew this Lease, Lessee must comply strictly with the following:  
1. Not more than 24 months nor less than 12 months before the end of the term of 

this Lease, the Lessee must indicate in a signed writing delivered to the Palmer 
City Manager, the Lessee’s request to exercise the option to renew this Lease.  

2. If Lessee fails to notify Lessor within said time period, this Lease shall be deemed 
terminated at the scheduled expiration date. 

 
Section 1.3 Rent 
A. Lessee shall pay to the Lessor as rent (37,026 square feet @ $0.065/SF) during the term 

hereof the sum $2,406.69 per year, payable annually in advance without demand, 
beginning July 1, 2017 and continuing on the same day of each and every year thereafter 
during the term of the lease at the office of the Lessor set forth in Section 7.8 or at such 
other place as the Lessor may designate in writing.  
1. Existing Lease has already been paid in advance thru June 30, 2017.  
2. Failure to pay rent by the thirtieth day after the due date shall obligate the Lessee 

to pay a late charge of $100.00, which sum is agreed to a reasonable estimate of 
the Lessor’s damages for late rental payments and shall not be construed as a 
penalty or a limitation on Lessor’s remedies.  

3. This late charge is in addition to a 12 percent daily interest rate.                                                                     
B. All rent shall be payable in current legal tender of the United States. Payment may be 

tendered by check, but payment shall not be made in fact until such check has been 
honored by the drawee bank. The tender of payment by check within the time provided 
shall be deemed sufficient to meet any due date only if the check is subsequently honored 
by the drawee bank and the Lessor subsequently receives the legal tender required by 
this Lease. Any subsequent dishonor and non-receipt of rent payment shall constitute a 
default of this Lease. 

C. The extension of time for the payment of any installment of rent, or the acceptance by 
the Lessor of any money other than of the kind herein specified, shall not be a waiver of 
the right Lessor to insist on all other payments of rent to be made in the manner and at 
the time herein specified. The acceptance by the Lessor of a past due installment payment 
shall not waive the Lessor’s right as to any other default or breach of the Lease. 

D. The rent herein specified shall be net to the Lessor and such payment shall not be subject 
to any abatement, deduction or off set (except as otherwise provided in this Lease). 

E. All taxes, charges, costs, expenses, utilities and assessments which the Lessee is required 
to pay hereunder, and all damages, costs and expenses which the Lessor may incur by 

Page 41 of 478



 
 

6 
 

reason of any default of the Lessee or failure on the Lessee’s part to comply with the 
terms of the Lease, shall be deemed to be additional rent and in the event of nonpayment 
by the Lessee, the Lessor shall have all the rights and remedies with respect thereto that 
the Lessor has for the nonpayment of the basic rent. 
 

Section 1.4 Rent Adjustment 
A. It is the intent of the parties that the Palmer Municipal Airport be a self-sustaining facility 

and operate without any support from the general fund of the Lessor. 
B. The rent shall be subject to adjustment at five (5) year intervals to achieve fair market 

rent, the first adjustment date is five (5) years following the annual payment. The rent 
shall be adjusted as follows: 
1. Six (6) months prior to the termination of the initial five (5) year period or any 

subsequent five (5) year period, Lessor shall propose the rent for the next five (5) 
year period of the lease term and the parties hereto may, by mutual agreement, 
set the rent for the five (5) year period.  The basis of the initial proposed new rent 
for the next five (5) year term will be the accumulated increase or decrease in the 
Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U): Selected areas, 
semiannual averages, all items index for the Anchorage, AK. Local area, based 
upon 2015 as a base year, as well as the comparative leasing rate of similar 
airports in the Alaskan Market place.  
a. If an agreement is not reached ninety (90) days prior to the end of the 

current five (5) year period, the fair market rental value of the premises shall 
be determined by an appraiser selected by the lessor who shall (a) be a 
member of The American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers, and (b) have 
experiencing in appraising properties similar to the premises. (The “Qualified 
Appraiser”). The cost of the initial appraisal shall be born equally between 
Lessor and Lessee.  If either the Lessor or Lessee or both shall disapprove of 
the fair market rental of the premises as thus determined, the dissatisfied 
party(s) may then designate another Qualified Appraiser who shall conduct a 
second (or additional) independent appraisal(s) of the premises and the fair 
market rental of the premises shall be determined to be the average of the 
two appraisals.  The cost of the additional appraisal shall be borne by the 
dissatisfied party.  In the event that both the Lessor and the Lessee are both 
dissatisfied with the original appraisal than the cost of, the second appraisal 
shall be borne equally between the Lessor and Lessee. 

 
2. Lessor’s failure to timely start this rent adjustment procedure does not affect the 

rent adjustment, other than that the rent shall not be adjusted for the period 
before Lessor starts the procedure for each five-year period.  
a. If, for example, Lessor starts the rent-adjustment procedure for the first 

time on the first day of the seventh year of the lease term, then the rent 
shall remain unchanged for the previous six years.  

b. Any adjustment in Section 1.4 would start as of the first day of the seventh 
year and remain in effect through year ten when Lessor could again start 
the rent-adjustment procedure. 

C. During the pendency of any determination of fair market rent, Lessee shall pay the rent 
last in effect for the Premises until such determination has been made. Any deficiency 
between the rent so paid and the adjusted rent retroactive to the beginning of the period 

Page 42 of 478



 
 

7 
 

for which it is due shall be paid within thirty (30) days of being billed to Lessee with 
interest from the original due date of such rent at the rate highest rate allowed by law for 
debts under $25,000 or twelve percent (12%) per annum, whichever rate is lower. 

 
Section 1.5 Determination of Fair Market Rent 
A. Fair market rent shall not include any return on improvements placed on the Premises by 

the Lessee or its predecessors in interest, but shall include a return for improvements 
placed on the Premises by the Lessor or otherwise belonging to Lessor.  

B. The parties acknowledge that certain property at Palmer Municipal Airport may not 
currently and may not in the future be leased for a fair market rent.  

C. The returns received by Lessor from other aviation Leases at Palmer Municipal Airport, 
therefore, shall not be used exclusively by the appraiser to determine a fair market rent.  

D. Any appraisal of the Premises shall consider any limitation or restriction on use imposed 
under this Lease or pursuant to any patent, deed, lease or grant from or agreement with 
the United States to the Lessor, including but not limited to aviation restricted use. 

E. Lessor shall send written notice to Lessee of the amount determined to be the fair market 
rent together with a copy of the appraisal. 

 
ARTICLE II - IMPROVEMENTS 

 
Section 2.1 Improvements 
 A. Improvements consist of: 72.0’ X 48.2’ Steel Frame Aircraft Hanger with gravel pad.  

  
B. The improvements shall fully comply with all applicable federal, state, and municipal laws 

and regulations, including but not limited to federal, state, and municipal building, fire, 
construction and safety codes and zoning regulations and requirements. 

 
Section 2.2 Liens 
A. Lessee hereby warrants to Lessor that the Premises and all such other Improvements, 

shall be free and clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances and agrees to indemnify, 
defend and hold Lessor harmless from and against any and all losses, damages and costs, 
including reasonable attorney’s fees and appellate attorneys’ fees, with respect thereto.  

B. If any lien or notice of lien on account of the alleged debt of Lessee or lien or notice of 
lien by any party engaged by Lessee or Lessee’s contractor to work on the Premises shall 
be filed against the Premises or Improvements, Lessee shall cause the same to be 
discharged of record by payment, deposit, bond, order of court or competent jurisdiction 
or otherwise. 

 
Section 2.3 Improvements Subject to Reversion or Removal 
All alterations, buildings, structures or other Improvements placed on the Premises by Lessee 
shall be subject to Section 7.6 of this Lease. 
 
Section 2.4 Alterations and Other Improvements 
The Lessee shall have the right, from time to time, to make such alterations and improvements 
and decoration to the Premises. Any alterations, improvements and decorations shall be 
reasonably necessary or appropriate in the Lessor’s judgment for the conduct Lessee’s business. 
Lessee shall obtain Lessor’s written approval before any such alterations are made. Approval shall 
not be reasonably withheld as long as Lessee complies with provisions of this article.  
 

Page 43 of 478



 
 

8 
 

 
 

 

ARTICLE III - USE OF THE LEASED PREMISES 
 

Section 3.1 Airport Purposes 
A. Lessee shall have the right to conduct on the premises those activities stated in Section 

1.1 B only, and Lessee shall not use the Premises for any other purpose or activity without 
first obtaining the written consent of the Airport Manager to do so.  

B. In addition, Lessees’ activities are to be aeronautical related activities as defined in the 
Federal Aviation Administration’s (FAA’s) Airport Compliance Handbook, FAA order 
5190.6B and the FAA Revenue Diversion Policy and all planned development shall be 
consistent with the Palmer Municipal Airport Layout Plan and Master Plan.  

C. It is the purpose of this Lease to foster and abet air commerce at Palmer Municipal Airport 
and it is not the intent of this Lease to provide premises for uses which do not promote 
the development and use of Palmer Municipal Airport.  

D. All uses normally incidental to an airport such as car rental agencies, limousine service, 
restaurants, insurance sales, and other such incidental services not directly related to the 
maintenance and operation of aircraft are prohibited except when the Airport and the FAA 
have established that a specific facility is not currently needed for aeronautical purposes.  

E. Any non-aeronautical use must be limited and incidental.  
F. Any non-aeronautical use must be approved by the Airport Manager and the FAA in writing 

prior to its commencement.  
G. Any approved non-aeronautical use will be allowed only on an interim basis and will be 

phased out if aeronautical demand increases. 
H. If a non-aeronautical use is approved, the rent provided in section 1.3 shall be increased 

to reflect the fair market value of the portion of the Premises used for non-aeronautical 
uses.  

I. Requests for non-aeronautical uses will be made first to the Airport Manager and if 
approved by the Airport Manager and FAA, the non-aeronautical use and the conditions 
associated therewith will be detailed in an addendum to this Lease. 

J. Lessee shall not use or permit any part of the Premises to be used for any unlawful 
purpose of or for any purpose or use that may constitute a nuisance or hazard to health, 
safety, or property.  

K. Lessee shall not use or allow the Premises or any part thereof to be used or occupied for 
any purpose in violation of any law, lawful order, or rule or regulation concerning the 
operation or use of Palmer Municipal Airport. 

 
Section 3.2 Compliance with Laws 
Lessee shall comply with all laws now or hereinafter in effect affecting the Premises or Lessee’s 
use or occupancy thereof, including but not limited to Palmer Municipal Airport Regulations; PMC 
12.08; and PMC 17 all as may be amended from time to time. 
 
Section 3.3 Hazardous Materials 
A. Neither Lessee nor Lessee’s agents shall cause or permit any Hazardous Materials or 

Substances to be brought upon, generated, stored, disposed of, or used in or about the 
Premises by Lessee, its agents, employees, contractors, or invitees without the prior 
written consent of Lessor.  

Page 44 of 478



 
 

9 
 

B. Lessee shall demonstrate to Lessor’s reasonable satisfaction that such Hazardous 
Materials or Substances are necessary to Lessee’s business and will be used, generated, 
disposed of, and stored in a manner that complies with all laws regulating any such 
Hazardous Materials or Substance so brought upon, generated, stored, disposed of or 
used in or about the Premises.  

C. Lessor may, at its option require Lessee to provide annual reports, submitted with the 
annual rent payment.  

D. The Lessee will report the kinds and quantities of Hazardous Materials or Substance on 
the Premises and how the Lessee complies with applicable laws regarding disposal. 

E. If Hazardous Material or Substances have been used, generated, disposed of or stored in 
or about the Premises during the term of this Lease, Lessor may, at its election, have any 
environmental assessment performed of the Premises, at the Lessee’s expense, at the 
termination of this Lease or termination of Lessee’s right to possession under this Lease. 

F. If any of the following occur; 
1. Lessee breaches the obligations in this section; 
2. The presence of Hazardous Material or Substance on the Premises caused or 

permitted by Lessee results in contamination of the Premises or contamination of 
any other property at the Palmer Municipal Airport; or 

3. Contamination of the Premises or any other property at Palmer Municipal Airport 
by Hazardous Material or Substance otherwise occurs for which Lessee is legally 
liable to Lessor for damage resulting therefrom; 
a. Then Lessee shall indemnify, defend, and hold Lessor harmless from any 

and all claims, judgments, damages, penalties, fines, costs, liabilities, or 
losses including, without limitation, diminution in value of the Premises, 
damages for the loss or restriction on use of rentable or usable space or of 
any amenity of the Premises, damages arising from any adverse impact on 
marketing of space, sums paid in settlement of claims, attorneys’ fees, 
appellate attorney’s fees, consultant fees, expert fees, costs incurred in 
connection with any investigation of site conditions or any clean-up, 
remedial, removal, or restoration work required by any federal, state, or 
local governmental agency or political subdivision because of Hazardous 
Material or substance present in the soil or groundwater on or under the 
Premises which arise during or after the Lease term as a result of such 
contamination. 

G. Without Limiting the foregoing, if the presence of any Hazardous Material or Substance 
on the Premises caused or permitted by Lessee results in any contamination of the 
Premises or any other property at the Palmer Municipal Airport, Lessee shall promptly take 
all actions at its sole expense as are necessary to return the Premises and/or other 
property to the condition existing prior to the introduction of any such Hazardous Material 
or Substance; provided that Lessor’s approval of such actions shall first be obtained, which 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld so long as such actions would not potentially 
have any material adverse long-term or short-term effect on the Premises or other 
property. 

H. As used herein, the term “Hazardous Material or Substance” shall be interpreted broadly 
to include, but not limited to, substances designated as hazardous under the Resource 
Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 USC Section 6901 et seq., the Federal Water Pollution 
Control Act, 33 USC Section 1257 et seq. the Clean Air Act, 42 USC Section 2001 et seq 
the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, 42 
USC Section 9601 et seq., Title 46 of the Alaska Statutes, or by any applicable federal, 

Page 45 of 478



 
 

10 
 

state, or local stature, regulation or ordinance now or hereafter in effect and as they may 
be amended or interpreted from time to time. 

I. The provisions of this Section 3.3 shall survive any termination of Lessee’s right to 
possession of the Premises and/or termination of this Lease. 
 

Section 3.4 Americans with Disabilities Act 
Lessor and Lessee agree that as allowed by 28 C. F. R. S. 36.201(b), Lessee shall be responsible 
for all compliance responsibility under the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. S 12101 et. 
Seq.) related to Lessee’s use and occupancy of the Premises. Lessee agrees to defend, indemnify 
and hold Lessee harmless from any claim, demand, or action, either by a private person or a 
governmental entity, under said Act due to failure to comply with the terms of said Act. The 
provisions of this Section 3.4 shall survive termination of Lessee’s right to possession of the 
Premises and/or termination of this Lease. 
 
Section 3.5 Reservations and Exceptions 
This Lease is made by the Lessor and accepted by the Lessee conditioned upon and subject to 
any conditions, reservations, limitations, provisions or terms imposed upon the Premises of 
Palmer Municipal Airport, as contained in any grant (including any monetary grant or loan), lease, 
permit, patent, deed, or any other conveyance to the Lessor of the Premises, or of Palmer 
Municipal Airport, from the United States, or the State of Alaska, including their agencies. In the 
event that any such condition, reservation, limitation, provision or term shall prevent, without 
fault of the Lessor, this Lease from continuing in full force and effect, the Lessor shall have the 
option to terminate this Lease immediately (and at any time) without liability to the Lessee 
therefor. 
 
Section 3.6 Subordination of Lease to Requirements of the Federal Aviation 
Administration 
A. This Lease shall be subordinated to the provisions of any existing or future agreements 

between the Lessor and the United States, relative to the operation or maintenance of 
Palmer Municipal Airport, the execution of which has been or may be required as a 
condition precedent to the expenditure of federal funds for the development or operation 
of Palmer Municipal Airport. 

B. In connection therewith, the Lessor has undertaken and may in the future undertake 
certain obligations respecting its operation of Palmer Municipal Airport and activities of its 
contractors, Lessees and permitted thereon. The performance by Lessee of the covenants, 
promises and obligations contained in this Lease is therefore a special consideration and 
inducement to this Lease. Lessee further covenants and agrees that if the administrator 
of the Federal Aviation Administration, or any  other governmental official or body having 
jurisdiction over the enforcement and the obligations of the City in connection with the 
Federal or State aid, shall make any orders, recommendations or suggestions respecting 
the performances by Lessee of its obligations under this Lease, Lessee shall promptly 
comply therewith, at the time or times when and to the extent that the Lessor may direct. 

 
Section 3.7 Aircraft on Premises 
The Lessee shall provide the Airport Manager a list showing all aircraft on the Premises for any 
purpose, together with the aircraft type, model and number, the name and address of the owner, 
the purpose of the aircraft being on the Premises, and such other information concerning its 
identification thereof as the Airport Manager shall deem necessary. 
 

Page 46 of 478



 
 

11 
 

Section 3.8 Discriminatory Acts Prohibited 
A. The Lessee shall furnish any service to be rendered by the Lessee in connection with or 

upon the Premises on a fair, equal and not unjustly discriminatory basis to all users 
thereof. In performing such services Lessee shall charge fair, reasonable and not unjustly 
discriminatory prices or rates for each unit of service furnished, provided the Lessee may 
take reasonable and nondiscriminatory discounts, rebates or other similar types of price 
reductions to volume users or purchasers. 

B. The Lessee, in its use and occupancy of the Premises, shall not discriminate against any 
person or class of persons by reason of race, color, creed or national origin, or by reason 
of any other basis that is illegal or becomes illegal during the term of this Lease, any 
extension, or any holdover period. 

C. The Lessor upon ten (10) days’ notice to the Lessee of any violation of this section shall 
request that the Lessee either correct or justify any practice or charge alleged as a 
violation.  

D. In any proceeding whatsoever the burden of justification shall be on the Lessee to show 
that the practice or charge does comply with the requirements of this section. The Lessee, 
within ten (10) days after receipt of the notice, shall comply with the request or submit to 
the Lessor its justification in writing. The Lessor shall submit its findings and decision as 
to any alleged violation within fifteen (15) days after the receipt of the Lessee’s 
justification, and such findings and decision of the Lessor shall be final. Unless the Lessee 
shall notify in writing the Lessor within ten (10) days of its objections to any request for 
compliance or to any adverse findings and decision, the Lessee shall waive any defense 
that the alleged violation is justified. 

E. The Lessor, at its option, may forthwith terminate this Lease without any liability to Lessee 
thereunder for failure by Lessee without justification to comply with Lessor’s request for 
compliance within the time set forth in the request or the findings and decision to correct 
the alleged violation. 

 
Section 3.9 Affirmative Action 
A. The Lessee assures that it will undertake an affirmative action program as required by 14 

CFR Part 152, Subpart E, to insure that no person shall on the grounds of race, creed, 
color, national origin, or sex be excluded from participating in any employment activities 
covered in 14 CFR Part 152, Subpart E. The Lessee assures that no person shall be 
excluded on these grounds from participating in or receiving the services or benefits of 
any program or activity covered in this subpart. The Lessee assures that it will require 
that its covered sub-organizations provide assurances to the Lessor that any similarity will 
undertake affirmative action programs and that they will require assurances from their 
sub-organizations, as required by 14 CFR Part 152, Subpart E, to the same effect. 

B. The Lessor upon ten (10) days’ notice to the Lessee of any violation of subsection A shall 
request that the Lessee either correct or justify any practice or charge alleged as a 
violation. In any proceeding whatsoever, the burden of justification requirement of 
subsection A. The Lessee within ten (10) days after receipt of the notice, shall comply 
with the request or submit to the Lessor its justification in writing. The Lessor shall submit 
its findings and decision as to any alleged violation within fifteen (15) days after receipt 
of the Lessee’s justification, and such findings and decision of the days of its objections 
to any request for compliance or to any adverse findings and decision, the Lessee shall 
waive any defense that the alleged violation is justified. 

C. The Lessor, at its option, may forthwith terminate this Lease without any liability to Lessee 
thereunder for any failure by Lessee without justification to comply with Lessor’s request 

Page 47 of 478



 
 

12 
 

for compliance within the time set forth in the request of the findings and decision to 
correct the alleged violation. 

 
Section 3.10 Maintenance of Premises 
A. Lessee shall repair and maintain the Improvements in good order and repair and keep the 

Premises in a neat, safe, clean and orderly condition. Such obligation shall include, but 
not be limited to, the prevention of the accumulation of any refuse or waste materials 
which might be or constitute a fire hazard or a public or private nuisance. 

B. In the event that Lessee does not properly repair and/or maintain the Improvements or 
Premises, the Airport Manager shall notify the Lessee in writing of those areas that are 
not being properly repaired and/or maintained.  

C. If, however, after 60 days, Lessee fails to make such repair and/or maintenance, Lessor 
may cause to have such repair and maintenance made and invoice the Lessee for the 
repair and maintenance completed.  

D. If said costs are not paid promptly by Lessee, the lease shall be deemed to be in default, 
and Lessor shall be entitled to all legal remedies provided hereunder. 

E. Lessee shall neither cause nor allow any waste of the Premises or Improvements. In 
addition, Lessee shall be strictly liable for any waste of the Premises or Improvements and 
for any damage to reversion. 

 
Section 3.11 Signs 
A. Lessee shall not, without Lessor’s written consent, place or erect any sign of any nature 

on any part of the Premises, but such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld to one 
flat sign of reasonable size bearing the Lessee’s trade name, providing such sign meets 
all city zoning and sign requirements.  

B. At the termination of this Lease, any such sign shall be removed by Lessee at Lessee’s 
own expense.  

C. Lessee shall apply for a sign permit from the Department of Community Development and 
shall comply with Palmer Municipal Code. 

 
Section 3.12 Improvements and Alterations 
After the initial improvements set forth in Article II have been completed, and if the Lessee desires 
to construct further improvements: 
A. Prior to commencing construction, renovation, enlargement, demolition, or modification 

of leasehold improvements now or hereafter existing on the Premises, Lessee shall submit 
to the Airport Manager plans and specifications for such work (including plans for 
landscaping and irrigation, if any) and Timeline for various phases of work.  

B. The Airport Manager shall approve or disapprove such plans and specifications and 
accompanying Timeline at his or her sole discretion.  

C. Upon Lessee’s receipt of the Airport Manager’s written approval of such plans and 
specifications, Lessee agrees to construct the proposed leasehold improvements in strict 
accordance with such plans and specifications and Timeline.  

D. The Airport Manager’s approval of submitted plans and specifications shall not constitute 
the assumption of any liability by Lessor for their compliance or conformity with applicable 
building codes, zoning regulations, and city borough, state and federal laws, ordinances 
and regulations, or for their accuracy, and Lessee shall be solely responsible for such plans 
and specifications.  

E. The Airport Manager’s approval of plans and specifications shall not constitute a waiver of 
Lessor’s right to therefore require Lessee to amend the same to provide for any corrections 

Page 48 of 478



 
 

13 
 

or omissions needed to comply with applicable building codes, zoning regulations, city, 
borough, state or federal laws, ordinances or regulations.  

F. The review and approval required by Section 3.12 is in addition to any other review and 
approval needed for any required building permits or similar authorizations. 

G. Lessee shall obtain all necessary licenses and permits to accomplish any of the work 
described in Section 3.12. Nothing in this Lease is intended to limit or restrict the City of 
Palmer in the exercise of its police power, authority to enforce building, fire and other 
safety codes, laws, ordinances, or regulations. 

H. Lessee agrees to comply with the notification and review requirements covered in part 77 
of the Federal Aviation Regulations prior to the construction of the Improvements and 
prior to the construction of any future building or structure situated on the Premises. 

I. Any contract or agreement for labor, services, materials or supplies furnished in 
connection with construction or alteration of any improvement to the Premises shall 
provide that no lien, claim or other encumbrance shall thereby be created, or arise, or be 
filed by anyone thereunder upon or against the Premises or the improvements.  

J. Before the commencement of any such work, Lessee shall deliver to Lessor either an 
executed duplicate original of such contract or a written waiver by the architect, engineer, 
contractor, material man, mechanic, person or corporation named in such contract of all 
right of lien which he or it might otherwise have upon or against the Premises, or the 
improvements to be constructed or altered, or the interest of Lessor therein.  

K. Lessee hereby warrants to Lessor that the Premises and all such other improvements 
thereto, shall be free and clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances and agrees to 
indemnity, defend and hold Lessor harmless from and against any and all losses, damages 
and costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and appellate attorneys’ fees, with respect 
thereto.  

L. If any lien or notice of lien on account of the alleged debt of Lessee or lien or notice of 
lien by any party engaged by Lessee or Lessee’s contractor to work on the Premises shall 
be filed against the Premises or improvements, Lessee shall cause the same to be 
discharged of record by payment, deposit, bond, order of court or competent jurisdiction 
or otherwise.       

M. The work, in excess of $100,000, as described in this lease document shall not begin until 
the Lessee or Lessee’s contractor has provided to the Lessor a performance guarantee in 
the form of a performance bond, escrow, an irrevocable letter of credit, or deed of trust 
in an amount equal to 100% of the estimated cost of the Improvements greater than 
$100,000 to be accomplished, which guarantees the completion of the work by Lessee or 
Lessee’s contractor in accordance with the plans and specifications approved by Lessor 
and  guarantees the payment by Lessee or Lessee’s contactor of all subcontractors’ 
charges and all other persons and firms supplying services, labor, materials or supplies in 
connection with the work. 

N. All alterations, buildings, structures or other improvements placed on the Premises by 
Lessee shall be subject to section 7.6 of this Lease. 
 

Section 3.13 Quiet Possession 
The Lessee, upon paying rent and observing the conditions and terms of this Lease, shall and 
may have at all times during the term of this Lease peaceful and quiet enjoyment and possession 
of the Premises, except as otherwise set forth in this Lease. 
 

Page 49 of 478



 
 

14 
 

Section 3.14 Lessee’s option to Terminate 
A. Should any government body, agency, or official, other than Lessor, prohibit or otherwise 

prevent the use of Palmer Municipal Airport in its present condition as a public airport for 
one year or more, or should the continued use of Palmer Municipal Airport as an airport 
become impossible or unlawful without the fault of the Lessee, the Lessee shall have the 
option to terminate this Lease on thirty (30) days written notice to the Lessor.  

B. Upon such termination, this Lease shall be at an end, and neither party shall have any 
liability for such termination.  

C. The Lessor shall notify the Lessee in writing, of the prohibition, or intended prohibition, 
and the failure of the Lessee to exercise the option to terminate within thirty (30) days 
shall extinguish the Lessee’s option to terminate. 

 
Section 3.15 Lessor’s Option to Terminate 
A. Lessee hereby grants to Lessor should it require the Premises in connection with the future 

expansion and/or operation of the Airport prior to the expiration or termination of the 
Lease, Lessor may, upon ninety (90) days written notice, cancel this Lease. 

B. In the event that this Lease is canceled under the provisions of this Section, Lessor shall 
pay to Lessee the fair market value of Lessee’s remaining leasehold interest and the fair 
market value of Lessee owned buildings, structures, alterations and/or improvements 
placed by Lessee upon the Premises during the term of this Lease.  

C. The fair market value shall be determined by following the appraisal procedure set forth 
determination of the fair market rental of the Premises in Section 1.4 of this Lease.  

D. After payment therefore as provided herein, all buildings, structures, alterations and/or 
improvements shall be subject to the provisions of section 7.6 of this Lease. 

 
Section 3.16 Right of Entry and Access 
A. Lessee hereby grants to Lessor, its contractors, employees, agents and assigns, the 

irrevocable right, permission and authority to enter into and upon all or part of the 
Premises for the purpose of:  
1. Inspecting the Premises; 
2. Cleaning, repairing, maintaining, altering or improving the Premises as Lessor may 

deem necessary; 
3. Abating any nuisance or hazardous condition on the Premises, and/or 
4. Preserving and/or protecting the Premises. 

B. It is understood and agreed that the entry and access may affect the use of the Premises 
from time to time. Lessor shall use reasonable efforts to coordinate any anticipated access 
or utility or other interruptions with Lessee in an attempt to reasonably reduce the effect 
of any disruption of Lessee’s enjoyment and use of the Premises. 

C. The right of access and entry reserved herein does not impose, nor does Lessor assume 
by reason thereof, any responsibility for the care, maintenance or supervision of the 
Premises. Lessee shall not be entitled to any abatement or reduction in rent by reason of 
Lessors access and/or entry nor shall such access or entry be deemed an actual or 
constructive eviction. 

 
Section 3.17 Lessor’s Improvements 
A. Lessor shall have a permanent right of access over, under, around and across the Premises 

for the purposes of maintaining, servicing, upgrading, replacing or removing any Lessor- 
installed improvements including, but not limited to, light poles, utilities, and fencing.  

B. This section does not require Lessor to provide any improvements.  

Page 50 of 478



 
 

15 
 

C. Lessor’s maintenance shall not include paving, aircraft tie downs, snow removal or 
sanding. 

D. All improvements constructed by the Lessor shall at all times remain the property of Lessor 
and may be maintained, upgraded, serviced or removed at Lessor’s convenience and 
discretion. 

E. Lessor agrees to use reasonable efforts to notify of any upgrading, replacing or repair 
work with Lessee and to reasonably reduce disrupting Lessee’s use of the Premises when 
practicable. 

F. In the event of abandonment or default, any Lessee improvement will become the 
property of the Lessor. 

 
Section 3.18 Aviation Easement 
Lessee’s right to use the Premises for the purposes as set forth in this Lease shall be secondary 
to and subordinate to the operation of the airport. Lessor specifically reserves for itself, other 
Palmer Municipal Airport leaseholders, and for the public, an easement for the passage of aircraft 
in the air space above the surface of the described property together with the right to cause in 
said air space or on adjacent property such noise as may be inherent in the present or future 
operation of aircraft. Without in any way limiting Lessor’s rights under Section 3.12, Lessee shall 
not construct any building or facility to a height which in Lessor’s discretion will interfere with the 
operations of the airport. 
 
Section 3.19 Right-of-Way and Easement 
Lessor shall have the right to designate or grant rights-of-way or utility easements across the 
Premises without compensation to Lessee, provided that Lessee shall be entitled to compensation 
for the taking or destruction of any of Lessee’s improvements and provided further that Lessee 
may terminate the Lease or demand a rental adjustment to reflect any reduction in value of the 
Premises.  
 

ARTICLE IV - TAXES, INDEMNIFICATION, AND INSURANCE 
 
Section 4.1 Taxes, Assessments, and Utilities 
A. Lessee, in addition to the rentals provided for herein, shall pay when due (and before 

delinquency) all taxes, utility fees, assessments, and charges upon the Premises, the 
leasehold interest, and upon buildings, improvements and property thereon, which are 
assessed or charged at any time during the term.  

B. The Lessee shall furnish to the Lessor for Lessor’s inspection within thirty (30) days after 
the date any amount payable by the Lessee as required by this section, official receipts 
from the appropriate taxing authorities or other proof satisfactory to the Lessor evidencing 
payment.  

C. The Lessee shall have the right at all times to protest any assessment of taxes or other 
assessments or charges, but the Lessor may require the Lessee to deposit with the Lessor 
any sums in dispute to insure payment in the event that any contest is unsuccessful.  

D. Lessee shall pay and be responsible for all charges for gas, electricity, water, light, heat, 
power, garbage, solid waste, and other utility service used in or about or supplied to the 
Premises.  

E. Lessee shall timely pay all sales tax on the rent on the lease, utilities, sales, service, rents, 
etc., and shall comply with City and Borough sales tax laws. 

 

Page 51 of 478



 
 

16 
 

Section 4.2 Indemnification 
Lessee shall indemnify, defend and hold Lessor harmless from all liability or loss (including, but 
not limited to reasonable attorneys’ fees and appellate attorneys’ fees) arising from any injury to 
any person or persons (including without limitation Lessee, its agents or employees) or property 
of any kind whatsoever while in, upon, or in any way connected with the Premises during the 
term of this Lease, or any use or occupancy hereunder, however occurring, including any acts, 
negligent or otherwise, and any omissions (negligent or otherwise), by Lessee, its agents, 
independent contractors, or employees, unless caused by or resulting from the sole negligence 
of the Lessor or any of Lessor’s agents or employees. 
 
Section 4.3 Insurance 
A. Lessee, at its own expense, shall secure and maintain in full force at all times during the 

term of this Lease: 
1. Commercial general liability. Commercial general liability insurance with a single 

occurrence liability limit of $1,000,000 and an aggregate of $2,000,000 insuring 
against liability of Lessee, its officers, contractors, licensees, agents, employees, 
guests, invites and authorized representatives, arising out of and/or in connection 
with Lessee’s use or occupancy of the Premises; or 

2. Airport premises liability. Airport premises liability insurance on an occurrence basis 
with a single combined liability limit of not less than $1,000,000 occurrence and 
$2,000,000 aggregate limit for bodily injury and property damage. 

3. If applicable, third-party aircraft liability insurance with a single combined liability 
limit of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence; 

4. Commercial property insurance in the amount of replacement costs. 
5. The Lessor reserves the right to require Lessee to provide pollution insurance as 

warranted by the proposed use of the Premises. 
B.  This insurance required under this Section shall: 

1.  Name the Lessor as an “additional insured” 
2.  Contain a clause that the insurer will not cancel or change the insurance without 

first giving the Lessor thirty (30) days prior written notice; 
3.  Be with an insurance company qualified to do business in the State of Alaska with 

a financial rating of at least “A” as rated in current Best’s Insurance Reports; 
4.  Include a waiver of subrogation clause by which the insurer waives all rights of 

subrogation against the Lessor for payments made under the policy; and 
5.  Not contain a damage deductible for each and every loss that exceeds $10,000. 

C.  Lessee shall provide Lessor with proof of insurance coverage in the form of a certificate 
of insurance, and if requested by the Lessor, Lessee shall provide Lessor with a copy of 
the policy(ies). Failure to maintain such insurance in effect shall constitute grounds for 
immediate termination of this lease. Lessor may at its option purchase said insurance and 
charge the expense thereof to Lessee, which expense Lessee shall assume and pay. 

D.   To reasonably protect itself, Lessor may adjust these minimum insurance requirements 
and add types of insurance or both by giving Lessee written notice of such adjustment 
ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of each five (5) year interval of the term of this 
Lease. Lessor may also adjust these minimum insurance requirements at any time if 
Lessee’s use of the Premises changes, and in such event, Lessor shall give Lessee thirty 
(30) days written notice of such adjustment. 

E.  The requirements of insurance coverage do not relieve Lessee from any other obligation 
under this Lease.  

 

Page 52 of 478



 
 

17 
 

ARTICLE V - ASSIGNMENT AND SECURITY INTERESTS 
 
Section 5.1 Assignment and Subletting 
A. Lessee shall not voluntarily assign or encumber its interest in this Lease or in the Premises 

or sublease all or any part of the Premises, or allow any other person or entity to occupy 
or use all or any part of the Premises without first obtaining Lessor’s prior written consent. 
Lessor will not unreasonably withhold its consent; provided, however, if Lessor does 
unreasonably withhold its consent, Lessor shall not be liable for any damages, costs or 
attorney’s fees arising therefrom.  
1. Lessor may condition its consent upon such terms as are in its best interest, 

including but not limited to matters regarding laws, insurance, risks, Lessee’s 
defaults or past practices, risks attributable to assignee, etc., but Lessor may not 
condition its consent upon raising the rent other than as already allowed under 
this Lease.  

2. Any assignment, encumbrance or sublease without Lessor’s consent shall be 
voidable and, at Lessor’s election, shall constitute a default.  

3. No consent to any assignment, encumbrance or sublease shall constitute a further 
waiver of the provisions of this section.  

B. If Lessee is a partnership or limited liability company, a withdrawal or change, voluntary, 
involuntary or by operation of law, of any partner or partners, member or members 
owning twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the partnership or LLC in one or more 
transactions, or the dissolution of the partnership or LLC, shall be deemed a voluntary 
assignment.  

C. If Lessee is a corporation any dissolution, merger, consolidation or other reorganization 
of Lessee, or the sale or other transfer of a controlling percentage of the capital stock of 
Lessee in one or more transactions, or the sale of twenty-five percent (25%) of the value 
of the assets of Lessee in one or more transactions without immediate replacement with 
assets of equal or greater worth, shall be deemed a voluntary assignment. 

D. Lessee hereby irrevocably assigns to Lessor, as security for Lessee’s obligations under this 
Lease, all rent from any subletting of all or a part of the Premises, and Lessor, as assignee 
and attorney-in-fact for Lease, may collect such rent and apply it toward Lessee’s 
obligations under this Lease, except that, until the occurrence of an act of default by 
Lessee, Lessee shall have the right to collect such rent as it becomes due, one payment 
period at a time, which payment period may never exceed one year.  

E. Lessee may not charge a sub-lessee a rent rate that changes from year to year, other 
than changes that result directly from changes made by Lessor, and Lessee shall never 
have the right to collect or receive rent in advance of when it is due. If the sub-lessee 
pays Lessee in advance and Lessor collects rent hereunder, then the sub-lessee must pay 
the advanced rent to Lessor and sub lessee may retrieve the advanced rent from Lessee. 
Neither this section nor collection of any such rent by Lessor shall be deemed to be 
Lessor’s approval of any such sublease. 

F. If, as a result of an assignment or sublease, the Premises will be used for purposes other 
than as set forth in section 3.1 herein. The consent of the Palmer City Council and the 
FAA, if applicable, must be obtained. It is the policy of the city council to discourage non-
aviation related uses. Additionally, if incremental revenues over and above the Lessee’s 
Lease payments will be realized from the sublease or assignment pertaining to non-
aeronautical uses, Lessor may raise Lessee’s existing rent to fair market value at the time 
of the approval of the sublease. 

Page 53 of 478



 
 

18 
 

G. All assignment instruments shall include language whereby Assignee expressly assumes 
and agrees to pay the obligations of Lessee under this Lease.  
1. No assignment shall release or diminish the obligations of any Lessee or any 

Guarantor for performance of Lessee’s obligations hereunder and Lessee shall 
remain liable as if no assignment were made.  

2. Lessee and Assignee will be jointly and severally liable for such obligations.  
3. Neither this section nor any payment of rent by such Assignee shall be deemed to 

be Lessor’s approval of any such assignment. 
H. All sublease instruments shall provide that the sublease is subject to all of the terms, 

covenants and conditions of this Lease. 
I. Lessee agrees to pay to Lessor $500 for any request by Lessee for Lessor to consent to 

any assignment or subletting by Lessee. 
 

Section 5.2 Mortgage and Encumbrances 
A. Lessee shall not mortgage or otherwise encumber this Lease (including Lessee’s leasehold 

estate in the improvements thereon) without the prior written consent of Lessor.  
B. The Lessor’s consent to the mortgage or encumbrance shall not be unreasonably withheld, 

provided the mortgage or beneficiary shall agree to the attached form of Assignment of 
Lease for Security Purposes and Consent to Assignment of Lease attached hereto as 
Exhibit C.  

C. Lessee shall furnish the Lessor with a copy of any security transaction mortgaging or 
encumbrancing the Premises for the Lessor’s approval prior to any mortgaging or 
encumbrancing of the Premises, and shall further furnish a copy to the Lessor of any such 
executed security transactions. 

 
ARTICLE VI - DEFAULT AND ENFORCEMENT 

 
Section 6.1 Default Defined 
The occurrence of one or more of the following shall be deemed a default by the Lessee and a 
breach of this Lease: 
A. Failure to pay the rent provided herein, or any part thereof, or other charge due 

hereunder, for a period of ten (10) days after written notice of such failure is given by 
Lessor to Lessee; 

B. Failure to perform the obligations set forth in Sections 3.8, 3.9, and 3.10 hereof, after any 
notice required by those sections; 

C. Failure to provide and maintain in effect insurance in compliance with Section 4.3 hereof 
(for which failure there is no notice time requirement); 

D. Failure to do, observe, keep and perform any other terms, covenants, conditions, 
agreements and provisions contained in this Lease for a period of thirty (30) days after 
written notice of such failure is given by Lessor to Lessee, or, in the case of a default not 
reasonably susceptible of being cured within thirty (30) days (which does not include any 
default which may be cured by the payment of money), failure to commence promptly 
and proceed diligently and in good faith to cure such default within the initial thirty (30) 
days and complete such cure within a total of sixty (60) days after the sending of the 
notice; 

E. The abandonment of the premises by the Lessee, the making by the Lessee of a general 
assignment for the benefit of creditors, or the appointment of a permanent or temporary 
receiver for the Lessee’s property, which is not vacated or set aside within thirty (30) days 
of sending of written notice of such event by Lessor; or 

Page 54 of 478



 
 

19 
 

F. The issuance of three (3) written notices for defaults or breaches within any consecutive 
twelve-month period, regardless of whether or not the default or breach was cured within 
the applicable time period. 

 
Section 6.2 Lessor Remedies on Default 
Upon the occurrence of any default of Lessee as described in Section 6.1 or elsewhere in this 
Lease, Lessor shall have the option to pursue any one or more of the following remedies without 
any notice or demand whatsoever: 
A. Lessor may, at its election, terminate this Lease or terminate Lessee’s right to possession 

only, without terminating this Lease. 
B. Upon termination of this Lease, whether by lapse of time or otherwise, or upon any 

termination of Lessee’s right to possession without termination of this Lease, Lessee shall 
surrender possession and vacate the Premises immediately, and deliver possession thereof 
to Lessor, and Lessee hereby grants to Lessor full and free license to enter into and upon 
the Premises in such event with or without process of law and to repossess Lessor of the 
Premises and to expel or remove Lessee and any others who may occupy or be within the 
Premises and to remove and all property therefrom, without being deemed in any manner 
guilty of trespass, eviction or forcible entry or detainer, and without incurring any liability 
for any damage resulting therefrom, Lessee hereby waiving any right to claim damage for 
such re-entry and expulsion and without relinquishing Lessors right to rent or any other 
right given to Lessor hereunder or by operation of law. 

C. Upon any termination of this Lease, whether by lapse of time or otherwise, Lessor shall 
be entitled to recover: 
1. The worth at the time of the award of the unpaid rent (including any amounts 

treated as additional rent) that had been earned at the time of termination; 
2. The worth at the time of the award of the amount by which the unpaid rent 

(including any amounts treated as additional rent) that would have been earned 
after the date of termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of the 
loss of rent for the same period that Lessee proves could have been reasonably 
avoided; 

3. The worth at the time of the award of the amount by which the unpaid rent 
(including a reasonable estimate of additional rent) for the balance of the term 
exceeds the amount of the loss of rent for the same period that Lessee proves 
could have been reasonably avoided; and 

4. Any other amount, full reasonable attorney’s fees and court costs, necessary to 
compensate Lessor for all detriment proximately caused by Lessee’s default. 

D. “The worth at the time of the award,” used in this section, is to be computed by allowing 
interest as determined by the current bond rating from State of Alaska Municipal Bond 
Bank plus 5%. The “time of the award” is the date the Lessee is notified of the termination 
of the lease by the Lessor. Such notification shall be done by certified mail. 

E. Upon any termination of Lessee’s right to possession only without termination of this 
Lease, Lessor may, at the Lessor’s option enter into the Premises, remove Lessee’s signs 
and other evidences of tenancy, and take and hold possession thereof as provided in this 
section, without such entry and possession terminating this Lease or releasing Lessee, in 
whole or in part, from any obligation, including Lessee’s obligation to pay the rent, 
including any amounts treated as additional rent hereunder, for the full term. 

F. Upon termination of Lessee’s right to possession, Lessor may, but need not, relet the 
Premises or any part thereof for such rent and upon such terms as Lessor in its sole 
discretion shall determine (including, but not limited to, the right to relet the Premises for 

Page 55 of 478



 
 

20 
 

a greater or lesser term than that remaining under this Lease, the right to relet the 
Premises as a part of a larger area, and the right to change the character or use made of 
the Premises) and Lessor shall not be required to accept any tenant offered by Lessee or 
to observe any instructions given by Lessee about such reletting.  
a. In any such case, Lessor may make repairs, alterations and additions in or to the, 

Premises, and Lessee shall, upon demand, pay the cost thereof, together with 
Lessor’s expenses of reletting.  

b. If the consideration collected by Lessor upon any such reletting plus any sums 
previously collected from Lessee are not sufficient to pay the full amount of all 
rent, including any amounts treated as additional rent here under and other sums 
reserved in this Lease for the remaining term hereof, together with the costs of 
repairs, alterations, additions, and Lessor’s expenses of reletting and the collection 
of the rent accruing therefrom (including attorneys’ fees), Lessee shall pay to 
Lessor the amount of such deficiency upon demand and Lessee agrees that Lessor 
may file suit to recover any sums falling due under this subpart from time to time. 

E.   Lessor may, at Lessor’s option, enter into and upon the Premises, with or without process 
of law, if Lessor determines in its sole discretion that Lessee is not acting within a 
commercially reasonable time to maintain repair or replace anything for which Lessee is 
responsible hereunder and correct the same, without being deemed in any manner guilty 
of trespass, eviction or forcible entry and detainer and without incurring any liability for 
any damage resulting therefrom and Lessee agrees to reimburse Lessor, on demand, as 
additional rent, for any expenses which Lessor may incur in thus effecting compliance with 
Lessee’s obligations under this Lease. 

F.  Any and all property which may be removed from the Premises by Lessor pursuant to the 
authority of this Lease or of law or in equity, to which Lessee is or may be entitled, may 
be handled, removed and stored, as the case may be, by or in the direction of Lessor at 
the risk, cost and expense of Lessee, and Lessor shall in no event be responsible for the 
value, preservation or safekeeping thereof.  
1. Lessee shall pay to Lessor, upon demand, any and all expenses incurred in such 

removal and all storage charges against such property so long as the same shall 
be in Lessor’s possession or under Lessors control.  

2. Any such property of Lessee not retaken by Lessee from storage within thirty (30) 
days after removal from the Premises shall conclusively be presumed to have been 
conveyed by Lessee to Lessor under this Lease as a bill of sale without further 
payment or credit by Lessor to Lessee; provided, however, Lessor may disclaim as 
to any item or items and the effect of such disclaimer will be that the item or items 
never became the property of Lessor.  

G. Pursuit of any of the foregoing remedies shall not preclude pursuit of any of the other 
remedies herein provided or any other remedies provided by law or equity (all such 
remedies being cumulative), nor shall pursuit of any remedy herein provided constitute a 
forfeiture or waiver of any rent, additional rent or other sum due to Lessor, hereunder or 
of any damages accruing to Lessor by reason of the terms, provisions and covenants 
herein contained.  

H. No act or thing done by Lessor or its agents during the term hereby granted shall be 
deemed a termination of this Lease or an acceptance of the surrender of the Premises, 
and no agreement to terminate this Lease or an acceptance of the surrender of the 
Premises shall be valid unless in writing signed by Lessor.  

I. No judicial action shall be necessary to terminate this Lease. 

Page 56 of 478



 
 

21 
 

J. No waiver by Lessor of any violation or breach of any of the terms, provisions, and 
covenants herein contained shall be deemed or construed to constitute a waiver of any 
other violation or breach of any of the terms, provisions and covenants herein contained.  

K. Lessors acceptance of the payment of rental, including any amount treated as additional 
rental, or other sums hereunder after the occurrence of an event of default shall not be 
construed as a waiver of such default, unless Lessor so notifies Lessee in writing.  

L. Forbearance by Lessor to be deemed or construed to constitute a waiver of such default 
or of Lessor’s right to enforce any such remedies with respect to such default or any 
subsequent default.  

M. If, on account of any breach or default by Lessee in Lessee’s obligations under the terms 
and conditions of this lease, it shall become necessary or appropriate for Lessor to employ 
or consult with an attorney concerning this Lease or enforce or defend any of Lessor’s 
rights or remedies hereunder, Lessee agrees to pay any attorneys’ fees and appellate 
attorneys’ fees so incurred.  

N. Lessor shall not be responsible or liable for any failure to relet the Premises or any part 
thereof, or for any failure to collect any rent due upon such reletting. 

 
Section 6.3 Lessor’s Failure to Enforce and Non-waiver 
A. Failure by the Lessor to insist the strict performance of any term, condition or covenant 

of this Lease or to exercise any right or remedy available on a breach thereof, and 
acceptance of full or partial rentals during the continuance of any such breach shall not 
constitute a waiver of any such breach or any such term, condition or covenant.  

B. Terms, conditions or covenants of this Lease required to be performed by the Lessee, and 
breach thereof, shall not be waived, altered or modified, except by written instrument 
executed by the Lessor.  

C. Waiver of any breach shall not affect or alter any term, condition or covenant of this Lease, 
and each such term, condition or covenant shall continue in full force and effect with 
respect to any other then existing or subsequent default or breach thereof, and any other 
or subsequent default or breach may be enforced by the Lessor as provided in this Lease. 

 
ARTICLE VII - GENERAL COVENANTS 

 
Section 7.1 Condition and Status of Premises 
A. Lessee acknowledges that Lessee has examined the Premises and accepts same in its 

present condition without any representation or warranty, express or implied in fact or by 
law, by the Lessor as to the title, nature, condition or usability of the Premises for the 
purposes set forth in this Lease, all of said warranties being hereby expressly property 
as-is in its present condition, together with all faults. 

B. Lessee agrees to provide written notice to Lessor immediately upon Lessee becoming 
aware or having a reasonable belief: 
1. That the Premises or any adjacent property is being, may be, or has been 

contaminated with any Hazardous Materials, or 
2. Of the existence of any Hazardous Materials in, within, on or near the Premises or 

adjacent property. 
 

Section 7.2 Risk of Loss 
Destruction or damage to any building or improvement on the Premises by fire, rain, ice, snow, 
windstorm, earthquake, aircraft accident, or any other casualty or action of the elements shall 
not entitle the Lessee to surrender possession of the Premises, to terminate this Lease, to violate 

Page 57 of 478



 
 

22 
 

any of its provisions, or to cause any rebate or abatement in rent when due or thereafter 
becoming due under the terms hereof. 
 
Section 7.3 Repair or Rebuilding 
A. Upon the destruction or damage to any building or structure by fire or other casualty 

covered by insurance or that is supposed to be covered by Lessee’s insurance, Lessee 
may, with Lessor’s consent rebuild the building or structure.  

B. Upon the destruction or damage to any building or structure by casualty that is not 
covered by insurance and is not supposed to be covered by insurance, Lessee shall have 
the right to repair, restore or rebuild the building or structure within one (1) year after 
the date of such occurrence or as per written agreement with the Airport Manager. 

 
Section 7.4 Condemnation 
A. If all the Premises, or any part thereof required for the reasonable use of the Premises, is 

taken by eminent domain, this Lease shall expire on the date when the Lessee is required 
to vacate the Premises, and the rent shall be apportioned as of that date. 

B. If there is a taking of a part of the Premises not required for the reasonable use of the 
Premises, then this Lease shall continue in full force and effect and the rent shall be 
equitably reduced, based on the proportion by which the Premises is reduce, such rent 
reduction to be effective as of the date possession of such portion is delivered to the 
condemning authority. 

C. Except for improvements constructed and paid for by Lessee, Lessor reserves all rights to 
damages to the Premises for any taking by eminent domain and Lessee hereby assigns to 
Lessor any right Lessee may have to such damages or award.  

D. Lessee shall make no claim against Lessor for damages for termination of the leasehold 
interest or interference with Lessee’s business. Lessee shall have the right, however, to 
claim and recover from the condemning authority compensation for any loss to which 
Lessee may be put for Lessee’s moving expenses and for the interruption of or damages 
to Lessee’s business, provided that such damages may be claimed only if they are awarded 
separately in the eminent domain proceeding and not as part of the damages recoverable 
by Lessor. 
 

Section 7.5 Surrender of Premises 
At the expiration of any Lease term, upon termination of this Lease, upon reentry by Lessor or 
otherwise, the Lessee shall peacefully and quietly surrender the Premises in as good a condition 
as it was at the beginning of the initial term, reasonable use and wear and damages by the 
elements excepted. 
 
Section 7.6 Reversion or Removal of Buildings and Improvements 
A. Any and all buildings, structures, alterations or improvements placed by the Lessee upon 

the Premises shall, at the option of the Lessor, revert to and become the property of the 
Lessor at and upon the expiration or termination of this Lease and/or the termination of 
Lessee’s right to possession of the Premises.  

B. Lessor, in its sole discretion, may require Lessee to remove part or all of said buildings, 
structures, alterations and/or improvements including, but not limited to, fuel tanks and 
lines, and partially or completely restore the Premises to the condition of the Premises at 
the inception of this Lease by sending written notice requesting such removal and 
restoration within sixty (60) days after such expiration or termination.  

Page 58 of 478



 
 

23 
 

C. Lessee shall then at its own expense complete such removal and restoration within ninety 
(90) days of the sending of such notice. 

 
D. At the conclusion of the current lease and extension period(s) the existing Lessee shall be 

given preference in executing a new lease on the same premises, provided that the 
proposed land use is compatible with the current Airport Layout Plan and the Lessee is 
otherwise in good standing with the City of Palmer and in substantial compliance with the 
existing lease.  

E. Section(s) 7.5 and 7.6 do not necessarily preclude a lessee from recovering value from 
Lessee’s leasehold improvements by selling to a third party at any time during the lease 
term, provided that all other conditions of the active lease have been met. At such time, 
the buying third party would request a new lease or an assignment of the existing lease, 
and such request would not be reasonably withheld.     

 
Section 7.7 Holdover 
A. In the event the Lessee shall hold over after the expiration or termination of this Lease 

for any cause whatsoever, Lessee shall pay Lessor monthly rent at double the annual 
rental rate divided by twelve for the entire time Lessee remains in possession, and in 
addition thereto, Lessee shall hold Lessor harmless from all damages resulting from 
Lessee’s failure to surrender the Premises, including, without limitation, claims made by a 
succeeding tenant resulting from Lessee’s failure to surrender the Premises. 

B. If Lessee remains in possession of the Premises after expiration of the term of the Lease, 
or after the date in any notice given by Lessor to Lease termination this Lease, such 
possession by Lessee shall be deemed to be a month-to-moth tenancy terminable on thirty 
(30) days’ notice given at any time by either party.  

C. The provisions of this section do not exclude Lessor’s rights of re-entry or any other right 
under this Lease. 

 
Section 7.8 Notices 
Any notices required to be sent in accordance with the terms of this Lease, including legal process, 
shall be sent in writing by registered or certified mail, to the parties at the following addresses 
unless otherwise notified in writing and deemed to be received when so sent: 
 
Lessor’s address: City Manager 
   City of Palmer 
   231W. Evergreen Ave.  

Palmer, AK 99645 
 
Lessee’s address: FCA Properties, LLC 

801 East Aircraft Rd. 
Palmer, AK. 99645  

 
Section 7.9 Rights or Remedies 
No right or remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to Lessor is intended to be exclusive or 
any other right or remedy, but is intended to be in addition to any right or remedy given 
hereunder, or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. 
 
 
 

Page 59 of 478



 
 

24 
 

Section 7.10 Successors in Interest 
This Lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective heirs, successors and 
assigns of the parties hereto. 
 
Section 7.11 Applicable Law and Forum 
This Lease and the respective rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and 
interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Alaska. Any civil action concerning this 
Lease shall be brought in Alaska District or Superior Court in Palmer, Alaska, only. 
 
Section 7.12 Recordation of Lease 
The parties prefer to record a memorandum of this Lease rather than the Lease itself and 
contemporaneously with the execution hereof they have executed a memorandum of Lease in 
the form of Attachment A which is attached hereto and may be recorded by either party. In the 
event it should be so require by any title company insuring title for Lessee, or by any lending 
institution from which Lessee proposed to make a loan, then Lessee may cause this Lease to be 
placed of record. 
 
Section 7.13 Severability 
The invalidity or unenforceability of any particular provision of this Lease shall not affect any 
remaining provisions hereof, and, in any such event this Lease shall be construed and interpreted 
in all respects as if such invalid or unenforceable provision were omitted. 
 
Section 7.14 Construction 
Lessee and Guarantor have been advised to have this Lease and the Guaranty reviewed by their 
own attorney. The parties agree that this Lease and Guaranty shall not be construed more strictly 
against one party than the other nor shall this lease be construed against the lessor. 
 
7.15 Gender and Plurality 
Unless the context of this Lease clearly requires a different interpretation of construction, all 
references to masculine, feminine or neuter genders shall be construed to refer to all such 
genders; and all references to the singular shall also include the plural, and vice versa. 
 
Section 7.16 Joint and Several Liability 
The obligations of each Lessee are joint and several. 
 
Section 7.17 Entire Agreement 
This written Lease constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the 
subject matter hereof and supersedes all other prior or contemporaneous agreements, oral or 
written, between the parties not included herein. No modifications, amendments, deletions, 
additions or alterations of this Lease shall be effective unless in writing and signed by all of the 
parties hereto or such representatives of the parties as have been duly authorized to make such 
change. 
 
LESSOR: CITY OF PALMER 
 
 
By: ___________________ 
     Nathan E. Wallace, City Manager   Date: __________________ 
 

Page 60 of 478



 
 

25 
 

LESSEE: FCA Properties, LLC 
 
 
By: __________________________ 
     John A. Biornstad, Managing Member   Date: ________________________ 
 
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 THIS IS TO CERTIFY that on the ______day of ______________, 20____, before me the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, duly commissioned and sworn, 
personally appeared, Nathan Wallace, to me known and known to me to be the identical individual 
described in and who executed the within and foregoing LEASE AGREEMENT as City Manager of 
the City of Palmer, freely and voluntarily on behalf of the City of Palmer for the uses and purposes 
therein mentioned. 
 
GIVEN UNDER MY HAND and official seal the day and year last above written. 
 
_____________________ 
Notary Public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ____________ 
 
 
NOTARY 
 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the ______ day of ____________, 20____, before me, the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, John A. 
Biornstad, Managing Member of the limited liability company named in the forgoing instruments, 
acknowledged to me that he/she had, in his/her official capacity is authorized by the limited 
liability company to execute the foregoing instruments as the free act and deed of the said limited 
liability company for the uses and purposes therein stated. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
________________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 

Page 61 of 478



 
 

26 
 

GUARANTY 
 
 
In consideration of Lessor leasing the Premises to Lessee, the undersigned, jointly and severally, 
hereby guarantee the punctual payment of rent, additional rent, and all other charges imposed 
by the Lease, and the timely performance by Lessee of all duties imposed on Lessee by the Lease. 
 
 
GUARANTOR: 
 
 
___________________, individually    Date: _________________________ 
John A. Biornstad 
 
NOTARY 
 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the _____ day of ______________, 20____, before me, the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, John A. 
Biornstad, known to me to be the person named in the foregoing instruments, acknowledged to 
me that he/she had executed the same for the uses and purposes therein stated. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
_________________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ___________ 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 62 of 478



 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

“Return To” 
City of Palmer 

231 West Evergreen Avenue 
Palmer, AK 99645 

907-745-3271 
 
 

PALMER MUNICIPAL AIPORT 
MEMORANDUM OF LEASE AGREEMENT No. 17-007 

 
This is a Memorandum of Lease Agreement No. 17-007 made and entered into as of this 
_________day of ______________, 2017, by and between the City of Palmer, a municipal 
corporation organized and existing under its charter and the laws of the State of Alaska, 
hereinafter referred to as the “Lessor”, and FCA Properties, LLC hereinafter referred to as the 
“Lessee”. Agree upon the following terms: 
 

1. Lease. The provisions set forth in a written Lease Agreement No. 17-007 between the parties 
hereto dated the ______ day of ______________ 2016, are hereby incorporated by reference 
into this Memorandum. 

2. Demised Premises. The Demised Premises, which are the subject of The Lease Agreement 
No. 17-007, are more particularly described as follows:  

A parcel of land located within Tract B, Palmer Municipal Airport recorded as Plat No. 2006-15 in 
the Palmer Recording District, Third Judicial District, State of Alaska and further described in an 
unrecorded plat dated June 27, 2005 as follows: 
 
Palmer Municipal Airport, Block 3, Lease Lot 33 

 
Containing 0.85 acres or 37,026 square feet, more or less  
 
See Attached “Exhibit A”  
 
Parcel may be subject to additional easements and/or encumbrances not shown or depicted 
hereon. 
 
“Exhibit A”, attached hereto; 

3. Commencement Date of Lease.  The Lease Agreement shall be deemed to have commenced 
on July 1, 2017 as set forth within the terms of the Lease. The Term of the Lease Agreement 
shall be 20 years from the Commencement Date as stated in the written Lease. The initial term 
shall commence on the date hereof and terminate on June 30, 2037. Provided Lessee fully and 
faithfully performs all of the covenants and conditions contained herein for the term of the Lease, 

Page 63 of 478



 

2 
 

Lessor may approve an additional period of 10 years at the expiration of this Lease so that the 
total number of years available to Lessee is 30 years. As with the initial term at the start of and 
continuing through the renewal period.  

4. Duplicate Copies of the originals of the Lease Agreement are in the possession of the Lessor 
and Lessee and reference should be made thereto for a more detailed description thereof and for 
resolution of any questions pertaining thereto. 

5. Notices.  Any notices required to be sent in accordance with the terms of this Lease Agreement 
No. 17-007, including legal process, shall be sent in writing by registered or certified mail, to the 
parties at the following addresses unless otherwise notified in writing and deemed to be received 
when so sent: 

Lessor’s address: City Manager 
   City of Palmer 
   231W. Evergreen Ave.  

Palmer, AK 99645 
 
Lessee’s address: FCA Properties, LLC 

801 East Aircraft Rd. 
Palmer, AK. 99645 
 

6. Purpose.  It is expressly understood and agreed by all parties that the sole purpose of this 
Memorandum of Lease is to give record notice of the Lease Agreement No. 17-007; it being 
distinctly understood and agreed that said Lease Agreement  No. 17-007 constitutes the entire 
lease and agreement between Lessor and the Lessee with respect to the Demised Premises and 
is hereby incorporated by reference. The Lease Agreement No. 17-007 contains and sets forth 
additional rights, terms, conditions, duties, and obligations not enumerated within this instrument 
which govern the Lease and addendum. This Memorandum is for information purposes only and 
nothing contained herein may be deemed in any way to modify or vary any of the terms or 
conditions of the Lease Agreement No. 17-007. In the event of any inconsistency between the 
terms of the Lease Agreement 17-007 and this instrument, the terms of the Lease Agreement No. 
17-007, shall control. The rights and obligations set forth herein shall be binding upon and inure 
to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, representatives, successors, and 
assigns. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Memorandum of Lease pursuant 
to due authorization on the dates herein acknowledged. 

LESSOR: CITY OF PALMER 
 
 
By: ___________________ 
     Nathan E. Wallace, City Manager    Date: ________________________ 
 
 
LESSEE: FCA Properties, LLC 
 
 
By: __________________________ 
     John A. Biornstad, Managing Member   Date: ________________________ 

Page 64 of 478



 

3 
 

NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 THIS IS TO CERTIFY that on the ______day of ______________, 2017, before me the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, duly commissioned and sworn, 
personally appeared, Nathan E. Wallace, to me known and known to me to be the identical 
individual described in and who executed the within and foregoing Memorandum of Lease, as 
City Manager of the City of Palmer, freely and voluntarily on behalf of the City of Palmer for the 
uses and purposes therein mentioned. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
 
 
_____________________ 
Notary Public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ____________ 
 
 
NOTARY 
 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the ______ day of ____________, 2017, before me, the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, John A. 
Biornstad, Managing Member of the limited liability company named in the forgoing instruments, 
acknowledged to me that he/she had, in his/her official capacity is authorized by the limited 
liability company to execute the foregoing instruments as the free act and deed of the said limited 
liability company for the uses and purposes therein stated. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
________________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65 of 478



Page 66 of 478



Page 67 of 478



Page 68 of 478



Page 69 of 478



Page 70 of 478



Page 71 of 478



Real Property Bill of Sale 
 
 

STATE OF Alaska 
 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough 
 
 
KNOW YE ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS,  
 
That, Colville Logistics LLC., Jeff Helmericks, of 820 E. Aircraft Rd #200 Palmer, 
Alaska  99645, for and in consideration of payment of the sum of  One Hundred 
Thirty Five Thousand Dollars ($135,000.00), the receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged, do hereby grant, bargain, sell and convey FCA Properties LLC., 
John Biornstad, of 801 E. Aircraft Rd. Palmer, Alaska, 99645 and assigns the 
following property:  A metal hanger, 50’ by 72’ with one metal bi-fold door facing 
west with 3’’ of foam insulation applied to the inside of the shell with no other 
improvements.  This building is located on the Palmer	Municipal	Airport	Tract	B	
lease	Lot	33. 
 
 
I hereby, the seller, warrant that I am the lawful owner of said property and that I 
have full legal right, power and authority to sell said property. I further warrant 
said property to be free of all encumbrances and that I will warrant and defend 
said property hereby sold against any and all persons whomsoever.  
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I, the seller, have hereto set my hand and seal this ___ 
day of _________, 20____.  
 
__________________________          __________________________ 
               Seller’s Signature                                                    Buyer’s Signature 
 
STATE OF ALASKA 
 
MATANUSKA-SUSITNA BOROUGH 
 
On this ____ day of ______________, 20____, before me personally came 
and appeared ____________________, known, and known to me, to be the 
individual described in and who executed the foregoing instrument, and who duly 
acknowledged to me that he executed same for the purpose therein contained.  
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal. 
 
________________________ 
 
My Commission Expires: __________________ 

Page 72 of 478



Quitclaim Deed   Page 1 of 3 
 

This document prepared by (and after recording 
return to): 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
--------Above This Line Reserved For Official Use Only------------- 

Name: John A Biornstad 
Firm/Company:  FCA Properties LLC 
Address: 801 E. Aircraft Rd. 
Address 2:       
City, State, Zip:  Palmer, AK.  99645 
Phone: (907) 745-1631 
  
  
  
 

 
QUITCLAIM DEED 

 

 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS THAT: 

 FOR VALUABLE CONSIDERATION OF Nine thousand four hundred twenty four and twenty 
seven cents ($9,424.27), paid in monthly installments, plus a single payment of One Hundred Twenty 
Five Thousand Five Hundred Seventy Five and Seventy Three cents  ($125,575.73), totaling One hundred 
thirty five thousand dollars ($135,000.00) of which is hereby acknowledged, Colville Logistics LLC, a 
Limited Liability company organized under the laws of the state of Alaska, hereinafter referred to as 
“Grantor”, does hereby convey and quitclaim unto  FCA Properties LLC,  a Limited Liability Company 
organized under the laws of the state of  Alaska, hereinafter “Grantee”, the following leased property and 
building, together with all improvements located thereon, lying in the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, State 
of Alaska, to-wit: Palmer Municipal Airport Tract B Lot 33.  Address 801 E. Aircraft Rd.  Palmer, 
AK.  99645  
 
  

X  Legal Description: Palmer Municipal Airport Tract B Lot 33 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Prior instrument reference: Document No. 5840T0BL033 , of the Recorder of Matanuska-Susitna 
Borough, Alaska. 
 

Page 73 of 478



Quitclaim Deed   Page 2 of 3 
 

LESS AND EXCEPT all oil, gas and minerals, on and under the above described property owned 
by Grantors, if any, which are reserved by Grantor. 

 
SUBJECT to all easements, rights-of-way, protective covenants and mineral reservations of 

record, if any.  
 
TO HAVE AND TO HOLD same unto Grantee, and unto Grantee’s heirs and assigns forever, 

with all appurtenances thereunto belonging.  
  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this deed was executed by the undersigned on this the 30th day of 

August, 2010___. 

      
 

 
 

 
 
 
Name of Entity:            
 
By:      
Signature of authorized signatory 
 
          
Name of authorized signatory 
 
Its:           
(Type capacity of signatory) 

 
 
 

STATE OF ________________ 
 
________________ JUDICIAL DISTRICT (OR COUNTY/BOROUGH OF ________________)  
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _______ day of _____________, 
20____, by ___________________________ (signing party), the ___________________________ (title) 
of _______________________________ (name of corporation) a ______________________________ 
(state of incorporation) corporation, on behalf of said corporation. 

  
 _______________________________________ 

       Notary Public 
 
       Print Name _________________________ 
       Serial Number, if any: ____________________ 
My commission expires: 
 

Page 74 of 478



Quitclaim Deed   Page 3 of 3 
 

____________________ 

 

Grantor(s) Name, Address, phone: 
Colville Logistics LLC 
800 E. Aircraft Rd. Suite 200 
Palmer 
Alaska 
 99645 
(907) 746-3198 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Grantee(s) Name, Address, phone: 
FCA Properties LLC 
801 E. Aircraft Rd. 
Palmer 
Alaska 
99645 
(907) 745-1631 
SEND TAX STATEMENTS TO GRANTEE 

 

Page 75 of 478



Quitclaim Deed   Exhibit A 
 

EXHIBIT A 

Grantor:  

Jeff Helmericks 

Grantee: 

John A Biornstad      

Legal Description: 

 
      

 

Page 76 of 478



Building Improvements of Hanger
Located on City of Palmer 
Municipal Airport  Block B Leased Lot 33

Hanger Purchased from Colville Logistics $135,000.00

Following Improvements
Additional insulation of entire hanger incl. Labo $12,000.00
Heating equipment and Labor for infloor heat. $16,000.00
Interior construction of office and storage space $22,000.00
Sheetrock for offices and firewall $11,000.00
Electrical and lighting for entire hanger. $23,000.00
Paint and Firewall, ie. Fire doors, protection $8,400.00
Plumbing $7,000.00
Interior air supply $2,000.00

$236,400.00

Page 77 of 478



 

Page 78 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-048 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Action Memorandum No. 17-048 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute a Renewed Lease Agreement with 
Artic’s Air Academy, LLC, on Block 3, Lease Lots 26 and 27, Palmer Municipal Airport Under an Original 
PMA Lease No. 77-1 and PMA Lease No. 81-3 Respectively 
 
Agenda of: June 27, 2017 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Denied 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Frank J. Kelly, Airport Superintendent 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 

  Community Development    

X  Finance 
 

 6/6/17 

  Fire    

  Police     

  Public Works     

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 

 

 

City Attorney   

City Clerk   
 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 5,044.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
X Creates revenue in the amount of: $ $5,044.00 
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
X Budgeted Line item(s): 03-00-00-3431  Airport Land Leases 
X Not budgeted  03-00-00-3431  Airport Land Leases (Increase $388.00) 
 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 79 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-048 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
 Draft Lease Agreement 17-006 (Exhibit A) 
 Draft Memorandum of Lease Agreement 17-006 
 Identity Documents 

 
Summary Statement:   
 
Mr. Ken More and Artic’s Air Academy has requested the City of Palmer renew his two lease agreements 
and combine them into one with the same term.  Artic’s Air Academy, LLC assumed two prior leases from 
Nugget Aviation in 2014, PMA Lease No.’s 77-1 and 81-3.  The first lease is set to expire on July 1, 2017 
and the second on July 1, 2021.  The very short remaining term on both leases has allowed Artic’s Air 
Academy to barely begin amortizing their investment in the purchase of the improvements.     
 
Artic’s Air Academy, LLC purchased the improvements from Mr. Tom Bishop and Nugget Aviation, LLC and 
assumed their two leases in March of 2014 for approximately $220K.  Since the purchase, Artic’s Air 
Academy has invested an additional $20K in property improvements and begun “Fly Around Alaska”, 
received its 135 Certificate, purchased the assets of a flight school in Talkeetna and has been approved 
as a Cessna training center.     
 
In granting this new lease agreement, this City will be using its new leasing document and up to date 
lease language, receiving a rental rate increase from $0.06 to $0.065 cents per square foot, and combining 
two separate leases into one agreement with a consistent end date.     
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
To approve Action Memorandum No. 17-048 for approval to execute a new Lease Agreement No. 17-006 
with Mr. Ken More and Artic’s Air Academy, LLC. 

Page 80 of 478



 
 

1 
 

City of Palmer 
231 West Evergreen Avenue 

Palmer, AK 99645 
907-745-3271 

 
 

PALMER MUNICIPAL AIPORT 
LEASE AGREEMENT No. 17-006 

 
Contents 
ARTICLE I - PREMISES, TERM AND RENTALS .............................................................................. 4 

Section 1.1 Premises and Purpose ............................................................................................... 4 

Section 1.2 Term and Renewal ..................................................................................................... 5 

Section 1.3 Rent ................................................................................................................................. 5 

Section 1.4 Rent Adjustment ......................................................................................................... 6 

Section 1.5 Determination of Fair Market Rent ...................................................................... 7 

ARTICLE II - IMPROVEMENTS ........................................................................................................... 7 

Section 2.1 Improvements ............................................................................................................. 7 

Section 2.2 Plans and Specifications .......................................................................................... 7 

Section 2.3 Conceptual Plans ........................................................................................................ 8 

Section 2.4 Final Plans ..................................................................................................................... 8 

Section 2.5 Airport Manager’s Approval .................................................................................... 8 

Section 2.6 Compliance with part 77 FAR ................................................................................. 8 

Section 2.7 Commencement of Construction .......................................................................... 9 

Section 2.8 Completion of Construction .................................................................................... 9 

Section 2.9 Liens ................................................................................................................................ 9 

Section 2.11 Performance Guarantee ......................................................................................... 9 

Section 2.12 Inspection ................................................................................................................. 10 

Section 2.13 Non-Responsibility ................................................................................................ 10 

Section 2.14 As Built Plans ........................................................................................................... 10 

Section 2.15 Improvements Subject to Reversion or Removal ...................................... 10 

Section 2.16 Alterations and Other Improvements ............................................................. 10 

Section 2.17 Pavement/Utility Services .................................................................................. 11 

ARTICLE III - USE OF THE LEASED PREMISES .......................................................................... 11 

Section 3.1 Airport Purposes ....................................................................................................... 11 

Section 3.2 Compliance with Laws ............................................................................................ 11 

Page 81 of 478



 
 

2 
 

Section 3.3 Hazardous Materials ................................................................................................ 12 

Section 3.4 Americans with Disabilities Act ........................................................................... 13 

Section 3.5 Reservations and Exceptions ............................................................................... 13 

Section 3.6 Subordination of Lease to Requirements of the Federal Aviation 
Administration ................................................................................................................................... 13 

Section 3.7 Aircraft on Premises ................................................................................................ 14 

Section 3.8 Discriminatory Acts Prohibited ............................................................................ 14 

Section 3.9 Affirmative Action ..................................................................................................... 14 

Section 3.10 Maintenance of Premises .................................................................................... 15 

Section 3.11 Signs............................................................................................................................ 15 

Section 3.12 Improvements and Alterations ......................................................................... 15 

Section 3.13 Quiet Possession..................................................................................................... 17 

Section 3.14 Lessee’s option to Terminate ............................................................................. 17 

Section 3.15 Lessor’s Option to Terminate ............................................................................. 17 

Section 3.16 Right of Entry and Access ................................................................................... 17 

Section 3.17 Lessor’s Improvements ........................................................................................ 18 

Section 3.18 Aviation Easement ................................................................................................. 18 

Section 3.19 Right-of-Way and Easement .............................................................................. 18 

ARTICLE IV - TAXES, INDEMNIFICATION, AND INSURANCE .............................................. 18 

Section 4.1 Taxes, Assessments, and Utilities ....................................................................... 18 

Section 4.2 Indemnification ......................................................................................................... 19 

Section 4.3 Insurance ..................................................................................................................... 19 

ARTICLE V - ASSIGNMENT AND SECURITY INTERESTS ........................................................ 20 

Section 5.1 Assignment and Subletting ................................................................................... 20 

Section 5.2 Mortgage and Encumbrances ............................................................................... 21 

ARTICLE VI - DEFAULT AND ENFORCEMENT ............................................................................. 21 

Section 6.1 Default Defined.......................................................................................................... 21 

Section 6.2 Lessor Remedies on Default ................................................................................. 22 

Section 6.3 Lessor’s Failure to Enforce and Nonwaiver ..................................................... 24 

ARTICLE VII - GENERAL COVENANTS ........................................................................................... 24 

Section 7.1 Condition and Status of Premises....................................................................... 24 

Section 7.2 Risk of Loss ................................................................................................................. 25 

Section 7.3 Repair or Rebuilding ................................................................................................ 25 

Page 82 of 478



 
 

3 
 

Section 7.4 Condemnation ............................................................................................................ 25 

Section 7.5 Surrender of Premises ............................................................................................ 25 

Section 7.6 Reversion or Removal of Buildings and Improvements ............................. 25 

Section 7.7 Holdover ....................................................................................................................... 26 

Section 7.8 Notices .......................................................................................................................... 26 

Section 7.9 Rights or Remedies .................................................................................................. 26 

Section 7.10 Successors in Interest .......................................................................................... 27 

Section 7.11 Applicable Law and Forum .................................................................................. 27 

Section 7.12 Recordation of Lease ............................................................................................ 27 

Section 7.13 Severability ............................................................................................................... 27 

Section 7.14 Construction ............................................................................................................. 27 

7.15 Gender and Plurality ............................................................................................................. 27 

Section 7.16 Joint and Several Liability ................................................................................... 27 

Section 7.17 Entire Agreement ................................................................................................... 27 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Office Use Only:  

Lease entered into on:  
Lease ending date:  
First rate adjustment date:  
Second rate adjustment date:  
Third rate adjustment date:  
Fourth rate adjustment date:  
Fifth rate adjustment date:  
Sixth rate adjustment date:  
Date lease was renewed:   

 

Page 83 of 478



 
 

4 
 

City of Palmer 

231 West Evergreen Avenue 
Palmer, AK 99645 

907-745-3271 
 

PALMER MUNICIPAL AIPORT 
LEASE AGREEMENT No. 17-006 

 
 This LEASE AGREEMENT is made and entered into this ______ day of ____________, 
2017 by and between the City of Palmer, a municipal corporation organized and existing under 
its charter and the laws of the State of Alaska, hereinafter referred to as the “Lessor”, and Artic’s 
Air Academy, LLC, hereinafter referred to as the “Lessee”. 
  

This lease agreement is not effective unless it is accompanied by signed and attached 
Exhibit A providing specific information for the following sections: 1., 1A, 1.1B, 1.2A, 1.2B, 1.3A, 
2.1, 2.2, 2.7 and 2.8. 
  

In consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained herein, the parties agree 
as follows: 

 
ARTICLE I - PREMISES, TERM AND RENTALS 

 
Section 1.1 Premises and Purpose 
A. Lessor does hereby lease, demise and let unto Lessee, and Lessee does hereby lease from 

Lessor, real property more particularly described as a parcel of land located within Tract 
B, Palmer Municipal Airport recorded as Plat No. 2006-15 in the Palmer Recording District, 
Third Judicial District, State of Alaska and further described in an unrecorded plat dated 
June 27, 2005 as follows: 

 
Palmer Municipal Airport, Block 3, Lease Lot 26 and 27 
 
Containing 1.01 acres or 44,000 square feet, more or less and 
 
Containing 0.77 acres or 33,600 square feet, more or less respectively  
 
See “Exhibit A” 
 
Parcel may be subject to additional easements and/or encumbrances not shown or 
depicted hereon. 

B.  Lessee shall use the Premises for the following Aeronautical uses only, and for no other:  
Aircraft parking, storage, sales, rental, service, flight training and charter 

C. Any use of the Premises for Non-Aeronautical activity is strictly prohibited, unless an 
approved amendment to this lease is adopted and fair market value rates for Non-
aeronautical areas are applied. 
 

Page 84 of 478



 
 

5 
 

Section 1.2 Term and Renewal 
A. The term of the lease shall be for a period of 20 years, commencing on the 1st day of July 

2017 (the “Commencement Date”) and ending on the 31st day of June 2037, subject to 
the terms of provisions hereof. 

B. Provided Lessee fully and faithfully performs all of the covenants and conditions contained 
herein for the term of the Lease, Lessor may approve an additional period of 10 years at 
the expiration of this Lease so that the total number of years available to Lessee is 30 
years. As with the initial term at the start of and continuing through the renewal period,  
1. The rental rate will continue to be subject to changes as provided in Section 1.4 

“Rent Adjustment,”; 
2. The renewal insurance provision as provided in Section 4.3 will apply along with 

any other changes made in accordance with Section 4.3; 
3. The Lease will be subject to such other and further changes as are deemed 

necessary by Lessor for the reasonable protection of Lessor;  
4. In addition, if this Lease is renewed, it shall be subject to all provisions of the 

Palmer Municipal Code and to the City’s Regulations that pertain to the Airport in 
effect at the time of the renewal or amended thereafter. Including but not limited 
to the current airport regulations. 

C. To renew this Lease, Lessee must comply strictly with the following:  
1. Not more than 24 months nor less than 12 months before the end of the term of 

this Lease, the Lessee must indicate in a signed writing delivered to the Palmer 
City Manager, the Lessee’s request to exercise the option to renew this Lease.  

2. If Lessee fails to notify Lessor within said time period, this Lease shall be deemed 
terminated at the scheduled expiration date. 

 
Section 1.3 Rent 
A. Lessee shall pay to the Lessor as rent during the term hereof the sum $5,044.00 per year, 

payable annually in advance without demand, beginning July 1, 2017 and continuing on 
the same day of each and every year thereafter during the term of the lease at the office 
of the Lessor set forth in Section 7.8 or at such other place as the Lessor may designate 
in writing. (Rent is derived as follows: 44,000 square feet X $0.065 cents per square foot 
and 33,600 square feet X $0.065)    
1. Failure to pay rent by the thirtieth day after the due date shall obligate the Lessee 

to pay a late charge of $100.00, which sum is agreed to a reasonable estimate of 
the Lessor’s damages for late rental payments and shall not be construed as a 
penalty or a limitation on Lessor’s remedies.  

2. This late charge is in addition to a 12 percent daily interest rate.                                                                     
B. All rent shall be payable in current legal tender of the United States. Payment may be 

tendered by check, but payment shall not be made in fact until such check has been 
honored by the drawee bank. The tender of payment by check within the time provided 
shall be deemed sufficient to meet any due date only if the check is subsequently honored 
by the drawee bank and the Lessor subsequently receives the legal tender required by 
this Lease. Any subsequent dishonor and non-receipt of rent payment shall constitute a 
default of this Lease. 

C. The extension of time for the payment of any installment of rent, or the acceptance by 
the Lessor of any money other than of the kind herein specified, shall not be a waiver of 
the right Lessor to insist on all other payments of rent to be made in the manner and at 
the time herein specified. The acceptance by the Lessor of a past due installment payment 
shall not waive the Lessor’s right as to any other default or breach of the Lease. 

Page 85 of 478



 
 

6 
 

D. The rent herein specified shall be net to the Lessor and such payment shall not be subject 
to any abatement, deduction or off set (except as otherwise provided in this Lease). 

E. All taxes, charges, costs, expenses, utilities and assessments which the Lessee is required 
to pay hereunder, and all damages, costs and expenses which the Lessor may incur by 
reason of any default of the Lessee or failure on the Lessee’s part to comply with the 
terms of the Lease, shall be deemed to be additional rent and in the event of nonpayment 
by the Lessee, the Lessor shall have all the rights and remedies with respect thereto that 
the Lessor has for the nonpayment of the basic rent. 
 

Section 1.4 Rent Adjustment 
A. It is the intent of the parties that the Palmer Municipal Airport be a self-sustaining facility 

and operate without any support from the general fund of the Lessor. 
B. The rent shall be subject to adjustment at five (5) year intervals to achieve fair market 

rent, the first adjustment date is five (5) years following the annual payment. The rent 
shall be adjusted as follows: 
1. Six (6) months prior to the termination of the initial five (5) year period or any 

subsequent five (5) year period, Lessor shall propose the rent for the next five (5) 
year period of the lease term and the parties hereto may, by mutual agreement, 
set the rent for the five (5) year period.  The basis of the initial proposed new rent 
for the next five (5) year term will be the accumulated increase or decrease in the 
Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U): Selected areas, 
semiannual averages, all items index for the Anchorage, AK. Local area, based 
upon 2015 as a base year, as well as the comparative leasing rate of similar 
airports in the Alaskan Market place.  
a. If an agreement is not reached ninety (90) days prior to the end of the 

current five (5) year period, the fair market rental value of the premises 
shall be determined by an appraiser selected by the lessor who shall (a) be 
a member of The American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers, and (b) 
have experiencing in appraising properties similar to the premises. (The 
“Qualified Appraiser”). The cost of the initial appraisal shall be born equally 
between Lessor and Lessee.  If either the Lessor or Lessee or both shall 
disapprove of the fair market rental of the premises as thus determined, 
the dissatisfied party(s) may then designate another Qualified Appraiser 
who shall conduct a second (or additional) independent appraisal(s) of the 
premises and the fair market rental of the premises shall be determined to 
be the average of the two appraisals.  The cost of the additional appraisal 
shall be borne by the dissatisfied party.  In the event that both the Lessor 
and the Lessee are both dissatisfied with the original appraisal than the 
cost of, the second appraisal shall be borne equally between the Lessor 
and Lessee.    

2. Lessor’s failure to timely start this rent adjustment procedure does not affect the 
rent adjustment, other than that the rent shall not be adjusted for the period 
before Lessor starts the procedure for each five-year period.  
a. If, for example, Lessor starts the rent-adjustment procedure for the first 

time on the first day of the seventh year of the lease term, then the rent 
shall remain unchanged for the previous six years.  

b. Any adjustment in Section 1.4 would start as of the first day of the seventh 
year and remain in effect through year ten when Lessor could again start 
the rent-adjustment procedure. 

Page 86 of 478



 
 

7 
 

C. During the pendency of any determination of fair market rent, Lessee shall pay the rent 
last in effect for the Premises until such determination has been made. Any deficiency 
between the rent so paid and the adjusted rent retroactive to the beginning of the period 
for which it is due shall be paid within thirty (30) days of being billed to Lessee with 
interest from the original due date of such rent at the rate highest rate allowed by law for 
debts under $25,000 or twelve percent (12%) per annum, whichever rate is lower. 

 
Section 1.5 Determination of Fair Market Rent 
A. The fair market rent of the premises shall be based on the Consumer Price Index for the 

Municipality of Anchorage from the United States Department of Labor statistics as 
outlined in Section 1.4. 

B. Fair market rent shall not include any return on improvements placed on the Premises by 
the Lessee or its predecessors in interest, but shall include a return for improvements 
placed on the Premises by the Lessor or otherwise belonging to Lessor.  

C. The parties acknowledge that certain property at Palmer Municipal Airport may not 
currently and may not in the future be leased for a fair market rent.  

D. The returns received by Lessor from other aviation Leases at Palmer Municipal Airport, 
therefore, shall not be used exclusively by the appraiser to determine a fair market rent.  

E. Any appraisal of the Premises shall consider any limitation or restriction on use imposed 
under this Lease or pursuant to any patent, deed, lease or grant from or agreement with 
the United States to the Lessor, including but not limited to aviation restricted use. 

F. Lessor shall send written notice to Lessee of the amount determined to be the fair market 
rent together with a copy of the appraisal. 

 
ARTICLE II - IMPROVEMENTS 

 
Section 2.1 Improvements 
A. Promptly after the execution and delivery of this Lease, and as hereinafter more 

particularly provided, the Lessee at its own cost and expense shall cause plans and 
specifications to be prepared for the construction of the following building, structures and 
improvements to be placed on the leased Premises, hereinafter referred to as 
“Improvements”.  

• None at this time, improvements are already in existence. 
B. Failure to timely complete the improvements shall constitute a condition of default.  
C. The improvements shall fully comply with all applicable federal, state, and municipal laws 

and regulations, including but not limited to federal, state, and municipal building, fire, 
construction and safety codes and zoning regulations and requirements. 

 
Section 2.2 Plans and Specifications 
A. The Lessee at its own cost and expense shall have prepared conceptual plans for 

improvements and shall prepare and submit them to the Department of Community 
Development and the Airport Manager on or before 90 days from the execution of the 
lease. The conceptual plans shall have a site plan, building floor plan, all four building 
elevations and the improvements to be constructed.  

B. The Lessee shall submit the conceptual plans required (as outlined by this section) within 
the time specified, or the Lessor shall have the right and privilege to terminate this Lease 
on ten (10) days written notice and if such notice is given this Lease shall terminate and 
shall be of no further force and effect at the expiration of such ten-day period. 
 

Page 87 of 478



 
 

8 
 

Section 2.3 Conceptual Plans 
A. The Department of Community Development shall examine the conceptual plans and 

within thirty (30) days after submission, the Airport Manager shall inform the Lessee in 
writing of any objections to the conceptual plans.  
1. In event of objections, the Lessee shall have thirty (30) days to propose any 

corrective amendments which the Airport Manager shall accept or reject within the 
next twenty (20) days.  

2. Failure of the Airport Manager to inform the Lessee in writing of his or her 
objections within twenty (20) days shall constitute the Airport Manager’s and the 
Department of Community Development’s approval. 

B. The Airport Manager’s and Department of Community Development’s approval of the 
conceptual plans submitted by Lessee shall not constitute the assumption of any liability 
of Lessor for their compliance or conformity with applicable building codes, zoning 
regulations, and/or city, borough, state and federal laws, ordinances and/or regulations, 
or for their accuracy.  
1. Lessee shall be solely responsible for such plans.  
2. The Airport Manager’s and Department of Community Development approval of 

such plans shall not constitute a waiver of Lessor’s right to thereafter require 
Lessee to amend the same to provide for any corrections or omissions needed to 
comply with applicable building codes, zoning regulations, city, borough, state or 
federal laws, ordinances or regulations.  

3. The review and approval required by this section is in addition to any other review 
and approval needed for any required building permits or similar authorization. 

 
Section 2.4 Final Plans 
After the Airport Manager has notified the Lessee of his or her approval of the conceptual plans 
and specifications, the Lessee shall promptly apply to the appropriate municipal department for 
a building permit for any construction or building required to be erected by Lessee pursuant to 
this Article.  
A. The Lessee shall submit to the Airport Manager any plans and detailed drawings including 

copies which may be required for the permit before submitting the plans and drawings for 
a permit.  

B. Thereafter the Lessee at the Lessee’s own expense shall proceed promptly with 
preparation of complete and final plans and complete detailed specifications (such plans 
and specification hereafter termed “final plans”) for the Improvements and shall submit 
to the Airport Manager for the Airport Manager’s approval the final plans as soon as 
practicable.  

C. The failure of the Lessee to proceed promptly with the preparation of final plans or to 
submit final plans as required by this section shall constitute a default and breach of this 
Lease and shall enable the Lessor to terminate this Lease on ten days written notice. 

 
Section 2.5 Airport Manager’s Approval 
The Airport Manager shall not unreasonably withhold his or her approval to any conceptual plans, 
specifications, any plans and detailed drawings, or any final plans or complete detailed 
specifications. 
 
Section 2.6 Compliance with part 77 FAR 
Lessee agrees to comply with the notification and review requirements covered in Part 77 of the 
Federal Aviation Regulations and any similar requirement prior to the construction of the 

Page 88 of 478



 
 

9 
 

Improvements and prior to the construction of any further structure or building upon the 
Premises, or in the event of any planned modification or alteration of any present or future 
building or structure situated on the Premises. 
 
Section 2.7 Commencement of Construction 
If the Lessee has not commenced construction of the Improvements by, on or before August 1, 
2017, the Lessor shall have the right at Lessor’s option to terminate this Lease on thirty (30) days 
written notice. 
 
Section 2.8 Completion of Construction 
A. The Lessee shall have completed construction of the Improvements by,  N/A.  
B. The construction shall be completed when the Improvements have been substantially 

completed and are capable of the use for which they were intended.  
C. If the Lessee has not completed the construction by the scheduled completion date the 

Lessor shall have the right, at Lessor’s option, to terminate the Lease on ten days written 
notice. 

 
Section 2.9 Liens 
A. Lessee hereby warrants to Lessor that the Premises and all such other Improvements, 

shall be free and clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances and agrees to indemnify, 
defend and hold Lessor harmless from and against any and all losses, damages and costs, 
including reasonable attorney’s fees and appellate attorneys’ fees, with respect thereto.  

B. If any lien or notice of lien on account of the alleged debt of Lessee or lien or notice of 
lien by any party engaged by Lessee or Lessee’s contractor to work on the Premises shall 
be filed against the Premises or Improvements, Lessee shall cause the same to be 
discharged of record by payment, deposit, bond, order of court or competent jurisdiction 
or otherwise. 

 
Section 2.11 Performance Guarantee 
A. The work, of N/A, as described in this lease document shall not begin until the  Lessee or 

Lessee’s contractor has provided to the Lessor a performance guarantee in the form of a 
performance bond, escrow, an irrevocable letter of credit, or deed of trust in an amount 
equal to 110% of the estimated cost of the Improvements to be accomplished, which 
guarantees the completion of the work by Lessee or Lessee’s contractor in accordance 
with the plans and specifications approved by Lessor and  guarantees the payment by 
Lessee or Lessee’s contactor of all subcontractors’ charges and all other persons and firms 
supplying services, labor, materials or supplies in connection with the work. 

B. The work, if funded by an Alaskan Financial Institution on behalf of the Lessee of 
$100,000, as  described in this lease document shall not begin until the  Lessee’s Financial 
Institution has provided to the Lessor a “Letter of Guarantee” in an amount equal to 100% 
of the cost of improvements in a “Construction Escrow Account” and guarantees the 
payment by Lessee, Lessee’s Contactor or Lessee’s Financial Institution of all 
subcontractors’ charges and all other persons and firms supplying services, labor, 
materials or supplies in connection with the work, in a form approved by the City.    

C. Bonds shall be a performance bond from a company qualified by law to act as a surety in 
the State of Alaska. The bond shall be in a form approved by the City. The bond shall 
name the City as the sole oblige and the Lessee as the principal. The surety must be rated 
by A.M. Best as an A or B surety. 

Page 89 of 478



 
 

10 
 

D. The Lessee may deposit cash in an escrow with a bank qualified by law to do business in 
the State of Alaska. The disbursement of the escrowed funds shall be governed by an 
escrow agreement in a form approved by the City. 

E. The Lessee may provide to the City, an irrevocable letter of credit or loan commitment by 
a bank qualified by law to do business in the State of Alaska naming the City as beneficiary. 
The letter of credit or loan commitment agreement shall be in a form approved by the 
City. 

F. The Lessee may grant the City a first deed of trust on real property located in the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough to secure the estimated cost of all improvements. The City 
will accept the first deed of trust if:  
1. The Matanuska- Susitna Borough’s assessed value for the tax purposes equals or 

exceeds the amount to be secured by the deed of trust; and 
2. The City obtains at the Lessee’s expense, a policy of title insurance from a 

recognized Title Company doing business in the Matanuska Susitna Borough 
naming the City as the insured beneficiary of the first deed of trust in the amount 
of the estimated cost of all improvements. 

 
Section 2.12 Inspection 
During construction, the Lessor shall have the right, from time to time, to inspect the 
Improvements and in the event that during the construction or at any time prior to the issuance 
of a final certificate of occupancy, the Lessor determines that the Improvements are not being 
constructed in accordance with the plans and specifications specified in this lease, Lessor may 
give notice in writing to the Lessee specifying in detail the particular deficiency, omission or other 
respect in which the Lessor claims construction does not meet the plans and specifications. Upon 
receipt of any such notice the Lessee shall take steps necessary to correct any deficiencies, 
omissions or otherwise. 
 
Section 2.13 Non-Responsibility 
The Lessor may at the time enter upon the Premises for the purpose of posting notices of non-
responsibility for any work, labor or materials supplied or furnished to these Premises and the 
Lessee shall notify, in writing, and in advance of any construction, the Lessor of any construction 
in order that the Lessor may post such notices of non-responsibility. It is the understanding of 
the parties hereto that any such work, labor, or materials are supplied only to further the purposes 
of the Lessee and that work, labor and materials have been contracted for solely by the Lessee 
for Lessee’s own benefit and not as agent of Lessor. 
 
Section 2.14 As Built Plans 
Within sixty (60) days after the project’s completion date, the Lessee shall deliver to the Lessor 
a surveyed plot plan of the leased Premises showing the completed Improvements as built in 
relation to the property lines of the leased Premises. 
Section 2.15 Improvements Subject to Reversion or Removal 
All alterations, buildings, structures or other Improvements placed on the Premises by Lessee 
shall be subject to Section 7.6 of this Lease. 
 
Section 2.16 Alterations and Other Improvements 
The Lessee shall have the right, from time to time, to make such alterations and improvements 
and decoration to the Premises. Any alterations, improvements and decorations shall be 
reasonably necessary or appropriate in the Lessor’s judgment for the conduct Lessee’s business. 

Page 90 of 478



 
 

11 
 

Lessee shall obtain Lessor’s written approval before any such alterations are made. Approval shall 
not be reasonably withheld as long as Lessee complies with provisions of this article.  
Section 2.17 Pavement/Utility Services 
Any pavement or utility services to be constructed by the Lessee shall be constructed in 
accordance with design and specifications approved by the Lessor and the construction shall be 
subject to inspection by the Lessor. Such improvements shall not be constructed without the prior 
consent of the Lessor in writing. 
 

ARTICLE III - USE OF THE LEASED PREMISES 
 
Section 3.1 Airport Purposes 
A. Lessee shall have the right to conduct on the premises those activities stated in Section 

1.1 B only, and Lessee shall not use the Premises for any other purpose or activity without 
first obtaining the written consent of the Airport Manager to do so.  

B. In addition, Lessees’ activities are to be aeronautical related activities as defined in the 
Federal Aviation Administration’s (FAA’s) Airport Compliance Handbook, FAA order 
5190.6B and the FAA Revenue Diversion Policy and all planned development shall be 
consistent with the Palmer Municipal Airport Layout Plan and Master Plan.  

C. It is the purpose of this Lease to foster and abet air commerce at Palmer Municipal Airport 
and it is not the intent of this Lease to provide premises for uses which do not promote 
the development and use of Palmer Municipal Airport.  

D. All uses normally incidental to an airport such as car rental agencies, limousine service, 
restaurants, insurance sales, and other such incidental services not directly related to the 
maintenance and operation of aircraft are prohibited except when the Airport and the FAA 
have established that a specific facility is not currently needed for aeronautical purposes.  

E. Any non-aeronautical use must be limited and incidental.  
F. Any non-aeronautical use must be approved by the Airport Manager and the FAA in writing 

prior to its commencement.  
G. Any approved non-aeronautical use will be allowed only on an interim basis and will be 

phased out if aeronautical demand increases. 
H. If a non-aeronautical use is approved, the rent provided in section 1.3 shall be increased 

to reflect the fair market value of the portion of the Premises used for non-aeronautical 
uses.  

I. Requests for non-aeronautical uses will be made first to the Airport Manager and if 
approved by the Airport Manager and FAA, the non-aeronautical use and the conditions 
associated therewith will be detailed in an addendum to this Lease. 

J. Lessee shall not use or permit any part of the Premises to be used for any unlawful 
purpose of or for any purpose or use that may constitute a nuisance or hazard to health, 
safety, or property.  

K. Lessee shall not use or allow the Premises or any part thereof to be used or occupied for 
any purpose in violation of any law, lawful order, or rule or regulation concerning the 
operation or use of Palmer Municipal Airport. 

 
Section 3.2 Compliance with Laws 
Lessee shall comply with all laws now or hereinafter in effect affecting the Premises or Lessee’s 
use or occupancy thereof, including but not limited to Palmer Municipal Airport Regulations; PMC 
12.08; and PMC 17 all as may be amended from time to time. 
 

Page 91 of 478



 
 

12 
 

Section 3.3 Hazardous Materials 
A. Neither Lessee nor Lessee’s agents shall cause or permit any Hazardous Materials or 

Substances to be brought upon, generated, stored, disposed of, or used in or about the 
Premises by Lessee, its agents, employees, contractors, or invitees without the prior 
written consent of Lessor.  

B. Lessee shall demonstrate to Lessor’s reasonable satisfaction that such Hazardous 
Materials or Substances are necessary to Lessee’s business and will be used, generated, 
disposed of, and stored in a manner that complies with all laws regulating any such 
Hazardous Materials or Substance so brought upon, generated, stored, disposed of or 
used in or about the Premises.  

C. Lessor may, at its option require Lessee to provide annual reports, submitted with the 
annual rent payment.  

D. The Lessee will report the kinds and quantities of Hazardous Materials or Substance on 
the Premises and how the Lessee complies with applicable laws regarding disposal. 

E. If Hazardous Material or Substances have been used, generated, disposed of or stored in 
or about the Premises during the term of this Lease, Lessor may, at its election, have any 
environmental assessment performed of the Premises, at the Lessee’s expense, at the 
termination of this Lease or termination of Lessee’s right to possession under this Lease. 

F. If any of the following occur; 
1. Lessee breaches the obligations in this section; 
2. The presence of Hazardous Material or Substance on the Premises caused or 

permitted by Lessee results in contamination of the Premises or contamination of 
any other property at the Palmer Municipal Airport; or 

3. Contamination of the Premises or any other property at Palmer Municipal Airport 
by Hazardous Material or Substance otherwise occurs for which Lessee is legally 
liable to Lessor for damage resulting therefrom; 
a. Then Lessee shall indemnify, defend, and hold Lessor harmless from any 

and all claims, judgments, damages, penalties, fines, costs, liabilities, or 
losses including, without limitation, diminution in value of the Premises, 
damages for the loss or restriction on use of rentable or usable space or of 
any amenity of the Premises, damages arising from any adverse impact on 
marketing of space, sums paid in settlement of claims, attorneys’ fees, 
appellate attorney’s fees, consultant fees, expert fees, costs incurred in 
connection with any investigation of site conditions or any clean-up, 
remedial, removal, or restoration work required by any federal, state, or 
local governmental agency or political subdivision because of Hazardous 
Material or substance present in the soil or groundwater on or under the 
Premises which arise during or after the Lease term as a result of such 
contamination. 

G. Without Limiting the foregoing, if the presence of any Hazardous Material or Substance 
on the Premises caused or permitted by Lessee results in any contamination of the 
Premises or any other property at the Palmer Municipal Airport, Lessee shall promptly take 
all actions at its sole expense as are necessary to return the Premises and/or other 
property to the condition existing prior to the introduction of any such Hazardous Material 
or Substance; provided that Lessor’s approval of such actions shall first be obtained, which 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld so long as such actions would not potentially 
have any material adverse long-term or short-term effect on the Premises or other 
property. 

Page 92 of 478



 
 

13 
 

H. As used herein, the term “Hazardous Material or Substance” shall be interpreted broadly 
to include, but not limited to, substances designated as hazardous under the Resource 
Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 USC Section 6901 et seq., the Federal Water Pollution 
Control Act, 33 USC Section 1257 et seq. the Clean Air Act, 42 USC Section 2001 et seq 
the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, 42 
USC Section 9601 et seq., Title 46 of the Alaska Statutes, or by any applicable federal, 
state, or local stature, regulation or ordinance now or hereafter in effect and as they may 
be amended or interpreted from time to time. 

I. The provisions of this Section 3.3 shall survive any termination of Lessee’s right to 
possession of the Premises and/or termination of this Lease. 
 

Section 3.4 Americans with Disabilities Act 
Lessor and Lessee agree that as allowed by 28 C. F. R. S. 36.201(b), Lessee shall be responsible 
for all compliance responsibility under the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. S 12101 et. 
Seq.) related to Lessee’s use and occupancy of the Premises. Lessee agrees to defend, indemnify 
and hold Lessee harmless from any claim, demand, or action, either by a private person or a 
governmental entity, under said Act due to failure to comply with the terms of said Act. The 
provisions of this Section 3.4 shall survive termination of Lessee’s right to possession of the 
Premises and/or termination of this Lease. 
 
Section 3.5 Reservations and Exceptions 
This Lease is made by the Lessor and accepted by the Lessee conditioned upon and subject to 
any conditions, reservations, limitations, provisions or terms imposed upon the Premises of 
Palmer Municipal Airport, as contained in any grant (including any monetary grant or loan), lease, 
permit, patent, deed, or any other conveyance to the Lessor of the Premises, or of Palmer 
Municipal Airport, from the United States, or the State of Alaska, including their agencies. In the 
event that any such condition, reservation, limitation, provision or term shall prevent, without 
fault of the Lessor, this Lease from continuing in full force and effect, the Lessor shall have the 
option to terminate this Lease immediately (and at any time) without liability to the Lessee 
therefor. 
 
Section 3.6 Subordination of Lease to Requirements of the Federal Aviation 
Administration 
A. This Lease shall be subordinated to the provisions of any existing or future agreements 

between the Lessor and the United States, relative to the operation or maintenance of 
Palmer Municipal Airport, the execution of which has been or may be required as a 
condition precedent to the expenditure of federal funds for the development or operation 
of Palmer Municipal Airport. 

B. In connection therewith, the Lessor has undertaken and may in the future undertake 
certain obligations respecting its operation of Palmer Municipal Airport and activities of its 
contractors, Lessees and permitted thereon. The performance by Lessee of the covenants, 
promises and obligations contained in this Lease is therefore a special consideration and 
inducement to this Lease. Lessee further covenants and agrees that if the administrator 
of the Federal Aviation Administration, or any  other governmental official or body having 
jurisdiction over the enforcement and the obligations of the City in connection with the 
Federal or State aid, shall make any orders, recommendations or suggestions respecting 
the performances by Lessee of its obligations under this Lease, Lessee shall promptly 
comply therewith, at the time or times when and to the extent that the Lessor may direct. 

 

Page 93 of 478



 
 

14 
 

Section 3.7 Aircraft on Premises 
The Lessee shall provide the Airport Manager a list showing all aircraft on the Premises for any 
purpose, together with the aircraft type, model and number, the name and address of the owner, 
the purpose of the aircraft being on the Premises, and such other information concerning its 
identification thereof as the Airport Manager shall deem necessary. 
 
Section 3.8 Discriminatory Acts Prohibited 
A. The Lessee shall furnish any service to be rendered by the Lessee in connection with or 

upon the Premises on a fair, equal and not unjustly discriminatory basis to all users 
thereof. In performing such services Lessee shall charge fair, reasonable and not unjustly 
discriminatory prices or rates for each unit of service furnished, provided the Lessee may 
take reasonable and nondiscriminatory discounts, rebates or other similar types of price 
reductions to volume users or purchasers. 

B. The Lessee, in its use and occupancy of the Premises, shall not discriminate against any 
person or class of persons by reason of race, color, creed or national origin, or by reason 
of any other basis that is illegal or becomes illegal during the term of this Lease, any 
extension, or any holdover period. 

C. The Lessor upon ten (10) days’ notice to the Lessee of any violation of this section shall 
request that the Lessee either correct or justify any practice or charge alleged as a 
violation.  

D. In any proceeding whatsoever the burden of justification shall be on the Lessee to show 
that the practice or charge does comply with the requirements of this section. The Lessee, 
within ten (10) days after receipt of the notice, shall comply with the request or submit to 
the Lessor its justification in writing. The Lessor shall submit its findings and decision as 
to any alleged violation within fifteen (15) days after the receipt of the Lessee’s 
justification, and such findings and decision of the Lessor shall be final. Unless the Lessee 
shall notify in writing the Lessor within ten (10) days of its objections to any request for 
compliance or to any adverse findings and decision, the Lessee shall waive any defense 
that the alleged violation is justified. 

E. The Lessor, at its option, may forthwith terminate this Lease without any liability to Lessee 
thereunder for failure by Lessee without justification to comply with Lessor’s request for 
compliance within the time set forth in the request or the findings and decision to correct 
the alleged violation. 

 
Section 3.9 Affirmative Action 
A. The Lessee assures that it will undertake an affirmative action program as required by 14 

CFR Part 152, Subpart E, to insure that no person shall on the grounds of race, creed, 
color, national origin, or sex be excluded from participating in any employment activities 
covered in 14 CFR Part 152, Subpart E. The Lessee assures that no person shall be 
excluded on these grounds from participating in or receiving the services or benefits of 
any program or activity covered in this subpart. The Lessee assures that it will require 
that its covered sub-organizations provide assurances to the Lessor that any similarity will 
undertake affirmative action programs and that they will require assurances from their 
sub-organizations, as required by 14 CFR Part 152, Subpart E, to the same effect. 

B. The Lessor upon ten (10) days’ notice to the Lessee of any violation of subsection A shall 
request that the Lessee either correct or justify any practice or charge alleged as a 
violation. In any proceeding whatsoever, the burden of justification requirement of 
subsection A. The Lessee within ten (10) days after receipt of the notice, shall comply 
with the request or submit to the Lessor its justification in writing. The Lessor shall submit 

Page 94 of 478



 
 

15 
 

its findings and decision as to any alleged violation within fifteen (15) days after receipt 
of the Lessee’s justification, and such findings and decision of the days of its objections 
to any request for compliance or to any adverse findings and decision, the Lessee shall 
waive any defense that the alleged violation is justified. 

C. The Lessor, at its option, may forthwith terminate this Lease without any liability to Lessee 
thereunder for any failure by Lessee without justification to comply with Lessor’s request 
for compliance within the time set forth in the request of the findings and decision to 
correct the alleged violation. 

 
Section 3.10 Maintenance of Premises 
A. Lessee shall repair and maintain the Improvements in good order and repair and keep the 

Premises in a neat, safe, clean and orderly condition. Such obligation shall include, but 
not be limited to, the prevention of the accumulation of any refuse or waste materials 
which might be or constitute a fire hazard or a public or private nuisance. 

B. In the event that Lessee does not properly repair and/or maintain the Improvements or 
Premises, the Airport Manager shall notify the Lessee in writing of those areas that are 
not being properly repaired and/or maintained.  

C. If, however, after 60 days, Lessee fails to make such repair and/or maintenance, Lessor 
may cause to have such repair and maintenance made and invoice the Lessee for the 
repair and maintenance completed.  

D. If said costs are not paid promptly by Lessee, the lease shall be deemed to be in default, 
and Lessor shall be entitled to all legal remedies provided hereunder. 

E. Lessee shall neither cause nor allow any waste of the Premises or Improvements. In 
addition, Lessee shall be strictly liable for any waste of the Premises or Improvements and 
for any damage to reversion. 

 
Section 3.11 Signs 
A. Lessee shall not, without Lessor’s written consent, place or erect any sign of any nature 

on any part of the Premises, but such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld to one 
flat sign of reasonable size bearing the Lessee’s trade name, providing such sign meets 
all city zoning and sign requirements.  

B. At the termination of this Lease, any such sign shall be removed by Lessee at Lessee’s 
own expense.  

C. Lessee shall apply for a sign permit from the Department of Community Development and 
shall comply with Palmer Municipal Code. 

 
Section 3.12 Improvements and Alterations 
After the initial improvements set forth in Article II have been completed, and if the Lessee desires 
to construct further improvements: 
A. Prior to commencing construction, renovation, enlargement, demolition, or modification 

of leasehold improvements now or hereafter existing on the Premises, Lessee shall submit 
to the Airport Manager plans and specifications for such work (including plans for 
landscaping and irrigation, if any) and Timeline for various phases of work.  

B. The Airport Manager shall approve or disapprove such plans and specifications and 
accompanying Timeline at his or her sole discretion.  

C. Upon Lessee’s receipt of the Airport Manager’s written approval of such plans and 
specifications, Lessee agrees to construct the proposed leasehold improvements in strict 
accordance with such plans and specifications and Timeline.  

Page 95 of 478



 
 

16 
 

D. The Airport Manager’s approval of submitted plans and specifications shall not constitute 
the assumption of any liability by Lessor for their compliance or conformity with applicable 
building codes, zoning regulations, and city borough, state and federal laws, ordinances 
and regulations, or for their accuracy, and Lessee shall be solely responsible for such plans 
and specifications.  

E. The Airport Manager’s approval of plans and specifications shall not constitute a waiver of 
Lessor’s right to therefore require Lessee to amend the same to provide for any corrections 
or omissions needed to comply with applicable building codes, zoning regulations, city, 
borough, state or federal laws, ordinances or regulations.  

F. The review and approval required by Section 3.12 is in addition to any other review and 
approval needed for any required building permits or similar authorizations. 

G. Lessee shall obtain all necessary licenses and permits to accomplish any of the work 
described in Section 3.12. Nothing in this Lease is intended to limit or restrict the City of 
Palmer in the exercise of its police power, authority to enforce building, fire and other 
safety codes, laws, ordinances, or regulations. 

H. Lessee agrees to comply with the notification and review requirements covered in part 77 
of the Federal Aviation Regulations prior to the construction of the Improvements and 
prior to the construction of any future building or structure situated on the Premises. 

I. Any contract or agreement for labor, services, materials or supplies furnished in 
connection with construction or alteration of any improvement to the Premises shall 
provide that no lien, claim or other encumbrance shall thereby be created, or arise, or be 
filed by anyone thereunder upon or against the Premises or the improvements.  

J. Before the commencement of any such work, Lessee shall deliver to Lessor either an 
executed duplicate original of such contract or a written waiver by the architect, engineer, 
contractor, material man, mechanic, person or corporation named in such contract of all 
right of lien which he or it might otherwise have upon or against the Premises, or the 
improvements to be constructed or altered, or the interest of Lessor therein.  

K. Lessee hereby warrants to Lessor that the Premises and all such other improvements 
thereto, shall be free and clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances and agrees to 
indemnity, defend and hold Lessor harmless from and against any and all losses, damages 
and costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and appellate attorneys’ fees, with respect 
thereto.  

L. If any lien or notice of lien on account of the alleged debt of Lessee or lien or notice of 
lien by any party engaged by Lessee or Lessee’s contractor to work on the Premises shall 
be filed against the Premises or improvements, Lessee shall cause the same to be 
discharged of record by payment, deposit, bond, order of court or competent jurisdiction 
or otherwise.       

M. The work, in excess of $100,000, as described in this lease document shall not begin until 
the Lessee or Lessee’s contractor has provided to the Lessor a performance guarantee in 
the form of a performance bond, escrow, an irrevocable letter of credit, or deed of trust 
in an amount equal to 100% of the estimated cost of the Improvements greater than 
$100,000 to be accomplished, which guarantees the completion of the work by Lessee or 
Lessee’s contractor in accordance with the plans and specifications approved by Lessor 
and  guarantees the payment by Lessee or Lessee’s contactor of all subcontractors’ 
charges and all other persons and firms supplying services, labor, materials or supplies in 
connection with the work. 

N. All alterations, buildings, structures or other improvements placed on the Premises by 
Lessee shall be subject to section 7.6 of this Lease. 
 

Page 96 of 478



 
 

17 
 

Section 3.13 Quiet Possession 
The Lessee, upon paying rent and observing the conditions and terms of this Lease, shall and 
may have at all times during the term of this Lease peaceful and quiet enjoyment and possession 
of the Premises, except as otherwise set forth in this Lease. 
 
Section 3.14 Lessee’s option to Terminate 
A. Should any government body, agency, or official, other than Lessor, prohibit or otherwise 

prevent the use of Palmer Municipal Airport in its present condition as a public airport for 
one year or more, or should the continued use of Palmer Municipal Airport as an airport 
become impossible or unlawful without the fault of the Lessee, the Lessee shall have the 
option to terminate this Lease on thirty (30) days written notice to the Lessor.  

B. Upon such termination, this Lease shall be at an end, and neither party shall have any 
liability for such termination.  

C. The Lessor shall notify the Lessee in writing, of the prohibition, or intended prohibition, 
and the failure of the Lessee to exercise the option to terminate within thirty (30) days 
shall extinguish the Lessee’s option to terminate. 

 
Section 3.15 Lessor’s Option to Terminate 
A. Lessee hereby grants to Lessor should it require the Premises in connection with the future 

expansion and/or operation of the Airport prior to the expiration or termination of the 
Lease, Lessor may, upon ninety (90) days written notice, cancel this Lease. 

B. In the event that this Lease is canceled under the provisions of this Section, Lessor shall 
pay to Lessee the fair market value of Lessee’s remaining leasehold interest and the fair 
market value of Lessee owned buildings, structures, alterations and/or improvements 
placed by Lessee upon the Premises during the term of this Lease.  

C. The fair market value shall be determined by following the appraisal procedure set forth 
determination of the fair market rental of the Premises in Section 1.4 of this Lease.  

D. After payment therefore as provided herein, all buildings, structures, alterations and/or 
improvements shall be subject to the provisions of section 7.6 of this Lease. 

 
Section 3.16 Right of Entry and Access 
A. Lessee hereby grants to Lessor, its contractors, employees, agents and assigns, the 

irrevocable right, permission and authority to enter into and upon all or part of the 
Premises for the purpose of:  
1. Inspecting the Premises; 
2. Cleaning, repairing, maintaining, altering or improving the Premises as Lessor may 

deem necessary; 
3. Abating any nuisance or hazardous condition on the Premises, and/or 
4. Preserving and/or protecting the Premises. 

B. It is understood and agreed that the entry and access may affect the use of the Premises 
from time to time. Lessor shall use reasonable efforts to coordinate any anticipated access 
or utility or other interruptions with Lessee in an attempt to reasonably reduce the effect 
of any disruption of Lessee’s enjoyment and use of the Premises. 

C. The right of access and entry reserved herein does not impose, nor does Lessor assume 
by reason thereof, any responsibility for the care, maintenance or supervision of the 
Premises. Lessee shall not be entitled to any abatement or reduction in rent by reason of 
Lessors access and/or entry nor shall such access or entry be deemed an actual or 
constructive eviction. 

 

Page 97 of 478



 
 

18 
 

Section 3.17 Lessor’s Improvements 
A. Lessor shall have a permanent right of access over, under, around and across the Premises 

for the purposes of maintaining, servicing, upgrading, replacing or removing any Lessor- 
installed improvements including, but not limited to, light poles, utilities, and fencing.  

B. This section does not require Lessor to provide any improvements.  
C. Lessor’s maintenance shall not include paving, aircraft tie downs, snow removal or 

sanding. 
D. All improvements constructed by the Lessor shall at all times remain the property of Lessor 

and may be maintained, upgraded, serviced or removed at Lessor’s convenience and 
discretion. 

E. Lessor agrees to use reasonable efforts to notify of any upgrading, replacing or repair 
work with Lessee and to reasonably reduce disrupting Lessee’s use of the Premises when 
practicable. 

F. In the event of abandonment or default, any Lessee improvement will become the 
property of the Lessor. 

 
Section 3.18 Aviation Easement 
Lessee’s right to use the Premises for the purposes as set forth in this Lease shall be secondary 
to and subordinate to the operation of the airport. Lessor specifically reserves for itself, other 
Palmer Municipal Airport leaseholders, and for the public, an easement for the passage of aircraft 
in the air space above the surface of the described property together with the right to cause in 
said air space or on adjacent property such noise as may be inherent in the present or future 
operation of aircraft. Without in any way limiting Lessor’s rights under Section 3.12, Lessee shall 
not construct any building or facility to a height which in Lessor’s discretion will interfere with the 
operations of the airport. 
 
Section 3.19 Right-of-Way and Easement 
Lessor shall have the right to designate or grant rights-of-way or utility easements across the 
Premises without compensation to Lessee, provided that Lessee shall be entitled to compensation 
for the taking or destruction of any of Lessee’s improvements and provided further that Lessee 
may terminate the Lease or demand a rental adjustment to reflect any reduction in value of the 
Premises.  
 

ARTICLE IV - TAXES, INDEMNIFICATION, AND INSURANCE 
 
Section 4.1 Taxes, Assessments, and Utilities 
A. Lessee, in addition to the rentals provided for herein, shall pay when due (and before 

delinquency) all taxes, utility fees, assessments, and charges upon the Premises, the 
leasehold interest, and upon buildings, improvements and property thereon, which are 
assessed or charged at any time during the term.  

B. The Lessee shall furnish to the Lessor for Lessor’s inspection within thirty (30) days after 
the date any amount payable by the Lessee as required by this section, official receipts 
from the appropriate taxing authorities or other proof satisfactory to the Lessor evidencing 
payment.  

C. The Lessee shall have the right at all times to protest any assessment of taxes or other 
assessments or charges, but the Lessor may require the Lessee to deposit with the Lessor 
any sums in dispute to insure payment in the event that any contest is unsuccessful.  

Page 98 of 478



 
 

19 
 

D. Lessee shall pay and be responsible for all charges for gas, electricity, water, light, heat, 
power, garbage, solid waste, and other utility service used in or about or supplied to the 
Premises.  

E. Lessee shall timely pay all sales tax on the rent on the lease, utilities, sales, service, rents, 
etc., and shall comply with City and Borough sales tax laws. 

 
Section 4.2 Indemnification 
Lessee shall indemnify, defend and hold Lessor harmless from all liability or loss (including, but 
not limited to reasonable attorneys’ fees and appellate attorneys’ fees) arising from any injury to 
any person or persons (including without limitation Lessee, its agents or employees) or property 
of any kind whatsoever while in, upon, or in any way connected with the Premises during the 
term of this Lease, or any use or occupancy hereunder, however occurring, including any acts, 
negligent or otherwise, and any omissions (negligent or otherwise), by Lessee, its agents, 
independent contractors, or employees, unless caused by or resulting from the sole negligence 
of the Lessor or any of Lessor’s agents or employees. 
 
Section 4.3 Insurance 
A. Lessee, at its own expense, shall secure and maintain in full force at all times during the 

term of this Lease: 
1. Commercial general liability. Commercial general liability insurance with a single 

occurrence liability limit of $1,000,000 and an aggregate of $2,000,000 insuring 
against liability of Lessee, its officers, contractors, licensees, agents, employees, 
guests, invites and authorized representatives, arising out of and/or in connection 
with Lessee’s use or occupancy of the Premises; or 

2. Airport premises liability. Airport premises liability insurance on an occurrence basis 
with a single combined liability limit of not less than $1,000,000 occurrence and 
$2,000,000 aggregate limit for bodily injury and property damage. 

3. If applicable, third-party aircraft liability insurance with a single combined liability 
limit of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence; 

4. Commercial property insurance in the amount of replacement costs. 
5. The Lessor reserves the right to require Lessee to provide pollution insurance as 

warranted by the proposed use of the Premises. 
B.  This insurance required under this Section shall: 

1.  Name the Lessor as an “additional insured” 
2.  Contain a clause that the insurer will not cancel or change the insurance without 

first giving the Lessor thirty (30) days prior written notice; 
3.  Be with an insurance company qualified to do business in the State of Alaska with 

a financial rating of at least “A” as rated in current Best’s Insurance Reports; 
4.  Include a waiver of subrogation clause by which the insurer waives all rights of 

subrogation against the Lessor for payments made under the policy; and 
5.  Not contain a damage deductible for each and every loss that exceeds $10,000. 

C.  Lessee shall provide Lessor with proof of insurance coverage in the form of a certificate 
of insurance, and if requested by the Lessor, Lessee shall provide Lessor with a copy of 
the policy(ies). Failure to maintain such insurance in effect shall constitute grounds for 
immediate termination of this lease. Lessor may at its option purchase said insurance and 
charge the expense thereof to Lessee, which expense Lessee shall assume and pay. 

D.   To reasonably protect itself, Lessor may adjust these minimum insurance requirements 
and add types of insurance or both by giving Lessee written notice of such adjustment 
ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of each five (5) year interval of the term of this 

Page 99 of 478



 
 

20 
 

Lease. Lessor may also adjust these minimum insurance requirements at any time if 
Lessee’s use of the Premises changes, and in such event, Lessor shall give Lessee thirty 
(30) days written notice of such adjustment. 

E.  The requirements of insurance coverage do not relieve Lessee from any other obligation 
under this Lease.  

 
ARTICLE V - ASSIGNMENT AND SECURITY INTERESTS 

 
Section 5.1 Assignment and Subletting 
A. Lessee shall not voluntarily assign or encumber its interest in this Lease or in the Premises 

or sublease all or any part of the Premises, or allow any other person or entity to occupy 
or use all or any part of the Premises without first obtaining Lessor’s prior written consent. 
Lessor will not unreasonably withhold its consent; provided, however, if Lessor does 
unreasonably withhold its consent, Lessor shall not be liable for any damages, costs or 
attorney’s fees arising therefrom.  
1. Lessor may condition its consent upon such terms as are in its best interest, 

including but not limited to matters regarding laws, insurance, risks, Lessee’s 
defaults or past practices, risks attributable to assignee, etc., but Lessor may not 
condition its consent upon raising the rent other than as already allowed under 
this Lease.  

2. Any assignment, encumbrance or sublease without Lessor’s consent shall be 
voidable and, at Lessor’s election, shall constitute a default.  

3. No consent to any assignment, encumbrance or sublease shall constitute a further 
waiver of the provisions of this section.  

B. If Lessee is a partnership or limited liability company, a withdrawal or change, voluntary, 
involuntary or by operation of law, of any partner or partners, member or members 
owning twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the partnership or LLC in one or more 
transactions, or the dissolution of the partnership or LLC, shall be deemed a voluntary 
assignment.  

C. If Lessee is a corporation any dissolution, merger, consolidation or other reorganization 
of Lessee, or the sale or other transfer of a controlling percentage of the capital stock of 
Lessee in one or more transactions, or the sale of twenty-five percent (25%) of the value 
of the assets of Lessee in one or more transactions without immediate replacement with 
assets of equal or greater worth, shall be deemed a voluntary assignment. 

D. Lessee hereby irrevocably assigns to Lessor, as security for Lessee’s obligations under this 
Lease, all rent from any subletting of all or a part of the Premises, and Lessor, as assignee 
and attorney-in-fact for Lease, may collect such rent and apply it toward Lessee’s 
obligations under this Lease, except that, until the occurrence of an act of default by 
Lessee, Lessee shall have the right to collect such rent as it becomes due, one payment 
period at a time, which payment period may never exceed one year.  

E. Lessee may not charge a sub-lessee a rent rate that changes from year to year, other 
than changes that result directly from changes made by Lessor, and Lessee shall never 
have the right to collect or receive rent in advance of when it is due. If the sub-lessee 
pays Lessee in advance and Lessor collects rent hereunder, then the sub-lessee must pay 
the advanced rent to Lessor and sub lessee may retrieve the advanced rent from Lessee. 
Neither this section nor collection of any such rent by Lessor shall be deemed to be 
Lessor’s approval of any such sublease. 

F. If, as a result of an assignment or sublease, the Premises will be used for purposes other 
than as set forth in section 3.1 herein. The consent of the Palmer City Council and the 

Page 100 of 478



 
 

21 
 

FAA, if applicable, must be obtained. It is the policy of the city council to discourage non-
aviation related uses. Additionally, if incremental revenues over and above the Lessee’s 
Lease payments will be realized from the sublease or assignment pertaining to non-
aeronautical uses, Lessor may raise Lessee’s existing rent to fair market value at the time 
of the approval of the sublease. 

G. All assignment instruments shall include language whereby Assignee expressly assumes 
and agrees to pay the obligations of Lessee under this Lease.  
1. No assignment shall release or diminish the obligations of any Lessee or any 

Guarantor for performance of Lessee’s obligations hereunder and Lessee shall 
remain liable as if no assignment were made.  

2. Lessee and Assignee will be jointly and severally liable for such obligations.  
3. Neither this section nor any payment of rent by such Assignee shall be deemed to 

be Lessor’s approval of any such assignment. 
H. All sublease instruments shall provide that the sublease is subject to all of the terms, 

covenants and conditions of this Lease. 
I. Lessee agrees to pay to Lessor $500 for any request by Lessee for Lessor to consent to 

any assignment or subletting by Lessee. 
 

Section 5.2 Mortgage and Encumbrances 
A. Lessee shall not mortgage or otherwise encumber this Lease (including Lessee’s leasehold 

estate in the improvements thereon) without the prior written consent of Lessor.  
B. The Lessor’s consent to the mortgage or encumbrance shall not be unreasonably withheld, 

provided the mortgage or beneficiary shall agree to the attached form of Assignment of 
Lease for Security Purposes and Consent to Assignment of Lease attached hereto as 
Exhibit C.  

C. Lessee shall furnish the Lessor with a copy of any security transaction mortgaging or 
encumbrancing the Premises for the Lessor’s approval prior to any mortgaging or 
encumbrancing of the Premises, and shall further furnish a copy to the Lessor of any such 
executed security transactions. 

 
ARTICLE VI - DEFAULT AND ENFORCEMENT 

 
Section 6.1 Default Defined 
The occurrence of one or more of the following shall be deemed a default by the Lessee and a 
breach of this Lease: 
A. Failure to pay the rent provided herein, or any part thereof, or other charge due 

hereunder, for a period of ten (10) days after written notice of such failure is given by 
Lessor to Lessee; 

B. Failure to perform the obligations set forth in Sections 3.8, 3.9, and 3.10 hereof, after any 
notice required by those sections; 

C. Failure to provide and maintain in effect insurance in compliance with Section 4.3 hereof 
(for which failure there is no notice time requirement); 

D. Failure to do, observe, keep and perform any other terms, covenants, conditions, 
agreements and provisions contained in this Lease for a period of thirty (30) days after 
written notice of such failure is given by Lessor to Lessee, or, in the case of a default not 
reasonably susceptible of being cured within thirty (30) days (which does not include any 
default which may be cured by the payment of money), failure to commence promptly 
and proceed diligently and in good faith to cure such default within the initial thirty (30) 

Page 101 of 478



 
 

22 
 

days and complete such cure within a total of sixty (60) days after the sending of the 
notice; 

E. The abandonment of the premises by the Lessee, the making by the Lessee of a general 
assignment for the benefit of creditors, or the appointment of a permanent or temporary 
receiver for the Lessee’s property, which is not vacated or set aside within thirty (30) days 
of sending of written notice of such event by Lessor; or 

F. The issuance of three (3) written notices for defaults or breaches within any consecutive 
twelve-month period, regardless of whether or not the default or breach was cured within 
the applicable time period. 

 
Section 6.2 Lessor Remedies on Default 
Upon the occurrence of any default of Lessee as described in Section 6.1 or elsewhere in this 
Lease, Lessor shall have the option to pursue any one or more of the following remedies without 
any notice or demand whatsoever: 
A. Lessor may, at its election, terminate this Lease or terminate Lessee’s right to possession 

only, without terminating this Lease. 
B. Upon termination of this Lease, whether by lapse of time or otherwise, or upon any 

termination of Lessee’s right to possession without termination of this Lease, Lessee shall 
surrender possession and vacate the Premises immediately, and deliver possession thereof 
to Lessor, and Lessee hereby grants to Lessor full and free license to enter into and upon 
the Premises in such event with or without process of law and to repossess Lessor of the 
Premises and to expel or remove Lessee and any others who may occupy or be within the 
Premises and to remove and all property therefrom, without being deemed in any manner 
guilty of trespass, eviction or forcible entry or detainer, and without incurring any liability 
for any damage resulting therefrom, Lessee hereby waiving any right to claim damage for 
such re-entry and expulsion and without relinquishing Lessors right to rent or any other 
right given to Lessor hereunder or by operation of law. 

C. Upon any termination of this Lease, whether by lapse of time or otherwise, Lessor shall 
be entitled to recover: 
1. The worth at the time of the award of the unpaid rent (including any amounts 

treated as additional rent) that had been earned at the time of termination; 
2. The worth at the time of the award of the amount by which the unpaid rent 

(including any amounts treated as additional rent) that would have been earned 
after the date of termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of the 
loss of rent for the same period that Lessee proves could have been reasonably 
avoided; 

3. The worth at the time of the award of the amount by which the unpaid rent 
(including a reasonable estimate of additional rent) for the balance of the term 
exceeds the amount of the loss of rent for the same period that Lessee proves 
could have been reasonably avoided; and 

4. Any other amount, full reasonable attorney’s fees and court costs, necessary to 
compensate Lessor for all detriment proximately caused by Lessee’s default. 

D. “The worth at the time of the award,” used in this section, is to be computed by allowing 
interest as determined by the current bond rating from State of Alaska Municipal Bond 
Bank plus 5%. The “time of the award” is the date the Lessee is notified of the termination 
of the lease by the Lessor. Such notification shall be done by certified mail. 

E. Upon any termination of Lessee’s right to possession only without termination of this 
Lease, Lessor may, at the Lessor’s option enter into the Premises, remove Lessee’s signs 
and other evidences of tenancy, and take and hold possession thereof as provided in this 

Page 102 of 478



 
 

23 
 

section, without such entry and possession terminating this Lease or releasing Lessee, in 
whole or in part, from any obligation, including Lessee’s obligation to pay the rent, 
including any amounts treated as additional rent hereunder, for the full term. 

F. Upon termination of Lessee’s right to possession, Lessor may, but need not, relet the 
Premises or any part thereof for such rent and upon such terms as Lessor in its sole 
discretion shall determine (including, but not limited to, the right to relet the Premises for 
a greater or lesser term than that remaining under this Lease, the right to relet the 
Premises as a part of a larger area, and the right to change the character or use made of 
the Premises) and Lessor shall not be required to accept any tenant offered by Lessee or 
to observe any instructions given by Lessee about such reletting.  
a. In any such case, Lessor may make repairs, alterations and additions in or to the, 

Premises, and Lessee shall, upon demand, pay the cost thereof, together with 
Lessor’s expenses of reletting.  

b. If the consideration collected by Lessor upon any such reletting plus any sums 
previously collected from Lessee are not sufficient to pay the full amount of all 
rent, including any amounts treated as additional rent here under and other sums 
reserved in this Lease for the remaining term hereof, together with the costs of 
repairs, alterations, additions, and Lessor’s expenses of reletting and the collection 
of the rent accruing therefrom (including attorneys’ fees), Lessee shall pay to 
Lessor the amount of such deficiency upon demand and Lessee agrees that Lessor 
may file suit to recover any sums falling due under this subpart from time to time. 

E.   Lessor may, at Lessor’s option, enter into and upon the Premises, with or without process 
of law, if Lessor determines in its sole discretion that Lessee is not acting within a 
commercially reasonable time to maintain repair or replace anything for which Lessee is 
responsible hereunder and correct the same, without being deemed in any manner guilty 
of trespass, eviction or forcible entry and detainer and without incurring any liability for 
any damage resulting therefrom and Lessee agrees to reimburse Lessor, on demand, as 
additional rent, for any expenses which Lessor may incur in thus effecting compliance with 
Lessee’s obligations under this Lease. 

F.  Any and all property which may be removed from the Premises by Lessor pursuant to the 
authority of this Lease or of law or in equity, to which Lessee is or may be entitled, may 
be handled, removed and stored, as the case may be, by or in the direction of Lessor at 
the risk, cost and expense of Lessee, and Lessor shall in no event be responsible for the 
value, preservation or safekeeping thereof.  
1. Lessee shall pay to Lessor, upon demand, any and all expenses incurred in such 

removal and all storage charges against such property so long as the same shall 
be in Lessor’s possession or under Lessors control.  

2. Any such property of Lessee not retaken by Lessee from storage within thirty (30) 
days after removal from the Premises shall conclusively be presumed to have been 
conveyed by Lessee to Lessor under this Lease as a bill of sale without further 
payment or credit by Lessor to Lessee; provided, however, Lessor may disclaim as 
to any item or items and the effect of such disclaimer will be that the item or items 
never became the property of Lessor.  

G. Pursuit of any of the foregoing remedies shall not preclude pursuit of any of the other 
remedies herein provided or any other remedies provided by law or equity (all such 
remedies being cumulative), nor shall pursuit of any remedy herein provided constitute a 
forfeiture or waiver of any rent, additional rent or other sum due to Lessor, hereunder or 
of any damages accruing to Lessor by reason of the terms, provisions and covenants 
herein contained.  

Page 103 of 478



 
 

24 
 

H. No act or thing done by Lessor or its agents during the term hereby granted shall be 
deemed a termination of this Lease or an acceptance of the surrender of the Premises, 
and no agreement to terminate this Lease or an acceptance of the surrender of the 
Premises shall be valid unless in writing signed by Lessor.  

I. No judicial action shall be necessary to terminate this Lease. 
J. No waiver by Lessor of any violation or breach of any of the terms, provisions, and 

covenants herein contained shall be deemed or construed to constitute a waiver of any 
other violation or breach of any of the terms, provisions and covenants herein contained.  

K. Lessors acceptance of the payment of rental, including any amount treated as additional 
rental, or other sums hereunder after the occurrence of an event of default shall not be 
construed as a waiver of such default, unless Lessor so notifies Lessee in writing.  

L. Forbearance by Lessor to be deemed or construed to constitute a waiver of such default 
or of Lessor’s right to enforce any such remedies with respect to such default or any 
subsequent default.  

M. If, on account of any breach or default by Lessee in Lessee’s obligations under the terms 
and conditions of this lease, it shall become necessary or appropriate for Lessor to employ 
or consult with an attorney concerning this Lease or enforce or defend any of Lessor’s 
rights or remedies hereunder, Lessee agrees to pay any attorneys’ fees and appellate 
attorneys’ fees so incurred.  

N. Lessor shall not be responsible or liable for any failure to relet the Premises or any part 
thereof, or for any failure to collect any rent due upon such reletting. 

 
Section 6.3 Lessor’s Failure to Enforce and Nonwaiver 
A. Failure by the Lessor to insist the strict performance of any term, condition or covenant 

of this Lease or to exercise any right or remedy available on a breach thereof, and 
acceptance of full or partial rentals during the continuance of any such breach shall not 
constitute a waiver of any such breach or any such term, condition or covenant.  

B. Terms, conditions or covenants of this Lease required to be performed by the Lessee, and 
breach thereof, shall not be waived, altered or modified, except by written instrument 
executed by the Lessor.  

C. Waiver of any breach shall not affect or alter any term, condition or covenant of this Lease, 
and each such term, condition or covenant shall continue in full force and effect with 
respect to any other then existing or subsequent default or breach thereof, and any other 
or subsequent default or breach may be enforced by the Lessor as provided in this Lease. 

 
ARTICLE VII - GENERAL COVENANTS 

 
Section 7.1 Condition and Status of Premises 
A. Lessee acknowledges that Lessee has examined the Premises and accepts same in its 

present condition without any representation or warranty, express or implied in fact or by 
law, by the Lessor as to the title, nature, condition or usability of the Premises for the 
purposes set forth in this Lease, all of said warranties being hereby expressly property 
as-is in its present condition, together with all faults. 

B. Lessee agrees to provide written notice to Lessor immediately upon Lessee becoming 
aware or having a reasonable belief: 
1. That the Premises or any adjacent property is being, may be, or has been 

contaminated with any Hazardous Materials, or 
2. Of the existence of any Hazardous Materials in, within, on or near the Premises or 

adjacent property. 

Page 104 of 478



 
 

25 
 

 
Section 7.2 Risk of Loss 
Destruction or damage to any building or improvement on the Premises by fire, rain, ice, snow, 
windstorm, earthquake, aircraft accident, or any other casualty or action of the elements shall 
not entitle the Lessee to surrender possession of the Premises, to terminate this Lease, to violate 
any of its provisions, or to cause any rebate or abatement in rent when due or thereafter 
becoming due under the terms hereof. 
 
Section 7.3 Repair or Rebuilding 
A. Upon the destruction or damage to any building or structure by fire or other casualty 

covered by insurance or that is supposed to be covered by Lessee’s insurance, Lessee 
may, with Lessor’s consent rebuild the building or structure.  

B. Upon the destruction or damage to any building or structure by casualty that is not 
covered by insurance and is not supposed to be covered by insurance, Lessee shall have 
the right to repair, restore or rebuild the building or structure within one (1) year after 
the date of such occurrence or as per written agreement with the Airport Manager. 

 
Section 7.4 Condemnation 
A. If all the Premises, or any part thereof required for the reasonable use of the Premises, is 

taken by eminent domain, this Lease shall expire on the date when the Lessee is required 
to vacate the Premises, and the rent shall be apportioned as of that date. 

B. If there is a taking of a part of the Premises not required for the reasonable use of the 
Premises, then this Lease shall continue in full force and effect and the rent shall be 
equitably reduced, based on the proportion by which the Premises is reduce, such rent 
reduction to be effective as of the date possession of such portion is delivered to the 
condemning authority. 

C. Except for improvements constructed and paid for by Lessee, Lessor reserves all rights to 
damages to the Premises for any taking by eminent domain and Lessee hereby assigns to 
Lessor any right Lessee may have to such damages or award.  

D. Lessee shall make no claim against Lessor for damages for termination of the leasehold 
interest or interference with Lessee’s business. Lessee shall have the right, however, to 
claim and recover from the condemning authority compensation for any loss to which 
Lessee may be put for Lessee’s moving expenses and for the interruption of or damages 
to Lessee’s business, provided that such damages may be claimed only if they are awarded 
separately in the eminent domain proceeding and not as part of the damages recoverable 
by Lessor. 
 

Section 7.5 Surrender of Premises 
At the expiration of any Lease term, upon termination of this Lease, upon reentry by Lessor or 
otherwise, the Lessee shall peacefully and quietly surrender the Premises in as good a condition 
as it was at the beginning of the initial term, reasonable use and wear and damages by the 
elements excepted. 
 
Section 7.6 Reversion or Removal of Buildings and Improvements 
A. Any and all buildings, structures, alterations or improvements placed by the Lessee upon 

the Premises shall, at the option of the Lessor, revert to and become the property of the 
Lessor at and upon the expiration or termination of this Lease and/or the termination of 
Lessee’s right to possession of the Premises.  

Page 105 of 478



 
 

26 
 

B. Lessor, in its sole discretion, may require Lessee to remove part or all of said buildings, 
structures, alterations and/or improvements including, but not limited to, fuel tanks and 
lines, and partially or completely restore the Premises to the condition of the Premises at 
the inception of this Lease by sending written notice requesting such removal and 
restoration within sixty (60) days after such expiration or termination.  

C. Lessee shall then at its own expense complete such removal and restoration within ninety 
(90) days of the sending of such notice. 

 
D. At the conclusion of the current lease and extension period(s) the existing Lessee shall be 

given preference in executing a new lease on the same premises, provided that the 
proposed land use is compatible with the current Airport Layout Plan and the Lessee is 
otherwise in good standing with the City of Palmer and in substantial compliance with the 
existing lease.  

E. Section(s) 7.5 and 7.6 do not necessarily preclude a lessee from recovering value from 
Lessee’s leasehold improvements by selling to a third party at any time during the lease 
term, provided that all other conditions of the active lease have been met. At such time, 
the buying third party would request a new lease or an assignment of the existing lease, 
and such request would not be reasonably withheld.     

 
Section 7.7 Holdover 
A. In the event the Lessee shall hold over after the expiration or termination of this Lease 

for any cause whatsoever, Lessee shall pay Lessor monthly rent at double the annual 
rental rate divided by twelve for the entire time Lessee remains in possession, and in 
addition thereto, Lessee shall hold Lessor harmless from all damages resulting from 
Lessee’s failure to surrender the Premises, including, without limitation, claims made by a 
succeeding tenant resulting from Lessee’s failure to surrender the Premises. 

B. If Lessee remains in possession of the Premises after expiration of the term of the Lease, 
or after the date in any notice given by Lessor to Lease termination this Lease, such 
possession by Lessee shall be deemed to be a month-to-moth tenancy terminable on thirty 
(30) days’ notice given at any time by either party.  

C. The provisions of this section do not exclude Lessor’s rights of re-entry or any other right 
under this Lease. 

 
Section 7.8 Notices 
Any notices required to be sent in accordance with the terms of this Lease, including legal process, 
shall be sent in writing by registered or certified mail, to the parties at the following addresses 
unless otherwise notified in writing and deemed to be received when so sent: 
 
Lessor’s address: City Manager 
   City of Palmer 
   231W. Evergreen Ave., Palmer, AK 99645 
 
Lessee’s address: Artic’s Air Academy, LLC 
   821 Airport Rd, Palmer, AK. 99645 
 
Section 7.9 Rights or Remedies 
No right or remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to Lessor is intended to be exclusive or 
any other right or remedy, but is intended to be in addition to any right or remedy given 
hereunder, or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. 

Page 106 of 478



 
 

27 
 

Section 7.10 Successors in Interest 
This Lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective heirs, successors and 
assigns of the parties hereto. 
 
Section 7.11 Applicable Law and Forum 
This Lease and the respective rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and 
interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Alaska. Any civil action concerning this 
Lease shall be brought in Alaska District or Superior Court in Palmer, Alaska, only. 
 
Section 7.12 Recordation of Lease 
The parties prefer to record a memorandum of this Lease rather than the Lease itself and 
contemporaneously with the execution hereof they have executed a memorandum of Lease in 
the form of “Attachment A” which is attached hereto and may be recorded by either party. In the 
event it should be so require by any title company insuring title for Lessee, or by any lending 
institution from which Lessee proposed to make a loan, then Lessee may cause this Lease to be 
placed of record. 
 
Section 7.13 Severability 
The invalidity or unenforceability of any particular provision of this Lease shall not affect any 
remaining provisions hereof, and, in any such event this Lease shall be construed and interpreted 
in all respects as if such invalid or unenforceable provision were omitted. 
 
Section 7.14 Construction 
Lessee and Guarantor have been advised to have this Lease and the Guaranty reviewed by their 
own attorney. The parties agree that this Lease and Guaranty shall not be construed more strictly 
against one party than the other nor shall this lease be construed against the lessor. 
 
7.15 Gender and Plurality 
Unless the context of this Lease clearly requires a different interpretation of construction, all 
references to masculine, feminine or neuter genders shall be construed to refer to all such 
genders; and all references to the singular shall also include the plural, and vice versa. 
 
Section 7.16 Joint and Several Liability 
The obligations of each Lessee are joint and several. 
 
Section 7.17 Entire Agreement 
This written Lease constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the 
subject matter hereof and supersedes all other prior or contemporaneous agreements, oral or 
written, between the parties not included herein. No modifications, amendments, deletions, 
additions or alterations of this Lease shall be effective unless in writing and signed by all of the 
parties hereto or such representatives of the parties as have been duly authorized to make such 
change. 
 
LESSOR: CITY OF PALMER 
 
 
By: ____________________________ 
      Nathan E. Wallace, City Manager   Date: ____________________________ 
 

Page 107 of 478



 
 

28 
 

LESSEE:  Artic’s Air Academy, LLC 
 
 
By: __________________________    
      Kenneth D. More, Managing Member  Date: __________________________ 
  
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 THIS IS TO CERTIFY that on the ______day of _______________, 2017, before me the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, duly commissioned and sworn, 
personally appeared, to me known and known to me to be the identical individual described in 
and who executed the within and foregoing LEASE AGREEMENT as City Manager of the City of 
Palmer, freely and voluntarily on behalf of the City of Palmer for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned. 
 
GIVEN UNDER MY HAND and official seal the day and year last above written. 
 
_____________________ 
Notary Public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ____________ 
 
 
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the ______ day of _______________, 2017, before me, the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, Kenneth D. 
More, Managing Member of the limited liability company named in the forgoing instruments, 
acknowledged to me that he/she had, in his/her official capacity is authorized by the limited 
liability company to execute the foregoing instruments as the free act and deed of the said limited 
liability company for the uses and purposes therein stated. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
________________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 
 

Page 108 of 478



 
 

29 
 

GUARANTY 
 
In consideration of Lessor leasing the Premises to Lessee, the undersigned, jointly and severally, 
hereby guarantee the punctual payment of rent, additional rent, and all other charges imposed 
by the Lease, and the timely performance by Lessee of all duties imposed on Lessee by the Lease. 
 
 
Guarantor(s): 
 
 
________________________   Date: _____________________________ 
Kenneth D. More, individually,     
 
 
________________________   Date: _____________________________ 
Artic C. Wikle, individually,     
 
 
________________________   Date: _____________________________ 
Susan Wikle, individually,     
 
 
 
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the _____ day of ___________, 2017, before me, the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, Kenneth D. 
More, known to me to be the person named in the foregoing instruments, acknowledged to me 
that he/she had executed the same for the uses and purposes therein stated. 
 
 WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
 
___________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ___________ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109 of 478



 
 

30 
 

NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the _____ day of ___________, 2017, before me, the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, Artic C. Wikle, 
known to me to be the person named in the foregoing instruments, acknowledged to me that 
he/she had executed the same for the uses and purposes therein stated. 
 
 WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
 
___________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ___________ 
 
 
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the _____ day of ___________, 2017, before me, the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, Susan Wikle, 
known to me to be the person named in the foregoing instruments, acknowledged to me that 
he/she had executed the same for the uses and purposes therein stated. 
 
 WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
 
___________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ___________ 
 

Page 110 of 478



 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

“Return To” 
City of Palmer 

231 West Evergreen Avenue 
Palmer, AK 99645 

907-745-3271 
 

“ATTACHMENT A” 
PALMER MUNICIPAL AIPORT 

MEMORANDUM OF LEASE AGREEMENT No. 17-006 
 
 

This is a Memorandum of Lease Agreement No. 17-006 and is made and entered into as of this 
__________ day of __________, 2017, by and between the City of Palmer, a municipal 
corporation organized and existing under its charter and the laws of the State of Alaska, 
hereinafter referred to as the “Lessor”, and Artic’s Air Academy, LLC hereinafter referred to as 
the “Lessee”. Agree upon the following terms: 
 

1. Lease. The provisions set forth in a written Lease Agreement No. 17-006 between the parties 
hereto dated the _______ day of _____________ 2017, are hereby incorporated by reference 
into this Memorandum. 

2. Demised Premises. The Demised Premises, which are the subject of The Lease Agreement 
No. 17-006, are more particularly described as follows:  

A parcel of land located in Tract B, Palmer Municipal Airport, Plat No. 2006-15,  Section 4, 
Township 17 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian, Palmer Recording District, Third Judicial 
District, State of Alaska, and more particularly described in an unrecorded plat dated June 27, 
2005 as follows: 

Palmer Municipal Airport, Block 3, Lease Lot(s) 26 and 27 

Containing   1.01 acres or 44,000 Square Feet, more or less, and  

Containing   0.77 acres or 33,600 Square Feet, more or less, respectively as shown on the 
drawing: 

 “Exhibit A”, attached hereto; 

Parcel may be subject to additional easements and/or encumbrances not shown or depicted 
hereon. 
 
3. Commencement Date of Lease.  The Lease Agreement shall be deemed to have commenced 
on 1st of July, 2017 as set forth within the terms of the Lease. The Term of the Lease Agreement 
shall be 20 years from the Commencement Date as stated in the written Lease. The term shall 

Page 111 of 478



 

2 
 

commence on the date hereof and terminate on June 31, 2037. Provided Lessee fully and 
faithfully performs all of the covenants and conditions contained herein for the term of the Lease, 
Lessor may approve an additional period of 10 years at the expiration of this Lease so that the 
total number of years available to Lessee is 30 years. As with the initial term at the start of and 
continuing through the renewal period.  

4. Duplicate Copies of the originals of the Lease Agreement are in the possession of the Lessor 
and Lessee and reference should be made thereto for a more detailed description thereof and for 
resolution of any questions pertaining thereto. 

5. Notices.  Any notices required to be sent in accordance with the terms of this Lease Agreement 
No. 17-006, including legal process, shall be sent in writing by registered or certified mail, to the 
parties at the following addresses unless otherwise notified in writing and deemed to be received 
when so sent: 

Lessor’s address: City Manager 
   City of Palmer 
   231W. Evergreen Ave., Palmer, AK 99645 
 
Lessee’s address: Artic’s Air Academy, LLC 
   821 Airport Rd., Palmer, AK. 99645 
 
6. Purpose.  It is expressly understood and agreed by all parties that the sole purpose of this 
Memorandum of Lease is to give record notice of the Lease Agreement No. 17-006; it being 
distinctly understood and agreed that said Lease Agreement  No. 17-006 constitutes the entire 
lease and agreement between Lessor and the Lessee with respect to the Demised Premises and 
is hereby incorporated by reference. The Lease Agreement No. 17-006 contains and sets forth 
additional rights, terms, conditions, duties, and obligations not enumerated within this instrument 
which govern the Lease. This Memorandum is for information purposes only and nothing 
contained herein may be deemed in any way to modify or vary any of the terms or conditions of 
the Lease Agreement No. 17-006. In the event of any inconsistency between the terms of the 
Lease Agreement No. 17-006 and this instrument, the terms of the Lease Agreement No. 17-006, 
shall control. The rights and obligations set forth herein shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, representatives, successors, and assigns. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Memorandum of  Lease pursuant 
to due authorization on the dates herein acknowledged. 

LESSOR: CITY OF PALMER 
 
 
By: ________________________ 
      Nathan E. Wallace, City Manager   Date: ______________________ 
 
 
LESSEE:  Artic’s Air Academy, LLC 
 
 
By: __________________________    
      Kenneth D. More, Managing Member  Date: _______________________ 
 

Page 112 of 478



 

3 
 

NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 THIS IS TO CERTIFY that on the ______day of May, 2017, before me the undersigned, a 
Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared, 
Nathan E. Wallace, to me known and known to me to be the identical individual described in and 
who executed the within and foregoing Memorandum of Lease, as City Manager of the City of 
Palmer, freely and voluntarily on behalf of the City of Palmer for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
 
_____________________ 
Notary Public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ____________ 
 
 
 
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the ______ day of _______________, 2017, before me, the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, Kenneth D. 
More, Managing Member of the limited liability company named in the forgoing instruments, 
acknowledged to me that he/she had, in his/her official capacity is authorized by the limited 
liability company to execute the foregoing instruments as the free act and deed of the said limited 
liability company for the uses and purposes therein stated. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
________________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 113 of 478



Page 114 of 478



Page 115 of 478



 

Page 116 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-049 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Action Memorandum No. 17-049 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute a Renewed Lease Agreement with N A 
Holdings, LLC, Formerly Known as Colville Logistics, LLC, Solely Owned by Mr. Jeff Helmericks, on Block 
3, Lease Lot 30, Palmer Municipal Airport Under an Original PMA Lease No. 78-1 and PMA Lease No. 00-
2 Respectively 
 
Agenda of: June 27, 2017 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Denied 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Frank J. Kelly, Airport Superintendent 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 

  Community Development    

X  Finance 
 

 6/5/17 

  Fire    

  Police     

  Public Works     

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 

 

 

City Attorney   

City Clerk   
 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 3,900.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
X Creates revenue in the amount of: $ $3,900.00 
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
X Budgeted Line item(s): 03-00-00-3431  Airport Land Leases 
X Not budgeted  03-00-00-3431  Airport Land Leases (Increase $300.00) 
 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 117 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-049 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
 Draft Lease Agreement 17-005 (Exhibit A) 
 Draft Memorandum of Lease Agreement 17-005 
 Identity Documents 

 
Summary Statement:   
 
Mr. Helmericks has requested the City of Palmer renew his lease agreement and amend the actual name 
of the Lessee from Colville Logistics, LLC to N A Holdings LLC as the LLC formally underwent a name 
change in 2011.  The request has apparently been made previously, but due to the turnover in City 
Administration the process has not been acted upon until now.   
 
Colville Inc. purchased the improvements from M.P.&C., LLC in December of 2001 after the estate of and 
bankruptcy of Mr. Randall D. Frank was resolved.  At the time, Colville Inc. purchased the improvements 
for $190K and as reported by Mr. Helmericks, he has invested an additional $250K into the improvements 
over the past 10 years.  It would appear that the original lease on the property began in 1978 and probably 
due to the aforementioned difficulties, a renewal negotiation was resolved with the above parties 3 to 4 
years after it became due.  The shortened duration of the remaining lease term has not allowed Mr. 
Helmericks to fully amortize his total reported investment of $440K ($190K + $250K).  Hence the request 
for a new lease.  Colville Inc. assigned the PMA Lease No. 00-2 to Colville Logistics, LLC in 2006. 
 
In granting this new lease agreement, this City will be using its new leasing document and up to date 
lease language, receiving a rental rate increase from $0.06 to $0.065 cents per square foot, require 
pollution insurance for a fueling operation and actually conduct business with the appropriate operating 
entity.  Mr. Helmericks will also personally guarantee the new lease to N A Holdings, LLC.     
    
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
To approve Action Memorandum No. 17-049 for approval to execute a new Lease Agreement 17-005 with 
Mr. Jeff Helmericks and N A Holdings, LLC. 

Page 118 of 478



 
 

1 
 

City of Palmer 
231 West Evergreen Avenue 

Palmer, AK 99645 
907-745-3271 

 
 

PALMER MUNICIPAL AIPORT 
LEASE AGREEMENT No. 17-005 

 
Contents 
ARTICLE I - PREMISES, TERM AND RENTALS .............................................................................. 4 

Section 1.1 Premises and Purpose ............................................................................................... 4 

Section 1.2 Term and Renewal ..................................................................................................... 4 

Section 1.3 Rent ................................................................................................................................. 5 

Section 1.4 Rent Adjustment ......................................................................................................... 6 

Section 1.5 Determination of Fair Market Rent ...................................................................... 7 

ARTICLE II - IMPROVEMENTS ........................................................................................................... 7 

Section 2.1 Improvements ............................................................................................................. 7 

Section 2.2 Plans and Specifications .......................................................................................... 7 

Section 2.3 Conceptual Plans ........................................................................................................ 7 

Section 2.4 Final Plans ..................................................................................................................... 8 

Section 2.5 Airport Manager’s Approval .................................................................................... 8 

Section 2.6 Compliance with part 77 FAR ................................................................................. 8 

Section 2.7 Commencement of Construction .......................................................................... 9 

Section 2.8 Completion of Construction .................................................................................... 9 

Section 2.9 Liens ................................................................................................................................ 9 

Section 2.11 Performance Guarantee ......................................................................................... 9 

Section 2.12 Inspection ................................................................................................................. 10 

Section 2.13 Non-Responsibility ................................................................................................ 10 

Section 2.14 As Built Plans ........................................................................................................... 10 

Section 2.15 Improvements Subject to Reversion or Removal ...................................... 10 

Section 2.16 Alterations and Other Improvements ............................................................. 10 

Section 2.17 Pavement/Utility Services .................................................................................. 10 

ARTICLE III - USE OF THE LEASED PREMISES .......................................................................... 11 

Section 3.1 Airport Purposes ....................................................................................................... 11 

Section 3.2 Compliance with Laws ............................................................................................ 11 

Page 119 of 478



 
 

2 
 

Section 3.3 Hazardous Materials ................................................................................................ 11 

Section 3.4 Americans with Disabilities Act ........................................................................... 13 

Section 3.5 Reservations and Exceptions ............................................................................... 13 

Section 3.6 Subordination of Lease to Requirements of the Federal Aviation 
Administration ................................................................................................................................... 13 

Section 3.7 Aircraft on Premises ................................................................................................ 13 

Section 3.8 Discriminatory Acts Prohibited ............................................................................ 14 

Section 3.9 Affirmative Action ..................................................................................................... 14 

Section 3.10 Maintenance of Premises .................................................................................... 15 

Section 3.11 Signs............................................................................................................................ 15 

Section 3.12 Improvements and Alterations ......................................................................... 15 

Section 3.13 Quiet Possession..................................................................................................... 16 

Section 3.14 Lessee’s option to Terminate ............................................................................. 17 

Section 3.15 Lessor’s Option to Terminate ............................................................................. 17 

Section 3.16 Right of Entry and Access ................................................................................... 17 

Section 3.17 Lessor’s Improvements ........................................................................................ 17 

Section 3.18 Aviation Easement ................................................................................................. 18 

Section 3.19 Right-of-Way and Easement .............................................................................. 18 

ARTICLE IV - TAXES, INDEMNIFICATION, AND INSURANCE .............................................. 18 

Section 4.1 Taxes, Assessments, and Utilities ....................................................................... 18 

Section 4.2 Indemnification ......................................................................................................... 19 

Section 4.3 Insurance ..................................................................................................................... 19 

ARTICLE V - ASSIGNMENT AND SECURITY INTERESTS ........................................................ 20 

Section 5.1 Assignment and Subletting ................................................................................... 20 

Section 5.2 Mortgage and Encumbrances ............................................................................... 21 

ARTICLE VI - DEFAULT AND ENFORCEMENT ............................................................................. 21 

Section 6.1 Default Defined.......................................................................................................... 21 

Section 6.2 Lessor Remedies on Default ................................................................................. 22 

Section 6.3 Lessor’s Failure to Enforce and Nonwaiver ..................................................... 24 

ARTICLE VII - GENERAL COVENANTS ........................................................................................... 24 

Section 7.1 Condition and Status of Premises....................................................................... 24 

Section 7.2 Risk of Loss ................................................................................................................. 24 

Section 7.3 Repair or Rebuilding ................................................................................................ 25 

Page 120 of 478



 
 

3 
 

Section 7.4 Condemnation ............................................................................................................ 25 

Section 7.5 Surrender of Premises ............................................................................................ 25 

Section 7.6 Reversion or Removal of Buildings and Improvements ............................. 25 

Section 7.7 Holdover ....................................................................................................................... 26 

Section 7.8 Notices .......................................................................................................................... 26 

Section 7.9 Rights or Remedies .................................................................................................. 26 

Section 7.10 Successors in Interest .......................................................................................... 26 

Section 7.11 Applicable Law and Forum .................................................................................. 27 

Section 7.12 Recordation of Lease ............................................................................................ 27 

Section 7.13 Severability ............................................................................................................... 27 

Section 7.14 Construction ............................................................................................................. 27 

7.15 Gender and Plurality ............................................................................................................. 27 

Section 7.16 Joint and Several Liability ................................................................................... 27 

Section 7.17 Entire Agreement ................................................................................................... 27 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Office Use Only:  

Lease entered into on:  
Lease ending date:  
First rate adjustment date:  
Second rate adjustment date:  
Third rate adjustment date:  
Fourth rate adjustment date:  
Fifth rate adjustment date:  
Sixth rate adjustment date:  
Date lease was renewed:   

 

Page 121 of 478



 
 

4 
 

City of Palmer 

231 West Evergreen Avenue 
Palmer, AK 99645 

907-745-3271 
 

PALMER MUNICIPAL AIPORT 
LEASE AGREEMENT No. 17-005 

 
 This LEASE AGREEMENT is made and entered into this ______ day of ____________, 
2017 by and between the City of Palmer, a municipal corporation organized and existing under 
its charter and the laws of the State of Alaska, hereinafter referred to as the “Lessor”, and NA 
Holdings, LLC, hereinafter referred to as the “Lessee”. 
  

This lease agreement is not effective unless it is accompanied by signed and attached 
Exhibit A providing specific information for the following sections: 1., 1A, 1.1B, 1.2A, 1.2B, 1.3A, 
2.1, 2.2, 2.7 and 2.8. 
  

In consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained herein, the parties agree 
as follows: 

 
ARTICLE I - PREMISES, TERM AND RENTALS 

 
Section 1.1 Premises and Purpose 
A. Lessor does hereby lease, demise and let unto Lessee, and Lessee does hereby lease from 

Lessor, real property more particularly described as a parcel of land located within Tract 
B, Palmer Municipal Airport recorded as Plat No. 2006-15 in the Palmer Recording District, 
Third Judicial District, State of Alaska and further described in an unrecorded plat dated 
June 27, 2005 as follows: 

 
Palmer Municipal Airport, Block 3, Lease Lot 30 
 
Containing 1.38 acres or 60,000 square feet, more or less  
 
See “Exhibit A” 
 
Parcel may be subject to additional easements and/or encumbrances not shown or 
depicted hereon. 

B.  Lessee shall use the Premises for the following Aeronautical uses only, and for no other:  
Aircraft parking, storage, service, sales and fueling operations 

C. Any use of the Premises for Non-Aeronautical activity is strictly prohibited, unless an 
approved amendment to this lease is adopted and fair market value rates for Non-
aeronautical areas are applied. 
 

Section 1.2 Term and Renewal 
A. The term of the lease shall be for a period of 20 years, commencing on the 1st day of July 

2017 (the “Commencement Date”) and ending on the 31st day of June 2037, subject to 
the terms of provisions hereof. 

Page 122 of 478



 
 

5 
 

B. Provided Lessee fully and faithfully performs all of the covenants and conditions contained 
herein for the term of the Lease, Lessor may approve an additional period of 15 years at 
the expiration of this Lease so that the total number of years available to Lessee is 35 
years. As with the initial term at the start of and continuing through the renewal period,  
1. The rental rate will continue to be subject to changes as provided in Section 1.4 

“Rent Adjustment,”; 
2. The renewal insurance provision as provided in Section 4.3 will apply along with 

any other changes made in accordance with Section 4.3; 
3. The Lease will be subject to such other and further changes as are deemed 

necessary by Lessor for the reasonable protection of Lessor;  
4. In addition, if this Lease is renewed, it shall be subject to all provisions of the 

Palmer Municipal Code and to the City’s Regulations that pertain to the Airport in 
effect at the time of the renewal or amended thereafter. Including but not limited 
to the current airport regulations. 

C. To renew this Lease, Lessee must comply strictly with the following:  
1. Not more than 24 months nor less than 12 months before the end of the term of 

this Lease, the Lessee must indicate in a signed writing delivered to the Palmer 
City Manager, the Lessee’s request to exercise the option to renew this Lease.  

2. If Lessee fails to notify Lessor within said time period, this Lease shall be deemed 
terminated at the scheduled expiration date. 

 
Section 1.3 Rent 
A. Lessee shall pay to the Lessor as rent during the term hereof the sum $3,900.00 per year, 

payable annually in advance without demand, beginning July 1, 2017 and continuing on 
the same day of each and every year thereafter during the term of the lease at the office 
of the Lessor set forth in Section 7.8 or at such other place as the Lessor may designate 
in writing. (Rent is derived as follows: 60,000 square feet X $.065 cents per square foot)    
1. Failure to pay rent by the thirtieth day after the due date shall obligate the Lessee 

to pay a late charge of $100.00, which sum is agreed to a reasonable estimate of 
the Lessor’s damages for late rental payments and shall not be construed as a 
penalty or a limitation on Lessor’s remedies.  

2. This late charge is in addition to a 12 percent daily interest rate.                                                                     
B. All rent shall be payable in current legal tender of the United States. Payment may be 

tendered by check, but payment shall not be made in fact until such check has been 
honored by the drawee bank. The tender of payment by check within the time provided 
shall be deemed sufficient to meet any due date only if the check is subsequently honored 
by the drawee bank and the Lessor subsequently receives the legal tender required by 
this Lease. Any subsequent dishonor and non-receipt of rent payment shall constitute a 
default of this Lease. 

C. The extension of time for the payment of any installment of rent, or the acceptance by 
the Lessor of any money other than of the kind herein specified, shall not be a waiver of 
the right Lessor to insist on all other payments of rent to be made in the manner and at 
the time herein specified. The acceptance by the Lessor of a past due installment payment 
shall not waive the Lessor’s right as to any other default or breach of the Lease. 

D. The rent herein specified shall be net to the Lessor and such payment shall not be subject 
to any abatement, deduction or off set (except as otherwise provided in this Lease). 

E. All taxes, charges, costs, expenses, utilities and assessments which the Lessee is required 
to pay hereunder, and all damages, costs and expenses which the Lessor may incur by 
reason of any default of the Lessee or failure on the Lessee’s part to comply with the 

Page 123 of 478



 
 

6 
 

terms of the Lease, shall be deemed to be additional rent and in the event of nonpayment 
by the Lessee, the Lessor shall have all the rights and remedies with respect thereto that 
the Lessor has for the nonpayment of the basic rent. 
 

Section 1.4 Rent Adjustment 
A. It is the intent of the parties that the Palmer Municipal Airport be a self-sustaining facility 

and operate without any support from the general fund of the Lessor. 
B. The rent shall be subject to adjustment at five (5) year intervals to achieve fair market 

rent, the first adjustment date is five (5) years following the annual payment. The rent 
shall be adjusted as follows: 
1. Six (6) months prior to the termination of the initial five (5) year period or any 

subsequent five (5) year period, Lessor shall propose the rent for the next five (5) 
year period of the lease term and the parties hereto may, by mutual agreement, 
set the rent for the five (5) year period.  The basis of the initial proposed new rent 
for the next five (5) year term will be the accumulated increase or decrease in the 
Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U): Selected areas, 
semiannual averages, all items index for the Anchorage, AK. Local area, based 
upon 2015 as a base year, as well as the comparative leasing rate of similar 
airports in the Alaskan Market place.  
a. If an agreement is not reached ninety (90) days prior to the end of the 

current five (5) year period, the fair market rental value of the premises 
shall be determined by an appraiser selected by the lessor who shall (a) be 
a member of The American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers, and (b) 
have experiencing in appraising properties similar to the premises. (The 
“Qualified Appraiser”). The cost of the initial appraisal shall be born equally 
between Lessor and Lessee.  If either the Lessor or Lessee or both shall 
disapprove of the fair market rental of the premises as thus determined, 
the dissatisfied party(s) may then designate another Qualified Appraiser 
who shall conduct a second (or additional) independent appraisal(s) of the 
premises and the fair market rental of the premises shall be determined to 
be the average of the two appraisals.  The cost of the additional appraisal 
shall be borne by the dissatisfied party.  In the event that both the Lessor 
and the Lessee are both dissatisfied with the original appraisal than the 
cost of, the second appraisal shall be borne equally between the Lessor 
and Lessee.    

2. Lessor’s failure to timely start this rent adjustment procedure does not affect the 
rent adjustment, other than that the rent shall not be adjusted for the period 
before Lessor starts the procedure for each five-year period.  
a. If, for example, Lessor starts the rent-adjustment procedure for the first 

time on the first day of the seventh year of the lease term, then the rent 
shall remain unchanged for the previous six years.  

b. Any adjustment in Section 1.4 would start as of the first day of the seventh 
year and remain in effect through year ten when Lessor could again start 
the rent-adjustment procedure. 

C. During the pendency of any determination of fair market rent, Lessee shall pay the rent 
last in effect for the Premises until such determination has been made. Any deficiency 
between the rent so paid and the adjusted rent retroactive to the beginning of the period 
for which it is due shall be paid within thirty (30) days of being billed to Lessee with 

Page 124 of 478



 
 

7 
 

interest from the original due date of such rent at the rate highest rate allowed by law for 
debts under $25,000 or twelve percent (12%) per annum, whichever rate is lower. 

 
Section 1.5 Determination of Fair Market Rent 
A. The fair market rent of the premises shall be based on the Consumer Price Index for the 

Municipality of Anchorage from the United States Department of Labor statistics as 
outlined in Section 1.4. 

B. Fair market rent shall not include any return on improvements placed on the Premises by 
the Lessee or its predecessors in interest, but shall include a return for improvements 
placed on the Premises by the Lessor or otherwise belonging to Lessor.  

C. The parties acknowledge that certain property at Palmer Municipal Airport may not 
currently and may not in the future be leased for a fair market rent.  

D. The returns received by Lessor from other aviation Leases at Palmer Municipal Airport, 
therefore, shall not be used exclusively by the appraiser to determine a fair market rent.  

E. Any appraisal of the Premises shall consider any limitation or restriction on use imposed 
under this Lease or pursuant to any patent, deed, lease or grant from or agreement with 
the United States to the Lessor, including but not limited to aviation restricted use. 

F. Lessor shall send written notice to Lessee of the amount determined to be the fair market 
rent together with a copy of the appraisal. 

 
ARTICLE II - IMPROVEMENTS 

 
Section 2.1 Improvements 
A. Promptly after the execution and delivery of this Lease, and as hereinafter more 

particularly provided, the Lessee at its own cost and expense shall cause plans and 
specifications to be prepared for the construction of the following building, structures and 
improvements to be placed on the leased Premises, hereinafter referred to as 
“Improvements”.  

• None at this time, improvements are already in existence. 
B. Failure to timely complete the improvements shall constitute a condition of default.  
C. The improvements shall fully comply with all applicable federal, state, and municipal laws 

and regulations, including but not limited to federal, state, and municipal building, fire, 
construction and safety codes and zoning regulations and requirements. 

 
Section 2.2 Plans and Specifications 
A. The Lessee at its own cost and expense shall have prepared conceptual plans for 

improvements and shall prepare and submit them to the Department of Community 
Development and the Airport Manager on or before 90 days from the execution of the 
lease. The conceptual plans shall have a site plan, building floor plan, all four building 
elevations and the improvements to be constructed.  

B. The Lessee shall submit the conceptual plans required (as outlined by this section) within 
the time specified, or the Lessor shall have the right and privilege to terminate this Lease 
on ten (10) days written notice and if such notice is given this Lease shall terminate and 
shall be of no further force and effect at the expiration of such ten-day period. 
 

Section 2.3 Conceptual Plans 
A. The Department of Community Development shall examine the conceptual plans and 

within thirty (30) days after submission, the Airport Manager shall inform the Lessee in 
writing of any objections to the conceptual plans.  

Page 125 of 478



 
 

8 
 

1. In event of objections, the Lessee shall have thirty (30) days to propose any 
corrective amendments which the Airport Manager shall accept or reject within the 
next twenty (20) days.  

2. Failure of the Airport Manager to inform the Lessee in writing of his or her 
objections within twenty (20) days shall constitute the Airport Manager’s and the 
Department of Community Development’s approval. 

B. The Airport Manager’s and Department of Community Development’s approval of the 
conceptual plans submitted by Lessee shall not constitute the assumption of any liability 
of Lessor for their compliance or conformity with applicable building codes, zoning 
regulations, and/or city, borough, state and federal laws, ordinances and/or regulations, 
or for their accuracy.  
1. Lessee shall be solely responsible for such plans.  
2. The Airport Manager’s and Department of Community Development approval of 

such plans shall not constitute a waiver of Lessor’s right to thereafter require 
Lessee to amend the same to provide for any corrections or omissions needed to 
comply with applicable building codes, zoning regulations, city, borough, state or 
federal laws, ordinances or regulations.  

3. The review and approval required by this section is in addition to any other review 
and approval needed for any required building permits or similar authorization. 

 
Section 2.4 Final Plans 
After the Airport Manager has notified the Lessee of his or her approval of the conceptual plans 
and specifications, the Lessee shall promptly apply to the appropriate municipal department for 
a building permit for any construction or building required to be erected by Lessee pursuant to 
this Article.  
A. The Lessee shall submit to the Airport Manager any plans and detailed drawings including 

copies which may be required for the permit before submitting the plans and drawings for 
a permit.  

B. Thereafter the Lessee at the Lessee’s own expense shall proceed promptly with 
preparation of complete and final plans and complete detailed specifications (such plans 
and specification hereafter termed “final plans”) for the Improvements and shall submit 
to the Airport Manager for the Airport Manager’s approval the final plans as soon as 
practicable.  

C. The failure of the Lessee to proceed promptly with the preparation of final plans or to 
submit final plans as required by this section shall constitute a default and breach of this 
Lease and shall enable the Lessor to terminate this Lease on ten days written notice. 

 
Section 2.5 Airport Manager’s Approval 
The Airport Manager shall not unreasonably withhold his or her approval to any conceptual plans, 
specifications, any plans and detailed drawings, or any final plans or complete detailed 
specifications. 
 
Section 2.6 Compliance with part 77 FAR 
Lessee agrees to comply with the notification and review requirements covered in Part 77 of the 
Federal Aviation Regulations and any similar requirement prior to the construction of the 
Improvements and prior to the construction of any further structure or building upon the 
Premises, or in the event of any planned modification or alteration of any present or future 
building or structure situated on the Premises. 
 

Page 126 of 478



 
 

9 
 

Section 2.7 Commencement of Construction 
If the Lessee has not commenced construction of the Improvements by, on or before August 1, 
2017, the Lessor shall have the right at Lessor’s option to terminate this Lease on thirty (30) days 
written notice. 
 
Section 2.8 Completion of Construction 
A. The Lessee shall have completed construction of the Improvements by,  N/A.  
B. The construction shall be completed when the Improvements have been substantially 

completed and are capable of the use for which they were intended.  
C. If the Lessee has not completed the construction by the scheduled completion date the 

Lessor shall have the right, at Lessor’s option, to terminate the Lease on ten days written 
notice. 

 
Section 2.9 Liens 
A. Lessee hereby warrants to Lessor that the Premises and all such other Improvements, 

shall be free and clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances and agrees to indemnify, 
defend and hold Lessor harmless from and against any and all losses, damages and costs, 
including reasonable attorney’s fees and appellate attorneys’ fees, with respect thereto.  

B. If any lien or notice of lien on account of the alleged debt of Lessee or lien or notice of 
lien by any party engaged by Lessee or Lessee’s contractor to work on the Premises shall 
be filed against the Premises or Improvements, Lessee shall cause the same to be 
discharged of record by payment, deposit, bond, order of court or competent jurisdiction 
or otherwise. 

 
Section 2.11 Performance Guarantee 
A. The work, of N/A, as described in this lease document shall not begin until the  Lessee or 

Lessee’s contractor has provided to the Lessor a performance guarantee in the form of a 
performance bond, escrow, an irrevocable letter of credit, or deed of trust in an amount 
equal to 110% of the estimated cost of the Improvements to be accomplished, which 
guarantees the completion of the work by Lessee or Lessee’s contractor in accordance 
with the plans and specifications approved by Lessor and  guarantees the payment by 
Lessee or Lessee’s contactor of all subcontractors’ charges and all other persons and firms 
supplying services, labor, materials or supplies in connection with the work. 

B. The work, if funded by an Alaskan Financial Institution on behalf of the Lessee of 
$100,000, as  described in this lease document shall not begin until the  Lessee’s Financial 
Institution has provided to the Lessor a “Letter of Guarantee” in an amount equal to 100% 
of the cost of improvements in a “Construction Escrow Account” and guarantees the 
payment by Lessee, Lessee’s Contactor or Lessee’s Financial Institution of all 
subcontractors’ charges and all other persons and firms supplying services, labor, 
materials or supplies in connection with the work, in a form approved by the City.    

C. Bonds shall be a performance bond from a company qualified by law to act as a surety in 
the State of Alaska. The bond shall be in a form approved by the City. The bond shall 
name the City as the sole oblige and the Lessee as the principal. The surety must be rated 
by A.M. Best as an A or B surety. 

D. The Lessee may deposit cash in an escrow with a bank qualified by law to do business in 
the State of Alaska. The disbursement of the escrowed funds shall be governed by an 
escrow agreement in a form approved by the City. 

E. The Lessee may provide to the City, an irrevocable letter of credit or loan commitment by 
a bank qualified by law to do business in the State of Alaska naming the City as beneficiary. 

Page 127 of 478



 
 

10 
 

The letter of credit or loan commitment agreement shall be in a form approved by the 
City. 

F. The Lessee may grant the City a first deed of trust on real property located in the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough to secure the estimated cost of all improvements. The City 
will accept the first deed of trust if:  
1. The Matanuska- Susitna Borough’s assessed value for the tax purposes equals or 

exceeds the amount to be secured by the deed of trust; and 
2. The City obtains at the Lessee’s expense, a policy of title insurance from a 

recognized Title Company doing business in the Matanuska Susitna Borough 
naming the City as the insured beneficiary of the first deed of trust in the amount 
of the estimated cost of all improvements. 

 
Section 2.12 Inspection 
During construction, the Lessor shall have the right, from time to time, to inspect the 
Improvements and in the event that during the construction or at any time prior to the issuance 
of a final certificate of occupancy, the Lessor determines that the Improvements are not being 
constructed in accordance with the plans and specifications specified in this lease, Lessor may 
give notice in writing to the Lessee specifying in detail the particular deficiency, omission or other 
respect in which the Lessor claims construction does not meet the plans and specifications. Upon 
receipt of any such notice the Lessee shall take steps necessary to correct any deficiencies, 
omissions or otherwise. 
 
Section 2.13 Non-Responsibility 
The Lessor may at the time enter upon the Premises for the purpose of posting notices of non-
responsibility for any work, labor or materials supplied or furnished to these Premises and the 
Lessee shall notify, in writing, and in advance of any construction, the Lessor of any construction 
in order that the Lessor may post such notices of non-responsibility. It is the understanding of 
the parties hereto that any such work, labor, or materials are supplied only to further the purposes 
of the Lessee and that work, labor and materials have been contracted for solely by the Lessee 
for Lessee’s own benefit and not as agent of Lessor. 
 
Section 2.14 As Built Plans 
Within sixty (60) days after the project’s completion date, the Lessee shall deliver to the Lessor 
a surveyed plot plan of the leased Premises showing the completed Improvements as built in 
relation to the property lines of the leased Premises. 
Section 2.15 Improvements Subject to Reversion or Removal 
All alterations, buildings, structures or other Improvements placed on the Premises by Lessee 
shall be subject to Section 7.6 of this Lease. 
 
Section 2.16 Alterations and Other Improvements 
The Lessee shall have the right, from time to time, to make such alterations and improvements 
and decoration to the Premises. Any alterations, improvements and decorations shall be 
reasonably necessary or appropriate in the Lessor’s judgment for the conduct Lessee’s business. 
Lessee shall obtain Lessor’s written approval before any such alterations are made. Approval shall 
not be reasonably withheld as long as Lessee complies with provisions of this article.  
Section 2.17 Pavement/Utility Services 
Any pavement or utility services to be constructed by the Lessee shall be constructed in 
accordance with design and specifications approved by the Lessor and the construction shall be 

Page 128 of 478



 
 

11 
 

subject to inspection by the Lessor. Such improvements shall not be constructed without the prior 
consent of the Lessor in writing. 
 

ARTICLE III - USE OF THE LEASED PREMISES 
 
Section 3.1 Airport Purposes 
A. Lessee shall have the right to conduct on the premises those activities stated in Section 

1.1 B only, and Lessee shall not use the Premises for any other purpose or activity without 
first obtaining the written consent of the Airport Manager to do so.  

B. In addition, Lessees’ activities are to be aeronautical related activities as defined in the 
Federal Aviation Administration’s (FAA’s) Airport Compliance Handbook, FAA order 
5190.6B and the FAA Revenue Diversion Policy and all planned development shall be 
consistent with the Palmer Municipal Airport Layout Plan and Master Plan.  

C. It is the purpose of this Lease to foster and abet air commerce at Palmer Municipal Airport 
and it is not the intent of this Lease to provide premises for uses which do not promote 
the development and use of Palmer Municipal Airport.  

D. All uses normally incidental to an airport such as car rental agencies, limousine service, 
restaurants, insurance sales, and other such incidental services not directly related to the 
maintenance and operation of aircraft are prohibited except when the Airport and the FAA 
have established that a specific facility is not currently needed for aeronautical purposes.  

E. Any non-aeronautical use must be limited and incidental.  
F. Any non-aeronautical use must be approved by the Airport Manager and the FAA in writing 

prior to its commencement.  
G. Any approved non-aeronautical use will be allowed only on an interim basis and will be 

phased out if aeronautical demand increases. 
H. If a non-aeronautical use is approved, the rent provided in section 1.3 shall be increased 

to reflect the fair market value of the portion of the Premises used for non-aeronautical 
uses.  

I. Requests for non-aeronautical uses will be made first to the Airport Manager and if 
approved by the Airport Manager and FAA, the non-aeronautical use and the conditions 
associated therewith will be detailed in an addendum to this Lease. 

J. Lessee shall not use or permit any part of the Premises to be used for any unlawful 
purpose of or for any purpose or use that may constitute a nuisance or hazard to health, 
safety, or property.  

K. Lessee shall not use or allow the Premises or any part thereof to be used or occupied for 
any purpose in violation of any law, lawful order, or rule or regulation concerning the 
operation or use of Palmer Municipal Airport. 

 
Section 3.2 Compliance with Laws 
Lessee shall comply with all laws now or hereinafter in effect affecting the Premises or Lessee’s 
use or occupancy thereof, including but not limited to Palmer Municipal Airport Regulations; PMC 
12.08; and PMC 17 all as may be amended from time to time. 
 
Section 3.3 Hazardous Materials 
A. Neither Lessee nor Lessee’s agents shall cause or permit any Hazardous Materials or 

Substances to be brought upon, generated, stored, disposed of, or used in or about the 
Premises by Lessee, its agents, employees, contractors, or invitees without the prior 
written consent of Lessor.  

Page 129 of 478



 
 

12 
 

B. Lessee shall demonstrate to Lessor’s reasonable satisfaction that such Hazardous 
Materials or Substances are necessary to Lessee’s business and will be used, generated, 
disposed of, and stored in a manner that complies with all laws regulating any such 
Hazardous Materials or Substance so brought upon, generated, stored, disposed of or 
used in or about the Premises.  

C. Lessor may, at its option require Lessee to provide annual reports, submitted with the 
annual rent payment.  

D. The Lessee will report the kinds and quantities of Hazardous Materials or Substance on 
the Premises and how the Lessee complies with applicable laws regarding disposal. 

E. If Hazardous Material or Substances have been used, generated, disposed of or stored in 
or about the Premises during the term of this Lease, Lessor may, at its election, have any 
environmental assessment performed of the Premises, at the Lessee’s expense, at the 
termination of this Lease or termination of Lessee’s right to possession under this Lease. 

F. If any of the following occur; 
1. Lessee breaches the obligations in this section; 
2. The presence of Hazardous Material or Substance on the Premises caused or 

permitted by Lessee results in contamination of the Premises or contamination of 
any other property at the Palmer Municipal Airport; or 

3. Contamination of the Premises or any other property at Palmer Municipal Airport 
by Hazardous Material or Substance otherwise occurs for which Lessee is legally 
liable to Lessor for damage resulting therefrom; 
a. Then Lessee shall indemnify, defend, and hold Lessor harmless from any 

and all claims, judgments, damages, penalties, fines, costs, liabilities, or 
losses including, without limitation, diminution in value of the Premises, 
damages for the loss or restriction on use of rentable or usable space or of 
any amenity of the Premises, damages arising from any adverse impact on 
marketing of space, sums paid in settlement of claims, attorneys’ fees, 
appellate attorney’s fees, consultant fees, expert fees, costs incurred in 
connection with any investigation of site conditions or any clean-up, 
remedial, removal, or restoration work required by any federal, state, or 
local governmental agency or political subdivision because of Hazardous 
Material or substance present in the soil or groundwater on or under the 
Premises which arise during or after the Lease term as a result of such 
contamination. 

G. Without Limiting the foregoing, if the presence of any Hazardous Material or Substance 
on the Premises caused or permitted by Lessee results in any contamination of the 
Premises or any other property at the Palmer Municipal Airport, Lessee shall promptly take 
all actions at its sole expense as are necessary to return the Premises and/or other 
property to the condition existing prior to the introduction of any such Hazardous Material 
or Substance; provided that Lessor’s approval of such actions shall first be obtained, which 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld so long as such actions would not potentially 
have any material adverse long-term or short-term effect on the Premises or other 
property. 

H. As used herein, the term “Hazardous Material or Substance” shall be interpreted broadly 
to include, but not limited to, substances designated as hazardous under the Resource 
Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 USC Section 6901 et seq., the Federal Water Pollution 
Control Act, 33 USC Section 1257 et seq. the Clean Air Act, 42 USC Section 2001 et seq 
the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, 42 
USC Section 9601 et seq., Title 46 of the Alaska Statutes, or by any applicable federal, 

Page 130 of 478



 
 

13 
 

state, or local stature, regulation or ordinance now or hereafter in effect and as they may 
be amended or interpreted from time to time. 

I. The provisions of this Section 3.3 shall survive any termination of Lessee’s right to 
possession of the Premises and/or termination of this Lease. 
 

Section 3.4 Americans with Disabilities Act 
Lessor and Lessee agree that as allowed by 28 C. F. R. S. 36.201(b), Lessee shall be responsible 
for all compliance responsibility under the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. S 12101 et. 
Seq.) related to Lessee’s use and occupancy of the Premises. Lessee agrees to defend, indemnify 
and hold Lessee harmless from any claim, demand, or action, either by a private person or a 
governmental entity, under said Act due to failure to comply with the terms of said Act. The 
provisions of this Section 3.4 shall survive termination of Lessee’s right to possession of the 
Premises and/or termination of this Lease. 
 
Section 3.5 Reservations and Exceptions 
This Lease is made by the Lessor and accepted by the Lessee conditioned upon and subject to 
any conditions, reservations, limitations, provisions or terms imposed upon the Premises of 
Palmer Municipal Airport, as contained in any grant (including any monetary grant or loan), lease, 
permit, patent, deed, or any other conveyance to the Lessor of the Premises, or of Palmer 
Municipal Airport, from the United States, or the State of Alaska, including their agencies. In the 
event that any such condition, reservation, limitation, provision or term shall prevent, without 
fault of the Lessor, this Lease from continuing in full force and effect, the Lessor shall have the 
option to terminate this Lease immediately (and at any time) without liability to the Lessee 
therefor. 
 
Section 3.6 Subordination of Lease to Requirements of the Federal Aviation 
Administration 
A. This Lease shall be subordinated to the provisions of any existing or future agreements 

between the Lessor and the United States, relative to the operation or maintenance of 
Palmer Municipal Airport, the execution of which has been or may be required as a 
condition precedent to the expenditure of federal funds for the development or operation 
of Palmer Municipal Airport. 

B. In connection therewith, the Lessor has undertaken and may in the future undertake 
certain obligations respecting its operation of Palmer Municipal Airport and activities of its 
contractors, Lessees and permitted thereon. The performance by Lessee of the covenants, 
promises and obligations contained in this Lease is therefore a special consideration and 
inducement to this Lease. Lessee further covenants and agrees that if the administrator 
of the Federal Aviation Administration, or any  other governmental official or body having 
jurisdiction over the enforcement and the obligations of the City in connection with the 
Federal or State aid, shall make any orders, recommendations or suggestions respecting 
the performances by Lessee of its obligations under this Lease, Lessee shall promptly 
comply therewith, at the time or times when and to the extent that the Lessor may direct. 

 
Section 3.7 Aircraft on Premises 
The Lessee shall provide the Airport Manager a list showing all aircraft on the Premises for any 
purpose, together with the aircraft type, model and number, the name and address of the owner, 
the purpose of the aircraft being on the Premises, and such other information concerning its 
identification thereof as the Airport Manager shall deem necessary. 
 

Page 131 of 478



 
 

14 
 

Section 3.8 Discriminatory Acts Prohibited 
A. The Lessee shall furnish any service to be rendered by the Lessee in connection with or 

upon the Premises on a fair, equal and not unjustly discriminatory basis to all users 
thereof. In performing such services Lessee shall charge fair, reasonable and not unjustly 
discriminatory prices or rates for each unit of service furnished, provided the Lessee may 
take reasonable and nondiscriminatory discounts, rebates or other similar types of price 
reductions to volume users or purchasers. 

B. The Lessee, in its use and occupancy of the Premises, shall not discriminate against any 
person or class of persons by reason of race, color, creed or national origin, or by reason 
of any other basis that is illegal or becomes illegal during the term of this Lease, any 
extension, or any holdover period. 

C. The Lessor upon ten (10) days’ notice to the Lessee of any violation of this section shall 
request that the Lessee either correct or justify any practice or charge alleged as a 
violation.  

D. In any proceeding whatsoever the burden of justification shall be on the Lessee to show 
that the practice or charge does comply with the requirements of this section. The Lessee, 
within ten (10) days after receipt of the notice, shall comply with the request or submit to 
the Lessor its justification in writing. The Lessor shall submit its findings and decision as 
to any alleged violation within fifteen (15) days after the receipt of the Lessee’s 
justification, and such findings and decision of the Lessor shall be final. Unless the Lessee 
shall notify in writing the Lessor within ten (10) days of its objections to any request for 
compliance or to any adverse findings and decision, the Lessee shall waive any defense 
that the alleged violation is justified. 

E. The Lessor, at its option, may forthwith terminate this Lease without any liability to Lessee 
thereunder for failure by Lessee without justification to comply with Lessor’s request for 
compliance within the time set forth in the request or the findings and decision to correct 
the alleged violation. 

 
Section 3.9 Affirmative Action 
A. The Lessee assures that it will undertake an affirmative action program as required by 14 

CFR Part 152, Subpart E, to insure that no person shall on the grounds of race, creed, 
color, national origin, or sex be excluded from participating in any employment activities 
covered in 14 CFR Part 152, Subpart E. The Lessee assures that no person shall be 
excluded on these grounds from participating in or receiving the services or benefits of 
any program or activity covered in this subpart. The Lessee assures that it will require 
that its covered sub-organizations provide assurances to the Lessor that any similarity will 
undertake affirmative action programs and that they will require assurances from their 
sub-organizations, as required by 14 CFR Part 152, Subpart E, to the same effect. 

B. The Lessor upon ten (10) days’ notice to the Lessee of any violation of subsection A shall 
request that the Lessee either correct or justify any practice or charge alleged as a 
violation. In any proceeding whatsoever, the burden of justification requirement of 
subsection A. The Lessee within ten (10) days after receipt of the notice, shall comply 
with the request or submit to the Lessor its justification in writing. The Lessor shall submit 
its findings and decision as to any alleged violation within fifteen (15) days after receipt 
of the Lessee’s justification, and such findings and decision of the days of its objections 
to any request for compliance or to any adverse findings and decision, the Lessee shall 
waive any defense that the alleged violation is justified. 

C. The Lessor, at its option, may forthwith terminate this Lease without any liability to Lessee 
thereunder for any failure by Lessee without justification to comply with Lessor’s request 

Page 132 of 478



 
 

15 
 

for compliance within the time set forth in the request of the findings and decision to 
correct the alleged violation. 

 
Section 3.10 Maintenance of Premises 
A. Lessee shall repair and maintain the Improvements in good order and repair and keep the 

Premises in a neat, safe, clean and orderly condition. Such obligation shall include, but 
not be limited to, the prevention of the accumulation of any refuse or waste materials 
which might be or constitute a fire hazard or a public or private nuisance. 

B. In the event that Lessee does not properly repair and/or maintain the Improvements or 
Premises, the Airport Manager shall notify the Lessee in writing of those areas that are 
not being properly repaired and/or maintained.  

C. If, however, after 60 days, Lessee fails to make such repair and/or maintenance, Lessor 
may cause to have such repair and maintenance made and invoice the Lessee for the 
repair and maintenance completed.  

D. If said costs are not paid promptly by Lessee, the lease shall be deemed to be in default, 
and Lessor shall be entitled to all legal remedies provided hereunder. 

E. Lessee shall neither cause nor allow any waste of the Premises or Improvements. In 
addition, Lessee shall be strictly liable for any waste of the Premises or Improvements and 
for any damage to reversion. 

 
Section 3.11 Signs 
A. Lessee shall not, without Lessor’s written consent, place or erect any sign of any nature 

on any part of the Premises, but such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld to one 
flat sign of reasonable size bearing the Lessee’s trade name, providing such sign meets 
all city zoning and sign requirements.  

B. At the termination of this Lease, any such sign shall be removed by Lessee at Lessee’s 
own expense.  

C. Lessee shall apply for a sign permit from the Department of Community Development and 
shall comply with Palmer Municipal Code. 

 
Section 3.12 Improvements and Alterations 
After the initial improvements set forth in Article II have been completed, and if the Lessee desires 
to construct further improvements: 
A. Prior to commencing construction, renovation, enlargement, demolition, or modification 

of leasehold improvements now or hereafter existing on the Premises, Lessee shall submit 
to the Airport Manager plans and specifications for such work (including plans for 
landscaping and irrigation, if any) and Timeline for various phases of work.  

B. The Airport Manager shall approve or disapprove such plans and specifications and 
accompanying Timeline at his or her sole discretion.  

C. Upon Lessee’s receipt of the Airport Manager’s written approval of such plans and 
specifications, Lessee agrees to construct the proposed leasehold improvements in strict 
accordance with such plans and specifications and Timeline.  

D. The Airport Manager’s approval of submitted plans and specifications shall not constitute 
the assumption of any liability by Lessor for their compliance or conformity with applicable 
building codes, zoning regulations, and city borough, state and federal laws, ordinances 
and regulations, or for their accuracy, and Lessee shall be solely responsible for such plans 
and specifications.  

E. The Airport Manager’s approval of plans and specifications shall not constitute a waiver of 
Lessor’s right to therefore require Lessee to amend the same to provide for any corrections 

Page 133 of 478



 
 

16 
 

or omissions needed to comply with applicable building codes, zoning regulations, city, 
borough, state or federal laws, ordinances or regulations.  

F. The review and approval required by Section 3.12 is in addition to any other review and 
approval needed for any required building permits or similar authorizations. 

G. Lessee shall obtain all necessary licenses and permits to accomplish any of the work 
described in Section 3.12. Nothing in this Lease is intended to limit or restrict the City of 
Palmer in the exercise of its police power, authority to enforce building, fire and other 
safety codes, laws, ordinances, or regulations. 

H. Lessee agrees to comply with the notification and review requirements covered in part 77 
of the Federal Aviation Regulations prior to the construction of the Improvements and 
prior to the construction of any future building or structure situated on the Premises. 

I. Any contract or agreement for labor, services, materials or supplies furnished in 
connection with construction or alteration of any improvement to the Premises shall 
provide that no lien, claim or other encumbrance shall thereby be created, or arise, or be 
filed by anyone thereunder upon or against the Premises or the improvements.  

J. Before the commencement of any such work, Lessee shall deliver to Lessor either an 
executed duplicate original of such contract or a written waiver by the architect, engineer, 
contractor, material man, mechanic, person or corporation named in such contract of all 
right of lien which he or it might otherwise have upon or against the Premises, or the 
improvements to be constructed or altered, or the interest of Lessor therein.  

K. Lessee hereby warrants to Lessor that the Premises and all such other improvements 
thereto, shall be free and clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances and agrees to 
indemnity, defend and hold Lessor harmless from and against any and all losses, damages 
and costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and appellate attorneys’ fees, with respect 
thereto.  

L. If any lien or notice of lien on account of the alleged debt of Lessee or lien or notice of 
lien by any party engaged by Lessee or Lessee’s contractor to work on the Premises shall 
be filed against the Premises or improvements, Lessee shall cause the same to be 
discharged of record by payment, deposit, bond, order of court or competent jurisdiction 
or otherwise.       

M. The work, in excess of $100,000, as described in this lease document shall not begin until 
the Lessee or Lessee’s contractor has provided to the Lessor a performance guarantee in 
the form of a performance bond, escrow, an irrevocable letter of credit, or deed of trust 
in an amount equal to 100% of the estimated cost of the Improvements greater than 
$100,000 to be accomplished, which guarantees the completion of the work by Lessee or 
Lessee’s contractor in accordance with the plans and specifications approved by Lessor 
and  guarantees the payment by Lessee or Lessee’s contactor of all subcontractors’ 
charges and all other persons and firms supplying services, labor, materials or supplies in 
connection with the work. 

N. All alterations, buildings, structures or other improvements placed on the Premises by 
Lessee shall be subject to section 7.6 of this Lease. 
 

Section 3.13 Quiet Possession 
The Lessee, upon paying rent and observing the conditions and terms of this Lease, shall and 
may have at all times during the term of this Lease peaceful and quiet enjoyment and possession 
of the Premises, except as otherwise set forth in this Lease. 
 

Page 134 of 478



 
 

17 
 

Section 3.14 Lessee’s option to Terminate 
A. Should any government body, agency, or official, other than Lessor, prohibit or otherwise 

prevent the use of Palmer Municipal Airport in its present condition as a public airport for 
one year or more, or should the continued use of Palmer Municipal Airport as an airport 
become impossible or unlawful without the fault of the Lessee, the Lessee shall have the 
option to terminate this Lease on thirty (30) days written notice to the Lessor.  

B. Upon such termination, this Lease shall be at an end, and neither party shall have any 
liability for such termination.  

C. The Lessor shall notify the Lessee in writing, of the prohibition, or intended prohibition, 
and the failure of the Lessee to exercise the option to terminate within thirty (30) days 
shall extinguish the Lessee’s option to terminate. 

 
Section 3.15 Lessor’s Option to Terminate 
A. Lessee hereby grants to Lessor should it require the Premises in connection with the future 

expansion and/or operation of the Airport prior to the expiration or termination of the 
Lease, Lessor may, upon ninety (90) days written notice, cancel this Lease. 

B. In the event that this Lease is canceled under the provisions of this Section, Lessor shall 
pay to Lessee the fair market value of Lessee’s remaining leasehold interest and the fair 
market value of Lessee owned buildings, structures, alterations and/or improvements 
placed by Lessee upon the Premises during the term of this Lease.  

C. The fair market value shall be determined by following the appraisal procedure set forth 
determination of the fair market rental of the Premises in Section 1.4 of this Lease.  

D. After payment therefore as provided herein, all buildings, structures, alterations and/or 
improvements shall be subject to the provisions of section 7.6 of this Lease. 

 
Section 3.16 Right of Entry and Access 
A. Lessee hereby grants to Lessor, its contractors, employees, agents and assigns, the 

irrevocable right, permission and authority to enter into and upon all or part of the 
Premises for the purpose of:  
1. Inspecting the Premises; 
2. Cleaning, repairing, maintaining, altering or improving the Premises as Lessor may 

deem necessary; 
3. Abating any nuisance or hazardous condition on the Premises, and/or 
4. Preserving and/or protecting the Premises. 

B. It is understood and agreed that the entry and access may affect the use of the Premises 
from time to time. Lessor shall use reasonable efforts to coordinate any anticipated access 
or utility or other interruptions with Lessee in an attempt to reasonably reduce the effect 
of any disruption of Lessee’s enjoyment and use of the Premises. 

C. The right of access and entry reserved herein does not impose, nor does Lessor assume 
by reason thereof, any responsibility for the care, maintenance or supervision of the 
Premises. Lessee shall not be entitled to any abatement or reduction in rent by reason of 
Lessors access and/or entry nor shall such access or entry be deemed an actual or 
constructive eviction. 

 
Section 3.17 Lessor’s Improvements 
A. Lessor shall have a permanent right of access over, under, around and across the Premises 

for the purposes of maintaining, servicing, upgrading, replacing or removing any Lessor- 
installed improvements including, but not limited to, light poles, utilities, and fencing.  

B. This section does not require Lessor to provide any improvements.  

Page 135 of 478



 
 

18 
 

C. Lessor’s maintenance shall not include paving, aircraft tie downs, snow removal or 
sanding. 

D. All improvements constructed by the Lessor shall at all times remain the property of Lessor 
and may be maintained, upgraded, serviced or removed at Lessor’s convenience and 
discretion. 

E. Lessor agrees to use reasonable efforts to notify of any upgrading, replacing or repair 
work with Lessee and to reasonably reduce disrupting Lessee’s use of the Premises when 
practicable. 

F. In the event of abandonment or default, any Lessee improvement will become the 
property of the Lessor. 

 
Section 3.18 Aviation Easement 
Lessee’s right to use the Premises for the purposes as set forth in this Lease shall be secondary 
to and subordinate to the operation of the airport. Lessor specifically reserves for itself, other 
Palmer Municipal Airport leaseholders, and for the public, an easement for the passage of aircraft 
in the air space above the surface of the described property together with the right to cause in 
said air space or on adjacent property such noise as may be inherent in the present or future 
operation of aircraft. Without in any way limiting Lessor’s rights under Section 3.12, Lessee shall 
not construct any building or facility to a height which in Lessor’s discretion will interfere with the 
operations of the airport. 
 
Section 3.19 Right-of-Way and Easement 
Lessor shall have the right to designate or grant rights-of-way or utility easements across the 
Premises without compensation to Lessee, provided that Lessee shall be entitled to compensation 
for the taking or destruction of any of Lessee’s improvements and provided further that Lessee 
may terminate the Lease or demand a rental adjustment to reflect any reduction in value of the 
Premises.  
 

ARTICLE IV - TAXES, INDEMNIFICATION, AND INSURANCE 
 
Section 4.1 Taxes, Assessments, and Utilities 
A. Lessee, in addition to the rentals provided for herein, shall pay when due (and before 

delinquency) all taxes, utility fees, assessments, and charges upon the Premises, the 
leasehold interest, and upon buildings, improvements and property thereon, which are 
assessed or charged at any time during the term.  

B. The Lessee shall furnish to the Lessor for Lessor’s inspection within thirty (30) days after 
the date any amount payable by the Lessee as required by this section, official receipts 
from the appropriate taxing authorities or other proof satisfactory to the Lessor evidencing 
payment.  

C. The Lessee shall have the right at all times to protest any assessment of taxes or other 
assessments or charges, but the Lessor may require the Lessee to deposit with the Lessor 
any sums in dispute to insure payment in the event that any contest is unsuccessful.  

D. Lessee shall pay and be responsible for all charges for gas, electricity, water, light, heat, 
power, garbage, solid waste, and other utility service used in or about or supplied to the 
Premises.  

E. Lessee shall timely pay all sales tax on the rent on the lease, utilities, sales, service, rents, 
etc., and shall comply with City and Borough sales tax laws. 

 

Page 136 of 478



 
 

19 
 

Section 4.2 Indemnification 
Lessee shall indemnify, defend and hold Lessor harmless from all liability or loss (including, but 
not limited to reasonable attorneys’ fees and appellate attorneys’ fees) arising from any injury to 
any person or persons (including without limitation Lessee, its agents or employees) or property 
of any kind whatsoever while in, upon, or in any way connected with the Premises during the 
term of this Lease, or any use or occupancy hereunder, however occurring, including any acts, 
negligent or otherwise, and any omissions (negligent or otherwise), by Lessee, its agents, 
independent contractors, or employees, unless caused by or resulting from the sole negligence 
of the Lessor or any of Lessor’s agents or employees. 
 
Section 4.3 Insurance 
A. Lessee, at its own expense, shall secure and maintain in full force at all times during the 

term of this Lease: 
1. Commercial general liability. Commercial general liability insurance with a single 

occurrence liability limit of $1,000,000 and an aggregate of $2,000,000 insuring 
against liability of Lessee, its officers, contractors, licensees, agents, employees, 
guests, invites and authorized representatives, arising out of and/or in connection 
with Lessee’s use or occupancy of the Premises; or 

2. Airport premises liability. Airport premises liability insurance on an occurrence basis 
with a single combined liability limit of not less than $1,000,000 occurrence and 
$2,000,000 aggregate limit for bodily injury and property damage. 

3. If applicable, third-party aircraft liability insurance with a single combined liability 
limit of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence; 

4. Commercial property insurance in the amount of replacement costs. 
5. Pollution Insurance covering all fueling operations with a single combined liability 

limit of not less than $1,000,000 occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate limit 
covering all airport operations. 

B.  This insurance required under this Section shall: 
1.  Name the Lessor as an “additional insured” 
2.  Contain a clause that the insurer will not cancel or change the insurance without 

first giving the Lessor thirty (30) days prior written notice; 
3.  Be with an insurance company qualified to do business in the State of Alaska with 

a financial rating of at least “A” as rated in current Best’s Insurance Reports; 
4.  Include a waiver of subrogation clause by which the insurer waives all rights of 

subrogation against the Lessor for payments made under the policy; and 
5.  Not contain a damage deductible for each and every loss that exceeds $10,000. 

C.  Lessee shall provide Lessor with proof of insurance coverage in the form of a certificate 
of insurance, and if requested by the Lessor, Lessee shall provide Lessor with a copy of 
the policy(ies). Failure to maintain such insurance in effect shall constitute grounds for 
immediate termination of this lease. Lessor may at its option purchase said insurance and 
charge the expense thereof to Lessee, which expense Lessee shall assume and pay. 

D.   To reasonably protect itself, Lessor may adjust these minimum insurance requirements 
and add types of insurance or both by giving Lessee written notice of such adjustment 
ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of each five (5) year interval of the term of this 
Lease. Lessor may also adjust these minimum insurance requirements at any time if 
Lessee’s use of the Premises changes, and in such event, Lessor shall give Lessee thirty 
(30) days written notice of such adjustment. 

E.  The requirements of insurance coverage do not relieve Lessee from any other obligation 
under this Lease.  

Page 137 of 478



 
 

20 
 

 
ARTICLE V - ASSIGNMENT AND SECURITY INTERESTS 

 
Section 5.1 Assignment and Subletting 
A. Lessee shall not voluntarily assign or encumber its interest in this Lease or in the Premises 

or sublease all or any part of the Premises, or allow any other person or entity to occupy 
or use all or any part of the Premises without first obtaining Lessor’s prior written consent. 
Lessor will not unreasonably withhold its consent; provided, however, if Lessor does 
unreasonably withhold its consent, Lessor shall not be liable for any damages, costs or 
attorney’s fees arising therefrom.  
1. Lessor may condition its consent upon such terms as are in its best interest, 

including but not limited to matters regarding laws, insurance, risks, Lessee’s 
defaults or past practices, risks attributable to assignee, etc., but Lessor may not 
condition its consent upon raising the rent other than as already allowed under 
this Lease.  

2. Any assignment, encumbrance or sublease without Lessor’s consent shall be 
voidable and, at Lessor’s election, shall constitute a default.  

3. No consent to any assignment, encumbrance or sublease shall constitute a further 
waiver of the provisions of this section.  

B. If Lessee is a partnership or limited liability company, a withdrawal or change, voluntary, 
involuntary or by operation of law, of any partner or partners, member or members 
owning twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the partnership or LLC in one or more 
transactions, or the dissolution of the partnership or LLC, shall be deemed a voluntary 
assignment.  

C. If Lessee is a corporation any dissolution, merger, consolidation or other reorganization 
of Lessee, or the sale or other transfer of a controlling percentage of the capital stock of 
Lessee in one or more transactions, or the sale of twenty-five percent (25%) of the value 
of the assets of Lessee in one or more transactions without immediate replacement with 
assets of equal or greater worth, shall be deemed a voluntary assignment. 

D. Lessee hereby irrevocably assigns to Lessor, as security for Lessee’s obligations under this 
Lease, all rent from any subletting of all or a part of the Premises, and Lessor, as assignee 
and attorney-in-fact for Lease, may collect such rent and apply it toward Lessee’s 
obligations under this Lease, except that, until the occurrence of an act of default by 
Lessee, Lessee shall have the right to collect such rent as it becomes due, one payment 
period at a time, which payment period may never exceed one year.  

E. Lessee may not charge a sub-lessee a rent rate that changes from year to year, other 
than changes that result directly from changes made by Lessor, and Lessee shall never 
have the right to collect or receive rent in advance of when it is due. If the sub-lessee 
pays Lessee in advance and Lessor collects rent hereunder, then the sub-lessee must pay 
the advanced rent to Lessor and sub lessee may retrieve the advanced rent from Lessee. 
Neither this section nor collection of any such rent by Lessor shall be deemed to be 
Lessor’s approval of any such sublease. 

F. If, as a result of an assignment or sublease, the Premises will be used for purposes other 
than as set forth in section 3.1 herein. The consent of the Palmer City Council and the 
FAA, if applicable, must be obtained. It is the policy of the city council to discourage non-
aviation related uses. Additionally, if incremental revenues over and above the Lessee’s 
Lease payments will be realized from the sublease or assignment pertaining to non-
aeronautical uses, Lessor may raise Lessee’s existing rent to fair market value at the time 
of the approval of the sublease. 

Page 138 of 478



 
 

21 
 

G. All assignment instruments shall include language whereby Assignee expressly assumes 
and agrees to pay the obligations of Lessee under this Lease.  
1. No assignment shall release or diminish the obligations of any Lessee or any 

Guarantor for performance of Lessee’s obligations hereunder and Lessee shall 
remain liable as if no assignment were made.  

2. Lessee and Assignee will be jointly and severally liable for such obligations.  
3. Neither this section nor any payment of rent by such Assignee shall be deemed to 

be Lessor’s approval of any such assignment. 
H. All sublease instruments shall provide that the sublease is subject to all of the terms, 

covenants and conditions of this Lease. 
I. Lessee agrees to pay to Lessor $500 for any request by Lessee for Lessor to consent to 

any assignment or subletting by Lessee. 
 

Section 5.2 Mortgage and Encumbrances 
A. Lessee shall not mortgage or otherwise encumber this Lease (including Lessee’s leasehold 

estate in the improvements thereon) without the prior written consent of Lessor.  
B. The Lessor’s consent to the mortgage or encumbrance shall not be unreasonably withheld, 

provided the mortgage or beneficiary shall agree to the attached form of Assignment of 
Lease for Security Purposes and Consent to Assignment of Lease attached hereto as 
Exhibit C.  

C. Lessee shall furnish the Lessor with a copy of any security transaction mortgaging or 
encumbrancing the Premises for the Lessor’s approval prior to any mortgaging or 
encumbrancing of the Premises, and shall further furnish a copy to the Lessor of any such 
executed security transactions. 

 
ARTICLE VI - DEFAULT AND ENFORCEMENT 

 
Section 6.1 Default Defined 
The occurrence of one or more of the following shall be deemed a default by the Lessee and a 
breach of this Lease: 
A. Failure to pay the rent provided herein, or any part thereof, or other charge due 

hereunder, for a period of ten (10) days after written notice of such failure is given by 
Lessor to Lessee; 

B. Failure to perform the obligations set forth in Sections 3.8, 3.9, and 3.10 hereof, after any 
notice required by those sections; 

C. Failure to provide and maintain in effect insurance in compliance with Section 4.3 hereof 
(for which failure there is no notice time requirement); 

D. Failure to do, observe, keep and perform any other terms, covenants, conditions, 
agreements and provisions contained in this Lease for a period of thirty (30) days after 
written notice of such failure is given by Lessor to Lessee, or, in the case of a default not 
reasonably susceptible of being cured within thirty (30) days (which does not include any 
default which may be cured by the payment of money), failure to commence promptly 
and proceed diligently and in good faith to cure such default within the initial thirty (30) 
days and complete such cure within a total of sixty (60) days after the sending of the 
notice; 

E. The abandonment of the premises by the Lessee, the making by the Lessee of a general 
assignment for the benefit of creditors, or the appointment of a permanent or temporary 
receiver for the Lessee’s property, which is not vacated or set aside within thirty (30) days 
of sending of written notice of such event by Lessor; or 

Page 139 of 478



 
 

22 
 

F. The issuance of three (3) written notices for defaults or breaches within any consecutive 
twelve-month period, regardless of whether or not the default or breach was cured within 
the applicable time period. 

 
Section 6.2 Lessor Remedies on Default 
Upon the occurrence of any default of Lessee as described in Section 6.1 or elsewhere in this 
Lease, Lessor shall have the option to pursue any one or more of the following remedies without 
any notice or demand whatsoever: 
A. Lessor may, at its election, terminate this Lease or terminate Lessee’s right to possession 

only, without terminating this Lease. 
B. Upon termination of this Lease, whether by lapse of time or otherwise, or upon any 

termination of Lessee’s right to possession without termination of this Lease, Lessee shall 
surrender possession and vacate the Premises immediately, and deliver possession thereof 
to Lessor, and Lessee hereby grants to Lessor full and free license to enter into and upon 
the Premises in such event with or without process of law and to repossess Lessor of the 
Premises and to expel or remove Lessee and any others who may occupy or be within the 
Premises and to remove and all property therefrom, without being deemed in any manner 
guilty of trespass, eviction or forcible entry or detainer, and without incurring any liability 
for any damage resulting therefrom, Lessee hereby waiving any right to claim damage for 
such re-entry and expulsion and without relinquishing Lessors right to rent or any other 
right given to Lessor hereunder or by operation of law. 

C. Upon any termination of this Lease, whether by lapse of time or otherwise, Lessor shall 
be entitled to recover: 
1. The worth at the time of the award of the unpaid rent (including any amounts 

treated as additional rent) that had been earned at the time of termination; 
2. The worth at the time of the award of the amount by which the unpaid rent 

(including any amounts treated as additional rent) that would have been earned 
after the date of termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of the 
loss of rent for the same period that Lessee proves could have been reasonably 
avoided; 

3. The worth at the time of the award of the amount by which the unpaid rent 
(including a reasonable estimate of additional rent) for the balance of the term 
exceeds the amount of the loss of rent for the same period that Lessee proves 
could have been reasonably avoided; and 

4. Any other amount, full reasonable attorney’s fees and court costs, necessary to 
compensate Lessor for all detriment proximately caused by Lessee’s default. 

D. “The worth at the time of the award,” used in this section, is to be computed by allowing 
interest as determined by the current bond rating from State of Alaska Municipal Bond 
Bank plus 5%. The “time of the award” is the date the Lessee is notified of the termination 
of the lease by the Lessor. Such notification shall be done by certified mail. 

E. Upon any termination of Lessee’s right to possession only without termination of this 
Lease, Lessor may, at the Lessor’s option enter into the Premises, remove Lessee’s signs 
and other evidences of tenancy, and take and hold possession thereof as provided in this 
section, without such entry and possession terminating this Lease or releasing Lessee, in 
whole or in part, from any obligation, including Lessee’s obligation to pay the rent, 
including any amounts treated as additional rent hereunder, for the full term. 

F. Upon termination of Lessee’s right to possession, Lessor may, but need not, relet the 
Premises or any part thereof for such rent and upon such terms as Lessor in its sole 
discretion shall determine (including, but not limited to, the right to relet the Premises for 

Page 140 of 478



 
 

23 
 

a greater or lesser term than that remaining under this Lease, the right to relet the 
Premises as a part of a larger area, and the right to change the character or use made of 
the Premises) and Lessor shall not be required to accept any tenant offered by Lessee or 
to observe any instructions given by Lessee about such reletting.  
a. In any such case, Lessor may make repairs, alterations and additions in or to the, 

Premises, and Lessee shall, upon demand, pay the cost thereof, together with 
Lessor’s expenses of reletting.  

b. If the consideration collected by Lessor upon any such reletting plus any sums 
previously collected from Lessee are not sufficient to pay the full amount of all 
rent, including any amounts treated as additional rent here under and other sums 
reserved in this Lease for the remaining term hereof, together with the costs of 
repairs, alterations, additions, and Lessor’s expenses of reletting and the collection 
of the rent accruing therefrom (including attorneys’ fees), Lessee shall pay to 
Lessor the amount of such deficiency upon demand and Lessee agrees that Lessor 
may file suit to recover any sums falling due under this subpart from time to time. 

E.   Lessor may, at Lessor’s option, enter into and upon the Premises, with or without process 
of law, if Lessor determines in its sole discretion that Lessee is not acting within a 
commercially reasonable time to maintain repair or replace anything for which Lessee is 
responsible hereunder and correct the same, without being deemed in any manner guilty 
of trespass, eviction or forcible entry and detainer and without incurring any liability for 
any damage resulting therefrom and Lessee agrees to reimburse Lessor, on demand, as 
additional rent, for any expenses which Lessor may incur in thus effecting compliance with 
Lessee’s obligations under this Lease. 

F.  Any and all property which may be removed from the Premises by Lessor pursuant to the 
authority of this Lease or of law or in equity, to which Lessee is or may be entitled, may 
be handled, removed and stored, as the case may be, by or in the direction of Lessor at 
the risk, cost and expense of Lessee, and Lessor shall in no event be responsible for the 
value, preservation or safekeeping thereof.  
1. Lessee shall pay to Lessor, upon demand, any and all expenses incurred in such 

removal and all storage charges against such property so long as the same shall 
be in Lessor’s possession or under Lessors control.  

2. Any such property of Lessee not retaken by Lessee from storage within thirty (30) 
days after removal from the Premises shall conclusively be presumed to have been 
conveyed by Lessee to Lessor under this Lease as a bill of sale without further 
payment or credit by Lessor to Lessee; provided, however, Lessor may disclaim as 
to any item or items and the effect of such disclaimer will be that the item or items 
never became the property of Lessor.  

G. Pursuit of any of the foregoing remedies shall not preclude pursuit of any of the other 
remedies herein provided or any other remedies provided by law or equity (all such 
remedies being cumulative), nor shall pursuit of any remedy herein provided constitute a 
forfeiture or waiver of any rent, additional rent or other sum due to Lessor, hereunder or 
of any damages accruing to Lessor by reason of the terms, provisions and covenants 
herein contained.  

H. No act or thing done by Lessor or its agents during the term hereby granted shall be 
deemed a termination of this Lease or an acceptance of the surrender of the Premises, 
and no agreement to terminate this Lease or an acceptance of the surrender of the 
Premises shall be valid unless in writing signed by Lessor.  

I. No judicial action shall be necessary to terminate this Lease. 

Page 141 of 478



 
 

24 
 

J. No waiver by Lessor of any violation or breach of any of the terms, provisions, and 
covenants herein contained shall be deemed or construed to constitute a waiver of any 
other violation or breach of any of the terms, provisions and covenants herein contained.  

K. Lessors acceptance of the payment of rental, including any amount treated as additional 
rental, or other sums hereunder after the occurrence of an event of default shall not be 
construed as a waiver of such default, unless Lessor so notifies Lessee in writing.  

L. Forbearance by Lessor to be deemed or construed to constitute a waiver of such default 
or of Lessor’s right to enforce any such remedies with respect to such default or any 
subsequent default.  

M. If, on account of any breach or default by Lessee in Lessee’s obligations under the terms 
and conditions of this lease, it shall become necessary or appropriate for Lessor to employ 
or consult with an attorney concerning this Lease or enforce or defend any of Lessor’s 
rights or remedies hereunder, Lessee agrees to pay any attorneys’ fees and appellate 
attorneys’ fees so incurred.  

N. Lessor shall not be responsible or liable for any failure to relet the Premises or any part 
thereof, or for any failure to collect any rent due upon such reletting. 

 
Section 6.3 Lessor’s Failure to Enforce and Nonwaiver 
A. Failure by the Lessor to insist the strict performance of any term, condition or covenant 

of this Lease or to exercise any right or remedy available on a breach thereof, and 
acceptance of full or partial rentals during the continuance of any such breach shall not 
constitute a waiver of any such breach or any such term, condition or covenant.  

B. Terms, conditions or covenants of this Lease required to be performed by the Lessee, and 
breach thereof, shall not be waived, altered or modified, except by written instrument 
executed by the Lessor.  

C. Waiver of any breach shall not affect or alter any term, condition or covenant of this Lease, 
and each such term, condition or covenant shall continue in full force and effect with 
respect to any other then existing or subsequent default or breach thereof, and any other 
or subsequent default or breach may be enforced by the Lessor as provided in this Lease. 

 
ARTICLE VII - GENERAL COVENANTS 

 
Section 7.1 Condition and Status of Premises 
A. Lessee acknowledges that Lessee has examined the Premises and accepts same in its 

present condition without any representation or warranty, express or implied in fact or by 
law, by the Lessor as to the title, nature, condition or usability of the Premises for the 
purposes set forth in this Lease, all of said warranties being hereby expressly property 
as-is in its present condition, together with all faults. 

B. Lessee agrees to provide written notice to Lessor immediately upon Lessee becoming 
aware or having a reasonable belief: 
1. That the Premises or any adjacent property is being, may be, or has been 

contaminated with any Hazardous Materials, or 
2. Of the existence of any Hazardous Materials in, within, on or near the Premises or 

adjacent property. 
 

Section 7.2 Risk of Loss 
Destruction or damage to any building or improvement on the Premises by fire, rain, ice, snow, 
windstorm, earthquake, aircraft accident, or any other casualty or action of the elements shall 
not entitle the Lessee to surrender possession of the Premises, to terminate this Lease, to violate 

Page 142 of 478



 
 

25 
 

any of its provisions, or to cause any rebate or abatement in rent when due or thereafter 
becoming due under the terms hereof. 
 
Section 7.3 Repair or Rebuilding 
A. Upon the destruction or damage to any building or structure by fire or other casualty 

covered by insurance or that is supposed to be covered by Lessee’s insurance, Lessee 
may, with Lessor’s consent rebuild the building or structure.  

B. Upon the destruction or damage to any building or structure by casualty that is not 
covered by insurance and is not supposed to be covered by insurance, Lessee shall have 
the right to repair, restore or rebuild the building or structure within one (1) year after 
the date of such occurrence or as per written agreement with the Airport Manager. 

 
Section 7.4 Condemnation 
A. If all the Premises, or any part thereof required for the reasonable use of the Premises, is 

taken by eminent domain, this Lease shall expire on the date when the Lessee is required 
to vacate the Premises, and the rent shall be apportioned as of that date. 

B. If there is a taking of a part of the Premises not required for the reasonable use of the 
Premises, then this Lease shall continue in full force and effect and the rent shall be 
equitably reduced, based on the proportion by which the Premises is reduce, such rent 
reduction to be effective as of the date possession of such portion is delivered to the 
condemning authority. 

C. Except for improvements constructed and paid for by Lessee, Lessor reserves all rights to 
damages to the Premises for any taking by eminent domain and Lessee hereby assigns to 
Lessor any right Lessee may have to such damages or award.  

D. Lessee shall make no claim against Lessor for damages for termination of the leasehold 
interest or interference with Lessee’s business. Lessee shall have the right, however, to 
claim and recover from the condemning authority compensation for any loss to which 
Lessee may be put for Lessee’s moving expenses and for the interruption of or damages 
to Lessee’s business, provided that such damages may be claimed only if they are awarded 
separately in the eminent domain proceeding and not as part of the damages recoverable 
by Lessor. 
 

Section 7.5 Surrender of Premises 
At the expiration of any Lease term, upon termination of this Lease, upon reentry by Lessor or 
otherwise, the Lessee shall peacefully and quietly surrender the Premises in as good a condition 
as it was at the beginning of the initial term, reasonable use and wear and damages by the 
elements excepted. 
 
Section 7.6 Reversion or Removal of Buildings and Improvements 
A. Any and all buildings, structures, alterations or improvements placed by the Lessee upon 

the Premises shall, at the option of the Lessor, revert to and become the property of the 
Lessor at and upon the expiration or termination of this Lease and/or the termination of 
Lessee’s right to possession of the Premises.  

B. Lessor, in its sole discretion, may require Lessee to remove part or all of said buildings, 
structures, alterations and/or improvements including, but not limited to, fuel tanks and 
lines, and partially or completely restore the Premises to the condition of the Premises at 
the inception of this Lease by sending written notice requesting such removal and 
restoration within sixty (60) days after such expiration or termination.  

Page 143 of 478



 
 

26 
 

C. Lessee shall then at its own expense complete such removal and restoration within ninety 
(90) days of the sending of such notice. 

 
D. At the conclusion of the current lease and extension period(s) the existing Lessee shall be 

given preference in executing a new lease on the same premises, provided that the 
proposed land use is compatible with the current Airport Layout Plan and the Lessee is 
otherwise in good standing with the City of Palmer and in substantial compliance with the 
existing lease.  

E. Section(s) 7.5 and 7.6 do not necessarily preclude a lessee from recovering value from 
Lessee’s leasehold improvements by selling to a third party at any time during the lease 
term, provided that all other conditions of the active lease have been met. At such time, 
the buying third party would request a new lease or an assignment of the existing lease, 
and such request would not be reasonably withheld.     

 
Section 7.7 Holdover 
A. In the event the Lessee shall hold over after the expiration or termination of this Lease 

for any cause whatsoever, Lessee shall pay Lessor monthly rent at double the annual 
rental rate divided by twelve for the entire time Lessee remains in possession, and in 
addition thereto, Lessee shall hold Lessor harmless from all damages resulting from 
Lessee’s failure to surrender the Premises, including, without limitation, claims made by a 
succeeding tenant resulting from Lessee’s failure to surrender the Premises. 

B. If Lessee remains in possession of the Premises after expiration of the term of the Lease, 
or after the date in any notice given by Lessor to Lease termination this Lease, such 
possession by Lessee shall be deemed to be a month-to-moth tenancy terminable on thirty 
(30) days’ notice given at any time by either party.  

C. The provisions of this section do not exclude Lessor’s rights of re-entry or any other right 
under this Lease. 

 
Section 7.8 Notices 
Any notices required to be sent in accordance with the terms of this Lease, including legal process, 
shall be sent in writing by registered or certified mail, to the parties at the following addresses 
unless otherwise notified in writing and deemed to be received when so sent: 
 
Lessor’s address: City Manager 
   City of Palmer 
   231W. Evergreen Ave., Palmer, AK 99645 
 
Lessee’s address: N A Holdings, LLC 
   820 E. Aircraft Rd. Suite 200, Palmer, AK. 99645 
 
Section 7.9 Rights or Remedies 
No right or remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to Lessor is intended to be exclusive or 
any other right or remedy, but is intended to be in addition to any right or remedy given 
hereunder, or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. 
 
Section 7.10 Successors in Interest 
This Lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective heirs, successors and 
assigns of the parties hereto. 
 

Page 144 of 478



 
 

27 
 

Section 7.11 Applicable Law and Forum 
This Lease and the respective rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and 
interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Alaska. Any civil action concerning this 
Lease shall be brought in Alaska District or Superior Court in Palmer, Alaska, only. 
 
Section 7.12 Recordation of Lease 
The parties prefer to record a memorandum of this Lease rather than the Lease itself and 
contemporaneously with the execution hereof they have executed a memorandum of Lease in 
the form of “Attachment A” which is attached hereto and may be recorded by either party. In the 
event it should be so require by any title company insuring title for Lessee, or by any lending 
institution from which Lessee proposed to make a loan, then Lessee may cause this Lease to be 
placed of record. 
 
Section 7.13 Severability 
The invalidity or unenforceability of any particular provision of this Lease shall not affect any 
remaining provisions hereof, and, in any such event this Lease shall be construed and interpreted 
in all respects as if such invalid or unenforceable provision were omitted. 
 
Section 7.14 Construction 
Lessee and Guarantor have been advised to have this Lease and the Guaranty reviewed by their 
own attorney. The parties agree that this Lease and Guaranty shall not be construed more strictly 
against one party than the other nor shall this lease be construed against the lessor. 
 
7.15 Gender and Plurality 
Unless the context of this Lease clearly requires a different interpretation of construction, all 
references to masculine, feminine or neuter genders shall be construed to refer to all such 
genders; and all references to the singular shall also include the plural, and vice versa. 
 
Section 7.16 Joint and Several Liability 
The obligations of each Lessee are joint and several. 
 
Section 7.17 Entire Agreement 
This written Lease constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the 
subject matter hereof and supersedes all other prior or contemporaneous agreements, oral or 
written, between the parties not included herein. No modifications, amendments, deletions, 
additions or alterations of this Lease shall be effective unless in writing and signed by all of the 
parties hereto or such representatives of the parties as have been duly authorized to make such 
change. 
 
 
LESSOR: CITY OF PALMER 
 
 
By: ____________________________ 
      Nathan E. Wallace, City Manager   Date: ____________________________ 
 
 
 
 

Page 145 of 478



 
 

28 
 

LESSEE:  N A HOLDINGS, LLC 
 
 
By: __________________________    
      Jeff Helmericks, Managing Member  Date: __________________________ 
  
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 THIS IS TO CERTIFY that on the ______day of _______________, 2017, before me the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, duly commissioned and sworn, 
personally appeared, to me known and known to me to be the identical individual described in 
and who executed the within and foregoing LEASE AGREEMENT as City Manager of the City of 
Palmer, freely and voluntarily on behalf of the City of Palmer for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned. 
 
GIVEN UNDER MY HAND and official seal the day and year last above written. 
 
_____________________ 
Notary Public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ____________ 
 
 
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the ______ day of _______________, 2017, before me, the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, Jeff Helmericks, 
Managing Member of the limited liability company named in the forgoing instruments, 
acknowledged to me that he/she had, in his/her official capacity is authorized by the limited 
liability company to execute the foregoing instruments as the free act and deed of the said limited 
liability company for the uses and purposes therein stated. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
________________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 
 

Page 146 of 478



 
 

29 
 

GUARANTY 
 
In consideration of Lessor leasing the Premises to Lessee, the undersigned, jointly and severally, 
hereby guarantee the punctual payment of rent, additional rent, and all other charges imposed 
by the Lease, and the timely performance by Lessee of all duties imposed on Lessee by the Lease. 
 
 
Guarantor(s): 
 
 
________________________   Date: _____________________________ 
Jeff Helmericks, individually,     
 
 
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the _____ day of ___________, 2017, before me, the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, Jeff Helmericks, 
known to me to be the person named in the foregoing instruments, acknowledged to me that 
he/she had executed the same for the uses and purposes therein stated. 
 
 WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
 
___________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ___________ 
 

 
 

Page 147 of 478



 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

“Return To” 
City of Palmer 

231 West Evergreen Avenue 
Palmer, AK 99645 

907-745-3271 
 

“ATTACHMENT A” 
PALMER MUNICIPAL AIPORT 

MEMORANDUM OF LEASE AGREEMENT No. 17-005 
 
 

This is a Memorandum of Lease Agreement No. 17-005 and is made and entered into as of this 
__________ day of __________, 2017, by and between the City of Palmer, a municipal 
corporation organized and existing under its charter and the laws of the State of Alaska, 
hereinafter referred to as the “Lessor”, and N A Holdings, LLC hereinafter referred to as the 
“Lessee”. Agree upon the following terms: 
 

1. Lease. The provisions set forth in a written Lease Agreement No. 17-005 between the parties 
hereto dated the _______ day of _____________ 2017, are hereby incorporated by reference 
into this Memorandum. 

2. Demised Premises. The Demised Premises, which are the subject of The Lease Agreement 
No. 17-005, are more particularly described as follows:  

A parcel of land located in Tract B, Palmer Municipal Airport, Plat No. 2006-15,  Section 4, 
Township 17 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian, Palmer Recording District, Third Judicial 
District, State of Alaska, and more particularly described in an unrecorded plat dated June 27, 
2005 as follows: 

Palmer Municipal Airport, Block 3, Lot 30 

Containing   1.38 acres or 60,000 Square Feet, more or less, as shown on the drawing: 

 “Exhibit A”, attached hereto; 

Parcel may be subject to additional easements and/or encumbrances not shown or depicted 
hereon. 
 
3. Commencement Date of Lease.  The Lease Agreement shall be deemed to have commenced 
on 1st of July, 2017 as set forth within the terms of the Lease. The Term of the Lease Agreement 
shall be 20 years from the Commencement Date as stated in the written Lease. The term shall 

Page 148 of 478



 

2 
 

commence on the date hereof and terminate on June 31, 2037. Provided Lessee fully and 
faithfully performs all of the covenants and conditions contained herein for the term of the Lease, 
Lessor may approve an additional period of 15 years at the expiration of this Lease so that the 
total number of years available to Lessee is 35 years. As with the initial term at the start of and 
continuing through the renewal period.  

4. Duplicate Copies of the originals of the Lease Agreement are in the possession of the Lessor 
and Lessee and reference should be made thereto for a more detailed description thereof and for 
resolution of any questions pertaining thereto. 

5. Notices.  Any notices required to be sent in accordance with the terms of this Lease Agreement 
No. 17-005, including legal process, shall be sent in writing by registered or certified mail, to the 
parties at the following addresses unless otherwise notified in writing and deemed to be received 
when so sent: 

Lessor’s address: City Manager 
   City of Palmer 
   231W. Evergreen Ave., Palmer, AK 99645 
 
Lessee’s address: N A Holdings, LLC 
   820 E. Aircraft Rd. Suite 200, Palmer, AK. 99645 
 
6. Purpose.  It is expressly understood and agreed by all parties that the sole purpose of this 
Memorandum of Lease is to give record notice of the Lease Agreement No. 17-005; it being 
distinctly understood and agreed that said Lease Agreement  No. 17-005 constitutes the entire 
lease and agreement between Lessor and the Lessee with respect to the Demised Premises and 
is hereby incorporated by reference. The Lease Agreement No. 17-005 contains and sets forth 
additional rights, terms, conditions, duties, and obligations not enumerated within this instrument 
which govern the Lease. This Memorandum is for information purposes only and nothing 
contained herein may be deemed in any way to modify or vary any of the terms or conditions of 
the Lease Agreement No. 17-005. In the event of any inconsistency between the terms of the 
Lease Agreement No. 17-005 and this instrument, the terms of the Lease Agreement No. 17-005, 
shall control. The rights and obligations set forth herein shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, representatives, successors, and assigns. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Memorandum of  Lease pursuant 
to due authorization on the dates herein acknowledged. 

LESSOR: CITY OF PALMER 
 
 
By: ________________________ 
      Nathan E. Wallace, City Manager   Date: ______________________ 
 
 
LESSEE:  N A HOLDINGS, LLC 
 
 
By: __________________________    
      Jeff Helmericks, Managing Member  Date: _______________________ 
 

Page 149 of 478



 

3 
 

NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 THIS IS TO CERTIFY that on the ______day of May, 2017, before me the undersigned, a 
Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared, 
Nathan E. Wallace, to me known and known to me to be the identical individual described in and 
who executed the within and foregoing Memorandum of Lease, as City Manager of the City of 
Palmer, freely and voluntarily on behalf of the City of Palmer for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
 
_____________________ 
Notary Public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ____________ 
 
 
 
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the ______ day of _______________, 2017, before me, the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, Jeff Helmericks, 
Managing Member of the limited liability company named in the forgoing instruments, 
acknowledged to me that he/she had, in his/her official capacity is authorized by the limited 
liability company to execute the foregoing instruments as the free act and deed of the said limited 
liability company for the uses and purposes therein stated. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
________________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 150 of 478



Page 151 of 478



Page 152 of 478



Page 153 of 478



Page 154 of 478



Page 155 of 478



Page 156 of 478



Page 157 of 478



Page 158 of 478



Page 159 of 478



Page 160 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-050 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Action Memorandum No. 17-050 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute an Assignment and Consent to 
Assignment Agreement with Jeff Helmericks and Northern Aviation, LLC, for the PMA Lease No. 92-1 on 
Block 3, Lease Lot 29, Palmer Municipal Airport for the Purpose of Transferring the Lease from Mr. 
Helmericks to His Actual Operating Entity 
 
Agenda of: June 27, 2017 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Denied 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Frank J. Kelly, Airport Superintendent 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 

  Community Development    

  Finance 
 

 6/1/17 

  Fire    

  Police     

  Public Works     

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 

 

 

City Attorney   

City Clerk   
 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 3,374.41 
 

This legislation (√): 
X Creates revenue in the amount of: $ $3,374.41 
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
X Budgeted Line item(s): 03-00-00-3431  Airport Land Leases 
X Not budgeted  03-00-00-3431  Airport Land Leases (Increase $259.57) 
 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 161 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-050 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
 Assignment & Consent of Assignment of Lease Agreement 92-1 (Exhibit A) 
 Draft Memorandum of Lease Agreement 92-1 
 Identity Documents 
 Original Lease Agreement, Amendments 1 & 2, and Associated Documents  

 
Summary Statement:   
 
Mr. Helmericks has requested the City of Palmer consent to the transfer of his PMA Lease No. 92-1 from 
him individually to his actual operating entity, Northern Aviation, LLC.  The request has apparently been 
made previously, but due to the turnover in City Administration the process has not been acted upon until 
now.  Mr. Helmericks was assigned this lease on September 26, 2001 with a retro-active renewal granted 
on November 4, 2014.  The actual lease is now set to expire on June 30 2032. 
 
In granting this consent, this City will amend the leasing document a third time to incorporate up to date 
lease language, a rental rate increase from $0.06 to $0.065 cents per square foot and actual conduct 
business with the operating entity.  Mr. Helmericks will also personally guarantee the consigned lease to 
Northern Aviation, LLC.     
    
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
To approve Action Memorandum No. 17-050 for approval to execute an Assignment and Consent to 
Assignment Agreement with Jeff Helmericks and Northern Aviation, LLC. 

Page 162 of 478



 
City of Palmer ● Palmer Municipal Airport 
231 W. Evergreen Avenue ● Palmer, AK 99645 

Phone: 907-745-3271     Fax: 907-745-0930 
 
 

ASSIGNMENT AND CONSENT TO ASSIGNMENT  
 
In consideration of and in reliance upon the above assumption and promises contained in 
this instrument, the City of Palmer hereby consents to the foregoing Assignment of Lease 
Agreement PMA 92-1 on, Lot 29, Block 3, Plat for the Palmer Municipal Airport, Palmer 
Recording District, Third Judicial District, State of Alaska between Jeff Helmericks, 
(“Assignor”) to Northern Aviation, LLC, (“Assignee”).  
 
Current Palmer Municipal Airport Lease No. 92-1 (The Airport Lease) is in Effect. Except 
as otherwise expressly stated herein, nothing in this Assignment and Consent to 
Assignment of PMA Lease No. 92-1 is intended to amend or alter any of the terms and 
conditions of the Airport Lease or any amendments thereto previously executed by Lessor 
and Lessee. All terms and conditions remain in full force and effect.  
 
Amendment No. 3 
 
Paragraph 2 and 3 on page 1 of Lease 92-1 dated May 7, 1992 is amended to read 
as follows: 
 
Premises and Purpose 
A. Lessor does hereby lease, demise and let unto Lessee, and Lessee does hereby 

lease from Lessor, real property more particularly described as a parcel of land 
located within Tract B, Palmer Municipal Airport recorded as Plat No. 2006-15 in 
the Palmer Recording District, Third Judicial District, State of Alaska and further 
described in an unrecorded plat dated June 27, 2005 as follows: 

 
Palmer Municipal Airport, Block 3, Lease Lot 29 
Containing 1.192 acres or 51,914 square feet, more or less  
See “Exhibit A” 

 
Paragraph 5 on page 1, is amended to read as follows: 
 
The rental specified is herein calculated at the rate of $0.065 (six and one half cents) per 
square foot per year (51,914 square foot at $0.065 or $3,374.41). 
 
General Covenant 4, paragraph 1 on page 2 is amended with additional language 
to read as follows: 
 
Annually, on or before July 1st of each year, beginning on July 1, 2017, Lessee will provide 
Lessor with an up to date listing of hangar unit occupants.  Annual list will include, but 
not be limited to the following: 

1. Hangar Unit No. 
2. Occupant Name 
3. Mailing Address and contact phone number 

Page 163 of 478



 
Any current sublet or rental agreements not previously approved in writing by Lessor shall 
be requested in writing within fifteen (15) days of signing this agreement and provide a 
copy of the proposed sublet or rental agreement.  Fifteen (15) days prior to any future 
sublet or rental agreement, Lessee shall request in writing the consent of Lessor of said 
agreement and with such a request, provide a copy of the proposed sublet or rental 
agreement.    
 
Palmer Municipal Airport Hangar use policy dated June 1, 2017 and any further updates, 
additions and deletions shall be distributed to sublet or rental agreement tenants of Lessee 
and be incorporated into this agreement and a condition of any sublet or rental 
agreements of said premises.  (See attached “Hangar Use Policy” dated June 1, 2017)        
 
General Covenant 9, paragraph 1 and 2 on page 5 is amended to read as follows: 
 
9. Rent Adjustment 
A. It is the intent of the parties that the Palmer Municipal Airport be a self-sustaining 

facility and operate without any support from the general fund of the Lessor. 
B. The rent shall be subject to adjustment at five (5) year intervals to achieve fair 

market rent, the first adjustment date is five (5) years following the first annual 
payment. The rent shall be adjusted as follows: 
1. Six (6) months prior to the termination of the initial five (5) year period 

and any subsequent five (5) year period, Lessor shall propose the rent for 
the next five (5) year period of the lease term and the parties hereto may, 
by mutual agreement, set the rent for the five (5) year period.  The basis 
of the initial proposed new rent for the next five (5) year term will be the 
accumulated increase or decrease in the Consumer Price Index for All 
Urban Consumers (CPI-U): Selected areas, semiannual averages, all items 
index for the Anchorage, AK. Local area, based upon 2015 as a base year, 
as well as the comparative leasing rate of similar airports in the Alaskan 
market place.  
a. If an agreement is not reached ninety (90) days prior to the end of 

the current five (5) year period, the fair market rental value of the 
premises shall be determined by an appraiser selected by the lessor 
who shall (a) be a member of The American Institute of Real Estate 
Appraisers, and (b) have experiencing in appraising properties 
similar to the premises. (The “Qualified Appraiser”). The cost of the 
initial appraisal shall be born equally between Lessor and Lessee.  
If either the Lessor or Lessee or both shall disapprove of the fair 
market rental of the premises as thus determined, the dissatisfied 
party(s) may then designate another Qualified Appraiser who shall 
conduct a second (or additional) independent appraisal(s) of the 
premises and the fair market rental of the premises shall be 
determined to be the average of the two appraisals.  The cost of 
the additional appraisal shall be borne by the dissatisfied party.  In 
the event that both the Lessor and the Lessee are both dissatisfied 
with the original appraisal than the cost of, the second appraisal 
shall be borne equally between the Lessor and Lessee.    

2. Lessor’s failure to timely start this rent adjustment procedure does not 
affect the rent adjustment, other than that the rent shall not be adjusted 
for the period before Lessor starts the procedure for each five-year period.  

Page 164 of 478



 
a. If, for example, Lessor starts the rent-adjustment procedure for the 

first time on the first day of the seventh year of the lease term, 
then the rent shall remain unchanged for the previous six years.  

b. Any adjustment in Section 1.4 would start as of the first day of the 
seventh year and remain in effect through year ten when Lessor 
could again start the rent-adjustment procedure. 

C. During the pendency of any determination of fair market rent, Lessee shall pay 
the rent last in effect for the Premises until such determination has been made. 
Any deficiency between the rent so paid and the adjusted rent retroactive to the 
beginning of the period for which it is due shall be paid within thirty (30) days of 
being billed to Lessee with interest from the original due date of such rent at the 
highest rate allowed by law for debts under $25,000 or twelve percent (12%) per 
annum, whichever rate is lower. 

  
Notices 
Any notices required to be sent in accordance with the terms of this Lease, including legal 
process, shall be sent in writing by registered or certified mail, to the parties at the 
following addresses unless otherwise notified in writing and deemed to be received when 
so sent: 
 
Lessor’s address: City Manager 
   City of Palmer 
   231W. Evergreen Ave., Palmer, AK 99645 
 
Lessee’s address: Northern Aviation, LLC 
   820 E. Aircraft Rd. Suit # 200, Palmer, AK. 99645 
 
This Assignment and Consent to Assignment of lease will not release the Assignor from 
obligations under the Airport Lease should the new Lessee default. In the event of the 
default of the Assignee, the lease agreement shall revert to the Assignor. 
 
 
LESSOR: CITY OF PALMER 
 
 
By: ___________________________ 
     Nathan E. Wallace, City Manager   Date: _________________________ 
 
 
ASSIGNOR:  JEFF HELMERICKS 
 
 
By: __________________________    
     Jeff Helmericks     Date: _________________________ 
 
 
ASSIGNEE (LESSEE):  NORTHERN AVIATION, LLC 
 
 
By: __________________________    
     Jeff Helmericks, Managing Member  Date: _________________________ 
NOTARY 

Page 165 of 478



 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 THIS IS TO CERTIFY that on the ______day of ______________, 2017, before 
me the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, duly commissioned 
and sworn, personally appeared, Nathan E. Wallace, known to me to be the identical 
individual described in and who executed the within and foregoing Assignment and 
Consent to Assignment as City Manager of the City of Palmer, freely and voluntarily on 
behalf of the City of Palmer for the uses and purposes therein mentioned. 
 
GIVEN UNDER MY HAND and official seal the day and year last above written. 
 
_____________________ 
Notary Public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ____________ 
 
  
 
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the ______ day of ______________, 2017, before me, 
the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, Jeff 
Helmericks, Managing Member of the limited liability company named in the forgoing 
instruments, acknowledged to me that he/she had, in his/her official capacity is authorized 
by the limited liability company to execute the foregoing instruments as the free act and 
deed of the said limited liability company for the uses and purposes therein stated. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
________________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GUARANTY 

Page 166 of 478



 
 
In consideration of Lessor leasing and consenting to the assignment of lease of the 
Premises to Lessee, the undersigned, jointly and severally, hereby guarantee the punctual 
payment of rent, additional rent, and all other charges imposed by the Lease, and the 
timely performance by Lessee of all duties imposed on Lessee by the Lease. 
 
 
GUARANTOR(s): 
 
 
By: ________________________   
      Jeff Helmericks, individually   Date: _____________________  
 
 
 
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the _____ day of _______________, 2017, before me, 
the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, Jeff 
Helmericks, known to me to be the person named in the foregoing instruments, 
acknowledged to me that he/she had executed the same for the uses and purposes therein 
stated. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
 
___________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ___________ 

Page 167 of 478



 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Return to: 
City of Palmer 

231 West Evergreen Avenue 
Palmer, AK 99645 

907-745-3271 
 

PALMER MUNICIPAL AIPORT 
MEMORANDUM OF LEASE AGREEMENT No. 92-1 

“UNRECORDED” 
 
 

This is a Memorandum of Lease Agreement No. 92-1 and is made and entered into as of this 
__________ day of _____________, 2017, by and between the City of Palmer, a municipal 
corporation organized and existing under its charter and the laws of the State of Alaska, 
hereinafter referred to as the “Lessor”, and Northern Aviation, LLC hereinafter referred to as the 
“Lessee”. Agree upon the following terms: 
 

1. Lease. The provisions set forth in a written Lease Agreement No. 92-1 between the parties 
hereto dated the 7th day of May 1992, Amended the 22nd of October 1992, Assigned the 26th of 
September 2001, Amended the 4th day of November 2014 and Assigned the _________ day of 
_______________, 2017, are hereby incorporated by reference into this Memorandum. 

2. Demised Premises. The Demised Premises, which are the subject of The Lease Agreement 
No. 92-1, are more particularly described as follows:  

A parcel of land located in Tract B, Palmer Municipal Airport, Plat No. 2006-15,  Section 4, 
Township 17 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian, Palmer Recording District, Third Judicial 
District, State of Alaska, and more particularly described in an unrecorded plat dated June 27, 
2005 as follows: 

Palmer Municipal Airport, Block 3, Lot 29 

Containing   1.192 acres or 51,914 Square Feet, more or less, as shown on the drawing: 

 “Exhibit A”, attached hereto; 

3. Commencement Date of Lease.  The Lease Agreement shall be deemed to have commenced 
on May 7, 1992 as set forth within the terms of the Lease. The Lease Agreement was extended 
20 years on November 4th 2014 from the expiration date as stated in the written Lease. The term 
shall commenced on the date referenced above and terminate on June 30, 2032. The total 
number of years remaining to Lessee is 15 years.   

Page 168 of 478



 

2 
 

4. Duplicate Copies of the originals of the Lease Agreement are in the possession of the Lessor 
and Lessee and reference should be made thereto for a more detailed description thereof and for 
resolution of any questions pertaining thereto. 

5. Notices.  Any notices required to be sent in accordance with the terms of this Lease Agreement 
No. 92-1, including legal process, shall be sent in writing by registered or certified mail, to the 
parties at the following addresses unless otherwise notified in writing and deemed to be received 
when so sent: 

Lessor’s address: City Manager 
   City of Palmer 
   231W. Evergreen Ave., Palmer, AK 99645 
 
Lessee’s address: Northern Aviation, LLC 
   820 E. Aircraft Rd., Palmer, AK. 99645 
 
6. Purpose.  It is expressly understood and agreed by all parties that the sole purpose of this 
Memorandum of Lease is to give record notice of the Lease Agreement No. 92-1; it being distinctly 
understood and agreed that said Lease Agreement  No. 92-1, amendments and assignments 
constitute the entire lease and agreement between Lessor and the Lessee with respect to the 
Demised Premises and is hereby incorporated by reference. The Lease Agreement No. 92-1 
contains and sets forth additional rights, terms, conditions, duties, and obligations not enumerated 
within this instrument which govern the Lease. This Memorandum is for information purposes only 
and nothing contained herein may be deemed in any way to modify or vary any of the terms or 
conditions of the Lease Agreement No. 92-1. In the event of any inconsistency between the terms 
of the Lease Agreement No. 92-1 and this instrument, the terms of the Lease Agreement No. 92-
1, shall control. The rights and obligations set forth herein shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, representatives, successors, and assigns. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Memorandum of  Lease pursuant 
to due authorization on the dates herein acknowledged. 

 
LESSOR: CITY OF PALMER 
 
 
By: ____________________________ 
      Nathan E. Wallace, City Manager   Date: ______________________ 
 
 
 
LESSEE: NORTHERN AVIATION, LLC 
 
 
By: _____________________________         
      Jeff Helmericks, Managing Member  Date: ________________________    
 
 
 
 
 

Page 169 of 478



 

3 
 

 
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 THIS IS TO CERTIFY that on the ______day of _______________, 2017, before me the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, duly commissioned and sworn, 
personally appeared, Nathan E. Wallace, to me known and known to me to be the identical 
individual described in and who executed the within and foregoing Memorandum of Lease, as 
City Manager of the City of Palmer, freely and voluntarily on behalf of the City of Palmer for the 
uses and purposes therein mentioned. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
 
_____________________ 
Notary Public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ____________ 
 
 
 
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the ______ day of _______________, 2017, before me, the 
undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, Jeff Helmericks, 
Managing Member of the limited liability company named in the forgoing instruments, 
acknowledged to me that he/she had, in his/her official capacity is authorized by the limited 
liability company to execute the foregoing instruments as the free act and deed of the said limited 
liability company for the uses and purposes therein stated. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
 
_______________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 170 of 478



Page 171 of 478



Page 172 of 478



Page 173 of 478



Page 174 of 478



Page 175 of 478



Page 176 of 478



Page 177 of 478



Page 178 of 478



Page 179 of 478



Page 180 of 478



Page 181 of 478



Page 182 of 478



Page 183 of 478



Page 184 of 478



Page 185 of 478



Page 186 of 478



Page 187 of 478



Page 188 of 478



Page 189 of 478



Page 190 of 478



Page 191 of 478



Page 192 of 478



Page 193 of 478



Page 194 of 478



Page 195 of 478



Page 196 of 478



Page 197 of 478



Page 198 of 478



Page 199 of 478



Page 200 of 478



Page 201 of 478



Page 202 of 478



Page 203 of 478



Page 204 of 478



Page 205 of 478



Page 206 of 478



Page 207 of 478



Page 208 of 478



Page 209 of 478



Page 210 of 478



Page 211 of 478



Page 212 of 478



Page 213 of 478



 

Page 214 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-051 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Action Memorandum No. 17-051 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute a New Lease Agreement with the 
Federal Aviation Administration, for their Palmer Flight Service Station Operations at the Randy Thom 
Flight Service Center Building Located at 901 E. Yukon Street 
 
Agenda of: June 27, 2017 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Denied 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Frank J. Kelly, Airport Superintendent 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 

  Community Development    

X  Finance  

 6/09/17 

  Fire    

  Police     

  Public Works     

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 

 

 

City Attorney   

City Clerk   
 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 3,810.40 
 

This legislation (√): 
X Creates revenue in the amount of: $ $3,810.40 
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
X Budgeted Line item(s): 03-00-00-3431   Airport Land Leases 
X Not budgeted  03-00-00-3431   Airport Land Leases (Increase $2,210.40) 
 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 215 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-051 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
 Draft Lease Agreement DTFAWN 17-L-00065  
 Clauses Incorporated by Reference 

 
Summary Statement:   
 
After approximately six months of negotiations with the FAA over leasing arrangements for the next 10 
years with a 10-year extension for the lease space for the Palmer Flight Service Station operations, the 
FAA has substantially agreed to the City of Palmer’s “As Is, Where Is” leasing terms.    
 
This new lease will allow the City to move forward on the planned remodel and heating system upgrades 
and the FAA has agreed to pay for the cost of Asbestos abatement in the leased space area for the FSS, 
thus saving the COP tens of thousands of dollars.  This is technically a zero income lease, with the FAA 
paying for the City of Palmer’s expenses on (insurance, maintenance, snow removal, building upkeep and 
now heat).  Under the new terms and conditions, the City will be supplying heat for the FSS once the new 
boiler and hot water base board system is installed (otherwise the City would have the expense of installing 
two separate systems).  The previous agreement called for the FAA to reimburse the City $1,600.00 
annually, a figure which had not changed since 1982.   
      
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
To approve Action Memorandum No. 17-051 Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute a 
New Lease Agreement with the FAA for the Palmer Flight Service Station operations at 901 E. Yukon St. 
in the Randy Thom Flight Service Center Building. 

Page 216 of 478



2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 1  

 

 

 

SMALL SPACE LEASE 

 

Between 

 

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION 

  

And 

 

CITY OF PALMER 

 
DTFAWN-17-L-00065 

PAQ, Flight Service Station (FSS) 

Palmer, Alaska 

 

This lease is entered into by and between the City of Palmer, whose address is 231 W. Evergreen 
Avenue, Palmer, Alaska 99645 and interest in the property hereinafter described is Owner, 
hereby referred to as Lessor, and the United States of America, hereinafter referred to as the 
Government or FAA.  

WITNESSETH: The Parties hereto, and for the consideration hereinafter mentioned, covenant 
and agree as follows: 

1. Terms 

1.1. DESCRIPTION - The Lessor hereby leases to the Government the following described 
premises, including parking and land adjacent to described premises to operate and 
maintain two freestanding communication antenna support towers (one 60’foot and 
one 40’ foot) with associated power cable facilities or otherwise known as Limited 
Remote Communication Outlet (LRCO) antennas. 

1,732 square feet of building space, 901 E. Yukon St., Palmer, AK  99645 

Three (3) parking spaces, with head bolt heaters within 500 feet of the building. 

(LRCO) antenna sites on the west side of 901 E. Yukon St. Building 

The Lessor shall provide reserved off-street parking spaces at no additional cost to the 
Government. Compliant accessible parking spaces shall be provided in accordance with 
the requirements of the Architectural Barriers Act Accessibility Standards (ABAAS) 42 
U.S.C 4151 and as set forth in the ABAAS scoping table. The Lessor shall maintain the 

Page 217 of 478



Lease No. DTFAWN-17-L-00065 
PAQ, Flight Service Station 

Palmer, Alaska 
 

2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 2  

parking areas in good repair and provide snow and ice removal, as well as the removal 
of any obstruction that limits FAA access to its designated spaces 

1.2. LEASE TERM (08/02) - To have and to hold, for the term commencing on October 1, 
2017 and continuing through September 30, 2027 inclusive, PROVIDED, that 
adequate appropriations are available from year to year for the payment of rentals. 

1.2.1. OPTION(S) TO EXTEND TERM (7/07) - The lease may, at the option of the 
Government, be extended beyond September 30, 2027 at the rental rate 
established in Lease Term clause herein and upon the terms and conditions 
herein specified and no extension shall extend beyond September 30, 2037.  The 
Government shall notify the lessor no later than ninety (90) days before the 
expiration of the lease term, of its intent to exercise the option(s) or of its intent 
to vacate the premises at the end of the lease term.  Any extension exercised by 
the Government pursuant to this clause shall be subject to the availability of 
adequate appropriations from year to year for the payment of rentals.  

1.3. CANCELLATION (8/02) - The Government may terminate this lease at any time, in 
whole or in part, if the Real Estate Contracting Officer (RECO) determines that a 
termination is in the best interest of the Government, on or after November 1, 2017 by 
giving at least thirty days’ notice in writing to the Lessor. No rental will accrue after 
the effective date of termination. Said notice will be computed commencing with the 
day after the date of mailing. 

1.4. RENTAL – The Government shall pay no monetary consideration in the form of 
rental, it being mutually agreed that the rights to the Government herein are in 
consideration of the obligations assumed by the Government in its establishment and 
operation of the facilities upon the premises hereby leased.  

The Government shall pay the Lessor for operational and service costs in the amount of 
$3,810.40 at the rate of $1,905.20 semiannually in arrears.  Costs for the Lesser shall be 
prorated.  The service payments are due on the first business day following the end of 
the payment period. Checks will be made payable to: City of Palmer.  

At the request of either party, the operational and service costs furnished hereunder, 
excluding bare rent, shall be reviewed annually prior to the beginning of each fiscal year 
(October 1).  The annual operational and service cost is $2.20 per square foot for snow 
removal, insurance and heat. 

 Rent per SF Rent per Annum 

Base Rent $0.00 $0.00 

Operational & 
Service Costs 

$2.20 $3,810.40 

Total $2.20 $3,810.40 

Page 218 of 478



Lease No. DTFAWN-17-L-00065 
PAQ, Flight Service Station 

Palmer, Alaska 
 

2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 3  

1.5. HOLDOVER - If after the expiration of the lease, the Government shall retain 
possession of the premises, the lease shall continue in force and effect on a month-to-
month basis.  Operational and Service Costs shall be paid in accordance with the terms 
of the lease, in arrears on a prorated base, at the rate paid during the lease term.  This 
period shall continue until the Government shall have signed a new lease with the 
Lessor, acquired the property in fee, or vacated the premises. 

1.6. LESSOR’S SUCCESSORS (10/96) - The terms and provisions of this lease and the 
conditions herein bind the Lessor and the Lessor's heirs, executors, administrators, 
successors, and assigns.  

2. GENERAL CLAUSES 

2.1. ACCESSIBILITY - The Building and the leased premises shall be accessible to 
persons with disabilities pursuant to the Architectural Barriers Act and Rehabilitation 
Act as detailed in the Architectural Barriers Act Accessibility Standards (ABAAS) 41 
CFR Parts 102-71, 102-72, et al, and all applicable state and local accessibility laws 
and regulations.  The Government, at its sole expense, shall provide for any 
modifications or changes needed to comply with said act and shall receive the 
concurrence of the Lessor prior to any changes or modifications. ABAAS is available 
at www.access-board.gov.  

2.2. CONTRACT DISPUTES (11/03) - All contract disputes and arising under or related to 
this lease contract will be resolved through the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) 
dispute resolution system at the Office of Dispute Resolution for Acquisition (ODRA) 
and will be governed by the procedures set forth in 14 C.F.R. Parts 14 and 17, which 
are hereby incorporated by reference. Judicial review, where available, will be in 
accordance with 49 U.S.C. 46110 and will apply only to final agency decisions. A 
Lessor may seek review of a final FAA decision only after its administrative remedies 
have been exhausted. 

All Contract Disputes will be in writing and will be filed at the following address: 

Office of Dispute Resolution for Acquisition, AGC-70 
Federal Aviation Administration 
800 Independence Avenue SW, Room 323 
Washington, DC 20591 
Telephone: (202) 267-3290 
Facsimile: (202) 267-3720 

A contract dispute against the FAA will be filed with the ODRA within two (2) years of 
the accrual of the lease contract claim involved. A contract dispute is considered to be 
filed on the date it is received by the ODRA. 

The full text of the Contract Disputes clause is incorporated by reference. Upon request 
the full text will be provided by the RECO. 

Page 219 of 478

http://www.access-board.gov/


Lease No. DTFAWN-17-L-00065 
PAQ, Flight Service Station 

Palmer, Alaska 
 

2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 4  

2.3. MAINTENANCE OF THE PREMISES (10/96) - The Lessor will maintain the 
demised premises, including the building, grounds, and all equipment, fixtures, and 
appurtenances furnished by the Lessor under this lease, in good repair and tenantable 
condition. 

2.4. FAILURE IN PERFORMANCE - In the event the Lessor fails to perform any service, 
to provide any item, or meet any requirement of this lease, the Government may with 
the approval of Lessor, perform the service, provide the item, or meet the requirement, 
either directly or through a contract. The Government may deduct any costs incurred 
for the service or item, including administrative costs, from the operational and service 
payments. No deduction of operational and service costs pursuant to this clause will 
constitute default by the Government on this lease.   

2.5. NO WAIVER (10/96) - No failure by the Government to insist upon strict 
performance of any provision of this lease, or failure to exercise any right, or remedy 
consequent to a breach thereof, will constitute a waiver of any such breach in the 
future. 

2.6. NON-RESTORATION (10/96) - The FAA will have no obligation to restore and/or 
rehabilitate, either wholly or partially, the premises under this lease. It is further agreed 
that the FAA may abandon in place any or all of the structures, improvements and/or 
equipment installed in or located upon said property by the FAA during its tenure. 
Notice of abandonment will be conveyed to the Lessor in writing. 

2.7. DAMAGE BY FIRE OR OTHER CASUALTY (10/96) - If the building or structure is 
partially or totally destroyed or damaged by fire or other casualty or if environmentally 
hazardous conditions are found to exist so that the leased premises is untenantable as 
determined by the Government, the Government may terminate the lease, in whole or 
in part, immediately by giving written notice to the Lessor and no further rental will be 
due. 

2.8. DELIVERY AND CONDITION (10/96) - Unless the Government elects to have the 
space occupied in increments, the space must be delivered ready for occupancy as a 
complete unit. The Government reserves the right to determine when the space is ready 
to occupy. 

2.8.1. OCCUPANCY PERMIT - The premises offered will have a valid Occupancy 
Permit, issued by the local jurisdiction, for the intended use of the Government. 

2.9. HOLD HARMLESS (10/96) - In accordance with and subject to the conditions, 
limitations and exceptions set forth in the Federal Tort Claims Act of 1948, as 
amended (28 USC 2671 et. seq.), hereafter termed "the Act" the Government will be 
liable to persons damaged by any personal injury, death or injury to or loss of property, 
which is caused by a negligent or wrongful act or omission of an employee of the 
Government while acting within the scope of his office or employment under 
circumstances where a private person would be liable in accordance with the law of the 

Page 220 of 478



Lease No. DTFAWN-17-L-00065 
PAQ, Flight Service Station 

Palmer, Alaska 
 

2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 5  

place where the act or omission occurred. The foregoing shall not be deemed to extend 
the Government's liability beyond that existing under the Act at the time of such act or 
omission or to preclude the Government from using any defense available in law or 
equity. 

2.10. CLAUSES INCLUDED BY REFERENCE– This lease incorporates one or more 
clauses by reference, with the same force and effect as if they were given in full text.   

A.  DEFAULT BY LESSOR (10/96)  

 B. COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS (10/96) 

 C.  OFFICIALS NOT TO BENEFIT (10/96) 

 D.  COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES (8/02) 

 E. ANTI-KICKBACK (7/14) 

 F. EXAMINATION OF RECORDS (8/02) 

 G. ASSIGNMENT OF CLAIMS (10/96) 

H. SUBORDINATION, NONDISTURBANCE AND ATTORNMENT (7/14) 

I. INTEGRATED AGREEMENT (10/96) 

J. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY (10/96) 

K. AFFIRMATIVE ACTION FOR DISABLED WORKERS (10/96) 

L. UNAUTHORIZED NEGOTIATING (10/96) 

3. FINANCIAL CLAUSES   

3.1. CLAUSES INCLUDED BY REFERENCE  – This lease incorporates one or more 
clauses by reference, with the same force and effect as if they were given in full text.   

A. ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFER (EFT) (7/14) 

B. SYSTEM FOR AWARD MANAGEMENT (7/14)   

C. SYSTEM FOR AWARD MANAGEMENT – REAL PROPERTY (1/13) 

 

 

Page 221 of 478



Lease No. DTFAWN-17-L-00065 
PAQ, Flight Service Station 

Palmer, Alaska 
 

2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 6  

4. DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION CLAUSES 

4.1. CONSTRUCTION COORDINATION (08/02) - A pre-construction meeting shall be 
held at the facility prior to the commencement of any construction, renovation, 
remodeling, or repair within the leased premises. If any items on the checklist are 
questionable or undone, full resolution of the issues will be expected before the project 
starts. The pre-construction meeting will be planned, scheduled, and coordinated with 
the RECO, the Government’s supervisor or manager responsible for the facility, at 
least one week before the execution of the work. 

4.2. INSPECTION - The Government reserves the right, at any time after the lease is 
signed and during the term of the lease, to inspect the leased premises of the building 
to ensure a safe and healthy work environment for the Government tenants and the 
Lessor's performance under this lease. The Government shall have the right to perform 
sampling of suspected hazardous conditions.  

4.3. WARRANTY OF SPACE - The Lessor warrants that all space leased to the 
Government under this contract must comply with applicable federal, state, and local 
regulations.   

4.4. DOORS - Exterior doors shall be weather tight, equipped with cylinder locks and door 
checks, automatic door closures and open outward. The FAA will be furnished at least 
two master keys and two keys for each lock. The FAA may provide cores and may 
replace doors, provide cores, or otherwise modify internal or exterior doors based on 
advance coordination and approval with Lessor.   

4.5. LIGHTING – “As Is”, Where Is” fixtures shall be provided that maintain a uniform 
lighting level at working surfaces. Emergency lighting must provide illumination 
throughout the exit path, including exit access routes, exit stairways, or other routes 
such as passageways to the outside of the building.   

4.6. ADHESIVES AND SEALANTS (07/16) - The Lessor shall use adhesives and sealants 
that contain no formaldehyde, asbestos, or heavy metals. 

5. SERVICE, UTILITIES, AND MAINTENANCE  

5.1. SERVICE, UTILITIES, AND MAINTENANCE OF PREMISES - The Lessor shall 
maintain the leased premises, including outside areas in a clean condition. The Lessor 
shall provide the labor, materials, equipment and supervision necessary to ensure good 
repair and tenable condition.  The Lessor shall provide the following: 

A. Services, utilities, and maintenance will be provided daily, extending from 8:00 a.m. 
to 5:00 p.m. except Saturday, Sunday, and Federal holidays. No services are 
supplied to technical equipment. The Government will have access to the leased 
premises at all times, including the use of electrical services, toilets, lights, elevators, 
and Government office machines without additional payment.  

Page 222 of 478



Lease No. DTFAWN-17-L-00065 
PAQ, Flight Service Station 

Palmer, Alaska 
 

2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 7  

5.2  HVAC - All heating, ventilation and air-conditioning systems are “As Is, Where Is”.  

5.3 CLAUSES INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE  – This lease incorporates one or more 
clauses by reference, with the same force and effect as if they were given in full text.    

 A. PEST CONTROL (07/16) 

6. FIRE PREVENTION AND SAFETY 

6.1 The Lessor warrants that all space leased to the Government under this contract will 
comply with all state, and municipal fire and safety regulations.  

6.2  CLAUSES INCLUDED BY REFERENCE.  This lease incorporates one or more clauses 
by reference, with the same force and effect as if they were given in full text.    

A.  FIRE AND LIFE SAFETY REQUIREMENTS (01/16) 

7. ENVIRONMENTAL CLAUSES 

7.1. INDOOR AIR QUALITY [DELETED].  

7.2. MOLD GROWTH IDENTIFICATION AND CONTROL - The Lessor will control 
mold growth and their sources including excessive levels of moisture and humidity. Any 
visual evidence requires sampling and remediation by Lessor.   

7.3. DRINKING WATER - The Lessor shall ensure that drinking water provided in the 
leased space meets the standards prescribed in Safe Drinking Water Act, 42 U.S.C § 
300. The Lessor shall provide a copy of any test report to the RECO and facility 
manager.  

7.4. ASBESTOS - The Lessor provides the premises to the Lessee in an “As Is, Where Is” 
condition and that FAA personnel are aware of the current asbestos hazards.  Any 
asbestos remediation will be at the expense of the Government.     

7.5  CLAUSES BY REFERENCE FOR HALON AND RADON [DELETED]  

8. ADDITIONAL CLAUSES 

General Clauses [DELETED 8.1-8.9]  

 Design and Construction Clauses [DELETED 8.11] 

8.10. ERECTION OF SIGNS (10/96) - The Government shall have the right to erect on 
or attach to the Lessor's premises such signs as may be required to clearly identify the 
Government's facility. Said signs so erected will remain the property of the Government 
and shall be removed from the premises upon termination of the lease.8 

Page 223 of 478



Lease No. DTFAWN-17-L-00065 
PAQ, Flight Service Station 

Palmer, Alaska 
 

2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 8  

8.12. WINDOW AND FLOOR COVERING - All exterior windows may be equipped 
with window covering. Floors will be carpeted with a commercial grade of carpet 
acceptable (carpet tiles or carpet broadloom) to the FAA. Existing floor and window 
coverings may be accepted at the discretion of the RECO.   

At no additional cost to the FAA, the Lessor shall replace carpeting at least every eight 
(8) years during FAA occupancy or any time during the lease when: 

A. Backing or underlayment is exposed, 
B. There are noticeable variations in surface color or texture, and/or 
C. The condition of the carpet is such that it presents a clear and present danger to 

pedestrians. 

Replacement does not include moving and return of furniture including dismantling, 
moving and re-assembling the FAA’s systems furniture if directed by the FAA 

8.13  WIRING FOR TELEPHONES (10/96) - The Government reserves the right to 
provide its own telephone service in the space to be leased. It may have inside wiring and 
telephone equipment installed by the local telephone company or a private contractor. 
Alternately, the FAA may wish to consider using inside wiring provided by the building, if 
available. However, the final decision will remain the Government’s. 

8.14  INSTALLATION OF ANTENNAS, CABLES AND OTHER APPURTENANCES 
(4/12) - The FAA shall have the right to install, operate and maintain antennas, wires and 
their supporting structures, including any linking wires, connecting cables and conduits 
atop and within buildings and structures, or at other locations, as deemed necessary by the 
Government.  The Government will coordinate with the Lessor when installing antennas, 
cables, and other appurtenances.  

8.15 PAINTING - All surfaces must be repainted after working hours at Lessor’s expense 
at least once every eight years. If such repainting includes the moving and returning of the 
furniture, including dismantling, moving and re-assembling the Government’s systems 
furniture, the Government will incur this expense. Any existing lead based paint must be 
properly maintained and managed per existing Federal, state, and local regulatory 
requirements. If there is chipping, flaking, or peeling paint in the lease premises during the 
period of government occupancy, it must be sampled for lead at the Lessor’s expense. If 
containing lead, it must be abated at the Lessor’s expense. This could be performed either 
by removal or sealing with an encapsulating material. 

Service, Utilities, and Maintenance Clauses [DELETED 8.16, 8.18, 8.20] 

8.17. UTILITIES NOT PROVIDED BY THE LESSOR (07/16) - If the cost of utilities is 
not included as part of the rental consideration, the Lessor must specify which utilities are 
excluded. The Lessor will provide separate meters for utilities to be paid for by the 
Government. Proration is not permissible. Prior to occupancy by the Government, the 
Lessor will furnish the Real Estate Contracting Officer written verification of the meter 

Page 224 of 478



Lease No. DTFAWN-17-L-00065 
PAQ, Flight Service Station 

Palmer, Alaska 
 

2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 9  

numbers and certification that these meters will measure FAA usage only. The Lessor will 
notify the RECO of any changes in meter numbers or meter configuration during FAA 
occupancy. An automatic control system will be provided to ensure compliance with 
heating and air conditioning provisions included in this lease. 

 Electricity, telephone, data, water/sewer and trash collection are not included 

8.19 MAINTENANCE OF GROUND AND WALKWAY (07/14) - The Lessor shall 
maintain in good condition landscape plants and lawns. The Lessor shall also remove snow 
and ice from the entrances, exterior walks and parking areas around the premises, prior to 
and during the Government’s hours set forth in paragraph 5.1. 

Fire Prevention and Safety Clauses [DELETED 8.21-8.24]  

Security Clauses 

8.25. FACILITY SECURITY - Security requirements for Government occupied space 
must meet minimum-security accreditation standards for the type of facility covered by this 
lease. The FAA Facility Security Management Program defines facility security 
accreditation standard levels.  The security requirements identified below are tailored 
specifically for the type of facility covered by this lease. The Lessor shall provide or make 
accommodation to provide for all the security requirements listed herein for the leased 
premises covered by this lease agreement:  None. 

The local SSE will determine any additional security upgrades that are required to meet 
accreditation and shall conduct a final security assessment of the building.  The 
Government shall provide maintenance services to the security upgrades installed by the 
Government at its own expense, within the leased premises and covered under this 
lease.    

8.26. FOREIGN NATIONALS AS CONTRACTOR EMPLOYEES (10/14) 

A. Definition. "Foreign National" is any citizen or national of a country other than the 
United States who has not immigrated to the United States and is not a Legal 
Permanent Resident (LPR) of the United States. 

B. Each contractor or subcontractor employee under this contract having access to FAA 
facilities, sensitive information, or resources must be a citizen of the United States, 
or an alien who has been lawfully admitted for permanent residence as evidenced by 
Alien Registration Receipt Card Form I-151, or who presents other evidence from 
the U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Service that employment must not affect 
his/her immigration status. 

C. Aliens and foreign nationals proposed under this contract must meet the following 
conditions in accordance with FAA Order 1600.72A, chapter 5, paragraph 7 & 8: 

Page 225 of 478



Lease No. DTFAWN-17-L-00065 
PAQ, Flight Service Station 

Palmer, Alaska 
 

2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 10  

1. Must have resided within the United States for three (3) of the last five (5) years 
unless a waiver of this requirement is requested and approved in accordance with 
the requirements stated in FAA Order 1600.72A, chapter 5, paragraph 9; 

2. A risk or sensitivity level designation can be made for the position; and 
3. The appropriate security-related background investigation/inquiry can be 

adequately conducted. 

D. Foreign nationals proposed under this contract must meet the following additional 
conditions: 

1. Provide a current passport and Place of Birth in order to successfully pass a 
Security background check in accordance with the FAA Order 1600.74, Visitor 
Policy, and 

2. Successfully pass an export control review as outlined in FAA Order 1240.13 
FAA Export Control Compliance. 

E. Interim suitability requirements may not be applied unless the position is 
low/moderate in risk, and/or temporary, and/or is not in a critical area position. 

8.27.  LESSOR PERSONNEL SUITABILITY REQUIREMENTS  

A. This clause applies to the extent that this lease requires Lessor’s employees, agents, 
subcontractors, or consultants to have unescorted access to FAA: 

1. Facilities; 
2. Sensitive information; and/or; 
3. Resources regardless of the location where such access occurs, and none of the 

exceptions of FAA Order 1600.72A, Lessor and Industrial Security Program, 
Chapter 5, paragraphs 4, 6, 7 and 8 pertains. 
Definitions of applicable terminology are contained in the corresponding 
guidance and FAA Order 1600.72A, Appendix A. 

B. Consistent with FAA Order 1600.72A, the FAA Servicing Security Element (SSE) 
has approved designated risk levels for the positions under the lease. Those 
designated risk levels are Low Risk 

C. If a National Agency Check with Inquiries (NACI) or other investigation is required 
under paragraph (b) for a given position, the Lessor will submit to the RECO a point 
of contact (POC) that will enter applicant data into the Vendor Applicant Process 
(VAP) system (vap.faa.gov). VAP is a FAA system used to process and manage 
security information for FAA contractor personnel. Each contract may have up to 5 
POCs. Once designated, a VAP administrator will provide each POC a Web ID and 
password. 

The type of investigation conducted will be determined by the position risk level 
designation for all duties, functions, and/or tasks performed and will serve as the 

Page 226 of 478



Lease No. DTFAWN-17-L-00065 
PAQ, Flight Service Station 

Palmer, Alaska 
 

2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 11  

basis for granting a favorable employment suitability authorization as described in 
FAA Order 1600.72A. If an employee has had a previous U. S. Government 
conducted background investigation which meets the requirements of Chapter 5 of 
FAA Order 1600.72A and Homeland Security Presidential Directive 12 (HSPD-12), 
it will be accepted by the FAA. However, the FAA reserves the right to conduct 
further investigations, if necessary. The contract may include positions that are 
temporary, seasonal, or under escort only. In such cases, an OPM Position 
Designation or FAA Form 1600-77 for each specific position will be established as 
the investigative requirements may differ from the NACI. 

The following information must be entered into VAP by the POC for each applicant 
requiring an investigation: 

 Name; 
 Date and place of birth (city and state); 
 Social Security Number (SSN); 
 Position and office location; 
 Contract number; 
 Current e-mail address and telephone number (personal or work); and 
 Any known information regarding current security clearance or previous 

investigations (e.g. the name of the investigating entity, type of background 
investigation conducted, contract number, labor category (Position), and 
approximate date the previous background investigation was completed). 

If a prior investigation exists and there has not been a 2 year break in service by the 
applicant, the SSE will notify the Lessor that no investigation is required and that 
final suitability is approved. 

If no previous investigation exists, the SSE will send the applicant an e-mail (this 
step may be delegated to VAP POC): 

 Stating that no previous investigation exists and the applicant must complete a 
form through the Electronic Questionnaires for Investigations Processing 
(eQIP) system 

 Instructing the applicant how to enter and complete the eQIP form; 
 Providing where to send/fax signature and release pages and other applicable 

forms; and  
 Providing instructions regarding fingerprinting. 

The applicant must complete the eQIP form and submit other required material 
within 15 days of receiving the e-mail from the SSE. 

For items to be submitted outside eQIP, the Lessor must submit the required 
information with a transmittal letter referencing the lease number to: 

Page 227 of 478



Lease No. DTFAWN-17-L-00065 
PAQ, Flight Service Station 

Palmer, Alaska 
 

2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 12  

Headquarters Contracts: 
Federal Aviation Administration 
Manager, Personnel Security Division, AIN-400 
800 Independence Avenue, S.W., Room 315 
Washington, D.C. 20591 
Regional and Center Contracts: 
Security & Hazardous Materials Safety, AAL-750 
FAA Alaskan Regional Office 
222 W. 7th Ave., #14 
Anchorage, AK  99513 

D. The Lessor must submit the information required by paragraph (c) of this Clause for 
any new employee not listed in the Lessor’s initial submission who is hired into any 
position identified in paragraph (b) of this Clause. 

E. The RECO will provide notice to the Lessor when any Lessor employee is found to 
be unsuitable or otherwise objectionable, or whose conduct appears contrary to the 
public interest, or inconsistent with the best interest of national security. The Lessor 
must take appropriate action, including the removal of such employee from working 
on this FAA contract, at their own expense. Once action has been taken, the Lessor 
will report the action to the RECO and SSE. 

F. No Lessor employee will work in a high, moderate, or low risk position unless the 
SSE has received all forms necessary to conduct any required investigation and has 
authorized the Lessor employee to begin work. 

G. The Lessor must notify the RECO within three (3) business day after any employee 
identified pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Clause is terminated from performance on 
the contract. This notification must be done utilizing the Removal Entry Screen of 
VAP. If FAA issued the terminated employee an identification card, the Lessor must 
collect the card and submit it to the SSE. 

H. The Lessor must request a report from the VAP on at least a semiannual basis in 
order to reconcile discrepancies and then must notify the SSE of these discrepancies 
as soon as possible. 

I. The RECO may also, after coordination with the SSE and other security specialists, 
require Lessor employees to submit any other security information (including 
additional fingerprinting) deemed reasonably necessary to protect the interests of the 
FAA. In this event, the Lessor must provide, or cause each of its employees to 
provide, such security information to the SSE, to meet the requirements of paragraph 
(c) of this Clause. 

J. The Lessor and/or subcontractor(s) must contact the SSE (Regional and/or Center 
Security Divisions) or AIN-400 at Headquarters within one (1) business day in the 
event an employee is arrested (detained by law enforcement for any offenses, other 
than minor traffic offenses) or is involved in theft of government property or the 

Page 228 of 478



Lease No. DTFAWN-17-L-00065 
PAQ, Flight Service Station 

Palmer, Alaska 
 

2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 13  

Lessor becomes aware of any information that may raise a question about the 
suitability of a Lessor employee. 

K. Failure to submit information required by this clause within the time required may 
be determined by the RECO as a material breach of the contract. 

L. If subsequent to the effective date of this contract, the security classification or 
security requirements under this contract are changed by the Government and if the 
changes cause an increase or decrease in direct contract costs or otherwise affect any 
other term or condition of this contract, the contract will be subject to an equitable 
adjustment. 

M. The Lessor agrees to insert terms that conform substantially to the language of this 
clause, including paragraph (k) but excluding any reference to the Changes clause of 
this contract, in all subcontracts under this contract that involve access and where the 
exceptions under Chapter 5, FAA Order 1600.72A do not apply. 

N. Lessor employees who have not undergone a background investigation must be 
escorted at all times. In some instances, a Lessor employee may be required to serve 
as an escort. To serve as an escort, a Lessor employee must have a favorably 
adjudicated fingerprint check and initiated a NACI with FAA. 

 
8.28. ACCESS TO FAA SYSTEMS AND GOVERNMENT-ISSUED KEYS, PERSONAL   
IDENTITY VERIFICATION (PIV) CARDS, AND VEHICLE DECALS (10/13)-  

A. It may become necessary for the Government to grant access to FAA systems or 
issue keys, PIV cards, vehicle decals, and/or access control cards to Lessor 
employees. Prior to or upon completion or termination of the work required 
hereunder, the Lessor must return all such Government-issued items and submit a 
request to terminate all user accounts on applicable FAA systems to the issuing 
office with notification to the Contracting Officer's Representative (COR). When 
Lessor employees who have been issued such items are terminated or no longer 
required to perform the work, the Government-issued items must be returned to the 
Government and a request submitted for the termination of FAA system access 
within three (3) business days after termination of the contract or the employee. 
Improper use, possession or alteration of FAA issued keys, PIV Cards and/or vehicle 
decals is subject to penalties under Title 18, USC 499, 506, 701, and 1030. 

B. In the event such keys, PIV Cards, or vehicle decals are lost, stolen, or not returned, 
the Lessor understands and agrees that the Government may, in addition to any other 
withholding provision of the contract, withhold $0.00 for each key, PIV Card, and 
vehicle decal lost, stolen, or not returned. If the keys, PIV Cards, or vehicle decals 
are not returned within 30 calendar days from the date the withholding action was 
initiated, any amount so withheld must be forfeited by the Lessor. 

C. Access to aircraft ramp/hangar areas is authorized only to those persons displaying a 
flight line identification card and for vehicles, a current ramp permit issued pursuant 
to Title 49, Part 1542, Code of Federal Regulations. 

Page 229 of 478



Lease No. DTFAWN-17-L-00065 
PAQ, Flight Service Station 

Palmer, Alaska 
 

2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 14  

D. The Government retains the right to inspect inventory, or audit PIV Cards, keys, 
vehicle decals, and access control cards issued to the Lessor in connection with the 
contract at the convenience of the Government. Any items not accounted for, to the 
satisfaction of the Government will be assumed to be lost and the provisions of 
section (b) apply. 

E. Keys must be obtained from the COR who will require the Lessor to sign a receipt 
for each key obtained. Lost or stolen keys, PIV Cards, vehicle decals, and access 
control cards must immediately be reported concurrently to the RECO, COR, and 
Security and Hazardous Materials Safety Office. Electronic keying cards are handled 
in the same manner as metal keys. 

F. Each contract employee, during all times of on-site performance at the Palmer Flight 
Service Station must prominently display his/her current and valid PIV card on the 
front portion of his/her body between the neck and waist. Each PIV card holder must 
not affix pins, stickers, or other decorations to the PIV. 

1. Prior to any Lessor employee obtaining a PIV Card or vehicle decals, the Lessor 
is required to enter data for each employee into the Vendor Applicant Process 
(VAP) as described in AMS clause 3.14-2, Contractor Personnel Suitability 
Requirements.  From the information entered into the VAP, the SSE will 
determine whether final suitability can be granted due to the existence of a 
previous investigation, or will initiate the Lessor applicant into the Electronic 
Questionnaires for Investigations Processing (eQIP) system so that the applicant 
can complete the investigative forms. Interim suitability cannot be granted until 
the eQIP form is completed, and fingerprints and signature pages are submitted to 
the SSE.  When an interim is granted by the SSE, the individual may begin work 
under escort until their OPM fingerprint check has been returned and successfully 
adjudicated. Once the OPM fingerprint check has been successfully adjudicated, 
they can then be badged. If the contract employee requires a PIV Card, a 
fingerprint check must be completed and favorably adjudicated by the SSE prior 
to approval or issuance of the PIV card.   

2. To obtain the PIV Card, Lessor employee must submit an identification 
Card/Credential Application (DOT 1681) signed by the Lessor employee and by 
the authorized trusted agent (when applicable) and also by the authorized sponsor 
to the RECO or to the COR. The DOT 1681 must contain, as a minimum, under 
the "Credential Justification" heading, the name of the Lessor/company, the 
contract number or the appropriate acquisition identification number, the 
expiration date of the contract or the task (whichever is sooner), and the required 
signatures. The Lessor will be notified when the DOT 1681 has been approved 
and is ready for processing by the Security and Hazardous Materials Safety 
Office. Arrangements for processing the identification cards, including 
photographs and lamination can be made by contacting 907-271-5557. 

3. The Lessor must contact the SSE to obtain the procedures that the Lessor’s 
employees must utilize to obtain their PIV Card. 

Page 230 of 478



Lease No. DTFAWN-17-L-00065 
PAQ, Flight Service Station 

Palmer, Alaska 
 

2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 15  

The Lessor is responsible for ensuring final out-processing is accomplished for all 
departing Lessor employees. Final out-processing must be accomplished by close of 
business the final workday of the Lessor employee or the next day under special 
conditions. The SSE must be notified in writing and ensure that all FAA media, 
including the PIV card, are returned to the SSE. 

 

Environmental Clauses [DELETED 8.29] 

8. CLOSING 

8.1. NOTICES - All notices/correspondence shall be in writing, reference the lease 
number, and be addressed as follows: 

TO THE LESSOR 
 
City of Palmer 
231 W. Evergreen Ave 
Palmer, AK  99645 
 
TO THE GOVERNMENT 

Federal Aviation Administration  
Real Estate & Utilities Group 
222 W 7th, #14 
Anchorage, AK  99513-7587 
 

8.2. ATTACHMENTS  

None. 

Page 231 of 478



Lease No. DTFAWN-17-L-00065 
PAQ, Flight Service Station 

Palmer, Alaska 
 

2.6.9 Small Space Lease  

October 2016 
OMB Control No. 2120-0595        Page 16  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed their names. 

CITY OF PALMER 

BY Nathan E. Wallace  City Manager   

 Signature 
 

Title  Date 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

BY   Real Estate 
Contracting Officer 

  

 Signature Title  Date 

 

 

Page 232 of 478



Palmer Space lease—Clauses Incorporated by Reference Page 1 of 12 

PROPOSED EXHIBIT ONE LISTING ALL  

CLAUSES INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

Paragraph 2.10 Template Clauses Incorporated By Reference 

DEFAULT BY LESSOR (10/96) - Each of the following shall constitute a default by Lessor 
under this lease:  

A. If the Lessor fails to perform the work required to deliver the leased premises 
ready for occupancy by the Government with such diligence as will ensure 
delivery of the leased premises within the time required by the lease agreement, or 
any extension of the specified time. 

B. Failure to maintain, repair, operate or service the premises as and when specified 
in this lease, or failure to perform any other requirement of this lease as and when 
required provided such failure which shall remain uncured for a period of time as 
specified by the Real Estate Contracting Officer, following Lessor’s receipt of 
written notice thereof from the Real Estate Contracting Officer.  

C. Repeated failure by the Lessor to comply with one or more requirements of this 
lease shall constitute a default notwithstanding that one or all failures shall have 
been timely cured pursuant to this clause. 

If default occurs, the Government may, by written notice to the Lessor, terminate the 
lease in whole or in part. 

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS (10/96) - The Lessor shall comply with all 
federal, state and local laws applicable to the Lessor as owner or Lessor, or both, of building or 
premises, including, without limitation, laws applicable to the construction, ownership, alteration 
or operation of both or either thereof, and will obtain all necessary permits, licenses and similar 
items at Lessor’s expense. This lease shall be governed by Federal law.   

OFFICIALS NOT TO BENEFIT (10/96) - No member of or delegate to Congress, or resident 
commissioner, shall be admitted to any share or part of this contract, or to any benefit arising 
from it. However, this clause does not apply to this contract to the extent that this contract is 
made with a corporation for the corporation's general benefit.  

COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES (8/02) - The Lessor warrants that no person 
or agency has been employed or retained to solicit or obtain this contract upon an agreement or 
understanding for a contingent fee, except a bona fide employee or agency. For breach or 
violation of this warranty, the Government shall have the right to annul this contract without 
liability or, in its discretion, to deduct from the contract price or consideration, or otherwise 
recover the full amount of the contingent fee.  

ANTI-KICKBACK (7/14) - The Anti-Kickback Act of 1986 (41 U.S.C. § 8701 et seq.), 
prohibits any person from:       

Page 233 of 478



Palmer Space lease—Clauses Incorporated by Reference Page 2 of 12 

A. Providing or attempting to provide or offering to provide any kickback;  
B. Soliciting, accepting, or attempting to accept any kickback; or  
C. Including, directly or indirectly, the amount of any kickback in the lease price 

charged by a prime Lessor to the United States Government or in the lease price 
charged by a sublessor to a prime Lessor or higher tier sublessor. 

 

EXAMINATION OF RECORDS (08/02) - The Comptroller General of the United States, the 
Administrator of FAA or a duly authorized representative from either shall, until 3 years after 
final payment under this lease have access to and the right to examine any of the Lessor’s 
directly pertinent books, documents, paper, or other records involving transactions related to this 
lease. 

 

ASSIGNMENT OF CLAIMS (10/96) - Pursuant to the Assignment of Claims Act, as amended, 
31 U.S.C. § 3727, 41 U.S.C. § 6305 the Lessor may assign his rights to be paid under this lease.   

 

SUBORDINATION, NONDISTURBANCE AND ATTORNMENT (07/14) –  

A. Government agrees, in consideration of the warranties and conditions set forth in 
this clause, that this lease is subject and subordinate to any and all recorded 
mortgages, deeds of trust and other liens now or hereafter existing or imposed 
upon the premises, and to any renewal, modification or extension thereof. It is the 
intention of the parties that this provision shall be self-operative and that no 
further instrument shall be required to effect the present or subsequent 
subordination of this lease.   Based on  a written demand received by the RECO, 
the Government  will review and, if acceptable,  execute such instruments as 
Lessor may reasonably request to evidence further the subordination of this lease 
to any existing or future mortgage, deed of trust or other security interest 
pertaining to the premises, and to any water, sewer or access easement necessary 
or desirable to serve the premises or adjoining property owned in whole or in part 
by Lessor if such easement does not interfere with the full enjoyment of any right 
granted the Government under this lease. 

B. No such subordination, to either existing or future mortgages, deeds of trust or 
other lien or security instrument shall operate to affect adversely any right of the 
Government under this lease so long as the Government is not in default under 
this lease. Lessor will include in any future mortgage, deed of trust or other 
security instrument to which this lease becomes subordinate, or in a separate non-
disturbance agreement, a provision to the foregoing effect. Lessor warrants that 
the holders of all notes or other obligations secured by existing mortgages, deeds 
of trust or other security instruments have consented to the provisions of this 
clause, and agrees to provide true copies of all such consents to the Contracting 
Officer promptly upon demand. 

Page 234 of 478



Palmer Space lease—Clauses Incorporated by Reference Page 3 of 12 

C. In the event of any sale of the premises or any portion thereof by foreclosure of 
the lien of any such mortgage, deed of trust or other security instrument, or the 
giving of a deed in lieu of foreclosure, the Government will be deemed to have 
attorned to any purchaser, purchasers, transferee or transferees of the premises or 
any portion thereof and its or their successors and assigns, and any such 
purchasers and transferees will be deemed to have assumed all obligations of the 
Lessor under this lease, so as to establish direct privity of estate and contract 
between Government and such purchasers or transferees, with the same force, 
effect and relative priority in time and right as if the lease had initially been 
entered into between such purchasers or transferees and the Government; 
provided, further, that the  RECO and such purchasers or transferees shall, with 
reasonable promptness following any such sale or deed delivery in lieu of 
foreclosure, execute all such revisions to this lease, or other writings, as shall be 
necessary to document the foregoing relationship. 

D. None of the foregoing provisions may be deemed or construed to imply a waiver 
of the Government's rights as a sovereign. 

SUBLEASE (10/96) - The Government reserves the right to sublease the space covered under 
this lease to another agency or private party. In subleasing this space to another party the 
Government is not relieved from its responsibilities under the terms of this lease, unless 
otherwise agreed upon with the Lessor.    [can delete here]  

 

INTEGRATED AGREEMENT (10/96) - This Lease, upon execution, contains the entire 
agreement of the parties, and no prior written or oral agreement, express or implied shall be 
admissible to contradict the provisions of this lease.  

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY (10/96) - The Lessor shall have on file affirmative action programs 
required by the rules and regulations of the Secretary of Labor (41 CFR 60-1 and 60-2). 

AFFIRMATIVE ACTION FOR SPECIAL DISABLED AND VIETNAM ERA 
VETERANS (10/96) - The Lessor agrees to comply with the rules, regulations, and relevant 
orders of the Secretary of Labor (Secretary) issued under the Vietnam Era Veterans' 
Readjustment Assistance Act of 1972 (the Act), as amended. If the Lessor does not comply with 
the requirements of this clause, appropriate actions may be taken under the rules, regulations, 
and relevant orders of the Secretary issued pursuant to the Act.   [don’t meet jurisdictional 
threshold of $100K]  

AFFIRMATIVE ACTION FOR DISABLED WORKERS (10/96) - The Lessor agrees to 
comply with the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor (Secretary) 
issued under the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 USC 793) (the Act), as amended. If the Lessor 
does not comply with the requirements of this clause, appropriate actions may be taken under the 
rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary issued pursuant to the Act.   

Page 235 of 478



Palmer Space lease—Clauses Incorporated by Reference Page 4 of 12 

UNAUTHORIZED NEGOTIATING (10/96) - In no event shall the Lessor enter into 
negotiations concerning the space leased or to be leased with anyone other than the RECO or 
his/her designee.   

Page 236 of 478



Palmer Space lease—Clauses Incorporated by Reference Page 5 of 12 

Clauses Incorporated by Reference  Paragraph 3 

ELECTRONIC FUND TRANSFER (07/14) – All payment by the Government under this lease 
will be made by electronic funds transfer (EFT).  The Government will make payment by EFT 
through either the Automated Clearing House (ACH) network, subject to the rules of the 
National Automated Clearing House Association, or the Fedwire Transfer System.  The rules 
governing Federal payments through the ACH are contained in 31 CFR Part 210. The Lessor is 
responsible to maintain correct payment information with the Government.  If the Lessor’s EFT 
information is incorrect or outdated, the Government is not required to make payments to the 
Lessor until correct/current EFT information is submitted to the Government for payment 
distribution.   

SYSTEM FOR AWARD MANAGEMENT (07/14) - The System for Award Management 
(SAM) system the Government's required method to receive vendor information. However you 
have been granted an exception to SAM and therefore must provide your initial payment 
information and any future changes to your payment information to the Real Estate Contracting 
Officer on a completed and signed "Vendor Miscellaneous Payment Information" form, together 
with any other required notice under this contract. 

SYSTEM FOR AWARD MANAGEMENT - REAL PROPERTY (1/13) - The FAA uses the 
System for Award Management (SAM) system as the primary means to maintain lessor 
information required for payment under any FAA lease.  

A. Definitions. As used in this clause for: 

1.  "SAM database" means the primary Government repository for Lessor 
information required for the conduct of business with the Government. 

2. "Contractor" is synonymous with "Lessor" for real property leases or 
other contracts 

3. "Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) number" means the 9-digit 
number assigned by Dun and Bradstreet, Inc. (D&B) to identify unique 
business entities. 

4. "Data Universal Numbering System +4 (DUNS+4) number" means the 
DUNS number assigned by D&B plus a 4-character suffix that may be 
assigned by a business concern. (D&B has no affiliation with this 4-
character suffix.) This 4-character suffix may be assigned at the 
discretion of the business concern to establish additional SAM records 
for identifying alternative Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT) accounts for 
the same parent concern. 

5. "Registered in the SAM database" means that the Lessor has entered all 
mandatory information, including the DUNS number or the DUNS+4 
number, into the SAM database. 

B. By submission of an lessor, the Lessor acknowledges that: 
1. A prospective awardee will be registered in the SAM database prior to 

award, during performance, and through final payment. 

Page 237 of 478



Palmer Space lease—Clauses Incorporated by Reference Page 6 of 12 

2. The lessor will enter, in the space provided on the clause, Contractor 
Identification Number Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) 
Number - Real Property the lessor’s DUNS or DUNS+4 number that 
identifies the lessor’s name and address exactly as stated in the offer. 
The DUNS number will be used by the RECO to verify that the lessor is 
registered in the SAM database. 

C.  If the lessor does not have a DUNS number, it will contact Dun and Bradstreet 
directly to obtain one. 

1.  A Lessor may obtain a DUNS number: 
a. If located within the United States, by calling Dun and Bradstreet 

at 1-866-705-5711 or via the Internet at http://www.dnb.com; or 
b. If located outside the United States, by contacting the local Dun 

and Bradstreet office. 
2. The Lessor will be prepared to provide the following information: 

a. Company* legal business. 
b. Tradestyle, doing business, or other name by which your entity is 

commonly recognized. 
c. Company Physical Street Address, City, State, and Zip Code. 
d. Company Mailing Address, City, State and Zip Code (if separate 

from physical). 
e. Company Telephone Number. 
f. Date the company was started. 
g. Number of employees at your location. 
h. Chief executive officer/key manager. 
i. Line of business (industry). 
j. Company Headquarters name and address (reporting relationship 

within your entity). 
* Individual (non-corporate) Lessors of real property that are not 
normally in the business of leasing real property: You should 
consider your leasing to the Government as a separate business 
(usually a sole proprietorship) then provide the pertinent ownership 
information as an sole proprietor when providing this information 
to Dunn & Bradstreet. 

D. If an otherwise successful Lessor does not become registered in the SAM 
database in the time prescribed by the RECO, the RECO may proceed to award to 
the next otherwise successful registered lessor, if the RECO determines it to be in 
the best interests of the Government. 

E. Processing time, normally 48 hours, will be taken into consideration when 
registering. Lessors who are not registered will consider applying for registration 
immediately upon receipt of this solicitation. 

F. The Lessor is responsible for the accuracy and completeness of the data within the 
SAM database, and for any liability resulting from the Government's reliance on 
inaccurate or incomplete data. To remain registered in the SAM database the 
Lessor is required to review and update, on an annual basis from the date of initial 
registration or subsequent updates, its information in the SAM database to ensure 

Page 238 of 478

javascript:redirectext('http://www.dnb.com/')


Palmer Space lease—Clauses Incorporated by Reference Page 7 of 12 

it is current, accurate and complete. Updating information in the SAM does not 
alter the terms and conditions of this lease and is not a substitute for a properly 
executed contractual document. 

G. Changes 
1.  Name or Ownership Changes 

a. If a Lessor has legally changed its business name, "doing business 
as" name, or division name (whichever is shown on the lease), or 
has transferred the assets used in performing the lease, the Lessor 
will provide the responsible RECO a minimum of one business 
day's written notification of its intention to: 

i. Change the name in the SAM database; 
ii. Agree in writing to the timeline and procedures the RECO 

specifies to document the requested change in the lease. 
With notification, the Lessor will provide sufficient 
documentation to support the legally changed name then 
execute the appropriate supplemental agreement to 
document the name change provided by the RECO. 

b. The Lessor’s entry of the name/ownership change in SAM does 
not relieve the Lessor of responsibility to provide proper notice of 
the name change to the RECO. The change in SAM cannot be 
made effective until the appropriate documentation/ supplemental 
agreement is executed by the RECO. Any discrepancy in payee 
information in SAM caused by a failure to fulfill the requirements 
specified in paragraph (g)(1) (i) above, will result in a discrepancy 
that is incorrect information, within the meaning of paragraph (d) 
Suspension of Payment of the electronic funds transfer (EFT) 
clause of this lease. 

2. Assignment of Claims. The Lessor will not change the name or address 
for EFT payments in the SAM or manual payments to reflect an 
assignee. Assignees must separately register in the SAM database. The 
Lessor will notify the RECO and will comply with the instructions for 
submitting an Assignment of Claims notification. Information provided 
to the Lessor’s SAM record that indicates payments, including those 
made by EFT, to an ultimate recipient other than that Lessor, without 
proper notice to the RECO, will be considered to be incorrect 
information within the meaning of the paragraph D "Suspension of 
payment" of the EFT clause of this lease. 

H. Exceptions to SAM. As provided for in AMS Procurement Toolbox Section 
T3.3.1.A-4, "System for Award Management," certain Lessors may qualify by 
limited exceptions to SAM waiver. If a Lessor is determined by the RECO to 
merit justification of a waiver from SAM, then the lessor will provide initial 
payment information and any future vendor information changes to the RECO on 
the "Vendor Miscellaneous Payment Information" form, provided by the RECO. 
An alternate clause, "Contractor Payment Information-Non SAM" will be 
included in the lease and the lessor will comply with the terms of that clause. 
Having an exception from SAM does not excuse a vendor from EFT payment 

Page 239 of 478



Palmer Space lease—Clauses Incorporated by Reference Page 8 of 12 

requirements, as required in the clause, "Payment by Electronic Fund Transfer - 
Real Property." 

1. Lessors may obtain information on registration and annual confirmation 
requirements via the internet at http://www.sam.gov or by calling  
866-606-8220. 

 

 

 

 

Page 240 of 478

http://www.sam.gov/


Palmer Space lease—Clauses Incorporated by Reference Page 9 of 12 

Paragraphs 5.3 (Services/Maintenance), 6 (Fire/Safety) and  
7.5 (Environmental Clauses) 

 

Paragraph 5.3. 

PEST CONTROL (07/16) - Pesticide application to exterminate and control pests within the 
leased premises can be performed per periodic schedule for preventative maintenance and 
according to need with 24-hour notification to the Facility Manager.  Prior to any 
addition/change in type of pesticides or other chemical pest control, Lessor must provide 48- 
hour written notice with applicable Safety Data Sheet(s) (SDS) to be provided to the Facility 
Manager  for information and acceptance with copy to the RECO. Herbicides/pesticides are not 
to be applied near the outside air intakes of the building when the system is in operation, nor 
within the leased premises during normal working hours or when the system is in operation. 

 
Paragraph 6—Fire Prevention and Safety 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL AND OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH (EOSH) 
REQUIREMENTS (07/16) - The Lessor shall provide space, services, and equipment that 
comply with the following EOSH standards:  

1. 29 CFR 1910, Occupational Safety and Health Standards (General Industry) 
2. 29 CFR 1926, Safety and Health Standards (Construction) 
3. FAA Order 3900.19, FAA Occupational and Health Program 
4. FAA Standard HF-STD-001, Human Factors Design Standard 
5. National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) 70, National Electrical Code, and 
NFPA 70E, Electrical Safety in the Workplace 
6. Local and state EOSH regulations 
7. Local and state fire codes and building codes. Compliance with local and state 
codes generally provides a level of safety that meets or exceeds national consensus 
standards. 
8. Federal, state and local EOSH (OSHA and EPA), Standards and Building Codes 
must be complied with when accomplishing any cleaning, construction, renovation, 
remodeling, maintenance activities or testing done in or on the leased premises and 
areas connected to or integrated with the leased premises. Additionally, whenever 
FAA Standards require work processes or precautions to be provided, the Lessor will 
coordinate with the FAA before and during the work so that the proper requirements 
are met. 
 
Any equipment designed, installed, or used that presents a potential safety hazard shall 
be marked with appropriate warning labels or placards, in accordance with 29 CFR 
1910.145, Specifications for Accident Prevention Signs and Tags, FAA HF-STD-001, 
Human Factors Design Standard, Chapter 12.16, Safety Labels and Placards, and 
American National Standards Institute (ANSI) Standard Z535.4, Product Safety Signs 

Page 241 of 478



Palmer Space lease—Clauses Incorporated by Reference Page 10 of 12 

and Labels, and FAA-G-2100H, Electronic Equipment, General Requirements, 
Section 3.3.5.4. 
 

FIRE AND LIFE SAFETY REQUIREMENTS (01/16) - The facility, its systems and 
appurtenances must be in compliance with the following fire and life safety (FLS) requirements: 

A. Construction features of the building must comply with state and local building 
codes in affect at the time of construction or most recent modification.  

B. Maintenance and operations of the building must comply with the current edition 
of state and local fire safety and fire prevention codes. 

C. Construction features, maintenance and operations of the building must meet or 
exceed the minimum level of fire and life safety specified by OSHA 29 CFR 1910  

Where compliance with the literal requirements of these standards has not been 
achieved, the Lessor must document, in writing to the Government, the specific 
deviation(s) from these standards and what alternative methods have been employed 
by the Lessor and accepted by the local jurisdiction (where applicable), as an 
alternative method of compliance. Furthermore, where alternative methods of 
compliance are used in lieu of literal compliance with the FLS requirements listed 
herein, the approach shall be signed by a Fire Protection Engineer, licensed in the 
subject property’s state, and a copy shall be provided to the RECO.  

As provided in this section, all codes, standards, orders and directives refer to the 
current edition in place at the signing of this lease in regards to building construction 
features. If construction or modifications to the leased premises are undertaken at any 
time during the term of this Lease, fire protection and life safety systems must be 
brought into compliance where required by applicable codes and standards according 
to the then-current edition of local codes and standards. The party initiating the 
construction or modifications is responsible for funding the upgrade of fire and life 
safety systems when required by applicable codes and standards. The construction or 
modification to the leased facility must never decrease the level of fire and life safety 
provided. 

Regardless of local code requirements, when the leased space (including garage areas 
under lease by the Government) is on the 6th floor and above, or below grade, 
automatic sprinklers are required. Furthermore, leased buildings serving National 
Airspace System (NAS) air traffic control operations and constructed after June 2012, 
shall be fully protected with an automatic, electrically supervised sprinkler system 
designed and installed in accordance with the requirements of NFPA 13. 

When the leased space is located in multi-tenant buildings, the Lessor shall be fully 
responsible for the following: 

A. Development of a building Emergency Action Plan (EAP) and Fire Prevention 
Plan 

B. Publishing and making copies of the EAP and Fire Prevention Plan available to 
all FAA leased space occupants 

C. Conducting fire or other emergency evacuation drills, at least annually 

Page 242 of 478



Palmer Space lease—Clauses Incorporated by Reference Page 11 of 12 

D. Conducting review and modification of the EAP and Fire Prevention Plan at least 
annually 

E. Inviting FAA representation in development, review and modification of the EAP 
and Fire Prevention Plan 

If Lessor requires assistance from the FAA facility manager, there may be consultation 
on an as needed basis to accomplish the above activities.   

 
 

ELECTRICAL SAFETY (01/16) - The Lessor shall ensure electrical safety requirements are 
met, including grounding, bonding, shielding, control of electrostatic discharge (ESD), and 
lightning protection requirements, in accordance with: 

A. 29 CFR 1910, Subpart S, Electrical 
B. FAA Standard HF-STD-001, Human Factors Design Standard, Chapter 12.4, 

Electrical Hazards 
C. DOT Specification FAA-G-2100H, Electronic Equipment, General Requirements 
D. National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) 70, National Electrical Code 
E. NFPA 70E, Electrical Safety in the Workplace 
F. American National Standards Institute/Institute of Electrical and Electronics 

Engineers (ANSI/IEEE) Standard 1100-2005, Recommended Practice for 
Powering and Grounding Electrical Equipment 

G. DOT Standard FAA-STD-019E, Lightning and Surge Protection, Grounding, 
Bonding and Shielding Requirements for Facilities and Equipment 

The Lessor must ensure that electrical equipment and infrastructure meets minimum 
clear working space requirements in accordance with 29 CFR 1910.303 and NFPA 70 
Article 110.26, and is properly maintained and documented in accordance with NFPA 
70E. Any change in the electrical equipment would require a review of the current arc 
flash warning labels to determine if the arc flash warning labels posted meet the 
current safety requirements. 

All hazards associated with electrical equipment shall be marked with labels indicating 
the hazard, in accordance with FAA-G-2100H, Chapter 3.3.5.5, Markings, Signs, Tags 
and Symbols and requirements ANSI Standard Z53, Series of Standards for Safety 
Signs and Tags.  
 

 

Paragraph 7.5 

HALON (04/12) - Halon must not be used as a fire extinguishing system in any FAA leased 
space.  

Page 243 of 478



Palmer Space lease—Clauses Incorporated by Reference Page 12 of 12 

RADON (07/16) - Lessor must provide the FAA with a Radon Evaluation Report for the leased 
facility when requested. Radon air levels in leased premises to the FAA must meet applicable 
standards of four (4) picocuries per liter (pCI/L). If radon levels are found to be at or above 4 
PCI/L, the Lessor will develop and promptly implement a plan of corrective action, including 
testing, to ensure radon air levels are maintained below 4.0 pCI/L at all times. Testing shall be 
done in accordance with EPA State Radon Contract requirements.   

 
 

Page 244 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-052 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Action Memorandum No. 17-052 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute Lease Amendment and Modification 
Agreements with Hinchinbrook Equipment Solely Owned by New Horizons Telecom, Inc., for Lease Lot 5, 
Palmer Municipal Airport 
 
Agenda of: June 27, 2017 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Denied 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Frank J. Kelly, Airport Superintendent 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 

  Community Development    

X  Finance  

 06/09/17 

  Fire    

  Police     

  Public Works     

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 

 

 

City Attorney   

City Clerk   
 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 15,374.50 
 

This legislation (√): 
X Creates revenue in the amount of: $ $15,374.50 
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
X Budgeted Line item(s): 03-00-00-3431  Airport Land Leases 
X Not budgeted  03-00-00-3431  Airport Land Leases (Increase $1,182.65) 
 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 245 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-052 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
 Draft Lease Amendments and Modification Agreements 91-1 (Exhibit A) 
 Identity Documents 

  
Summary Statement:   
 
Mr. John Lee has agreed to Lease amendments and modifications with the City of Palmer to provide for 
alignment of his leases with current leasing practices and standards.       
 
In granting the execution of these amendments and modification agreements, this City will be using up 
to date lease language, receiving a rental rate increase from $0.06 to $0.065 cents per square foot, 
formalizing requirements for pollution insurance on lot 5 and getting the guarantee of New Horizon 
Telecom, Inc. which solely owns Hinchinbrook Equipment, Inc.     
 
New Horizons Telecom Inc. has previously provided pollution insurance on their policy, but it did not 
pertain to Hinchinbrook’s aircraft fueling operations. 
    
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
To approve Action Memorandum No. 17-052 for approval to execute a Lease Amendment and Modification 
Agreement with Mr. John Lee and Hinchinbrook Equipment, Inc. 

Page 246 of 478



 
 

City of Palmer ● Palmer Municipal Airport 
231 W. Evergreen Avenue ● Palmer, AK 99645 

Phone: 907-745-3271     Fax: 907-745-0930 
 
 

LEASE AMENDMENT AND MODIFICATION AGREEMENT  
 
In consideration of and in reliance upon the above assumption and promises contained in 
this instrument, the City of Palmer (Lessor) and Hinchinbrook Equipment Inc. (Lessee) 
hereby consents to the following lease amendments and modifications for Lease 
Agreement PMA 91-1.    
 
Current Palmer Municipal Airport Lease No. 91-1 (The Airport Lease) is in Effect. Except 
as otherwise expressly stated herein, nothing in this Lease amendment and Modification 
Agreement of PMA Lease No. 91-1 is intended to amend or alter any of the terms and 
conditions of the Airport Lease or any amendments thereto previously executed by Lessor 
and Lessee. All terms and conditions remain in full force and effect.  
 
Amendment(s) 
 
No. 1 Paragraph 2 and 3 on page 1 of Lease 91-1 dated March 8, 1991 is amended 

to read as follows: 
 
Premises and Purpose 
Lessor does hereby lease, demise and let unto Lessee, and Lessee does hereby 
lease from Lessor, real property more particularly described as a parcel of land 
located within Tract B, Palmer Municipal Airport recorded as Plat No. 2006-15 in 
the Palmer Recording District, Third Judicial District, State of Alaska and further 
described in an unrecorded plat dated June 27, 2005 as follows: 
 

Palmer Municipal Airport, Block 3, Lease Lot 5 
Containing 5.43 acres or 236,530.80 square feet, more or less  
See “Exhibit A” 

 
No. 2  Paragraph 5 on page 1, is amended to read as follows: 
 
The rental specified is herein calculated at the rate of $0.065 (six and one half cents) per 
square foot per year (236,530.80 square foot at $0.065 or $15,374.50). 
 
No. 3  General Covenant 9, paragraph 1 and 2 on page 5 is amended to read as 

follows: 
 
9. Rent Adjustment 
A. It is the intent of the parties that the Palmer Municipal Airport be a self-sustaining 

facility and operate without any support from the general fund of the Lessor. 
B. The rent shall be subject to adjustment at five (5) year intervals to achieve fair 

market rent, the first adjustment date is five (5) years following the first annual 
payment. The rent shall be adjusted as follows: 

Page 247 of 478



 
1. Six (6) months prior to the termination of the initial five (5) year period 

and any subsequent five (5) year period, Lessor shall propose the rent for 
the next five (5) year period of the lease term and the parties hereto may, 
by mutual agreement, set the rent for the five (5) year period.  The basis 
of the initial proposed new rent for the next five (5) year term will be the 
accumulated increase or decrease in the Consumer Price Index for All 
Urban Consumers (CPI-U): Selected areas, semiannual averages, all items 
index for the Anchorage, AK. Local area, based upon 2015 as a base year, 
as well as the comparative leasing rate of similar airports in the Alaskan 
market place.  
a. If an agreement is not reached ninety (90) days prior to the end of 

the current five (5) year period, the fair market rental value of the 
premises shall be determined by an appraiser selected by the lessor 
who shall (a) be a member of The American Institute of Real Estate 
Appraisers, and (b) have experiencing in appraising properties 
similar to the premises. (The “Qualified Appraiser”). The cost of the 
initial appraisal shall be born equally between Lessor and Lessee.  
If either the Lessor or Lessee or both shall disapprove of the fair 
market rental of the premises as thus determined, the dissatisfied 
party(s) may then designate another Qualified Appraiser who shall 
conduct a second (or additional) independent appraisal(s) of the 
premises and the fair market rental of the premises shall be 
determined to be the average of the two appraisals.  The cost of 
the additional appraisal shall be borne by the dissatisfied party.  In 
the event that both the Lessor and the Lessee are both dissatisfied 
with the original appraisal than the cost of, the second appraisal 
shall be borne equally between the Lessor and Lessee.    

2. Lessor’s failure to timely start this rent adjustment procedure does not 
affect the rent adjustment, other than that the rent shall not be adjusted 
for the period before Lessor starts the procedure for each five-year period.  
a. If, for example, Lessor starts the rent-adjustment procedure for the 

first time on the first day of the seventh year of the lease term, 
then the rent shall remain unchanged for the previous six years.  

b. Any adjustment in Section 1.4 would start as of the first day of the 
seventh year and remain in effect through year ten when Lessor 
could again start the rent-adjustment procedure. 

C. During the pendency of any determination of fair market rent, Lessee shall pay 
the rent last in effect for the Premises until such determination has been made. 
Any deficiency between the rent so paid and the adjusted rent retroactive to the 
beginning of the period for which it is due shall be paid within thirty (30) days of 
being billed to Lessee with interest from the original due date of such rent at the 
highest rate allowed by law for debts under $25,000 or twelve percent (12%) per 
annum, whichever rate is lower. 

 
No. 4 General Covenant 24, paragraph 1, 2 and 3 on page 7 is amended to read 

as follows: 
 
Section 4.3 Insurance 
A. Lessee, at its own expense, shall secure and maintain in full force at all times 

during the term of this Lease: 
1. Commercial general liability. Commercial general liability insurance with a 

single occurrence liability limit of $1,000,000 and an aggregate of 

Page 248 of 478



 
$2,000,000 insuring against liability of Lessee, its officers, contractors, 
licensees, agents, employees, guests, invites and authorized 
representatives, arising out of and/or in connection with Lessee’s use or 
occupancy of the Premises; or 

2. Airport premises liability. Airport premises liability insurance on an 
occurrence basis with a single combined liability limit of not less than 
$1,000,000 occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate limit for bodily injury 
and property damage. 

3. If applicable, third-party aircraft liability insurance with a single combined 
liability limit of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence; 

4. Commercial property insurance in the amount of replacement costs. 
5. Pollution Insurance covering all fueling operations with a single combined 

liability limit of not less than $1,000,000 occurrence and $2,000,000 
aggregate limit covering all airport operations. 

B.  This insurance required under this Section shall: 
1.  Name the Lessor as an “additional insured” 
2.  Contain a clause that the insurer will not cancel or change the 

insurance without first giving the Lessor thirty (30) days prior written 
notice; 

3.  Be with an insurance company qualified to do business in the State 
of Alaska with a financial rating of at least “A” as rated in current 
Best’s Insurance Reports; 

4.  Include a waiver of subrogation clause by which the insurer waives 
all rights of subrogation against the Lessor for payments made under 
the policy; and 

5.  Not contain a damage deductible for each and every loss that 
exceeds $10,000. 

C.  Lessee shall provide Lessor with proof of insurance coverage in the form of 
a certificate of insurance, and if requested by the Lessor, Lessee shall 
provide Lessor with a copy of the policy(ies). Failure to maintain such 
insurance in effect shall constitute grounds for immediate termination of 
this lease. Lessor may at its option purchase said insurance and charge the 
expense thereof to Lessee, which expense Lessee shall assume and pay. 

D.   To reasonably protect itself, Lessor may adjust these minimum insurance 
requirements and add types of insurance or both by giving Lessee written 
notice of such adjustment ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of each 
five (5) year interval of the term of this Lease. Lessor may also adjust these 
minimum insurance requirements at any time if Lessee’s use of the Premises 
changes, and in such event, Lessor shall give Lessee thirty (30) days written 
notice of such adjustment. 

E.  The requirements of insurance coverage do not relieve Lessee from any 
other obligation under this Lease.  

 
 
 
 
  
Notices 

Page 249 of 478



 
Any notices required to be sent in accordance with the terms of this Lease, including legal 
process, shall be sent in writing by registered or certified mail, to the parties at the 
following addresses unless otherwise notified in writing and deemed to be received when 
so sent: 
 
 
Lessor’s address: City Manager 
   City of Palmer 
   231W. Evergreen Ave., Palmer, AK 99645 
 
Lessee’s address: Hinchinbrook Equipment Inc. 
   901 Cope Industrial Way, Palmer, AK. 99645 
 
LESSOR: CITY OF PALMER 
 
 
By: ___________________________ 
     Nathan E. Wallace, City Manager   Date: _________________________ 
 
 
LESSEE:  HINCHINBROOK EQUIPMENT, INC. 
 
 
By: __________________________    
     John S. Lee, President    Date: _________________________ 
 
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 THIS IS TO CERTIFY that on the ______day of ______________, 2017, before 
me the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, duly commissioned 
and sworn, personally appeared, Nathan E. Wallace, known to me to be the identical 
individual described in and who executed the within and foregoing Lease Amendment and 
Modification Agreement as City Manager of the City of Palmer, freely and voluntarily on 
behalf of the City of Palmer for the uses and purposes therein mentioned. 
 
GIVEN UNDER MY HAND and official seal the day and year last above written. 
 
_____________________ 
Notary Public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ____________ 
 
  
 
 
 
 
NOTARY 

Page 250 of 478



 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the ______ day of ______________, 2017, before me, 
the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, John 
S. Lee, President of the corporation named in the forgoing instruments, acknowledged to 
me that he/she had, in his/her official capacity is authorized by the corporation to execute 
the foregoing instruments as the free act and deed of the said corporation for the uses 
and purposes therein stated. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
________________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 
GUARANTOR(s): 
 
 
By: ________________________   
      John S. Lee, individually   Date: _____________________  
 
 
NEW HORIZONS TELECOM INC. 
 
 
By: ________________________   
      John S. Lee, President   Date: _____________________ 
 
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the _____ day of _______________, 2017, before me, 
the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, John 
S. Lee, known to me to be the person named in the foregoing instruments, acknowledged 
to me that he/she had executed the same for the uses and purposes therein stated. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
 
___________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: ___________ 
 

Page 251 of 478



 
NOTARY 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     )ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 This is to certify that on the ______ day of ______________, 2017, before me, 
the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska, personally appeared, John 
S. Lee, President of the New Horizons Telecom, Inc. the corporation named in the forgoing 
instruments, acknowledged to me that he/she had, in his/her official capacity is authorized 
by the corporation to execute the foregoing instruments as the free act and deed of the 
said corporation for the uses and purposes therein stated. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal the date and year first above written. 
 
________________________ 
Notary public in and for Alaska 
 
My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 252 of 478



Page 253 of 478



Page 254 of 478



Page 255 of 478



Page 256 of 478



Page 257 of 478



Page 258 of 478



Page 259 of 478



Page 260 of 478



Page 261 of 478



Page 262 of 478



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: February 14, 2017, Regular Meeting Page 1 of 7 

City of Palmer, Alaska 
City Council Minutes 

Regular Meeting 
February 14, 2017 

A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
A regular meeting of the Palmer City Council was held on February 14, 2017, at 7:00 pm in the council 
chambers, Palmer, Alaska. 
 
Mayor DeVries called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm.  
 
B. ROLL CALL 
 
Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following were present: 
 

Edna DeVries, Mayor Linda Combs, Deputy Mayor 
Richard Best Steve Carrington 
David Fuller Brad Hanson  
Peter LaFrance 

 
Also in attendance were the following: 
 
Nathan Wallace, City Manager Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 
Michael Gatti, City Attorney Summer Rife, Deputy City Clerk 
 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Deputy Mayor Combs. 
 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

1. Approval of Consent Agenda 
a. Introduction of Ordinance No. 17-003: Repealing Ordinance No. 428 and Adopting Palmer 

Municipal Code Title 7, Airport Regulations (IM No. 17-006) 
b. Action Memorandum No. 17-008: Authorize City Manager to Negotiate and Execute an 

Assumption of Proprietary Lease from Brian K. & Carrie M. Groseclose to John C. & Sharon S. 
Dieffenderfer for Palmer Hangars Owners Association Unit No. 1 Lot 11 Block 3 at the Palmer 
Municipal Airport Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings 

c. Action Memorandum No. 17-009: Authorize the City Manager to Sign Amendment No. 3 to 
the Contract with Greene Garden Services for Gardening Services to Reflect Payments for 2017  

2. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings 
January 10, 2017, Regular Meeting 

 
Council Member Hanson requested Action Memorandum No. 17-009 be pulled from the agenda and moved 
to New Business. 
 

Main Motion: To Move Agenda Item D.1.c. to New Business and Approve Consent Agenda 
and Minutes as Modified 

Moved by: Best 
Seconded by: Combs 

Action: Motion carried unanimously by all members present 
In favor: Best, Carrington, Combs, DeVries, Fuller, Hanson, LaFrance 

Opposed: None 

Page 263 of 478



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: February 14, 2017, Regular Meeting Page 2 of 7 

 
E. COMMUNICATION AND APPEARANCE REQUESTS 
 
Item 1 – Golden Heart Lifetime Achievement Award Presentation 
 
Mayor DeVries presented Ben Hermon with the Golden Heart Lifetime Achievement Award on behalf of Eve 
Hermon. 

 
Mayor Devries presented Gene Horner with the Golden Heart Lifetime Achievement Award.  

 
Mayor Devries presented Stan Gunthrie with the Golden Heart Lifetime Achievement Award and thanked him 
for his contributions to the City of Palmer.  

 
Mayor DeVries called a brief recess from 7:08 pm to 7:12 pm. 
 
Item 2 – Presentation on the Bikeability Survey from Council Member LaFrance  
 
Council Member LaFrance: 

• Presented the results of the bikeability study; 
• Quoted relevant comments received by participants in the study; 
• Discussed the economics of the study and the importance of presenting Palmer as a bike friendly 

town; 
• Reviewed quantitative and qualitative data results; 
• Reviewed ten recommendations which came out of the survey; 
• Highlighted solutions for making the larger intersections bike friendly; 
• Suggested the eventual connection of downtown to Cedar Hills; and 
• Fielded questions from the Council. 

 
F. REPORTS 
 
Item 1 – City Manager’s Report 
 
City Manager Nathan Wallace: 

• Highlighted his written report; 
• Discussed past due special assessments and discussed the possibility of turning a past-due special 

assessment into a formal tax lien on a property; and 
• Fielded questions from the Council. 

 
Mayor DeVries: 

• Requested information on the age of the over-due special assessment accounts; and 
• Asked if the list of over-due special assessment accounts could be cross referenced with properties 

with delinquent taxes. 
 
City Attorney Gatti: 

• Spoke to tax delinquency and special assessment delinquency. 
 
Council Member Best: 

• Spoke in favor of sending letters to property owners who have past-due special assessments; and 
• Highlighted language outlining the rules of special assessment payments and past-due balances. 

 
 
 

Page 264 of 478



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: February 14, 2017, Regular Meeting Page 3 of 7 

Item 2 – City Clerk’s Report 
 
City Clerk Norma Alley: 

• Reviewed her written report; 
• Spoke about the 2017 election calendar; 
• Noted upcoming events and encouraged Council Members to RSVP to her if they would like to attend; 
• Encouraged more communication on events to ensure the Council remained compliant with the Open 

Meetings Act; 
• Informed the Council about problems with the packet and the signatures; 
• Spoke to Fred Meyer’s request to transfer their liquor license to the new location; and 
• Fielded questions from the Council. 

 
City Attorney Gatti: 

• Spoke to the Open Meetings Act and commended the Council’s efforts to comply by keeping it to only 
three members attending. 

 
Council Member Best and Deputy Mayor Combs supported the request for authorization of Fred Meyer’s 
request to transfer their liquor license. The Council granted the authorization. 
 
Item 3 – Mayor’s Report 
 
Mayor DeVries:  

• Spoke to her written report; 
• Noted she will be having lunch with Sarah from the Governor’s Office; 
• Spoke to a request from the Pew Charitable Trust with regard to restoring parks and stated she would 

be meeting with them on March 1 at the Valley Hotel and encouraged other Council Members to join; 
• Highlighted a proclamation regarding Black History Month; 
• Addressed the need for a sign for the hockey rink, and noted it could be part of the wayfinding 

project; and 
• Informed the Council of Alaska 2-1-1, a service to provide people with information and services. 

 
Deputy Mayor Combs: 

• Reminded the Council the car show would be held at the hockey rink this summer; and  
• Recalled confusion with the name of the building causing difficulty for people to locate it. 

 
Item 4 – City Attorney’s Report 
 
G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
 
Dean Fortner – Manager at the new Fred Meyer store 

• Stated he has been with Fred Meyer for 40 years; 
• Informed the Council the new store hired 100 additional employees; 
• Spoke of the improved liquor department, a sporting goods counter, a fishing department, a full-time 

florist, a cheese shop and a larger apparel department; and 
• Fielded questions from the Council. 

 
H. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
Item 1 – Ordinance No. 17-001: Amending a Portion of Palmer Municipal Code Chapters 17.44.010(E) 
A-C Airport Commercial District Intent, 17.48.010(E) A-I Airport Industrial District Intent and 17.49.010(C) 
A-M Airport Mixed Use District Intent; and Amending Building Setbacks in Chapters 17.44.060(C) A-C Airport 

Page 265 of 478



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: February 14, 2017, Regular Meeting Page 4 of 7 

Commercial District, 17.48.060(C) A-I Airport Industrial District and 17.49.060(C) A-M Airport Mixed Use 
District (IM No. 17-001) 
 
Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing. Seeing no one come forward to speak, and hearing no objection 
from the Council, the public hearing was closed. 
 

Main Motion: To Adopt Ordinance No. 17-001 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Fuller 
Action: Motion carried unanimously by all members present 

In favor: Best, Carrington, Combs, DeVries, Fuller, Hanson, LaFrance 
Opposed: None 

 
Item 2 – Ordinance No. 17-002: Amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 12.24.025.E. Regarding 
Firearms in City Parks, Adding 12.24.025.M. Establishing Hours During Which Parks are Closed, 12.24.025.N. 
Establishing Quiet Hours in Parks; and Amending 12.24.030 to Update Park Use Permits Process (IM No. 17-
004) 
 
Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing. Seeing no one come forward to speak, and hearing no objection 
from the Council, the public hearing was closed. 
 

Main Motion: To Adopt Ordinance No. 17-002 
Moved by: Best 

Seconded by: Carrington 
Action: Postponed to the February 28 meeting 

In favor:  
Opposed:  

 
Main Motion: To Postpone Ordinance No. 17-002 to the February 28 Meeting and 

Incorporate the Amendments as Suggested by Council Member Hanson 
Moved by: Carrington 

Seconded by: Fuller 
Action: Motion carried unanimously by all members present 

In favor: Best, Carrington, Combs, DeVries, Fuller, Hanson, LaFrance 
Opposed: None 

 
Council Member Hanson: 

• Suggested amendments to item J changed MTA Event Center to recreational facilities, provided an 
exception for dog shows and documentation requirements for service animals. Council Member Fuller 
supported these amendments. 

 
Council Member Best: 

• Stated he did not agree with prohibiting people from going to the park with their dog if their dog was 
on a leash and suggested the prohibition be brought before the Parks and Recreation Board.  

 
Item 3 – Resolution No. 17-001A: Amending the Budget for the City of Palmer, Alaska for the Fiscal 
Year Ending December 31, 2017, by appropriating $1,000,000.00 from the General Fund to the Water/Sewer 
Fund for Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrades (IM No. 17-007) 
 
Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing. Seeing no one come forward to speak, and hearing no objection 
from the Council, the public hearing was closed. 

Page 266 of 478



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: February 14, 2017, Regular Meeting Page 5 of 7 

 
Main Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 17-001A 

Moved by: Best 
Seconded by: Fuller 

Action: Motion carried unanimously by all members present 
In favor: Best, Carrington, Combs, DeVries, Fuller, Hanson, LaFrance 

Opposed: None 
 
Item 4 – Action Memorandum No. 17-010: City Council Statement of Non-Objection to the Renewal of 
Liquor License #5032, for Arkose Brewery, Located at 650 E. Steel Loop Road 
 
Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing. Seeing no one come forward to speak, and hearing no objection 
from the Council, the public hearing was closed. 
 
Council Member LaFrance requested to be recused because he was a part-time, occasional employee at 
the Arkose Brewery. The Council approved the request. Council Member LaFrance left the table. 
 

Main Motion: To Approve Action Memorandum No. 17-010 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Fuller 
Action: Motion carried unanimously by all members present 

In favor: Best, Carrington, Combs, DeVries, Fuller, Hanson, LaFrance 
Opposed: None 

 
Item 5 – Action Memorandum No. 17-011: City Council Statement of Non-Objection to the Renewal of 
Liquor License #744, for the Moose Lodge #793, Located at 1136 S. Cobb Street 
 
Council Member LaFrance returned to the table. Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing. Seeing no one 
come forward to speak, and hearing no objection from the Council, the public hearing was closed. 
 

Main Motion: To Approve Action Memorandum No. 17-011 
Moved by: Fuller 

Seconded by: Combs 
Action: Motion carried unanimously by all members present 

In favor: Best, Carrington, Combs, DeVries, Fuller, Hanson, LaFrance 
Opposed: None 

 
I. ACTION MEMORANDA 
 
J. NEW BUSINESS  
 
Item 1 – Resolution No. 17-009: Establishing a Wayfinding Special Committee (IM No. 17-008) 
 

Main Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 17-009 
Moved by: Best 

Seconded by: Carrington 
Action: Motion carried unanimously by all members present 

In favor: Best, Carrington, Combs, DeVries, Fuller, Hanson, LaFrance 
Opposed: None 

 
  

Page 267 of 478



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: February 14, 2017, Regular Meeting Page 6 of 7 

City Manager Wallace: 
• Updated the Council on Resolution No. 17-009; 
• Spoke to the intended purpose of the Wayfinding Committee; and  
• Fielded questions from the Council.  

 
City Clerk Alley: 

• Clarified details with regard to the formation of a special committee by resolution, appointment of the 
members, and pay of the Committee; and  

• Fielded questions from the Council. 
 
Council Member Hanson: 

• Sought reassurance there would be adequate public input before recommendations from the Committee 
were brought back to the Council. 

 
Item 2 – Resolution No. 17-010: Authorizing the Sale of a +/-222 Square Foot Easement, for the Amount 
of $4,100.00, Located at 231 West Evergreen Avenue, to the Alaska Department of Transportation and Public 
Facilities in Accordance with Palmer Municipal Code 3.20.080.D. (IM No. 17-009) 
 

Main Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 17-010 
Moved by: Best 

Seconded by: Fuller 
Action: Motion carried unanimously by all members present 

In favor: Best, Carrington, Combs, DeVries, Fuller, Hanson, LaFrance 
Opposed: None 

 
City Manager Wallace: 

• Reviewed the Information Memorandum; and 
• Fielded questions from the Council. 

 
Item 3 – Resolution No. 17-011: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute a Utility 
Reimbursable Services Agreement with the State of Alaska Department of Transportation for Betterments to 
the Palmer Wasilla Highway Eastern Terminus in the Amount of $55,311.00 (IM No. 17-010) 
 

Main Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 17-011 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Fuller 
Action: Motion carried unanimously by all members present 

In favor: Best, Carrington, Combs, DeVries, Fuller, Hanson, LaFrance 
Opposed: None 

 
Item 4 – Action Memorandum No. 17-009: Authorize the City Manager to Sign Amendment No. 3 to 
the Contract with Greene Garden Services for Gardening Services to Reflect Payments for 2017  
 

Main Motion: To Approve Action Memorandum No. 17-009 
Moved by: Best 

Seconded by: Fuller 
Action: Motion carried unanimously by all members present 

In favor: Best, Carrington, Combs, DeVries, Fuller, Hanson, LaFrance 
Opposed: None 

 
  

Page 268 of 478



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: February 14, 2017, Regular Meeting Page 7 of 7 

Council Member Hanson: 
• Stated he requested Action Memorandum No. 17-009 be moved because of concern for the overall 

costs of the contract and asked about the reasons for the cost increase. 
 
City Manager Wallace: 

• Spoke to the contract and the cost increases.  
 
K. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE 
 

• Special Assessment Quarterly Report 
• National Black (Afro American) History Month Proclamation 
• Pamphlet from Alaska 2-1-1 

 
L. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
 
M. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
Council Member Carrington: 

• Thanked Council Member LaFrance for his bike survey; and 
• Thanked the Mayor and City Clerk for the presentation of the Golden Heart Awards. 

 
Council Member LaFrance: 

• Thanked the volunteers of the Wayfinding Committee; and 
• Reminded the Council of the Orienteering event tomorrow. 

 
Council Member Best: 

• Reminded everyone to drive safely with the snow runoff and to watch out for Public Works vehicles 
and children. 

 
Council Member Fuller: 

• Thanked Council Member LaFrance for his presentation and agreed it was important to develop safe 
pathways and bike paths. 

 
Council Member Combs: 

• Thanked everyone for the Golden Heart Award presentations; 
• Spoke to her trip to Juneau and her visit with Shelley Hughes and DeLena Johnson; 
• Commended the director of Mat-Su Senior Services and spoke to her visit to facilities for senior 

citizens while in Juneau; and 
• Reminded everyone of the upcoming AML meeting in Juneau and the annual fundraising luncheon 

for the Recycling Center. 
 
N. ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no further business before the Council, the meeting adjourned at 9:09 pm. 
 
Approved this ____ day of _________, 2017. 
 
 
 ___________________________________ 
 Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 
______________________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor  

Page 269 of 478



 

Page 270 of 478



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 23, 2017, Regular Meeting Page 1 of 6 

City of Palmer, Alaska 
City Council Minutes 

Regular Meeting 
May 23, 2017 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
A regular meeting of the Palmer City Council was held on May 23, 2017, at 7:00 pm in the council chambers, 
Palmer, Alaska. 
 
Mayor DeVries called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm.  
 
B. ROLL CALL 
 
Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following were present: 
 

Edna DeVries, Mayor Linda Combs, Deputy Mayor 
Richard Best Steve Carrington 
David Fuller Brad Hanson  
Peter LaFrance 

 
Also in attendance were the following: 
 
Nathan Wallace, City Manager Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 
Michael Gatti, City Attorney Bernadette Packa, CMC, Deputy City Clerk 
 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Council Member Hanson. 
 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

1. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings 
a. April 25, 2017, Regular Meeting 

 
Main Motion: To Approve Agenda and Minutes 

Moved by: Best 
Seconded by: Combs 

Action: Motion carried unanimously by all members present 
In favor: Best, Carrington, Combs, DeVries, Fuller, Hanson, LaFrance 

Opposed: None 
 
E. COMMUNICATION AND APPEARANCE REQUESTS 
 
Item 1 – Sister School Student Delegation from the Middle and High School 
 
Instructor Carla Swick introduced the group. Each student recited an introduction in Japanese and then in 
English. They all shared their hopes and expectations for their upcoming trip to Japan in June and thanked 
the Council for its support.  
 
Monetary checks were presented to the group by Tawna Lang, from Palmer Saroma Kai, and by Mayor Edna 
Devries, from the City Council. 
 

Page 271 of 478



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 23, 2017, Regular Meeting Page 2 of 6 

The Council took a brief recess for a group photo. 
 
Item 2 – Presentation on the Matanuska-Susitna Borough Long Range Plan from Mat-Su Borough Planner 

II Jessica Smith  
 
Jessica Smith’s presentation: 

• Explained the purpose of a Long Range Transportation Plan was to determine what transportation 
needs would be in twenty years, and how that differs from use today; 

• Noted the process used for development of the current plan; 
• Supplied addresses and phone numbers to make comment on the Long Range Transportation Plan 

by contacting www.MSBLRTP2035.com, planning@matsugov.us, or 907-861-8514; and 
• Strongly encouraged everyone to share their thoughts and concerns about the proposed plan. 

 
F. REPORTS 
 
Item 1 – City Manager’s Report 
 
City Manager Nathan Wallace: 

• Highlighted his written report;  
• Expressed appreciation to the Palmer Dispatch staff for a job well done;  
• Anticipated receipt of a Notice to Proceed on the Wastewater Treatment Facility from the United 

States Department of Agriculture within the week; 
• Provided an update on the Airport Paving project;  
• Spoke to concerns regarding the Greater Palmer Fire Service Area contract renewal; and 
• Fielded questions from the Council. 

 
Item 2 – City Clerk’s Report 
 
City Clerk Norma Alley: 

• Noted a change to the meeting schedule; 
• Provided an update on the election season; 
• Noted the deadline for ballot propositions; and  
• Fielded questions from the Council. 

 
Item 3 – Mayor’s Report 
 
Mayor DeVries:  

• Highlighted her written report; 
• Commented on speeding issues; 
• Noted Crowley’s Open House scheduled for May 24, 2017; and 
• Commented on attendance of a Mayors and Managers Meeting where a 3% Summer Sales tax was 

proposed by the Mat-Su Borough School District Administration. 
 
Item 4 – City Attorney’s Report 
 
Michael Gatti:  

• Commented on hearing from the Alaska Municipal League Executive Director concerning state 
legislation HB5004 addressing sales tax; and  

• Suggested the Council review the bill and become aware of its impact on local communities. 
 
  

Page 272 of 478



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 23, 2017, Regular Meeting Page 3 of 6 

G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
 
Steve Colligan: 

• Spoke in favor of the creation of a public utility for dispatch services to utilize resources more 
efficiently. 

 
Jill Valerius: 

• Spoke to the success of the Palmer Spring Classic; and 
• Expressed appreciation for the Bike Repair Station located near the Palmer Depot building.  

 
Robert Trout: 

• Suggested a reduced water and sewer fee be established for “snowbirds,” individuals whose homes 
remain vacant while they are out of state for several months during the winter. 

 
John Sliwinski, owner of Alaska Air Fuel: 

• Spoke to its mission of providing fuel to rural locations;  
• Commented on a Notice to Vacate received from the City; 
• Expressed a need for better communication with the City; and  
• Commented on business plans for the future. 

 
Mary Smith, owner and publisher of Edible Alaska: 

• Introduced herself and supplied a recent copy of the magazine. 
 
Jim Sykes: 

• Encouraged the Council to work to provide continued quality fire and safety services; and 
• Requested the Council provide input to the Mat-Su Borough Assembly concerning a borough tax. 

 
Don King: 

• Spoke in support of Alaska Air Fuel; and  
• Requested the City meet with Alaska Air Fuel and come to a resolution. 

 
Eric Mohrmann: 

• Commented on the excellent quality of work performed by the Palmer Fire Department; and 
• Requested the City work to renew its Greater Palmer Fire Service Area contract. 

 
Rick Howe: 

• Commented on his service over the last 30 years and having had the tools necessary; 
• Spoke to asset limitations provided by the borough; and 
• Spoke to working together to get the job done. 

 
Eugene Carl Haberman: 

• Spoke to conflicts in meeting dates; and 
• Addressed a Mat-Su Borough bid process error. 

 
Bentley Surdyk: 

• Spoke to a lack of communication between Alaska Air Fuel and the City of Palmer; and 
• Noted he believed things could be worked out. 

 
The Council took a brief recess from 8:55 pm to 9:11 pm. 
 
  

Page 273 of 478



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 23, 2017, Regular Meeting Page 4 of 6 

H. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
Item 1 – Ordinance No. 17-008: Adopting a City of Palmer Parks, Recreation and Outdoor Facilities 
Memorial and Donation Policy (Pending Motion) (2nd Public Hearing) 
 
Mayor DeVries requested a staff report. City Manager Wallace pointed out the ordinance was establishing 
policy, not code.   
 
Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing. 
 
Dot Helm: 

• Spoke to development of the policy; and  
• Provided clarification concerning legacy (life cycle) funding. 

 
Hearing no objection, Mayor DeVries closed the public hearing. 
 
Discussion ensued by the Council. 
 

Main Motion: To Adopt Ordinance No. 17-008 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Fuller 
Action:  

In favor:  
Opposed:  

 
Motion to Postpone: To postpone to the July 11, 2017, meeting in order to allow staff 

to make the following changes: remove all references to 
memorial, change the reference from purchase to donation 
where appropriate, and remove the last line from the first 
paragraph of 4.B. The Board must approve all text and graphics 
for the donation plaques. 

Moved by: Best 
Seconded by: Combs 

Action: Motion carried unanimously by all members present 
In favor: Best, Carrington, Combs, DeVries, Fuller, Hanson, LaFrance 

Opposed: None 
                             
Item 2 - Resolution No. 17-019: Authorizing the Sale of 1.34 Acres of the Parcel of Land Located at 
2390 S. Glenn Highway to the Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities in Accordance with 
Palmer Municipal Code 3.20.080.D in the Amount of $64,600.00 
 
City Clerk Alley clarified an error in the agenda which confused this property with another property also for 
sale. No pending motion existed, and this would be the first public hearing on Resolution No. 17-019.  
 
Mayor DeVries requested a staff report. City Manager Wallace pointed out the property was the Church 
Estate. He noted the appraisal came in higher than the appraisal done for the City last year. 
 
Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing.  
 
Eugene Carl Haberman: 

• Commented on the need for an additional public hearing on Resolution No. 17-019; and 
• Suggested the need for additional information prior to the Council making a decision. 

Page 274 of 478



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 23, 2017, Regular Meeting Page 5 of 6 

 
Hearing no objections, Mayor DeVries closed the public hearing. 
 
Council Member Hanson missed not having the comparison properties included in the packet. He also 
asked if the utilities easement was within these 1.34 acres or if there was the possibility of a future request 
for an additional portion of the property for use as an easement.  
 
Council Member Best noted a plat map showing existing structure and improvement detail was needed. 
 

Main Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 17-019 
Moved by: LaFrance 

Seconded by: Combs 
Action: Motion carried by a 6-1 voice vote 

In favor: Carrington, Combs, DeVries, Fuller, Hanson, LaFrance 
Opposed: Best 

 
I. ACTION MEMORANDA 
 
Item 1 - Action Memorandum No. 17-037: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute a 
Two Year Agreement, With up to Three One-Year Extensions, with the City of Wasilla in which Palmer Will 
Act as a Secondary Public Safety Answering Point in the Event of Overflow Calls to the Primary Public Safety 
Answering Point 
 

Main Motion: To Authorize Action Memorandum No. 17-037 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Fuller 
Action: Motion carried unanimously by all members present 

In favor: Best, Carrington, Combs, DeVries, Fuller, Hanson, LaFrance 
Opposed: None 

 
Council Member Hanson noted a responsibility to the people to provide quality trusted service for less cost. 
Deputy Mayor Combs and Council Member Carrington concurred with Council Member Hanson’s comments. 
 
J. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE 
 
Long Range Transportation Plan Road Improvement Map provided by Mat-Su Borough Planner 
Edible Alaska Magazine for Spring 2017 provided by Mary Smith 
 
K. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
 
Eugene Carl Haberman: 

• Noted the more complicated an issue was the more important it was for the public to be heard. 
 
L. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
Council Member Carrington: 

• Noted he would like to see the issue with Alaska Air Fuel reconciled without violating anything with 
the FAA; and 

• Requested acquisition of and updated election map only showing City of Palmer precincts. 
 

  

Page 275 of 478



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 23, 2017, Regular Meeting Page 6 of 6 

Council Member LaFrance: 
• Expressed appreciation to the City for the repairs being done on south Alaska Street; and 
• Requested support to pursue a Parks and Trails Grant with funds from the easement sale. Council 

Member Hanson offered support. 
 

Council Member Best: 
• Thanked the public for showing up and expressing their thoughts and opinions; and 
• Expressed displeasure at Assembly Member Colligan’s representation of unfortunate events 

associated with dispatch units in other communities and wanted to make sure the record was clear 
it was not addressing an event in Palmer. 

 
Council Member Hanson agreed with Council Member Best. 
 
Council Member Fuller: 

• Commented on the Friday Fling kick-off last week; and 
• Encouraged everyone to visit Alaska Pickers, a new business in town, opening June 3, 2017. 

 
Deputy Mayor Combs: 

• Recapped the numerous events which took place in Palmer on May 13, 2017, including the High 
School Regional Track Meet, City Clean-up Day, Opening Day for Little League, Bike Blessing, Palmer 
Art Walk, Bike Classic, and appearance of the first Tour Bus for the season; and 

• Encouraged everyone to attend Colony Days events on June 9, 10, and 11. 
 

Mayor DeVries: 
• Mentioned being approached concerning the possibility of installing a 70-foot flag pole at the library, 

and requested Council feedback on the idea be submitted to the City Clerk. 
 
M. ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no further business before the Council, the meeting adjourned at 10:26 pm. 
 
Approved this 13th day of June, 2017. 
 
 
 
 
 ___________________________________ 
 Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor  

Page 276 of 478



 

Report to Council 
City Manager Nathan Wallace 
June 27, 2017 

 
Staff Update and analysis (May 2017): 

Police Department: 

Total calls: 750 up from 633 in April 

Call breakdown -  31%(April - 29%) traffic/vehicle related, 31% (April - 35%) checks (welfare/property), 16%(April - 
15%) citizen assistance, 21%(April - 21%) other.  

Fire Department: Calls:  74(53 - April) in May 2017, up by  40% from last month, up by 40% from last year. Fire:   
12(9 - April), Recue:  17(17 - April), Hazard:  7(4 - March), Good intents:  25(10 - April), False alarm:  3(5 – April), 
Special Incident:  0(0 - April), Service call:  10(8 - April). 

Page 277 of 478



 

Report to Council 
City Manager Nathan Wallace 
June 27, 2017 

 
 

Community Development: 

Library:    

Patrons:              April     May 

Total Registered Patrons          12,985               13,056 

Total Mat-Su Borough Resident Patrons           10,018              10,070 
Total City of Palmer Resident Patrons             2,967                2,986 
New Library Users                    53        71 
 
Usage:                April     May 
Patron Visits/Count              8,549                             10,050 
Reference Questions                             1,641                  1,982 
Library Computer Sessions             1,495                  2,586 
WIFI Sessions                                          1,413                  1,580 
Circulation (PPL items)                                              9,356                  9,467 
Magazine circulation              9,034        395 
Take Home Paperbacks                      153                     209 
   
 
Programs:              April     May 
 
Children’s Programs           16  Events           1,164   Participants          9  Events        821   Participants   
Class Visits              5  Events              192   Participants          9  Events     1,021   Participants 
Young Adult Programs            4  Events               220   Participants          1  Event              9   Participants 
Adult Programs              5  Events              108   Participants          2  Events        22   Participants  
Total Library Programs           26  Events          1,376   Participants        21  Events  1,873   Participants 
 
Community Events           38  Events                153   Participant        29  Events  1,199   Participants     
Total Events                64  Events             1,529   Participants        50  Events    3,072   Participants 
    
 
Building and Compliance: 

Compliance Letters dispatched:  11(5- April) (unsightly premise), 2(3- April) (clean up follow up),  
and  8(20 - April) (permit follow ups), other:  2(1- April) 

 

 

Page 278 of 478



 

Report to Council 
City Manager Nathan Wallace 
June 27, 2017 

 
 

 

 

Page 279 of 478



 

Report to Council 
City Manager Nathan Wallace 
June 27, 2017 

 

 

 

     PALMER GOLF COURSE 

                                                  April                       May 

       Operational Days:                  18    31 

       Number of Rounds:            1,409          1,886 

       Green Fees:     59,679.00        55,767.73 

       Cart Rental:                 8,397.00        12,432.00 

       Club Rental:          110.00    810.00 

       Driving Range:               2,911.00          5,262.00 

       Merchandise Sales:       20,493.50        25,301.00 

       Snack Bar:                   3,817.00          7,545.00 

       Beer & Wine:       2,461.50          5,302.75 
 

Page 280 of 478



Mayor’s Memo 
Council Meeting report – June 20, 2017 

OUTREACH: 

  Community Luncheon – Job Corps – June 22 
Valley Board of Realtors – June 14 – 
Colony Days 
Radio Interview – June 9 

UP COMING EVENTS: 

 Town Hall meeting on Sewer Project 
 Outreach to High school age student(s) for Boards and 

Commission 
 Mayor’s Minute on Radio – Sept 22 
 Governor’s Prayer Breakfast – Anchorage – June 24 
 Mayor/Manager’s meeting – June 22 Houston - 3:30/ July 20 - 

Palmer  
 MS Ride for the Cure – June 25 – Fair Grounds by depot 9:30 AM 
 Mat Su Miners/City of Palmer – July 26 – 7 pm 
 4-H Rebel Riders -Concession stand dedication – fairgrounds 
 Manager, Mayor, Clerk & Attorney agenda – June 29 and July 13 
 United Way/Seahawks – Elks July 10 – 7 to 9 pm; $50.00 per 

ticket 
 Clerk has tickets for Korean-Alaska Friendship Meeting 

Palmer Pride – ideas – Citizen of the Year; Business of the Year, Beautiful 
Garden – your input is welcome 

PENDING ITEMS –  

  Flag Pole by Library 

  Sales Tax proposal by Mat Su Borough assembly 

  

 

 

Leaders choose the right things to do 

and managers do those things. 

Page 281 of 478



 

Page 282 of 478



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 17-009-Z-1-SL Page 1 of 3 

City of Palmer  
Ordinance No. 17-009-Z-1-SL 

 
Subject:  Amending the Zoning Map to Revise the Designation of Tax Parcel C8, Located in Section 4, 
Township 17 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian from R-1, Single-family Residential to R-4, High 
Density Residential with Special Limitations  
 
Agenda of: June 13, 2017 – Introduction 
 June 27, 2017 – Public Hearing 
 
Council Action: ☐ Adopted ☐ Denied 
 ☐ Amended: _______________________________________ 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Community Development Director Sandra Garley 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 

X  Community Development   5/22/17 

X  Finance 
  

5/23/17 

  Fire    

  Police     

  Public Works     

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 

 

 

City Attorney   

City Clerk   
 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $  
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
X Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

Director of Finance Signature: 
 

Page 283 of 478



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 17-009-Z-1-SL Page 2 of 3 

Attachment(s):  
 Ordinance No. 17-009-Z-1-SL 
 Planning and Zoning Commission Resolution No. 17-004 with Findings of Facts 
 Staff Report 
 Public Notice and Vicinity Map for Commission Public Hearing of May 18, 2017 
 Zoning Map Amendment Application 
 Written Comments Received for Commission Hearing 
 Planning and Zoning Minutes from May 18, 2017 
 Public Comments Received for City Council Public Hearing (includes applicant’s PowerPoint 

Presentation) 
 
Summary Statement:  
 
If approved, Ordinance No. 17-009-Z-1-SL will rezone Tax Parcel C8 located in Section 4, Township 17 
North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian from R-1, Single-family Residential to R-4, High Density Residential 
with Special Limitations.  
 
Background: 
 
This vacant parcel was subdivided from its parent parcel on August 23, 2002, and is located between the 
MTA Events Center and the Palmer Job Corps facility.  The only property in the surrounding area that is 
zoned R-1 is Mountain Rose Estates, a Planned Unit Development.  The other surrounding properties 
consist of low density, high density and public uses.  Both Mountain Rose Estates and Mountain Rose East 
Condos located to the south of the parcel are senior housing developments.   
 
This parcel was annexed into the City in 2003 as part of a large annexation.  At the time this parcel was 
annexed, the Code stated that all land annexed into the City, except for public land, was automatically 
classified as R-1, Single-family Residential upon annexation.  The Code was changed in October, 2004 
when the T-Transitional District was adopted by City Council.  This parcel was annexed into the City prior 
to the creation of the T-Transitional District and therefore, was automatically zoned R-1, Single-family 
Residential. 
 
On April 16, 2015, the Planning and Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing for a rezone request 
from R-1, Single-family Residential to R-4, High Density Residential submitted by John Weaver for Valley 
Residential Services.  The applicant proposed to build 88 units of affordable housing, but during discussion, 
the Commission determined that straight rezoning to R-4 would not control the way the final project was 
constructed. The motion to approve the requested rezone was unanimously defeated.  
 
On August 20, 2015, the Planning and Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on a preliminary 
proposal for a Planned Unit Development (PUD) project of 88 affordable dwelling units on this property 
submitted by John Weaver for Valley Residential Services. The motion to approve the PUD with 
amendments was passed unanimously. However, residents of Mountain Rose Estates Condominium 
Owners Association twice appealed the Commission’s decision to grant preliminary approval of the PUD 
to the Hearing Officer. The Hearing Officer ultimately affirmed the Commission’s decision. Mountain Rose 
then appealed the Commission’s decision to the Alaska Superior Court.  The Case is still currently in the 
appeals process.   
 
On May 18, 2017, the Commission conducted a public hearing on a request submitted by Cameron 
Johnson for AMG & Associates to rezone this 9.3 acre parcel to R-4 with Special Limitations to construct 
84 units of senior housing. Following this hearing, the Commission unanimously voted to recommend 
approval of the requested rezone to R-4 with the Special Limitations requested by the applicant.  
 
Staff has spoken with John Weaver of Valley Residential Services who has confirmed that Valley 

Page 284 of 478



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 17-009-Z-1-SL Page 3 of 3 

Residential Services will withdraw their application for Planned Unit Development project upon the 
approval of the requested rezone from R-1 to R-4 with the requested Special Limitations as submitted by 
for AMG & Associates, LLC.   
 
During the May 18, 2017 Planning and Zoning meeting, a request was made by a representative of 
Mountain Rose Estates that the requirement in PMC 17.27.068 for a 6½ foot fence separating R-1 from 
R-4 be waived.  Cameron Johnson of AMG & Associates, LLC agrees that this will be beneficial for both 
parties.   
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 17-009-Z-1-SL to amend the Zoning Map to revise the designation of Tax Parcel C8 
located in Section 4, Township 17 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian from R-1, Single-family 
Residential to R-4, High Density Residential with the following Special Limitations as requested by the 
applicant: 

1) Any development to be restricted to senior housing 
2) Maximum overall density of 84 units 
3) Two story height limitation 
4) Access to site to be restricted to Cope Industrial Way (except for EVA entrance from Commercial 

Drive) 
5) 200’ building setback from the southern property boundary 
6) 20’ landscape screening easement to be provided at southern property boundary 
7) Parking stall ratio not to exceed 1.70 parking stalls per unit 

 
 

Page 285 of 478



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 17-009-Z-1-SL Page 1 of 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 17-009-Z-1-SL 

 
An Ordinance of the Palmer City Council Amending the Zoning Map to revise the 
designation of Tax Parcel C8, located in Section 4, Township 17 North, Range 2 East, 
Seward Meridian from R-1, Single-family Residential to R-4, High Density Residential 
with Special Limitations  
 
THE CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA ORDAINS: 

 
Section 1. Classification. This ordinance shall be permanent in nature and shall be 

incorporated into the Palmer Municipal Code. 
 
Section 2. Severability. If any provision of this ordinance or any application thereof to any 

person or circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and the application to 
other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 

 
 Section 3. Authority and legislative findings. Pursuant to 17.80.040, the City Council 
hereby adopts the following zoning map amendment in accordance with the legislative findings 
set below: 

WHEREAS, the City of Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission (the Commission) received 
an application on April 28, 2017 from applicant, Cameron Johnson of AMG & Associates, LLC as 
authorized representative for owners Duaine Arthur Richards and Ardith Eleanor Richards, Co-
Trustees of the Richards Family Trust, Sid A. Richards, Brandon J. Blake, James Donald Smith, 
Jr. and Pierre J. Nicolet of Tax Parcel C8, located in Section 4, Township 17 North, Range 2 East, 
Seward Meridian, Alaska to rezone the subject property from being zoned R-1, Single-family 
Residential to R-4, High Density Residential with Special Limitations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Commission duly gave required notices, held its required public hearing on 

May 18, 2017, and voted 6 in favor and 0 opposed to recommend that such amendment to the 
zoning map be approved; and 

 

Planning & Zoning Commission Information: 
Initiated By: Planning and Zoning 

Commission 
Public Hearing: May 18, 2017 

Action: Approved 
Vote: Unanimous 

City Council Information: 
Introduced by: City Manage Wallace 

Date: June 13, 2017 
Public Hearing: June 27, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

Yes: No: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 286 of 478



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 17-009-Z-1-SL Page 2 of 2 

WHEREAS, the Commission adopted findings of fact in Commission Resolution No. 17-004 
as to the need, justification and effect of the change of zoning on May 18, 2017; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council duly gave required notices, held its required public hearing on 

this date, and has duly considered the request to rezone the property, all evidence and testimony 
presented including any comments of the persons attending the public hearing, the findings of 
fact set forth in Planning and Zoning Commission Resolution No. 17-004, and the recommendation 
of the Commission; and 

 
 Section 4. The City of Palmer Zoning Districts map dated December 2014 is hereby 
amended to revise the zoning designation of Tax Parcel C8, located in Section 4, Township 17 
North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian, Alaska from being zoned R-1, Single-family Residential to 
R-4, High Density Residential with the following Special Limitations: 
 

1) Any development to be restricted to senior housing 
2) Maximum overall density of 84 units 
3) Two story height limitation 
4) Access to site to be restricted to Cope Industrial Way (except for EVA entrance from 

Commercial Drive) 
5) 200’ building setback from the southern property boundary 
6) 20’ landscape screening easement to be provided at southern property boundary 
7) Parking stall ratio not to exceed 1.70 parking stalls per unit 

 
 Section 5. Effective Date. Ordinance No. 17-009-Z-1-SL shall take effect upon adoption by 
the Palmer City Council.  
 
Passed and approved this _______ day of ______, 2017. 
 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 
 
________________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 

Page 287 of 478



Page 288 of 478



Page 289 of 478



Page 290 of 478



 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

PART I. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

Location: Located South of East Cope Industrial Way and is adjacent to the MTA 
Events Center and Palmer Job Corps Site; Tax Parcel C8 in Section 4, 
Township 17 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian 
 
 

Site Address:  
Request: Rezone from R-1, Single-family Residential to R-4, High Density Residential with 

the following applicant requested Special Limitations: 
1) Any development to be restricted to senior housing 
2) Maximum overall density of 84 units 
3) Two story height limitation 
4) Access to site to be restricted to Cope Industrial Way (except for EVA 

entrance from Commercial Drive) 
5) 200’ building setback from the southern property boundary 
6) 20’ landscape screening easement to be provided at southern property 

boundary 
7) Parking stall ratio not to exceed 1.70 parking stalls per unit 

 
Applicant & Owner: Cameron Johnson of AMG & Associates, LLC as authorized representative 

for owners Duaine Arthur Richards and Ardith  Eleanor Richards, Co-
Trustees of the Richards Family Trust, Sid A.  Richards, Brandon J. Blake, 
James Donald Smith, Jr. and Pierre J.  Nicolet 
 

Public Hearing Date: May 18, 2017 
 

Notification Requirements: In accordance with 17.80.030 
By May 2, 2017, 180 public hearing notices were mailed to Property owners within 1,200’ of the 
site. Notification of the public hearing was published in the Frontiersman on May 12, 2017.  A 
total of 15 written comments were received in response, with 9 in favor of, 3 opposed and 3 no 
objection.   
 
 
 
PART II. BACKGROUND 
 
Site Information:  
 
This parcel was subdivided from its parent parcel on August 23, 2002 into Parcel B1 by Waiver 
Resolution Serial No. 2002-142-PWm recorded as Reception No. 2002-018272-0.  The parcel is 
accessed by East Cope Industrial Way.  This parcel was annexed into the City in 2003 as part of a 
large annexation.  The property is currently undeveloped. 
 
The applicant requests the change due to lack of sites within the city limits with the necessary 
amenities to support a quality senior housing project.   

                  Community Development 
                   Zone Change Application 
                 Staff Report to Commission  
 

Page 291 of 478



 
Nearby properties and uses include Mountain Rose Estates, MTA Events Center, Job Corps, Terra 
Surveys and an R-4 High Density Residential zoning district containing multi-family housing units.             
 
Parcel Size:  
 
9.30 gross acres 
 
Existing Zoning:   
 
R-1 Single-family Residential; property is undeveloped  
 

Surrounding Land Uses:   
  

 Zoning Land Use for surrounding areas 
North P & BP Palmer Junior Middle School and Terra Surveys 
South R-1 with PUD Mountain Rose Estates  
East P Palmer Job Corps 
West P MTA Events Center 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 292 of 478



Considerations: 
 
The intent of the R-1, Single-family Residential District is to establish a district in which the 
principal use of land is for single-family dwellings and to prohibit community and individual use of 
land and any other use which would substantially interfere with development or continuation of 
single-family dwellings.  The intent of the R-4, High Density Residential District is for residential 
areas with a combination of multiple-family structures and single-family residences with a high 
population density which permits some nonresidential uses that are compatible with the residential 
character of the district.   
 

• Adjacent to this parcel is only one parcel that is zoned R-1. That R-1 parcel is a Planned Unit 
Development, Mountain Rose Estates.  The other adjacent parcels are zoned for P-Public 
Use, (MTA Events Center and Job Corps) and BP- Business Park (Terra Surveys).   

 
Code Requirements:  
 
Minimum R-4, High Density Residential District lot requirements are - a lot width of 60 feet and a 
minimum lot area of 7,200 square feet, and the R-4 district requires provision of 2,700 sq. feet of 
land area for each dwelling unit.  

• The 9.3 acre parcel exceeds the minimum lot width and lot area requirement for R-4. The 
proposed 84 units of senior housing at 2,700 square feet per unit requires 226,800 sq. feet 
of lot area. At 9.3 acre, or 405,108 sq. ft. the parcel exceeds the minimum lot area per 
dwelling unit requirement.  

 
  

PART III.  FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
PMC 17.80.036.C The report of the Commission shall give consideration as to what effect the 
proposed change would have on public health, safety, welfare and convenience, and for a map 
amendment  show whether: 
 
Fact 1) The proposed change is in accordance with the borough and city comprehensive plans; 
 
 
Applicant’s response:   
The proposed change meets the city’s objective to promote a diverse range of desirable quality new 
housing, from attractive high density in or near downtown to outlying housing in more rural settings.     
 
Staff finds the following support in the Comprehensive Plan:  
 

• Goal 2 of Chapter 6, Land Use, from the 2006 Palmer Comprehensive Plan states, “Maintain 
high quality residential neighborhoods; promote development of a range of desirable new 
places to live in Palmer.”   

• Objective A under Goal 2 goes on to state “Promote a diverse range of quality housing, from 
attractive higher density housing in or near downtown, to outlying housing in more rural 
settings.”   

• Objective A also lists senior housing as one of the three categories of housing the City in 
particular wishes to promote.  

• Goal 2 of Chapter 6 recognized one of Palmer’s many assets to be water and sewer 
connections which would permit higher density housing.  Another asset mentioned is the 
chance to have a residence within walking distance of stores, restaurants and places to 
work.   

Page 293 of 478



• Chapter 4 Public Services, Facilities & Infrastructure, Goal 2, under Objective B Senior 
Services states the city should “provide and sustain public services and facilities to serve the 
senior population. Keep Palmer an attractive place to live for people of all stages of life.”                   

 
Staff finds the following facts support a finding that this zone change is in accordance with the 
Zoning Code, Title 17, and the Comprehensive Plan: 
 

a) The proposed zone change to R-4, High Density Residential with Special Limitations would 
support Goal 2, Chapter 6 and Goal 2, Chapter 4 of the Comprehensive Plan by promoting a 
diverse range of quality housing, particularly the 84 units of senior housing which is a 
category of housing the City wishes to promote, and  

b) By providing quality of life amenities such as the 200’ buffer to the existing senior housing, a 
community center, and an interior open space including a dog park to accommodate the 
pets of residents in this development.   

 
 

Fact 2) The proposed change is compatible with surrounding zoning districts and the established 
land use pattern; 
 
 
Applicant’s response:   
Yes.  The established land use pattern uses R4 high density residential as a buffer to those districts 
having a higher intensity.  The subject site borders R1 to the South that will be protected by a 200ft 
setback and a fence along the southern property line used as a buffer.       
 
Staff finds the following facts support a finding that this zone change is in accordance with the 
Zoning Code, Title 17: 
 

a) The parcel’s location is surrounded by a mix of public, business, high density residential and 
planned unit development uses.  Among the surrounding districts and established uses are 
Palmer Job Corps, Mountain Rose Estates, MTA Events Center, Palmer Junior Middle School 
and nearby are Mountain Rose East Condos and Eagle Ridge apartment building.   

b) If rezoned to R-4, High Density Residential with the Special Limitations requested by the 
applicant, this parcel would be compatible with surrounding zoning districts and existing 
uses, and would allow for future development of this parcel for senior housing. 

c) The requested special limitations will ensure that this rezone to R-4, High Density Residential 
would be limited to senior housing that is compatible with the existing nearby public uses, 
higher density residential uses and the existing senior housing planned unit development 
(Mountain Rose Estates).        
 

 
Fact 3) Public facilities such as schools, utilities and streets are adequate to support the proposed 
change; 
 
 
Applicant’s response:   
Schools will not be affected as the subject site is age restricted to seniors.  Utilities will be extended 
to the subject site and are sufficient to support the proposed change.  The current infrastructure is 
adequate for a senior project with low levels of traffic.       
 
Staff finds the following facts support a finding that this zone change is in accordance with the 
Zoning Code, Title 17: 
 

Page 294 of 478



a) Public facilities such as schools and utilities are adequate to support the proposed change.  
There will be little to no impact on public schools since one of the special limitations of the 
rezone request restricts development to senior housing.  

b) Another listed special limitation of the rezone request is for a reduction in the required 
amount of parking for this parcel since it is restricted to senior housing which will result in a 
lower level of traffic that will be generated by this development.  

c) The availability of water and sewer lines to accommodate a high-density development on 
this parcel have previously been confirmed by Public Works.        

 
Fact 4) Changed conditions affecting the subject parcel or the surrounding neighborhood support 
the proposed change; 
 
 
Applicant’s response:  
 Yes, conditions affecting the subject site and the Palmer community have changed and warrant the 
zone change of the subject property from R1 to R4.  See project details for more information.   
 
Staff finds the following facts support a finding that this zone change is in accordance with the 
Zoning Code, Title 17: 
 

a) The Matanuska-Susitna Borough is the fastest growing region in Alaska and the over 65 
population is the fastest growing segment of that growth. According to the Alaska 
Department of Labor and Workforce Development, Research & Analysis Division, the over 55 
population in Palmer had increased from 1,079 in 2010 to 1,306 by 2016.  

b) This undeveloped property was automatically zoned R-1 upon annexation. Surrounding 
neighborhoods east of South Chugach are comprised of a mix of residential, public and 
business uses.  The proposed change to R-4, High Density Residential with Special 
Limitations for this parcel is compatible with the variety of the surrounding area’s public 
uses, businesses, high density residential uses and established senior housing.  

 
Fact 5) The proposed change is consistent with the public welfare and does not grant a special 
privilege to the owner(s). 
 
 
Applicant’s response:  
 The proposed change is consistent with the greater public welfare and will serve a growing senior 
population in the surrounding Palmer community and will not grant a special privilege to the owners 
of the site.      
 
Staff finds the following facts support a finding that this zone change is in accordance with the 
Zoning Code, Title 17: 
 

a) The proposed zone change is consistent with the public welfare in that it provides an 
opportunity to add needed senior housing in Palmer and does not grant this parcel any 
special privilege as the requested zone change is consistent with the adjacent Planned Unit 
Development and nearby properties zoned R-2 and R-4.   

 

PART III.  STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Based on the information provided by the applicant, staff finds this proposal to rezone Tax Parcel C8 
in Section 4, Township 17 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian, from R-1, Single-family Residential 
to R-4, High Density Residential with Special Limitations is consistent with and in conformance with 
the Palmer Comprehensive Plan for the R-4 High Density Residential district. 
 

Page 295 of 478



If following the Public Hearing, Commission finds that the applicant’s proposal conforms to the 
Palmer Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Code provisions, then staff recommends that the 
Commission approve this request for rezoning Tax Parcel C8 in Section 4, Township 17 North, Range 
2 East, Seward Meridian from R-1, Single-family Residential to R-4, High Density Residential with the 
following Special Limitations and forward a recommendation for approval to the City Council: 
 

1) Any development to be restricted to senior housing 
2) Maximum overall density of 84 units 
3) Two story height limitation 
4) Access to site to be restricted to Cope Industrial Way (except for EVA entrance from 

Commercial Drive) 
5) 200’ building setback from the southern property boundary 
6) 20’ landscape screening easement to be provided at southern property boundary 
7) Parking stall ratio not to exceed 1.70 parking stalls per unit 

 

Page 296 of 478



Page 297 of 478



Page 298 of 478



Page 299 of 478



Page 300 of 478



Page 301 of 478



Page 302 of 478



Page 303 of 478



Page 304 of 478



Page 305 of 478



Page 306 of 478



Page 307 of 478



Page 308 of 478



Page 309 of 478



Page 310 of 478



Page 311 of 478



Page 312 of 478



Page 313 of 478



Page 314 of 478



Page 315 of 478



Page 316 of 478



Page 317 of 478



Page 318 of 478



Page 319 of 478



Page 320 of 478



Page 321 of 478



Page 322 of 478



Page 323 of 478



Page 324 of 478



Page 325 of 478



Page 326 of 478



Page 327 of 478



Page 328 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 1 of 10 

 PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
 CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA  
 REGULAR MEETING 
 THURSDAY, MAY 18, 2017 
 7:00 P.M. - COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER: 

The regular meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission was called to order by 
Chairman Lucas at 7:00 p.m. 

 
B. ROLL CALL: 

Present and constituting a quorum were Commissioners: 
Dan Lucas, Chairman 
David Petty, Vice Chairman 

  Douglas Cruthers 
  Kristy Thom Bernier 
  Erick Cordero-Giorgana (at 7:03 pm) 
  Gena Ornquist 

Absence(s): 
  Merry Maxwell (Excused) 

Also present were: 
Sandra S. Garley, Community Development Director 
Kimberly A. McClure, Planning and Code Compliance Technician 
Nathan Wallace, City Manager 
Pam Whitehead, Recording Secretary 

 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  The Pledge was led by Commissioner Petty. 
 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 

The agenda was unanimously approved as presented.  There were no objections. 
[Cruthers, Thom Bernier, Ornquist, Petty, Lucas] 

 
E. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING: 

The minutes of the April 20, 2017 Regular Meeting were unanimously approved as 
presented.  There were no objections. 
[Cruthers, Thom Bernier, Ornquist, Petty, Lucas] 
 

F. PERSONS TO BE HEARD: 
There were no persons in the audience wishing to speak on a topic not on the agenda. 

 
G. PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
 

1. Resolution 17-003:  A Resolution of the Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission 
Recommending City Council Approve a Zoning Map Amendment for Lot 8, Lot 7 and 
the west one-half of Lot 6, Block 3, TA Smith Subdivision to be Rezoned from R-2, 
Low Density Residential to CG-General Commercial, located within Section 33, 
Township 18 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian, Alaska. 

Page 329 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 2 of 10 

 
Chairman Lucas called for the motion: 

Main Motion: To recommend approval of the requested Zoning Map Amendment 
more particularly described in Resolution No. 17-003, to include 
the adoption of recommended Findings of Fact outlined below by 
staff that support the requested rezone of Lot 8, Lot 7 and the 
west one-half of Lot 6, Block 3, T A Smith Subdivision, from R-2 
Low Density Residential to CG General Commercial. 

Moved by: Petty 
Seconded by: Cruthers 

 
Staff Report:  Director Garley recited general and background information including site 
information, parcel size, existing zoning, surrounding land uses, particular considerations, code 
requirements, and findings of fact.  Public notice and publishing requirements pursuant to code 
have been met.  A total of 1 written comment was received in response, with 0 in favor, 1 
opposed, and 0 no objection. 
 
According to PMC 17.80.036 C, the Commission shall give consideration as to what effect the 
proposed change would have on public health, safety, welfare and convenience.  Staff finds 
that the following facts support a finding that this zone change is in accordance with Zoning 
Code Title 17 and the Comprehensive Plan: 
 
Fact 1:  The proposed change is in accordance with the borough and city comprehensive plans. 

• Chapter 7, Economic Vitality, of the City of Palmer Comprehensive Plan Goal 3 identifies the 
need for strengthening Palmer’s role as a place to shop for residents of Palmer, residents of 
surrounding areas and visitors.   

• Objective A of Goal 3, of the Plan mentions the need to provide space for commercial 
expansion; set high standards to ensure quality development.  Objective A also notes that 
commercial growth is essential to Palmer’s quality of life and economic health.   

• Objective A of Goal 3 notes that the Comprehensive Plan policies are intended to ensure 
appropriate and sufficient land is zoned to encourage investors and business owners to 
make investments that expand the commercial products and services available in Palmer. 

• Chapter 7 Goal 4 of the Comprehensive Plan encourages new commercial developments, so 
residents of Palmer, residents of surrounding areas, and visitors can find the goods and 
services they need in Palmer.  

• Chapter 5, Transportation, of the Comprehensive Plan under Goal 1 notes that the City 
should work to control access to commercial development along the Glenn Highway. 

• Chapter 6, Land Use, of the Comprehensive Plan Goal 1 under Objective A recommends 
guiding growth and development patterns by providing adequate space for expansion of 
commercial uses along the Glenn Highway. 

 
   a) The proposed change would support the objectives and goals of the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan by encouraging commercial development and expansion of over two acres of commercial 
uses at the intersection of the Glenn Highway and W. Arctic Avenue (the Old Glenn Highway) 
which are major transportation links in the Palmer road system. 
   b) This new commercial node will provide over two acres of land for the development of 
commercial activities that will increase the availability of goods and services for residents and 

Page 330 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 3 of 10 

travelers along the highway. 
   c) By special limitation, this new commercial development will only have access from the 
south from W. Arctic Avenue. 
   d) The new extension of Bogard Road connecting the Parks Highway to the Glenn Highway at 
the W. Arctic Avenue intersection will increase the number of travelers along the Glenn Highway 
who can stop to shop for goods and services at the new commercial development by accessing 
this property via W. Arctic Avenue. 
 
Fact 2:  The proposed change is compatible with surrounding zoning districts and the 
established land use pattern. 
   a) The property in question is continuous to CG Commercial General zoning property on the 
west side.  The entire south side of the block between the Glenn Highway and S. Alaska Street 
is zoned General Commercial and has existing commercial businesses with access from West 
Arctic Avenue. 
   b) The remaining five lots on Block 3 of TA Smith Subdivision will remain their R-2 Low 
Density Residential zoning designation and will continue to have their access off W. Auklet 
Avenue.  The special limitations of the proposed rezone will prevent the use of W. Auklet by 
commercial traffic. 
   c) The proposed change will simplify the process for the property owners to combine these 
lots with the adjacent tracts that are already zoned General Commercial with access from W. 
Arctic Avenue, thereby encouraging the future development of these lots for commercial use of 
the property that would be compatible with the established commercial and residential uses in 
the surrounding zoning districts. 
 
Fact 3:  Public facilities such as schools, utilities and streets are adequate to support the 
proposed change. 
   a) The property owners are currently in the platting process to combine thee lots with the 
adjacent commercially zoned tracts, specifically Tract 1-A which has access restricted to West 
Arctic Avenue, a major collector street that is adequate for any new commercial traffic. 
   b) Utilities are available to serve the proposed use of property as General Commercial; Public 
Works Department has commented that their main concern is that no structures are built over 
the sewer main that will be in the middle of the property if combined. 
   c) The proposed change is from R-2, Low Density Residential to CG, General Commercial; 
there would be little to no impact on public schools since the proposed change would be for a 
commercial use.  The nearest public school is located 2,533 feet from the proposed rezoning. 
 
Fact 4:  Changed conditions affecting the subject parcel or the surrounding neighborhood 
support the proposed change. 
   a) The extension of Bogard Road from the intersection of W. Arctic Avenue and the Glenn 
Highway from Palmer High School to the Parks Highway have created a new transportation 
corridor which increases traffic passing by the property in question and makes commercial 
development more viable for this property. 
   b) The proposed rezone request would match the zoning of the surrounding tracts to make 
the process easier to re-plat the lots and tracts into one large commercially zoned parcel with 
direct access onto W. Arctic Avenue and would be compatible with the surrounding 
commercially zoned properties. 

Page 331 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 4 of 10 

 
Fact 5:  The proposed change is consistent with the public welfare and does not grant a special 
privilege to the owner(s): 
   a)  The proposed change does not grant the owner any special privilege as the property in 
question is contiguous to existing Commercial zoning and business development; other property 
owners of land contiguous to commercially zoned lots on major transportation routes may 
request a zone change to Commercial. 
   b)  The proposed change is consistent with the public welfare by permitting the future use of 
these properties to be developed for commercial activity for the benefit of Palmer residents and 
visitors. 
 
If the Commission concurs, following Public Hearing and the information provided, staff 
recommends that the Commission approve the request for rezone and forward with a 
recommendation for approval to the City Council. 
 
There were brief questions and discussion concerning the tunnel used by high school students 
to cross the Glenn Highway and placement of a fence for safety as well as create a buffer to the 
residential community. 
 
Public Hearing – Chairman Lucas opened the Public Hearing at 7:16 p.m. 
 
Paul Hulbert, surrogate for Petitioners Robert and Barbara Fisher, spoke in support.  He 
explained the goal is to clean up the site and combine the parcels into one large parcel, making 
it compatible with the General Commercial area.  Speaking to the concern of the neighbor 
objecting to the use of W. Auklet for commercial traffic, he explained there is no intent to put 
commercial traffic onto W. Auklet; that in the re-platting process, they have asked for vacation 
of that portion of the 20-foot alley to provide a smooth transition to route all traffic to W. Arctic.  
They have no problems with the special conditions regarding access only onto W. Arctic. 
 
There being no further comments, the public hearing was closed at 7:20 p.m. 
 
Following brief Commission discussion: 
 
Resolution No. 17-003: 
Vote on Motion: Carried unanimously by voice vote. 

In favor: Cruthers, Thom-Bernier, Cordero-Giorgana, Ornquist, Petty, Lucas 
Opposed: 

Absent: 
None 
Maxwell 

 
2. Resolution 17-004:  A Resolution of the Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission 

Recommending City Council Approve a Zoning Map Amendment for Tax Parcel C8 to 
be Rezoned from R-1, Single-family Residential, to R-4, High Density Residential with 
Special Limitations, located in Section 4, Township 17 North, Range 2 East, Seward 
Meridian, Alaska. 

 
Chairman Lucas called for the motion: 

Page 332 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 5 of 10 

Main Motion: To recommend approval of the requested Zoning Map Amendment 
more particularly described in Resolution No. 17-004, to include 
the adoption of Findings of Fact outlined below by staff that 
support the requested rezone of Tax Parcel C8 from R-1, Single-
family Residential, to R-4 High Density Residential with Special 
Limitations. 

Moved by: Petty 
Seconded by: Cruthers 

 
Staff Report:  Director Garley recited general and background information including site 
information, parcel size, existing zoning, surrounding land uses, particular considerations, code 
requirements, and findings of fact.  Public notice and publishing requirements pursuant to code 
have been met.  Of the 180 notices sent, a total of 15 written comments were received in 
response, with 9 in favor, 3 opposed, and 3 no objection.  (See detailed information in the 
packet) 
 
According to PMC 17.80.036 C, the Commission shall give consideration as to what effect the 
proposed change would have on public health, safety, welfare and convenience.  Staff finds 
that the following facts support a finding that this zone change is in accordance with Zoning 
Code Title 17 and the Comprehensive Plan: 
 
Fact 1:  The proposed change is in accordance with the borough and city comprehensive plans. 

• Goal 2 of Chapter 6, Land Use, from the 2006 Palmer Comprehensive Plan states, “Maintain 
high quality residential neighborhoods; promote development of a range of desirable new 
places to live in Palmer.”   

• Objective A under Goal 2 goes on to state “Promote a diverse range of quality housing, from 
attractive higher density housing in or near downtown, to outlying housing in more rural 
settings.”   

• Objective A also lists senior housing as one of the three categories of housing the City in 
particular wishes to promote.  

• Goal 2 of Chapter 6 recognized one of Palmer’s many assets to be water and sewer 
connections which would permit higher density housing.  Another asset mentioned is the 
chance to have a residence within walking distance of stores, restaurants and places to 
work.   

• Chapter 4 Public Services, Facilities & Infrastructure, Goal 2, under Objective B Senior 
Services states the city should “provide and sustain public services and facilities to serve the 
senior population. Keep Palmer an attractive place to live for people of all stages of life.” 

 
   a)  The proposed zone change to R-4, High Density Residential with Special Limitations would 
support Goal 2, Chapter 6 and Goal 2, Chapter 4 of the Comprehensive Plan by promoting a 
diverse range of quality housing, particularly the 84 units of senior housing which is a category 
of housing the City wishes to promote, and 
   b)  By providing quality of life amenities such as the 200’ buffer to the existing senior 
housing, a community center and an interior open space including a dog park to accommodate 
the pets of residents in this development. 
 
Fact 2:  The proposed change is compatible with surrounding zoning districts and the 

Page 333 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 6 of 10 

established land use pattern: 
   a)  The parcel’s location is surrounded by a mix of public, business, high density residential 
and planned unit development uses.  Among the surrounding districts and established uses are 
Palmer Job Corps, Mountain Rose Estates, MTA Events Center, Palmer Junior Middle School and 
nearby are Mountain Rose East Condos and Eagle Ridge apartment building. 
   b)  If rezoned to R-4, High Density Residential with Special Limitations requested by the 
applicant, this parcel would be compatible with surrounding zoning districts and existing uses, 
and would allow for future development of this parcel for senior housing. 
   c)  The requested special limitations will ensure that this rezone to R-4, High Density 
Residential would be limited to senior housing that is compatible with the existing nearby public 
uses, higher density residential uses and existing senior housing planned unit development 
(Mountain Rose Estates). 
 
Fact 3:  Public facilities such as schools, utilities and streets are adequate to support the 
proposed change: 
   a)  Public facilities such as schools and utilities are adequate to support the proposed change.  
There will be little to no impact on public schools since one of the special limitations of the 
rezone request restricts development to senior housing. 
   b)  Another listed special limitation of the rezone request is for a reduction in the required 
amount of parking for this parcel since it is restricted to senior housing which will result in a 
lower level of traffic that will be generated by this development. 
   c)  The availability of water and sewer lines to accommodate a high-density development on 
this parcel have previously been confirmed by Public Works. 
 
Fact 4:  Changed conditions affecting the subject parcel or the surrounding neighborhood 
support the proposed change: 
   a)  The Matanuska-Susitna Borough is the fastest growing region in Alaska and the over 65 
population is the fastest growing segment of that growth.  According to the Alaska Department 
of Labor and Workforce Development, Research & Analysis Division, the over 55 population in 
Palmer had increased from 1,079 in 2010 to 1,306 by 2016. 
   b)  This undeveloped property was automatically zoned R-1 upon annexation.  Surrounding 
neighborhoods east of South Chugach are comprised of a mix of residential, public and business 
uses.  The proposed change to R-4, High Density Residential with Special Limitations for this 
parcel is compatible with the variety of the surrounding area’s public uses, businesses, high 
density residential uses and established senior housing. 
 
Fact 5:  The proposed change is consistent with the public welfare and does not grant a special 
privilege to the owners(s): 
   a)  The proposed zone change is consistent with the public welfare in that it provides an 
opportunity to add needed senior housing in Palmer and does not grant this parcel any special 
privilege as the requested zone change is consistent with the adjacent Planned Unit 
Development and nearby properties zoned R-2 and R-4. 
 
Special limitations proposed by the applicant include:  1) Any development to be restricted to 
senior housing; 2) Maximum overall density of 84 units; 3) Two-story height limitation; 4) 
Access to site to be restricted to Cope Industrial Way (except for EVA entrance from 

Page 334 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 7 of 10 

Commercial Drive; 5) 200’ building setback from the southern property boundary; 6) 20’ 
landscape screening easement to be provided at southern property boundary; 7) Parking stall 
ratio not to exceed 1.70 parking stalls per unit. 
 
If the Commission concurs, following Public Hearing and the information provided by the 
applicant and others, staff recommends that the Commission approve the request for rezone 
and forward with a recommendation for approval to the City Council. 
 
There were brief questions of staff regarding vegetative screening and access. 
 
Public Hearing – Chairman Lucas opened the public hearing at 7:40 p.m. 
 
For the Applicant: 
Cameron Johnson, representing AMG & Associates, gave a brief presentation on the overall 
vision for the project; spoke to his background in affordable housing for families and seniors; 
referred to a similar senior development they are currently building in Wasilla (Vista Rose Senior 
Apartments); described the proposed Whispering Winds apartment development will provide 
much needed housing for a segment of the population in the Mat-Su Valley hugely 
underserved; cited statistics supporting the need; discussed the differences between this 
project and the PUD proposed by VOA last year and how it addresses some of the concerns 
raised.  Mr. Johnson spoke to details of the development and the special limitations which were 
outlined by staff; described some of the amenities and noted that vegetative buffers will be 
planted to provide screening from neighboring properties.  He described the site plan and what 
is included with the one and two-bedroom apartments.  Construction of phase one is expected 
to begin June, 2018 with completion in 2019; phase two in 2020 with completion of entire 
project in summer of 2021.    
 
Ron Fasset, Valley Residential Services (VRS), spoke in support of the project, testifying to the 
escalating demand for senior affordable housing in the Mat-Su Borough; cited McDowell Group 
study statistics.  This housing project will make a major contribution toward providing quality, 
safe, and affordable housing for seniors in the Valley.   He encouraged the Commission to 
support rezoning this property as part of their collective effort to bring more affordable senior 
housing to the city of Palmer. 
 
Robert Nilsen, President, Mountain Rose Estates Condominium Association, spoke in support 
of the Whispering Winds Senior Apartments project and the requested rezone of R-1 to R-4 with 
Special Limitations.  Speaking on behalf of the MRE Board and following a special meeting of 
MRE residents, they will not contest the rezoning from R-1 to R-4 with Special Limitations if 
approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission and provided the special limitations as 
proposed are adopted and VOA withdraws their PUD application. 
 
Keith R. Morberg, Mountain Rose Estates resident, spoke in support, and in particular 
thanked AMG and Cameron Johnson for researching MRE concerns and incorporating them into 
the rezone proposal through the special limitations, which he itemized.  In addition, he noted 
that MRE wishes to waive the requirement of a fence between R-1 and R-4, in the belief that 
MRE and Whispering Winds Apartments will be good neighbors.  The vegetative screen and the 

Page 335 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 8 of 10 

200’ setback is much preferred over a fence which would compound the snow drifting problem 
which already exists.  They would like free access between the two developments and share the 
proposed walking trails in both developments.  MRE has been assured by Mr. Johnson they will 
be allowed to review and comment on development plans as they evolve to assure adequate 
drainage and snow storage so that the risk of any future flooding to MRE is minimized – 
evidence of being a good neighbor.  This is a good fit and he strongly recommended approval 
of the rezoning request.    
 
Dave Rose, Coordinator, Matsu Coalition on Housing and Homelessness, spoke in strong 
support.  He highlighted the Matsu Health Foundation study predicting the senior population in 
the Mat-Su Valley at three times greater by the year 2030.  The Mat-Su Valley is a great place 
to live and he could find no negatives here.  He spoke to the ways in which seniors contribute 
to the community.  And he would listen to anybody who is able to label a project in Palmer 
“Whispering Winds.” 
 
Casey Adney, a neighbor on E. Knikknik and State of Alaska law enforcement officer, spoke in 
support, noting this is a good step in direction for public safety in Palmer, which is his number 
one concern.  He agreed that it is hard to find any negatives about this project.  He noted some 
cautions regarding senior apartments in Anchorage not being filled and subsequently being 
taken over by Title 47 housing, however considering the predicted numbers does not see that 
happening here. 
 
Cameron Johnson confirmed that VOA/VRS has agreed to withdraw its PUD application upon 
approval of this project and is also in agreement with MRE concerning a vegetative buffer as 
oppose to a fence. 
 
There being no other comments, Chairman Lucas closed the public hearing at 8:07 pm. 
 
It was the general consensus of the Commission that this project will be a good fit and a 
win/win for our community; that foregoing the barrier fence for vegetation and sharing 
walkways between the two senior communities is an excellent idea; that it is a well-planned 
development and the whole area will be well served. 
 
Resolution 17-004: 
Vote on Motion: Carried unanimously by voice vote. 

In favor: Cruthers, Thom-Bernier, Cordero-Giorgana, Ornquist, Petty, Lucas 
Opposed: 

Absent: 
None 
Maxwell 

[The Commission took a short break at 8:13 pm.; recalled to order at 8:15 pm.] 
 
H. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 
 

1. IM 17-013:  Items for discussion for revisions to Title 17 Zoning of the Palmer 
Municipal Code – Definitions. 

 
Director Garley provided a staff report, noting the Commission has been asked to review 

Page 336 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 9 of 10 

and make recommendations for updating Palmer zoning code, beginning with PMC 
17.08 Definitions.  Provided in the packet is a copy of current code definitions and 
examples of code definitions from other communities for the Commission’s review, 
consideration, and homework for the next meeting. 
 
Discussion ensued on how the Commission wished to proceed.  City Manager Wallace 
provided input regarding the impact of code definitions and the importance of updating 
definitions to fit the use.  Definitions must be fair and reasonable to current and future 
owners and must be enforceable; discussed some of the issues that have come up. 
 
The Commission should review and be prepared to begin a committee of the whole 
discussion on definitions language next meeting. 
 

I. NEW BUSINESS:   
 

1. Presentation by Sara Jansen, Matanuska-Susitna Borough Planning Services Chief to 
discuss the Long Range Transportation Plan. 

 
Ms. Jansen gave a presentation discussing the Borough’s Long Range Transportation 
Plan looking ahead to where we want our transportation needs to be in the year 2035.  
She spoke to federal funding, challenges, risks, and identified some of the goals and 
strategies.  The purpose of her presentation was to bring awareness and to invite input 
from the city as well as public comment for which the deadline is the end of June.  Plan 
details can be found at www.MSBLRTP2035.com which contains an interactive map on 
which to place comments. 
 
Questions and further discussion ensued on various transportation issues and 
challenges. 
 

J. PLAT REVIEWS:  
 

1. IM 17-010:  Preliminary Plat with Vacation Review:  To create one lot from Tract 1-
A, Tract 3, Lot 8, Lot 7 and the west half of Lot 6, Block 3, TA Smith to be known as 
Fisher’s Corner and to vacate a portion of the 20’ wide alley, located inside Palmer 
city limits. 

 
Director Garley summarized the request pointing out that this is the property related to 
the rezoning request heard earlier this evening.  City departments have reviewed:  
Community Development commented that minimum lot sizes will be met and access will 
be from West Arctic Avenue; Public Works’ only concern was that no structures be built 
over the sewer main running down the middle of the property; other city comments 
were no changes necessary. 
 
The Commission had no additional comments. 

 
K. PUBLIC COMMENTS: 

Page 337 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 10 of 10 

*There were no persons wishing to speak on a topic not on the agenda. 
 

L. STAFF REPORT:  Ms. Garley had no additional staff report. 
 
M. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS: 
 

Commissioner Petty: 
• Commented the meeting was very informative tonight and that he learned a lot. 

 
Commissioner Cordero-Giorgana: 
• Commented that he is glad to be back from Juneau; 
• Spoke in appreciation of the Commission’s patience and is looking forward to 

attending the meetings in person for the rest of the year. 
 

Chairman Lucas: 
• Welcomed both Commissioners Cordero-Giorgana and Ornquist back. 

 
Commissioner Ornquist: 
• Spoke in appreciation of the telephonic accommodation while she was away and 

noted she is glad to be back. 
 
N. ADJOURNMENT: 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 9:08 p.m. 
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Dan Lucas, Chairman 
 
__________________________________ 
Kimberly A. McClure 
Planning and Code Compliance Technician 
 

Page 338 of 478



1

Norma Alley

From: Samuel D Tribble <2olbones@gci.net>
Sent: Saturday, June 10, 2017 10:09 AM
To: City Clerk
Subject: [EXTERNAL]amend zoning map to revise designation of Tax Parcel c8

We are very much in favor of this change. Grow Palmer Grow!! 
 
Samuel David Tribble and Gillian May Tribble 
691A East Primrose Circle, Palmer 

Page 339 of 478



1

Norma Alley

From: VIRGINIA TABOR <rubberqueen@msn.com>
Sent: Monday, June 12, 2017 7:51 AM
To: City Clerk
Subject: [EXTERNAL]Tax Parcel C8 in Section 4, Township 17 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian

The following are my comments on the proposed rezoning of this parcel, from R‐1, Single‐family Residential to 
R‐4, High Density Residential with special limitations.  Although I am generally not in favor of high density 
developments, the special limitations of this rezoning goes a long way to change my mind, as long as the 
limitations are strictly adhered to.  My remaining problem with this rezoning is the emergency road that will 
be built directly behind my residence.  I would urge the Council to provide additional measures to prevent its 
use by non‐emergency vehicles.  I would suggest an additional breakaway gate at Chugach Street and signage 
that its use by non‐emergency vehicles is punishable by law. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Virginia Tabor 
475A ‐ Melissa Rose Circle 
Palmer, AK  99645 

Page 340 of 478



Page 341 of 478



Page 342 of 478



Page 343 of 478



1

Norma Alley

From: Carol Moorman <carolm@mtaonline.net>
Sent: Saturday, June 17, 2017 4:11 PM
To: City Clerk
Subject: [EXTERNAL]Proposed re-zoning Ordinance No. 17-009-Z-1-SL

I am in favor of this ordinance.  We need more senior housing in Palmer, and this fits with the 
other senior facilities in the immediate area.   
Carol Moorman 
445B E Melissa Rose Circle 
Palmer, AK 99645 
 

Page 344 of 478



Page 345 of 478



Page 346 of 478



Ca
m

er
on

 Jo
hn

so
n 

w
w

w
.a

m
gl

an
d

.c
om

  w
w

w
.t

p
ch

ou
si

n
g.

co
m

   
W

h
is

p
er

in
g 

W
in

d
s 

Se
n

io
r 

A
p

ar
tm

en
ts

 

Page 347 of 478



…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

P
ro

je
ct

 L
oc

at
io

n
 

Page 348 of 478



…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

W
h

is
p

er
in

g 
W

in
d

s 
Se

n
io

r 
A

p
ar

tm
en

ts
 

Pr
oj

ec
t D

et
ail

s 

84
 u

ni
t s

en
io

r a
pa

rt
m

en
t c

om
m

un
ity

 
40

 1
BR

 u
ni

ts
 (6

07
 S

F)
 

44
 2

BR
 u

ni
ts

 (8
05

 S
F)

 
12

8 
to

ta
l b

ed
ro

om
s 

9 
dw

ell
in

g 
un

its
/a

cr
e 

59
,7

00
 S

F 
– 

To
ta

l u
ni

t s
qu

ar
e 

fo
ot

ag
e 

14
2 

to
ta

l p
ar

ki
ng

 sp
ac

es
 

Re
st

ric
te

d 
to

 se
ni

or
s 5

5 
ye

ar
s a

nd
 o

ld
er

 
24

-h
ou

r o
n-

sit
e 

re
sid

en
t m

an
ag

em
en

t 
 

Page 349 of 478



…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

W
h

is
p

er
in

g 
W

in
d

s 
Se

n
io

r 
A

p
ar

tm
en

ts
 

R-
3 

Z
on

in
g 

Sp
ec

ial
 L

im
ita

tio
ns

 

1.
A

ny
 d

ev
elo

pm
en

t t
o 

be
 re

st
ric

te
d 

to
 se

ni
or

 h
ou

sin
g 

2.
M

ax
im

um
 o

ve
ra

ll 
de

ns
ity

 o
f 8

4 
un

its
 

3.
Tw

o 
st

or
y 

he
ig

ht
 li

m
ita

tio
n 

4.
A

cc
es

s t
o 

sit
e 

to
 b

e 
re

st
ric

te
d 

to
 C

op
e 

In
du

st
ria

l W
ay

 
(e

xc
ep

t f
or

 E
V

A
 e

nt
ra

nc
e 

fr
om

 C
om

m
er

ci
al 

D
riv

e)
 

5.
20

0’
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

se
tb

ac
k 

fr
om

 th
e 

so
ut

he
rn

 p
ro

pe
rty

 
bo

un
da

ry
 

6.
20

’ l
an

ds
ca

pe
 sc

re
en

in
g 

ea
se

m
en

t t
o 

be
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

at
 

so
ut

he
rn

 p
ro

pe
rty

 b
ou

nd
ar

y 
7.

Pa
rk

in
g 

ra
tio

 n
ot

 to
 e

xc
ee

d 
1.

7 
pa

rk
in

g 
st

all
s p

er
 u

ni
t 

Page 350 of 478



…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

W
h

is
p

er
in

g 
W

in
d

s 
Se

n
io

r 
A

p
ar

tm
en

ts
 

Pr
op

os
ed

 S
et

ba
ck

 

20
0’

 
Se

tb
ac

k 

P
ro

je
ct

 
F

oo
tp

ri
nt

 

Page 351 of 478



…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

W
h

is
p

er
in

g 
W

in
d

s 
Se

n
io

r 
A

p
ar

tm
en

ts
 

Pr
op

os
ed

 S
et

ba
ck

 

Page 352 of 478



W
h

is
p

er
in

g 
W

in
d

s 
Se

n
io

r 
A

p
ar

tm
en

ts
 

Pr
op

os
ed

 D
es

ig
n 

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

Page 353 of 478



W
h

is
p

er
in

g 
W

in
d

s 
Se

n
io

r 
A

p
ar

tm
en

ts
 

Pr
op

os
ed

 D
es

ig
n 

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

Page 354 of 478



W
h

is
p

er
in

g 
W

in
d

s 
Se

n
io

r 
A

p
ar

tm
en

ts
 

Pr
op

os
ed

 D
es

ig
n 

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

Page 355 of 478



…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

W
h

is
p

er
in

g 
W

in
d

s 
Se

n
io

r 
A

p
ar

tm
en

ts
 

Si
te

 A
m

en
iti

es
 

Co
ve

re
d 

pa
rk

in
g 

Co
m

m
un

ity
 g

ar
de

n 
Bu

sin
es

s c
en

te
r 

Co
m

m
un

ity
 g

at
he

rin
g 

ro
om

 w
ith

 k
itc

he
n 

E
xe

rc
ise

 ro
om

 w
ith

 e
qu

ip
m

en
t 

Fe
nc

ed
 d

og
 p

ar
k 

W
alk

in
g 

tra
ils

 
Pi

cn
ic 

ta
bl

es
 a

nd
 B

BQ
 a

re
a 

 

Page 356 of 478



E
ne

rg
y-

St
ar

 C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
Re

fr
ig

er
at

or
 &

 R
an

ge
 w

ith
 O

ve
n 

D
ish

w
as

he
r, 

M
icr

ow
av

e 
&

 D
isp

os
al 

W
as

he
r/

D
ry

er
 

E
xt

er
io

r P
riv

at
e 

St
or

ag
e 

Pr
iv

at
e 

Pa
tio

 o
r B

alc
on

y 
G

re
en

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
Fe

at
ur

es
 in

clu
di

ng
 so

lar
 th

er
m

al 
pa

ne
ls 

an
d 

so
lar

 p
ho

to
vo

lta
ic 

pa
ne

ls 

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

W
h

is
p

er
in

g 
W

in
d

s 
Se

n
io

r 
A

p
ar

tm
en

ts
 

U
ni

t A
m

en
iti

es
 

Page 357 of 478



Ph
as

e 
I b

eg
in

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
in

 Ju
ne

 2
01

8 
Co

m
pl

et
e 

co
ns

tru
ct

io
n 

in
 Ju

ne
 2

01
9 

Ph
as

e 
II

 b
eg

in
 c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

in
 Ju

ne
 2

02
0 

Co
m

pl
et

e 
co

ns
tru

ct
io

n 
of

 p
ha

se
 II

 in
 Ju

ne
 2

02
1 

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

W
h

is
p

er
in

g 
W

in
d

s 
Se

n
io

r 
A

p
ar

tm
en

ts
 

D
ev

elo
pm

en
t S

ch
ed

ul
e 

Page 358 of 478



V
is

ta
 R

os
e 

Se
n

io
r 

A
p

ar
tm

en
ts

 
Cu

rr
en

tly
 u

nd
er

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
in

 W
as

ill
a 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

Page 359 of 478



…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

 
D

ev
elo

pe
r/

O
w

ne
r o

f o
ve

r 5
,0

00
 u

ni
ts

 th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 th

e 
w

es
te

rn
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 
St

af
f e

xp
er

tis
e 

in
 la

nd
 u

se
, a

cq
ui

sit
io

n,
 fi

na
nc

e, 
co

ns
tru

ct
io

n,
 a

nd
 re

al 
es

ta
te

 la
w

 
Pr

ov
en

 tr
ac

k 
re

co
rd

 in
 p

ro
vi

di
ng

 h
ig

h 
qu

ali
ty

 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

ts
, t

im
ely

 e
xe

cu
tio

n 
an

d 
co

m
m

un
ity

 sa
tis

fa
ct

io
n 

Cu
rr

en
tly

 b
ui

ld
in

g 
78

 u
ni

ts
 o

f s
en

io
r h

ou
sin

g 
in

 W
as

ill
a 

 A
M

G
 &

 A
ss

oc
ia

te
s,

 L
L

C
 

Page 360 of 478



…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

 
D

ev
elo

pe
r/

O
w

ne
r o

f o
ve

r 1
40

 h
ou

sin
g 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
ts

 in
 

13
 w

es
te

rn
 st

at
es

 c
on

sis
tin

g 
of

 o
ve

r 1
2,

00
0 

un
its

 
Sp

ec
ial

iz
e 

in
 P

ub
lic

/P
riv

at
e 

Pa
rtn

er
sh

ip
s w

ith
 lo

ca
l 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

 
St

af
f e

xp
er

tis
e 

in
 la

nd
 u

se
, f

in
an

ce
, c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n,

 
ar

ch
ite

ct
ur

e, 
as

se
t m

an
ag

em
en

t a
nd

 re
al 

es
ta

te
 la

w
 

Pr
ov

en
 tr

ac
k 

re
co

rd
 in

 p
ro

vi
di

ng
 h

ig
h 

qu
ali

ty
 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
ts

, t
im

ely
 e

xe
cu

tio
n 

an
d 

co
m

m
un

ity
 sa

tis
fa

ct
io

n 

P
ac

if
ic

 W
es

t 
C

om
m

u
n

it
ie

s,
 I

n
c.

 

Page 361 of 478



…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

A
H

F
 T

op
 5

0 
D

ev
el

op
er

s 
N

at
io

n
w

id
e,

 2
01

6 

Page 362 of 478



T
h

an
k 

Y
ou

! 

C
am

er
on

 Jo
hn

so
n 

(8
18

)3
80

-2
60

0 
cj

oh
ns

on
@

am
gl

an
d.

co
m

 

Page 363 of 478



 

Page 364 of 478



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 17-010-Z-2-SL Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Ordinance No. 17-010-Z-2-SL 

 
Subject:  Amending the Zoning Map to Revise the Designation of Lot 8, Lot 7 and the West One-half of 
Lot 6, Block 3, T A Smith Subdivision Located in Section 33, Township 18 North, Range 2 East, Seward 
Meridian from R-2, Low Density Residential to CG – General Commercial with Special Limitations  
 
Agenda of: June 13, 2017 
 
Council Action: ☐ Adopted  ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Denied 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Community Development Director Sandra Garley 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 

X  Community Development   5/22/17 

X  Finance   5/23/17 

  Fire    

  Police     

  Public Works     

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 

 

 

City Attorney   

City Clerk   
 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $  
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
X Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 365 of 478



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 17-010-Z-2-SL Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
 Ordinance No. 17-010-Z-2-SL 
 Planning and Zoning Commission Resolution No. 17-003 with Findings of Facts 
 Ordinance No. 05-025-Z-6-SL (Background Information on adjacent lot) 
 Staff Report 
 Public Notice and Vicinity Map for Commission Public Hearing of May 18, 2017 
 Zoning Map Amendment Application 
 Written Comments Received for Commission Hearing 
 Planning and Zoning Commission Minutes from May 18, 2017 
 Public Comment Received for City Council Public Hearing 

 
Summary Statement:  
 
If approved, Ordinance No. 17-010-Z-2-SL will rezone Lot 8, Lot 7 and the West one-half of Lot 6, Block 
3, T A Smith Subdivision from R-2, Low Density Residential to CG – General Commercial with Special 
Limitations. 
 
Background:  
 
These lots are surrounded by commercial and low density residential uses.  Until recently, the subject lots 
contained structures but those structures have been demolished.  These lots are currently vacant.   
 
Located to the west of the lots is Tract 1-A; the north portion of this tract was rezoned from R-2 to CG in 
May 2005 with Special Limitations to limit access to Arctic Avenue.  Located to the south of these lots is 
Tract 3, a commercially zoned tract and the former location of Chickadee’s.  
 
With the recently completed extension of Bogard Road connecting the Parks Highway to the Glenn 
Highway at the W. Arctic Avenue intersection, commercial activity will continue to increase in this area.  
 
The owners are requesting the zone change to allow these lots to have the same zoning designation as 
Tract 1-A and Tract 3 for a future replat combining the lots and tracts together into one new parcel for 
future commercial development while continuing to limit access to Arctic Avenue for the property.  
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 17-010-Z-2-SL to amend the Zoning Map to revise the designation of Lot 8, Lot 7 
and the West one-half of Lot 6, Block 3, T A Smith Subdivision located in Section 33, Township 18 North, 
Range 2 East, Seward Meridian from R-2, Low Density Residential to CG – General Commercial with the 
following Special Limitation: 

1) Expansion of the Special Limitation on Tract 1-A to limit access to Arctic Avenue to include these 
lots 

 

Page 366 of 478



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 17-010-Z-2-SL Page 1 of 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 17-010-Z-2-SL 
 

An Ordinance of the Palmer City Council Amending the Zoning Map to revise the 
designation of Lot 8, Lot 7 and the West one-half of Lot 6, Block 3, T A Smith 
Subdivision located in Section 33, Township 18 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian 
from R-2, Low Density Residential to CG – General Commercial with Special 
Limitations  
 
THE CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA ORDAINS: 

 
Section 1. Classification. This ordinance shall be permanent in nature and shall be 

incorporated into the Palmer Municipal Code. 
 
Section 2. Severability. If any provision of this ordinance or any application thereof to any 

person or circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and the application to 
other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 

 
 Section 3. Authority and legislative findings. Pursuant to 17.80.040, the City Council 
hereby adopts the following zoning map amendment in accordance with the legislative findings 
set below: 

WHEREAS, the City of Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission (the Commission) received 
an application on April 19, 2017 from applicant, Robert and Barbara Fisher, owner of Lot 8, Lot 7 
and the west one-half of Lot 6, Block 3, T A Smith subdivision, located in Section 33, Township 
18 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian, Alaska to rezone the subject property from being zoned 
R-2, Low Density to CG - General Commercial with Special Limitations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Special Limitation requests expansion of the Special Limitation on Tract 1-

A to limit access to Arctic Avenue to include these lots; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Commission duly gave required notices, held its required public hearing on 

May 18, 2017, made a written report of its decision as to such need, justification and effect of 

Planning & Zoning Commission Information: 
Initiated By: Planning and Zoning 

Commission 
Public Hearing: May 18, 2017 

Action: Approved 
Vote: Unanimous 

City Council Information: 
Introduced by: City Manage Wallace 

Date: June 13, 2017 
Public Hearing: June 27, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

Yes: No: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 367 of 478



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 17-010-Z-2-SL Page 2 of 2 

the change of zoning in Commission Resolution No. 17-003, and voted 6 in favor and 0 opposed 
to recommend that such amendment to the zoning map be approved; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Commission adopted finding of fact in Commission Resolution No. 17-003 

as to the need, justification and effect of the change of zoning on May 18, 2017; and 
WHEREAS, the City Council duly gave required notices, held its required public hearing on 

this date, and has duly considered the request to rezone the property, all evidence and testimony 
presented including any comments of the persons attending the public hearing, the findings of 
fact set forth in Planning and Zoning Commission Resolution No. 17-003, and the recommendation 
of the Commission; and 

 
 Section 4. The City of Palmer Zoning Districts Map dated December, 2014, is hereby 
amended to revise the zoning designation of Lot 8, Lot 7 and the west one-half of Lot 6, Block 3, 
T A Smith subdivision, located in Section 33, Township 18 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian, 
Alaska from being zoned R-2, Low Density Residential to CG - General Commercial with the 
following Special Limitation: 
 

1) Expansion of the Special Limitation on Tract 1-A to limit access to Arctic Avenue to include 
these lots 

 Section 5. Effective Date. Ordinance No. 17-010-Z-2-SL shall take effect upon adoption by 
the Palmer City Council.  

 
Passed and approved this _______ day of ______, 2017. 
 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 
 
________________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 

Page 368 of 478



Page 369 of 478



Page 370 of 478



Page 371 of 478



Page 372 of 478



Page 373 of 478



Page 374 of 478



Page 375 of 478



Page 376 of 478



Page 377 of 478



Page 378 of 478



Page 379 of 478



Page 380 of 478



Page 381 of 478



Page 382 of 478



Page 383 of 478



Page 384 of 478



Page 385 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 1 of 10 

 PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
 CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA  
 REGULAR MEETING 
 THURSDAY, MAY 18, 2017 
 7:00 P.M. - COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER: 

The regular meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission was called to order by 
Chairman Lucas at 7:00 p.m. 

 
B. ROLL CALL: 

Present and constituting a quorum were Commissioners: 
Dan Lucas, Chairman 
David Petty, Vice Chairman 

  Douglas Cruthers 
  Kristy Thom Bernier 
  Erick Cordero-Giorgana (at 7:03 pm) 
  Gena Ornquist 

Absence(s): 
  Merry Maxwell (Excused) 

Also present were: 
Sandra S. Garley, Community Development Director 
Kimberly A. McClure, Planning and Code Compliance Technician 
Nathan Wallace, City Manager 
Pam Whitehead, Recording Secretary 

 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  The Pledge was led by Commissioner Petty. 
 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 

The agenda was unanimously approved as presented.  There were no objections. 
[Cruthers, Thom Bernier, Ornquist, Petty, Lucas] 

 
E. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING: 

The minutes of the April 20, 2017 Regular Meeting were unanimously approved as 
presented.  There were no objections. 
[Cruthers, Thom Bernier, Ornquist, Petty, Lucas] 
 

F. PERSONS TO BE HEARD: 
There were no persons in the audience wishing to speak on a topic not on the agenda. 

 
G. PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
 

1. Resolution 17-003:  A Resolution of the Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission 
Recommending City Council Approve a Zoning Map Amendment for Lot 8, Lot 7 and 
the west one-half of Lot 6, Block 3, TA Smith Subdivision to be Rezoned from R-2, 
Low Density Residential to CG-General Commercial, located within Section 33, 
Township 18 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian, Alaska. 

Page 386 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 2 of 10 

 
Chairman Lucas called for the motion: 

Main Motion: To recommend approval of the requested Zoning Map Amendment 
more particularly described in Resolution No. 17-003, to include 
the adoption of recommended Findings of Fact outlined below by 
staff that support the requested rezone of Lot 8, Lot 7 and the 
west one-half of Lot 6, Block 3, T A Smith Subdivision, from R-2 
Low Density Residential to CG General Commercial. 

Moved by: Petty 
Seconded by: Cruthers 

 
Staff Report:  Director Garley recited general and background information including site 
information, parcel size, existing zoning, surrounding land uses, particular considerations, code 
requirements, and findings of fact.  Public notice and publishing requirements pursuant to code 
have been met.  A total of 1 written comment was received in response, with 0 in favor, 1 
opposed, and 0 no objection. 
 
According to PMC 17.80.036 C, the Commission shall give consideration as to what effect the 
proposed change would have on public health, safety, welfare and convenience.  Staff finds 
that the following facts support a finding that this zone change is in accordance with Zoning 
Code Title 17 and the Comprehensive Plan: 
 
Fact 1:  The proposed change is in accordance with the borough and city comprehensive plans. 

• Chapter 7, Economic Vitality, of the City of Palmer Comprehensive Plan Goal 3 identifies the 
need for strengthening Palmer’s role as a place to shop for residents of Palmer, residents of 
surrounding areas and visitors.   

• Objective A of Goal 3, of the Plan mentions the need to provide space for commercial 
expansion; set high standards to ensure quality development.  Objective A also notes that 
commercial growth is essential to Palmer’s quality of life and economic health.   

• Objective A of Goal 3 notes that the Comprehensive Plan policies are intended to ensure 
appropriate and sufficient land is zoned to encourage investors and business owners to 
make investments that expand the commercial products and services available in Palmer. 

• Chapter 7 Goal 4 of the Comprehensive Plan encourages new commercial developments, so 
residents of Palmer, residents of surrounding areas, and visitors can find the goods and 
services they need in Palmer.  

• Chapter 5, Transportation, of the Comprehensive Plan under Goal 1 notes that the City 
should work to control access to commercial development along the Glenn Highway. 

• Chapter 6, Land Use, of the Comprehensive Plan Goal 1 under Objective A recommends 
guiding growth and development patterns by providing adequate space for expansion of 
commercial uses along the Glenn Highway. 

 
   a) The proposed change would support the objectives and goals of the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan by encouraging commercial development and expansion of over two acres of commercial 
uses at the intersection of the Glenn Highway and W. Arctic Avenue (the Old Glenn Highway) 
which are major transportation links in the Palmer road system. 
   b) This new commercial node will provide over two acres of land for the development of 
commercial activities that will increase the availability of goods and services for residents and 

Page 387 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 3 of 10 

travelers along the highway. 
   c) By special limitation, this new commercial development will only have access from the 
south from W. Arctic Avenue. 
   d) The new extension of Bogard Road connecting the Parks Highway to the Glenn Highway at 
the W. Arctic Avenue intersection will increase the number of travelers along the Glenn Highway 
who can stop to shop for goods and services at the new commercial development by accessing 
this property via W. Arctic Avenue. 
 
Fact 2:  The proposed change is compatible with surrounding zoning districts and the 
established land use pattern. 
   a) The property in question is continuous to CG Commercial General zoning property on the 
west side.  The entire south side of the block between the Glenn Highway and S. Alaska Street 
is zoned General Commercial and has existing commercial businesses with access from West 
Arctic Avenue. 
   b) The remaining five lots on Block 3 of TA Smith Subdivision will remain their R-2 Low 
Density Residential zoning designation and will continue to have their access off W. Auklet 
Avenue.  The special limitations of the proposed rezone will prevent the use of W. Auklet by 
commercial traffic. 
   c) The proposed change will simplify the process for the property owners to combine these 
lots with the adjacent tracts that are already zoned General Commercial with access from W. 
Arctic Avenue, thereby encouraging the future development of these lots for commercial use of 
the property that would be compatible with the established commercial and residential uses in 
the surrounding zoning districts. 
 
Fact 3:  Public facilities such as schools, utilities and streets are adequate to support the 
proposed change. 
   a) The property owners are currently in the platting process to combine thee lots with the 
adjacent commercially zoned tracts, specifically Tract 1-A which has access restricted to West 
Arctic Avenue, a major collector street that is adequate for any new commercial traffic. 
   b) Utilities are available to serve the proposed use of property as General Commercial; Public 
Works Department has commented that their main concern is that no structures are built over 
the sewer main that will be in the middle of the property if combined. 
   c) The proposed change is from R-2, Low Density Residential to CG, General Commercial; 
there would be little to no impact on public schools since the proposed change would be for a 
commercial use.  The nearest public school is located 2,533 feet from the proposed rezoning. 
 
Fact 4:  Changed conditions affecting the subject parcel or the surrounding neighborhood 
support the proposed change. 
   a) The extension of Bogard Road from the intersection of W. Arctic Avenue and the Glenn 
Highway from Palmer High School to the Parks Highway have created a new transportation 
corridor which increases traffic passing by the property in question and makes commercial 
development more viable for this property. 
   b) The proposed rezone request would match the zoning of the surrounding tracts to make 
the process easier to re-plat the lots and tracts into one large commercially zoned parcel with 
direct access onto W. Arctic Avenue and would be compatible with the surrounding 
commercially zoned properties. 

Page 388 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 4 of 10 

 
Fact 5:  The proposed change is consistent with the public welfare and does not grant a special 
privilege to the owner(s): 
   a)  The proposed change does not grant the owner any special privilege as the property in 
question is contiguous to existing Commercial zoning and business development; other property 
owners of land contiguous to commercially zoned lots on major transportation routes may 
request a zone change to Commercial. 
   b)  The proposed change is consistent with the public welfare by permitting the future use of 
these properties to be developed for commercial activity for the benefit of Palmer residents and 
visitors. 
 
If the Commission concurs, following Public Hearing and the information provided, staff 
recommends that the Commission approve the request for rezone and forward with a 
recommendation for approval to the City Council. 
 
There were brief questions and discussion concerning the tunnel used by high school students 
to cross the Glenn Highway and placement of a fence for safety as well as create a buffer to the 
residential community. 
 
Public Hearing – Chairman Lucas opened the Public Hearing at 7:16 p.m. 
 
Paul Hulbert, surrogate for Petitioners Robert and Barbara Fisher, spoke in support.  He 
explained the goal is to clean up the site and combine the parcels into one large parcel, making 
it compatible with the General Commercial area.  Speaking to the concern of the neighbor 
objecting to the use of W. Auklet for commercial traffic, he explained there is no intent to put 
commercial traffic onto W. Auklet; that in the re-platting process, they have asked for vacation 
of that portion of the 20-foot alley to provide a smooth transition to route all traffic to W. Arctic.  
They have no problems with the special conditions regarding access only onto W. Arctic. 
 
There being no further comments, the public hearing was closed at 7:20 p.m. 
 
Following brief Commission discussion: 
 
Resolution No. 17-003: 
Vote on Motion: Carried unanimously by voice vote. 

In favor: Cruthers, Thom-Bernier, Cordero-Giorgana, Ornquist, Petty, Lucas 
Opposed: 

Absent: 
None 
Maxwell 

 
2. Resolution 17-004:  A Resolution of the Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission 

Recommending City Council Approve a Zoning Map Amendment for Tax Parcel C8 to 
be Rezoned from R-1, Single-family Residential, to R-4, High Density Residential with 
Special Limitations, located in Section 4, Township 17 North, Range 2 East, Seward 
Meridian, Alaska. 

 
Chairman Lucas called for the motion: 

Page 389 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 5 of 10 

Main Motion: To recommend approval of the requested Zoning Map Amendment 
more particularly described in Resolution No. 17-004, to include 
the adoption of Findings of Fact outlined below by staff that 
support the requested rezone of Tax Parcel C8 from R-1, Single-
family Residential, to R-4 High Density Residential with Special 
Limitations. 

Moved by: Petty 
Seconded by: Cruthers 

 
Staff Report:  Director Garley recited general and background information including site 
information, parcel size, existing zoning, surrounding land uses, particular considerations, code 
requirements, and findings of fact.  Public notice and publishing requirements pursuant to code 
have been met.  Of the 180 notices sent, a total of 15 written comments were received in 
response, with 9 in favor, 3 opposed, and 3 no objection.  (See detailed information in the 
packet) 
 
According to PMC 17.80.036 C, the Commission shall give consideration as to what effect the 
proposed change would have on public health, safety, welfare and convenience.  Staff finds 
that the following facts support a finding that this zone change is in accordance with Zoning 
Code Title 17 and the Comprehensive Plan: 
 
Fact 1:  The proposed change is in accordance with the borough and city comprehensive plans. 

• Goal 2 of Chapter 6, Land Use, from the 2006 Palmer Comprehensive Plan states, “Maintain 
high quality residential neighborhoods; promote development of a range of desirable new 
places to live in Palmer.”   

• Objective A under Goal 2 goes on to state “Promote a diverse range of quality housing, from 
attractive higher density housing in or near downtown, to outlying housing in more rural 
settings.”   

• Objective A also lists senior housing as one of the three categories of housing the City in 
particular wishes to promote.  

• Goal 2 of Chapter 6 recognized one of Palmer’s many assets to be water and sewer 
connections which would permit higher density housing.  Another asset mentioned is the 
chance to have a residence within walking distance of stores, restaurants and places to 
work.   

• Chapter 4 Public Services, Facilities & Infrastructure, Goal 2, under Objective B Senior 
Services states the city should “provide and sustain public services and facilities to serve the 
senior population. Keep Palmer an attractive place to live for people of all stages of life.” 

 
   a)  The proposed zone change to R-4, High Density Residential with Special Limitations would 
support Goal 2, Chapter 6 and Goal 2, Chapter 4 of the Comprehensive Plan by promoting a 
diverse range of quality housing, particularly the 84 units of senior housing which is a category 
of housing the City wishes to promote, and 
   b)  By providing quality of life amenities such as the 200’ buffer to the existing senior 
housing, a community center and an interior open space including a dog park to accommodate 
the pets of residents in this development. 
 
Fact 2:  The proposed change is compatible with surrounding zoning districts and the 

Page 390 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 6 of 10 

established land use pattern: 
   a)  The parcel’s location is surrounded by a mix of public, business, high density residential 
and planned unit development uses.  Among the surrounding districts and established uses are 
Palmer Job Corps, Mountain Rose Estates, MTA Events Center, Palmer Junior Middle School and 
nearby are Mountain Rose East Condos and Eagle Ridge apartment building. 
   b)  If rezoned to R-4, High Density Residential with Special Limitations requested by the 
applicant, this parcel would be compatible with surrounding zoning districts and existing uses, 
and would allow for future development of this parcel for senior housing. 
   c)  The requested special limitations will ensure that this rezone to R-4, High Density 
Residential would be limited to senior housing that is compatible with the existing nearby public 
uses, higher density residential uses and existing senior housing planned unit development 
(Mountain Rose Estates). 
 
Fact 3:  Public facilities such as schools, utilities and streets are adequate to support the 
proposed change: 
   a)  Public facilities such as schools and utilities are adequate to support the proposed change.  
There will be little to no impact on public schools since one of the special limitations of the 
rezone request restricts development to senior housing. 
   b)  Another listed special limitation of the rezone request is for a reduction in the required 
amount of parking for this parcel since it is restricted to senior housing which will result in a 
lower level of traffic that will be generated by this development. 
   c)  The availability of water and sewer lines to accommodate a high-density development on 
this parcel have previously been confirmed by Public Works. 
 
Fact 4:  Changed conditions affecting the subject parcel or the surrounding neighborhood 
support the proposed change: 
   a)  The Matanuska-Susitna Borough is the fastest growing region in Alaska and the over 65 
population is the fastest growing segment of that growth.  According to the Alaska Department 
of Labor and Workforce Development, Research & Analysis Division, the over 55 population in 
Palmer had increased from 1,079 in 2010 to 1,306 by 2016. 
   b)  This undeveloped property was automatically zoned R-1 upon annexation.  Surrounding 
neighborhoods east of South Chugach are comprised of a mix of residential, public and business 
uses.  The proposed change to R-4, High Density Residential with Special Limitations for this 
parcel is compatible with the variety of the surrounding area’s public uses, businesses, high 
density residential uses and established senior housing. 
 
Fact 5:  The proposed change is consistent with the public welfare and does not grant a special 
privilege to the owners(s): 
   a)  The proposed zone change is consistent with the public welfare in that it provides an 
opportunity to add needed senior housing in Palmer and does not grant this parcel any special 
privilege as the requested zone change is consistent with the adjacent Planned Unit 
Development and nearby properties zoned R-2 and R-4. 
 
Special limitations proposed by the applicant include:  1) Any development to be restricted to 
senior housing; 2) Maximum overall density of 84 units; 3) Two-story height limitation; 4) 
Access to site to be restricted to Cope Industrial Way (except for EVA entrance from 

Page 391 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 7 of 10 

Commercial Drive; 5) 200’ building setback from the southern property boundary; 6) 20’ 
landscape screening easement to be provided at southern property boundary; 7) Parking stall 
ratio not to exceed 1.70 parking stalls per unit. 
 
If the Commission concurs, following Public Hearing and the information provided by the 
applicant and others, staff recommends that the Commission approve the request for rezone 
and forward with a recommendation for approval to the City Council. 
 
There were brief questions of staff regarding vegetative screening and access. 
 
Public Hearing – Chairman Lucas opened the public hearing at 7:40 p.m. 
 
For the Applicant: 
Cameron Johnson, representing AMG & Associates, gave a brief presentation on the overall 
vision for the project; spoke to his background in affordable housing for families and seniors; 
referred to a similar senior development they are currently building in Wasilla (Vista Rose Senior 
Apartments); described the proposed Whispering Winds apartment development will provide 
much needed housing for a segment of the population in the Mat-Su Valley hugely 
underserved; cited statistics supporting the need; discussed the differences between this 
project and the PUD proposed by VOA last year and how it addresses some of the concerns 
raised.  Mr. Johnson spoke to details of the development and the special limitations which were 
outlined by staff; described some of the amenities and noted that vegetative buffers will be 
planted to provide screening from neighboring properties.  He described the site plan and what 
is included with the one and two-bedroom apartments.  Construction of phase one is expected 
to begin June, 2018 with completion in 2019; phase two in 2020 with completion of entire 
project in summer of 2021.    
 
Ron Fasset, Valley Residential Services (VRS), spoke in support of the project, testifying to the 
escalating demand for senior affordable housing in the Mat-Su Borough; cited McDowell Group 
study statistics.  This housing project will make a major contribution toward providing quality, 
safe, and affordable housing for seniors in the Valley.   He encouraged the Commission to 
support rezoning this property as part of their collective effort to bring more affordable senior 
housing to the city of Palmer. 
 
Robert Nilsen, President, Mountain Rose Estates Condominium Association, spoke in support 
of the Whispering Winds Senior Apartments project and the requested rezone of R-1 to R-4 with 
Special Limitations.  Speaking on behalf of the MRE Board and following a special meeting of 
MRE residents, they will not contest the rezoning from R-1 to R-4 with Special Limitations if 
approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission and provided the special limitations as 
proposed are adopted and VOA withdraws their PUD application. 
 
Keith R. Morberg, Mountain Rose Estates resident, spoke in support, and in particular 
thanked AMG and Cameron Johnson for researching MRE concerns and incorporating them into 
the rezone proposal through the special limitations, which he itemized.  In addition, he noted 
that MRE wishes to waive the requirement of a fence between R-1 and R-4, in the belief that 
MRE and Whispering Winds Apartments will be good neighbors.  The vegetative screen and the 

Page 392 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 8 of 10 

200’ setback is much preferred over a fence which would compound the snow drifting problem 
which already exists.  They would like free access between the two developments and share the 
proposed walking trails in both developments.  MRE has been assured by Mr. Johnson they will 
be allowed to review and comment on development plans as they evolve to assure adequate 
drainage and snow storage so that the risk of any future flooding to MRE is minimized – 
evidence of being a good neighbor.  This is a good fit and he strongly recommended approval 
of the rezoning request.    
 
Dave Rose, Coordinator, Matsu Coalition on Housing and Homelessness, spoke in strong 
support.  He highlighted the Matsu Health Foundation study predicting the senior population in 
the Mat-Su Valley at three times greater by the year 2030.  The Mat-Su Valley is a great place 
to live and he could find no negatives here.  He spoke to the ways in which seniors contribute 
to the community.  And he would listen to anybody who is able to label a project in Palmer 
“Whispering Winds.” 
 
Casey Adney, a neighbor on E. Knikknik and State of Alaska law enforcement officer, spoke in 
support, noting this is a good step in direction for public safety in Palmer, which is his number 
one concern.  He agreed that it is hard to find any negatives about this project.  He noted some 
cautions regarding senior apartments in Anchorage not being filled and subsequently being 
taken over by Title 47 housing, however considering the predicted numbers does not see that 
happening here. 
 
Cameron Johnson confirmed that VOA/VRS has agreed to withdraw its PUD application upon 
approval of this project and is also in agreement with MRE concerning a vegetative buffer as 
oppose to a fence. 
 
There being no other comments, Chairman Lucas closed the public hearing at 8:07 pm. 
 
It was the general consensus of the Commission that this project will be a good fit and a 
win/win for our community; that foregoing the barrier fence for vegetation and sharing 
walkways between the two senior communities is an excellent idea; that it is a well-planned 
development and the whole area will be well served. 
 
Resolution 17-004: 
Vote on Motion: Carried unanimously by voice vote. 

In favor: Cruthers, Thom-Bernier, Cordero-Giorgana, Ornquist, Petty, Lucas 
Opposed: 

Absent: 
None 
Maxwell 

[The Commission took a short break at 8:13 pm.; recalled to order at 8:15 pm.] 
 
H. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 
 

1. IM 17-013:  Items for discussion for revisions to Title 17 Zoning of the Palmer 
Municipal Code – Definitions. 

 
Director Garley provided a staff report, noting the Commission has been asked to review 

Page 393 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 9 of 10 

and make recommendations for updating Palmer zoning code, beginning with PMC 
17.08 Definitions.  Provided in the packet is a copy of current code definitions and 
examples of code definitions from other communities for the Commission’s review, 
consideration, and homework for the next meeting. 
 
Discussion ensued on how the Commission wished to proceed.  City Manager Wallace 
provided input regarding the impact of code definitions and the importance of updating 
definitions to fit the use.  Definitions must be fair and reasonable to current and future 
owners and must be enforceable; discussed some of the issues that have come up. 
 
The Commission should review and be prepared to begin a committee of the whole 
discussion on definitions language next meeting. 
 

I. NEW BUSINESS:   
 

1. Presentation by Sara Jansen, Matanuska-Susitna Borough Planning Services Chief to 
discuss the Long Range Transportation Plan. 

 
Ms. Jansen gave a presentation discussing the Borough’s Long Range Transportation 
Plan looking ahead to where we want our transportation needs to be in the year 2035.  
She spoke to federal funding, challenges, risks, and identified some of the goals and 
strategies.  The purpose of her presentation was to bring awareness and to invite input 
from the city as well as public comment for which the deadline is the end of June.  Plan 
details can be found at www.MSBLRTP2035.com which contains an interactive map on 
which to place comments. 
 
Questions and further discussion ensued on various transportation issues and 
challenges. 
 

J. PLAT REVIEWS:  
 

1. IM 17-010:  Preliminary Plat with Vacation Review:  To create one lot from Tract 1-
A, Tract 3, Lot 8, Lot 7 and the west half of Lot 6, Block 3, TA Smith to be known as 
Fisher’s Corner and to vacate a portion of the 20’ wide alley, located inside Palmer 
city limits. 

 
Director Garley summarized the request pointing out that this is the property related to 
the rezoning request heard earlier this evening.  City departments have reviewed:  
Community Development commented that minimum lot sizes will be met and access will 
be from West Arctic Avenue; Public Works’ only concern was that no structures be built 
over the sewer main running down the middle of the property; other city comments 
were no changes necessary. 
 
The Commission had no additional comments. 

 
K. PUBLIC COMMENTS: 

Page 394 of 478



 

                                                                                                                                                  
Planning and Zoning Commission May 18, 2017 
 Page 10 of 10 

*There were no persons wishing to speak on a topic not on the agenda. 
 

L. STAFF REPORT:  Ms. Garley had no additional staff report. 
 
M. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS: 
 

Commissioner Petty: 
• Commented the meeting was very informative tonight and that he learned a lot. 

 
Commissioner Cordero-Giorgana: 
• Commented that he is glad to be back from Juneau; 
• Spoke in appreciation of the Commission’s patience and is looking forward to 

attending the meetings in person for the rest of the year. 
 

Chairman Lucas: 
• Welcomed both Commissioners Cordero-Giorgana and Ornquist back. 

 
Commissioner Ornquist: 
• Spoke in appreciation of the telephonic accommodation while she was away and 

noted she is glad to be back. 
 
N. ADJOURNMENT: 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 9:08 p.m. 
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Dan Lucas, Chairman 
 
__________________________________ 
Kimberly A. McClure 
Planning and Code Compliance Technician 
 

Page 395 of 478



Page 396 of 478



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 17-021 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Resolution No. 17-021 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the Vacation of a 20’ by 113’ Alley Adjacent to Tract 3 and Lots 8, 7 and 6 of 
Block 3, TA Smith Subdivision and Replacement of Vacated Area with a 20’ Utility Easement 
 
Agenda of: June 27, 2017 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Denied 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: City Manager Nathan Wallace 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 

  Community Development    

X  Finance  

 06/09/2017 

  Fire    

  Police     

X  Public Works  

 
 06/09/2017 

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 

 

 

City Attorney   

City Clerk   
 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $  
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
X Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 397 of 478



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 17-021 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 
 Resolution No. 17-021 
 Letter from Amy Ott Buchanan, Platting Technician giving notice of Platting Board Action 
 MSB support documents 

 
Summary Statement:  
 
The Robert Fisher has requested that the City vacate its interests in a 20’ wide by 113’ long portion of an 
alley access easement across his property and replace it with a 20’ wide by 113’ long utility easement. 
The alley is adjacent to Tract 3 and Lots 8, 7 and 6 Block 3, TA Smith Subdivision.  Palmer Municipal Code 
Section 3.20.080(I) provides that the city council may convey or relinquish its interest in an easement if 
the public purpose is no longer used or useful. 
 
The need for an alley access to the adjacent property along the 113’ section of alley no longer exists. 
Replacing the alley access easement with a utility easement preserves the 20’ needed for installation or 
maintenance of utilities on the property while allowing the property owners to better control the access 
points to the property. 
 
Background: 
 
This 20’ alley was dedicated as part of the plat of TA Smith Subdivision, recorded as plat #64-6 on 
February 21, 1964. 
 

PMC 3.20.080(I) 
 “Conveyance of Public Improvement Property Interests. The city council may at any time, 
without public sale, convey, quitclaim, release, cancel, or otherwise relinquish any real 
property easement, right-of-way, permit, or license the city may have or hold for the purpose 
of installing, constructing, or maintaining a public improvement, whenever the interest is no 
longer used or useful for that purpose.” 

 
Replacing this 20’ alley with a 20’ utility easement will permit the combining of these lots with adjacent 
property owned by Mr. Fisher allowing the property to be developed in a unified manner that will enhance 
the economic base of the City. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Resolution No. 17-021 Authorizing the Vacation of a 20’ by 113’ Alley adjacent to Tract 3 and 
Lots 8, 7 and 6 of Block 3, TA Smith Subdivision and Replacement of Vacated area with a 20’ Utility 
Easement. 
 
 
 

Page 398 of 478



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 17-021 Page 1 of 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 

 
Resolution No. 17-021 

 
A Resolution of the Palmer City Council Authorizing the Vacation of a 20’ by 113’ Alley 
adjacent to Tract 3 and Lots 8, 7 and 6 of Block 3, TA Smith Subdivision and 
Replacement of Vacated area with a 20’ Utility Easement 
 
 WHEREAS, Robert Fisher, owner of Tract 3 and Lots 8, 7 and 6 of Block 3, TA Smith 
Subdivision submitted a request to the Matanuska-Susitna Borough MSB) Platting Board to vacate 
of a 20’ by 113’ portion of the alley adjacent to Tract 3 and Lots 8, 7 and 6 of Block 3, TA Smith 
Subdivision Plat No. 71-87 and replacement of vacated area with a 20’ utility easement; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough Platting Board met on June 1, 2017 and voted 
to approve the request for vacation of the 20’ alley as described above and replacement with a 
20’ utility easement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, MSB 43.15.035(0) requires vacations to be approved by City Council within 30 
days of the written notification; and  
 
 WHEREAS, MSB 43.15.035(8)(1) Vacations notes "a vacation is conditioned upon the final 
approval of a plat affecting the same land which provides equal or better access to all areas 
affected by the vacation (B)(1)(a); the surrounding area is fully developed and all planned or 
needed rights-of-way and utilities are constructed (B)(1)(b); the right-of-way is not being used 
and alternative access has been provided (8)(1)(c)”; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the alley is not constructed and the property owner proposes to replace the 
vacated portion of the alley with a utility easement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Palmer Municipal Code 3.20.080(I), Conveyance of Public Improvement 
Property Interests provides that the city council may at any time, without public sale, convey, 
quitclaim, release, cancel, or otherwise relinquish any real property easement, right-of-way, 
permit, or license the city may have or hold for the purpose of installing, constructing, or 
maintaining a public improvement, whenever the interest is no longer used or useful for that 
purpose; and  
 
  

Introduced by: City Manager Wallace 
Date: June 27, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

Yes: No: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 399 of 478



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 17-021 Page 2 of 2 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the Palmer City Council hereby authorizes the 
vacation of a 20’ by 113’ alley adjacent to Tract 3 and Lots 8, 7 and 6 of Block 3, TA Smith 
Subdivision and replacement of vacated area with a 20’ utility easement. 
 
Approved by the City Council of the City of Palmer, Alaska, this ____ day of ___________, 2017. 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 

Page 400 of 478



Page 401 of 478



Page 402 of 478



Page 403 of 478



Page 404 of 478



Page 405 of 478



Page 406 of 478



Page 407 of 478



 

Page 408 of 478



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 17-022 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Resolution No. 17-022 

 
Subject:  Accepting and Appropriating the 2017 Volunteer Fire Assistance Grant From the State of 
Alaska, Department of Natural Resources, Division of Forestry, in the Amount of $7,500.00 for the 
Purchase of Wildland Firefighting Equipment, Fire Safety Shelters, Firefighting Suppression Foam and 
Wildland Fire Personal Protective Clothing 
 
Agenda of: June 27, 2017 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Denied 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: John McNutt, Fire Chief  
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 

  Community Development    

√  Finance 
 

 06/08/17 

  Fire    

  Police     

  Public Works     

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 

 

 

City Attorney   

City Clerk   
 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 8,250.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
√ Creates revenue in the amount of: $ 7,500.00 
X Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 8,250.00 
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
X Budgeted Line item(s): 01-13-10-6046 ($750) 
√ Not budgeted  01-00-00-3344 ($7500) 

 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 409 of 478



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 17-022 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 
 Resolution No. 17-022 
 Grant Award Letter 

 
Summary Statement:  
 
The City of Palmer has been granted a State of Alaska, Department of Natural Resources, Division of 
Forestry, Volunteer Fire Assistance Grant in the amount of $7,500.00 to purchase wildland firefighting 
equipment, fire safety shelters, firefighting suppression foam and firefighter protective clothing for Palmer 
Fire and Rescue. Palmer Fire & Rescue applied for this grant in February of 2017.  This grant is used to 
assist in the purchase of wildland fire protection equipment for departments across Alaska.  In March of 
2017 an interagency committee met to allocate the funds to area fire departments, and Palmer Fire & 
Rescue was chosen to receive $7,500.00.  This grant will be matched by Palmer Fire & Rescue budgeted 
funds in the amount of $750.00. 
 
The firefighting equipment that will be purchased is forestry firefighting hand tools and shovels.  These 
hand tools will allow wildland firefighting activities to stay efficient and effective by replacing worn and 
damaged equipment within the department inventory.  The fire safety shelters will increase the current 
inventory of safety shelters in the department.  The personal protective clothing will replace worn clothing 
that is not safe for responders to use in a wildland fire emergency response.  This allows more responders 
to work safely when deployed on a large wildland fire emergency response. The firefighting suppression 
foam will allow for a more efficient extinguishment in areas that water re-supply is not available. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Resolution No. 17-022 to accept and appropriate the 2017 Volunteer Fire Assistance Grant from 
the State of Alaska, Department of Natural Resources, Division of Forestry for the purchase of wildland 
firefighting equipment, fire safety shelters and wildland firefighting personal protective clothing.

Page 410 of 478



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 17-022 Page 1 of 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 
 

Resolution No. 17-022 
 
A Resolution of the Palmer City Council Authorizing the City Manager to Accept and 
Appropriate The 2017 Volunteer Fire Assistance Grant: Local Solicitation and 
Authorizing the City Manager to Purchase Wildland Firefighting Equipment, Fire 
Safety Shelters and Wildland Fire Personal Protective Clothing 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Palmer Fire & Rescue provides fire protection and response to calls 
for service for the citizens of Palmer; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Palmer Fire & Rescue needs dependable wildland firefighting 

equipment for the suppression of wildland fire emergencies; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Palmer Fire & Rescue needs fire safety shelters for the responders’ 

protection during the extinguishment of fire emergencies; and 
 
WHERAS, the City of Palmer Fire & Rescue needs wildland fire personal protective clothing 

for the safety of responders’ during fire suppression activities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Palmer needs firefighting suppression foam for extinguishment of 

wildland fire emergencies; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Palmer Fire & Rescue has been awarded $7,500.00 from the State 

of Alaska, Department of Natural Resources, Volunteer Fire Assistance Grant for the purchase of 
wildland firefighting equipment, fire safety shelters and wildland fire personal protective clothing. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the Palmer City Council accept and appropriate the 
2017 Volunteer Fire Assistance Grant from the State of Alaska, Department of Natural Resources, 
Division of Forestry for the purchase of wildland firefighting equipment, fire safety shelters, 
firefighting suppression foam and wildland fire personal protective clothing. 
 
Approved by the City Council of the City of Palmer, Alaska, this ____ day of ___________, 2017. 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 
_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 

Introduced by: City Manager Wallace 
Date: June 27, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

Yes: No: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 411 of 478



Page 412 of 478



Page 413 of 478



 

Page 414 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-053 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Action Memorandum No. 17-053 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Purchase Insurance Coverage for the Period 
July 1, 2017, through June 30, 2018, per the Premium Quote Submitted by the City’s Insurance Broker, 
Insurance Brokers of Alaska 
 
Agenda of: June 27, 2017 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Denied 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Gina Davis, Finance Director & Alice Williams, HR Manager 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 

  Community Development    

X  Finance 
 

 6/5/17 

  Fire    

  Police     

  Public Works     

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 

 

 

City Attorney   

City Clerk   
 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ $308,407.66 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
X Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ $308,407.66 
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
X Budgeted Line item(s): Various Accounts 
 Not budgeted   

 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 415 of 478



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 17-053 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
 Insurance Brokers of Alaska Commercial Insurance Proposal 

 
Summary Statement:  
 
Insurance Brokers of Alaska is the City’s current Insurance Broker. They presented the attached proposal 
from Alaska Public Entity Insurance (APEI) to continue as the City’s Insurance Carrier for the year 
beginning July 1, 2017. 
 
The insurance coverage includes property (including earthquakes and fire); crime; general liability; police 
professional liability; auto liability and physical damage; and worker’s compensation. 
 
The last contract was for $266,303.90.  This contract is for $308,137.66 $308,407.66, which is an increase 
of $42,103.76. (There was a typographical error in the attached quote in which numbers in the airport 
liability were transposed) 
 
The proposal  from  the  Alaska  Public  Entity  Insurance  (APEI)  has  an  annual  premium of 
$319,253.37. Upon receipt of premium payment, APEI will apply a Member Dividend to the City the 
amount of $10,845.71, resulting in a net premium of $308,407.66. 
 
This increase is primarily from a drop in dividends from last year by over $5,000.00, an increase in physical 
damage coverage (asset value increase) by over $16,000.00 and workman’s comp by over $10,000.00 
 
The City has had insurance coverage with excellent service through APEI since 2008. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
To approve Action Memorandum No. 17-053 with a description of what is being approved. 

Page 416 of 478



Page 417 of 478



Page 418 of 478



Page 419 of 478



Page 420 of 478



Page 421 of 478



Page 422 of 478



Page 423 of 478



Page 424 of 478



Page 425 of 478



Page 426 of 478



Page 427 of 478



Page 428 of 478



Page 429 of 478



Page 430 of 478



Page 431 of 478



Page 432 of 478



Page 433 of 478



Page 434 of 478



Page 435 of 478



Page 436 of 478



Page 437 of 478



Page 438 of 478



Page 439 of 478



Page 440 of 478



Page 441 of 478



Page 442 of 478



Page 443 of 478



 

Page 444 of 478



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 17-023 Page 1 of 3 

City of Palmer  
Resolution No. 17-023 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Enter into a Four-Year Agreement with Motorola 
Solutions to Lease-Purchase Radio and Computer Aided Dispatch Equipment in the Amount of 
$725,913.28, and to Lease Over a Term Ending No Later Than August of 2021, and to Obtain the 
Equipment Under the Governmental and Proprietary Procurements Section of Palmer Municipal Code 
3.21.230 
 
Agenda of: June 27, 2017 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Denied 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Lance Ketterling, Chief of Police 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 

  Community Development    

X  Finance  

 5/26/17 

  Fire    

X  Police 
 

 

 
5-23-17 

  Public Works     

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 

 

 

City Attorney   

City Clerk   
 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 725,913.28 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
X Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 725,913.28 over four years 
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
X Budgeted Line item(s): 09-01-10-6055 and 50-01-10-6053 ($125,000 Down Payment)  
X Not budgeted  Annual lease payments  
 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 445 of 478



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 17-023 Page 2 of 3 

Attachment(s): 
 Resolution No. 17-023 
 Motorola Solutions Project Proposal and schedule 
 Lease Proposal 
 Lease Agreement 

 
Summary Statement:  
 
The Palmer Dispatch Center currently operates Motorola Gold Elite radio consoles.  These consoles allow 
the dispatch center to transmit and receive radio traffic via the Alaska Land Mobile Radio system (ALMR).  
ALMR is a common system in the State of Alaska used for radio communications.  It allows communication 
over long distance and between multiple agencies.  For example, a Palmer Police officer who happens to 
be in Anchorage or Big Lake is able to communicate with Palmer Dispatch via ALMR whereas they would 
not be able to cover that distance on a simplex channel.  Additionally, that same Palmer officer is able to 
talk to Alaska State Troopers, Wasilla Police, or most other organizations in the same manner.  Simply 
put, the ability to use the ALMR system is critical to the Palmer Police mission, particularly in emergencies 
when interoperability with other agencies is required. 
 
ALMR is updating its operating system to include security patches required by the United States 
Department of Defense.  These security patches and the resulting updates are not supported by the 
Motorola Gold Elite consoles currently in use by Palmer Dispatch.  In order to use ALMR, Palmer must 
upgrade its dispatch consoles to a newer version, the Motorola MCC 7500 series.  This challenge is not 
unique to the Palmer Dispatch center.  Many other centers all around the state are participating in similar 
upgrades, with much of the work already scheduled or completed.  
 
The Palmer Dispatch center also utilizes a Computer Aided Dispatch system, or CAD.  The CAD is used for 
tracking responding units, providing location and mapping data for certain 911 calls, records management, 
statistical gathering and analysis, paging responders, and call response recommendations.  However, the 
CAD currently utilized by Palmer Dispatch was originally purchased by the Mat Su Borough in 2007.  It 
was last upgraded in 2013.  The Borough has agreed to transfer the CAD hardware to Palmer, but 
upgrading it to current NextGen standards would cost almost as much as a new system.   
 
Motorola, who supplies the radio consoles mentioned above, has included a new CAD system in its 
proposal to the City.   The new CAD is a NextGen system, meaning it is capable of additional functions 
such as 911 texting, video and image reception and transmission, and enhanced cellular data accuracy.  
The last point is particularly important since an estimated 75% of 911 calls come in via wireless rather 
than landline phones.  Finally, NextGen CAD systems are IP rather than analog based, reducing operating 
and maintenance costs.  To amplify this last point, one year of maintenance for Palmer Dispatch’s current 
system is estimated at $14,900.00.  A year of maintenance for the proposed system is estimated to be 
$5,800.00 
 
Both the radio consoles and CAD system are key components in the City’s public safety role and our 
Emergency Operations Plan.  Their functionality, maintenance, and interoperability are important facets 
in the police and fire departments being able to achieve their mission.  Without them, the police and fire 
departments would not be able to communicate effectively or manage their resources as efficiently as 
would be needed in emergencies.  
 
Total project funds for this proposal amount to $675,654.00, to be paid over a period of five years, not 
including finance charges.  This includes a down payment of $125,000.00 to be paid upon acceptance, 
and an additional $150,228.32 per year for four years.  If alternate funding sources can be secured prior 
to the completion of the agreement, the entire balance may be paid early without penalty.  The lease rate 
is 3.53%, which results in a total finance charge of $50,259.28 for a total of $725,913.28 if the City elects 
to lease to the end of the terms extended by Motorola. Program costs include installation, 12 month 

Page 446 of 478



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 17-023 Page 3 of 3 

warranty period, and training for dispatch personnel in operating the new systems.  Project 
implementation is estimated to be six months for the radio consoles and 10-12 months for the CAD.   
 
The proposal qualifies for sole source purchasing under Palmer Municipal code in the following ways: 

1. The radio consoles have already been pre-bid under the Houston Galveston Area Council (H-GAC).  
H-GAC is an organization similar to the National Association of State Procurement Officers.  
Motorola Solutions has extended Palmer H-GAC pricing on the radios consoles and bundled the 
CAD to that pricing.  This satisfies P.M.C. 3.21.230 (A)2.  

2. Motorola Solutions is the only means by which Palmer can obtain new Motorola equipment, which 
both the radio consoles and this particular CAD are examples of.  The equipment is not available 
through other vendors.  It has the additional benefit of providing a single point of contact for 
maintenance services and upgrades as needed.   

 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Resolution No. 17-023 authorizing the city manager to negotiate a four year agreement and lease 
radio and computer aided dispatch equipment in an amount totaling $725,913.28. 
 
 

Page 447 of 478



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 17-023 Page 1 of 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 
 

Resolution No. 17-023 
 
A Resolution of the Palmer City Council Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate 
and Enter into a Four Year Agreement With Motorola Solutions to Lease-Purchase 
Radio and Computer Aided Dispatch Equipment in the Amount of $725,913.28, and to 
Lease Over a Term Ending no Later Than August of 2021, and to Obtain the Equipment 
Under the Governmental and Proprietary Procurements Section of Palmer Municipal 
Code 3.21.230 
 

WHEREAS, the Palmer Dispatch Center operates radio consoles and computer aided 
dispatch equipment for the dispatch of Palmer emergency assets and; 

 
WHEREAS, the Alaska Land Mobile Radio (ALMR) system is a common system in the state 

of Alaska that allows communication over long distances and between multiple agencies and; 
 
WHEREAS, the ALMR system is being updating with security patches by the United States 

Department of Defense (primary provider of ALMR) and; 
 

WHEREAS, the ALMR system is essential to the Palmer emergency services mission, 
particularly in emergencies when interoperability with other agencies is required and;  

 
WHEREAS, the Palmer Dispatch Center radio consoles and computer aided dispatch are 

outdated and will no longer be interoperable with other agencies and; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the Palmer City Council hereby authorizes the City 
Manager to negotiate and enter into a four year agreement with Motorola Solutions to lease-
purchase radio and computer aided dispatch equipment in the amount of $725,913.28, and to 
lease over a term ending no later than August of 2021, and to obtain the equipment under the 
governmental and proprietary procurements section of Palmer Municipal Code 3.21.230. 
 
Approved by the City Council of the City of Palmer, Alaska, this ____ day of ___________, 2017. 
 
 
 

______________________________ 
 Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 
_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 

Introduced by: City Manager 
Date: June 27, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

Yes: No: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 448 of 478



     
 Motorola Solutions, Inc. 
10680 Treena St., Ste 200  
San Diego, CA 92131 
USA 

 
 

 

 
May 1, 2017 

 
Palmer Police Department   
  

Subject:  Proposal for a Palmer Police Dispatch Center MCC7500 Console Updates 

 
Motorola Solutions, Inc. (“Motorola”) is pleased to have the opportunity to provide Palmer PD with 
quality communications equipment and services. The Motorola project team has taken great care to 
propose a solution that will meet your needs and provide unsurpassed value. 

To best meet the functional and operational specifications of this solicitation, Motorola’s solution 
includes a combination of hardware, software, and services. Specifically, this solution replaces the 
existing Motorola Solutions Centracom Gold Elite dispatch system with the current Motorola Solutions 
MCC 7500 Dispatch system, which includes the following: 

♦ 2 MCC7500 Dispatch Console Operator Positions  
♦ A Backup Conventional Controller and 5 Conventional Gateways 
♦ An MKM 7000 Console Alias Manager  
♦ An SDM 3000 Aux I/O Interface 
♦ An Archiving Interface Server for IP Logging 
♦ Verint Trunked Radio and Telephony IP Logging Recorders 

In addition, this proposal includes pricing for a Spillman CAD system (in Appendix A) which will replace 
the existing CAD system. This Proposal consists of this cover letter along with its Exhibits.  This 
Proposal is based on the terms and conditions of the existing Communications System Agreement 
between the City of Palmer Police Department and Motorola Solutions. 

Palmer may accept this Proposal by delivering to Motorola a Purchase Order or Contract Award 
incorporating by reference this Proposal. This proposal shall remain valid for a period of 60 days from the 
date of this cover letter. In addition, this proposal includes a special and conditional discount to reduce the 
Contract Price if the project is deployed consistently with (or ahead of) the proposed Project Schedule.  
Please see the Pricing Summary section of the Proposal. 

Motorola will be pleased to address any concerns Palmer may have regarding the proposal. Please direct 
any questions to your Motorola account executive, Roy Kyser at (425) 412-0698.  

Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Larsen Grabenkort  
Area Sales Manager 
PNW Region 
Motorola Solutions, Inc.  

Page 449 of 478



ID
Ta

sk
 N

am
e

Du
ra

tio
n

St
ar

t
Fi

ni
sh

1
Pa

lm
er
 P
.D
. D

is
pa

tc
h 
Co

ns
ol
e 
Im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n 
Pr
oj
ec
t

12
3d

M
on

 6
/2
6/
17

Tu
e 
12

/1
9/
17

2
Co

nt
ra
ct

16
d

M
on

 6
/2
6/
17

Tu
e 
7/
18

/1
7

3
C
o
n
tr
ac
t 
A
w
ar
d

0
d

M
o
n
 6
/2
6
/1
7

M
o
n
 6
/2
6
/1
7

4
C
o
n
tr
ac
t 
A
d
m
in
is
tr
at
io
n

1
0
d

M
o
n
 6
/2
6
/1
7

M
o
n
 7
/1
0
/1
7

5
P
ro
je
ct
 K
ic
k‐
O
ff

5
d

W
ed

 7
/1
2
/1
7

Tu
e 
7
/1
8
/1
7

6
Co

nt
ra
ct
 D
es
ig
n 
Re

vi
ew

 
20

d
W
ed

 7
/1
9/
17

Tu
e 
8/
15

/1
7

7
R
ev
ie
w
 C
o
n
tr
ac
t 
D
es
ig
n
 /
 F
in
al
iz
e 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 P
la
n

1
5
d

W
ed

 7
/1
9
/1
7

Tu
e 
8
/8
/1
7

8
D
es
ig
n
 A
p
p
ro
va
l

0
d

Tu
e 
8
/1
5
/1
7

Tu
e 
8
/1
5
/1
7

9
O
rd
er
 P
ro
ce
ss
in
g 

5d
W
ed

 7
/1
9/
17

Tu
e 
7/
25

/1
7

10
P
ro
ce
ss
 E
q
u
ip
m
en

t 
lis
ts

5
d

W
ed

 7
/1
9
/1
7

Tu
e 
7
/2
5
/1
7

11
O
rd
e
r 
B
ri
d
ge
d

0
d

Tu
e 
7
/2
5
/1
7

Tu
e 
7
/2
5
/1
7

12
M
an

uf
ac
tu
rin

g
34

d
W
ed

 7
/2
6/
17

Tu
e 
9/
12

/1
7

13
M
an

u
fa
ct
u
re
 M

o
to
ro
la
 F
N
E

2
1
d

W
ed

 7
/2
6
/1
7

W
e
d
 8
/2
3
/1
7

14
Sh

ip
 E
q
u
ip
m
en

t 
to
 F
ie
ld

8
d

Th
u
 8
/2
4
/1
7

Tu
e 
9
/5
/1
7

15
R
ec
ei
ve
 a
n
d
 In

ve
n
to
ry
 E
q
u
ip
m
en

t 
in
 F
ie
ld

5
d

W
ed

 9
/6
/1
7

Tu
e 
9
/1
2
/1
7

16
Cu

st
om

er
 R
es
po

ns
ib
ili
tie

s R
ea

dy
0d

W
ed

 9
/1
3/
17

W
ed

 9
/1
3/
17

17
C
u
st
o
m
er
‐p
ro
vi
d
ed

 s
it
e 
co
n
n
ec
ti
vi
ty
 r
ea
d
y

0
d

W
ed

 9
/1
3
/1
7

W
e
d
 9
/1
3
/1
7

18
C
u
st
o
m
er
‐p
ro
vi
d
ed

 p
o
w
er
, s
p
ac
e,
 f
u
rn
it
u
re
, e
tc
 r
ea

d
y

0
d

W
ed

 9
/1
3
/1
7

W
e
d
 9
/1
3
/1
7

19
C
u
st
o
m
er
‐p
ro
vi
d
ed

 m
o
n
it
o
rs
 a
va
ila
b
le

0
d

W
ed

 9
/1
3
/1
7

W
e
d
 9
/1
3
/1
7

20
C
u
st
o
m
er
‐p
ro
vi
d
ed

 t
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 t
ab

le
s 
re
ad

y
0
d

W
ed

 9
/1
3
/1
7

W
e
d
 9
/1
3
/1
7

21
Pa

lm
er
 P
D
 E
qu

ip
m
en

t I
ns
ta
lla

tio
n

8d
Th

u 
9/
14

/1
7

M
on

 9
/2
5/
17

22
P
er
m
an

en
tl
y 
In
st
al
l D

is
p
at
ch
 B
ac
kr
o
o
m
 E
q
u
ip
m
en

t,
 A
u
x 
I/
O
 a
n
d
 C
C
G
W
 

co
n
n
ec
ti
o
n
s

4
d

Th
u
 9
/1
4
/1
7

Tu
e 
9
/1
9
/1
7

23
Te

m
p
o
ra
ri
ly
 S
et
u
p
 2
 M

C
C
7
5
0
0
 o
p
s

2
d

W
ed

 9
/2
0
/1
7

Th
u
 9
/2
1
/1
7

24
P
re
p
ar
e 
fo
r 
C
u
to
ve
r 
‐ 
R
u
n
 C
at
5
e 
ca
b
le
s 
to
 D
is
p
at
ch
, e
tc
.

2
d

Fr
i 9
/2
2
/1
7

M
o
n
 9
/2
5
/1
7

25
In
st
al
la
ti
o
n
 C
o
m
p
le
te

0
d

M
o
n
 9
/2
5
/1
7

M
o
n
 9
/2
5
/1
7

26
P
al
m
er
 P
D
 In

st
al
la
ti
o
n
 A
cc
ep

ta
n
ce

0
d

M
o
n
 9
/2
5
/1
7

M
o
n
 9
/2
5
/1
7

27
Pa

lm
er
 P
D
 C
on

so
le
 P
ro
gr
am

m
in
g 
&
 O
pt
im

iz
at
io
n

18
d

W
ed

 9
/2
7/
17

Fr
i 1

0/
20

/1
7

28
P
er
fo
rm

 R
‐5
6
 A
u
d
it

2
d

W
ed

 9
/2
7
/1
7

Th
u
 9
/2
8
/1
7

29
C
o
n
so
le
 P
ro
gr
am

m
in
g 

1
1
d

Fr
i 9
/2
9
/1
7

Fr
i 1
0
/1
3
/1
7

30
Sy
st
em

 O
p
ti
m
iz
at
io
n

5
d

M
o
n
 1
0
/1
6
/1
7

Fr
i 1
0
/2
0
/1
7

31
P
al
m
er
 P
D
 P
ro
gr
am

m
in
g 
&
 O
p
ti
m
iz
at
io
n
 C
o
m
p
le
te

0
d

Fr
i 1
0
/2
0
/1
7

Fr
i 1
0
/2
0
/1
7

32
Pa

lm
er
 P
D
 A
cc
ep

ta
nc
e 
Te

st
in
g 

2d
M
on

 1
0/
23

/1
7

Tu
e 
10

/2
4/
17

33
P
er
fo
rm

 S
ys
te
m
 T
es
ti
n
g

1
d

M
o
n
 1
0
/2
3
/1
7

M
o
n
 1
0
/2
3
/1
7

34
P
al
m
er
 P
D
 S
A
TP

 A
cc
ep

ta
n
ce

0
d

M
o
n
 1
0
/2
3
/1
7

M
o
n
 1
0
/2
3
/1
7

35
P
al
m
er
 P
D
 T
ra
n
si
ti
o
n
 t
o
 S
er
vi
ce
/P
TC

1
d

Tu
e 
1
0
/2
4
/1
7

Tu
e 
1
0
/2
4
/1
7

36
Tr
ai
ni
ng

1d
M
on

 1
0/
30

/1
7

M
on

 1
0/
30

/1
7

37
P
er
fo
rm

 D
is
p
at
ch
 a
n
d
 A
d
m
in
 C
o
n
so
le
 T
ra
in
in
g 
at
 P
al
m
er
 P
D

1
d

M
o
n
 1
0
/3
0
/1
7

M
o
n
 1
0
/3
0
/1
7

38
Cu

to
ve

r 
3d

W
ed

 1
1/
1/
17

Fr
i 1

1/
3/
17

39
P
al
m
er
 P
D
 C
u
to
ve
r 
D
is
p
at
ch
 ‐
 P
er
m
an

en
tl
y 
In
st
al
l C

o
n
so
le
s

3
d

W
e
d
 1
1
/1
/1
7

Fr
i 1
1
/3
/1
7

6/
2
6

8/
15

7/
25

9
/1
3

9
/1
3

9
/1
3

9
/1
3

9
/1
3 9/
25

9/
25

10
/2
0

10
/2
3

Ju
n

Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov

De
c

Ja
n

Fe
b

te
r

3r
d 

Q
ua

rte
r

4t
h 

Q
ua

rte
r

1s
t Q

ua
rte

P
ag

e
 1

Page 450 of 478



ID
Ta

sk
 N

am
e

Du
ra

tio
n

St
ar

t
Fi

ni
sh

40
C
u
to
ve
rs
 C
o
m
p
le
te

0
d

Fr
i 1
1
/3
/1
7

Fr
i 1
1
/3
/1
7

41
Fi
na

liz
e 

30
d

M
on

 1
1/
6/
17

Tu
e 
12

/1
9/
17

42
R
em

o
ve
 a
n
d
 r
ec
yc
le
 b
ac
kr
o
o
m
 e
q
u
ip
m
en

t 
an

d
 G
o
ld
 E
lit
e 
co
n
so
le
s

5
d

M
o
n
 1
1
/1
3
/1
7

Fr
i 1
1
/1
7
/1
7

43
P
u
n
ch
lis
t 
R
es
o
lu
ti
o
n

1
0
d

M
o
n
 1
1
/6
/1
7

Fr
i 1
1
/1
7
/1
7

44
Fi
n
al
iz
e 
D
o
cu
m
en

ta
ti
o
n

2
0
d

M
o
n
 1
1
/2
0
/1
7

Tu
e 
1
2
/1
9
/1
7

45
Fi
n
al
 A
cc
ep

ta
n
ce

0
d

Tu
e 
1
2
/1
9
/1
7

Tu
e 
1
2
/1
9
/1
7

1
1/
3

12
/1
9

Ju
n

Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov

De
c

Ja
n

Fe
b

te
r

3r
d 

Q
ua

rte
r

4t
h 

Q
ua

rte
r

1s
t Q

ua
rte

P
ag

e
 2

Page 451 of 478



Date: May 4,2017

To: Palmer, City of 
Attn: Chief L. Ketterling 
423 S. Valley Way 
Palmer, AK  99645 

Re: Communications System Financing Proposal

Motorola Solutions, Inc. is pleased to submit the following proposal for the 
financing of your Motorola communications equipment in accordance with the 
terms and conditions outlined below:

Transaction Type: Municipal Lease Purchase Agreement (Tax-exempt)

Lessor: Motorola Solutions, Inc. (or its Assignee)

Lessee: Palmer, City of

Total Transaction Value: $ 675,654.00

Down Payment: $ 125,000.00

Balance to Finance: $ 550,654.00

Equipment:
2 Ops of MCC 7500 Connected to the M-Core switch, IP based Verint Voice Logger for all 
channels and talk groups, installation, integration, optimization, to include Spillman CAD 
offered as an Addenda to the original proposal. MCC is $522,164.00, and Spillman is 
$153,490.00 = $675,654.00 (As per the Motorola Solutions equipment proposal.)

Title: Title to the equipment will vest with the Lessee.

Insurance: Lessee will be responsible to insure the equipment as outlined in the lease contract.

Taxes: Personal property, sales, leasing, use, stamp, or other taxes are for the account of the Lessee.

Option 1

Lease Term 4 Years

Payment Type Annually Arrears

Lease Rate 3.53%

Page 1 of 2

5/25/2017file:///C:/Users/nwallace/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20...

Page 452 of 478



Option 1

Lease Factor 0.272818

Payment $150,228.32

Payment Commencement First payment due one year after contract execution

Expiration: The above lease rates and factors are valid for all leases commenced by 6/3/2017. After this 
date the rate will be reset to reflect current market conditions.

Program Highlights: Terms up to seven years can be structured for Municipal Lease Purchase Agreement (Tax-
exempt).

One hundred percent (100%) of a project’s acquisition cost can be financed.

Payment frequency can be matched to meet your cash flow and budget requirements.

No pre-payment penalties.

Future equipment upgrades can easily be accommodated via add-on lease schedules, 
restructuring already existing deals, etc.

Qualifications: Receipt of a properly executed documentation package. 

Lessee qualifies as a political subdivision or agency of the State as defined in the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986. The interest portion of the Lease Payments shall be excludable from 
the Lessor's gross income pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code. 

Receipt of a copy of the last 2 year's audited financial statements and current year's budget 
from the Lessee.

This proposal should not be construed as a commitment to finance. It is subject to final credit 
approval.

Documentation: Municipal Equipment Lease Purchase Agreement 
Opinion of Counsel 
Schedule A/Equipment List 
Schedule B/Amortization Schedule 
8038G 
UCC-1 
Certificate of Incumbency 
Statement of Essential Use/Source of Funds 
Evidence of Insurance or Statement of Self Insurance 
Resolution from governing body authorizing the execution of the Lease 
Delivery & Acceptance Certificate 

Please feel free to contact me if there are any questions, or if an alternate structuring is required. 

Regards, 
Gary Peters 
Mr. 
+1 (907) 830-4324 

Page 2 of 2

5/25/2017file:///C:/Users/nwallace/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20...

Page 453 of 478



Page 454 of 478



Page 455 of 478



Page 456 of 478



Page 457 of 478



Page 458 of 478



Page 459 of 478



Page 460 of 478



Page 461 of 478



Page 462 of 478



Page 463 of 478



Page 464 of 478



Page 465 of 478



Page 466 of 478



Page 467 of 478



Page 468 of 478



Page 469 of 478



Page 470 of 478



Page 471 of 478



Page 472 of 478



Page 473 of 478



Page 474 of 478



Page 475 of 478



Page 476 of 478



Page 477 of 478



Page 478 of 478


	Agenda
	AM 17-044 2018 GPFSA Agreement
	AM 17-045 2018 Rescue Services Agreement
	AM 17-046 WWTP MEA Utilities Relocate
	AM 17-047 Airport Lease with FCA Properties
	AM 17-048 Airport Lease with Artic's Air Academy
	AM 17-049 Airport Lease with N A Holdings
	AM 17-050 Airport Lease with Northern Aviation
	AM 17-051 Airport Lease with FSS
	AM 17-052 Airport Lease with Hinchinbrook
	Minutes 2-14-17 Regular Meeting
	Minutes 5-23-17 Regular Meeting
	City Manager's Report
	Mayor's Report
	Ord. 17-009 Whispering Winds Rezone R-1 to R-4
	Ord. 17-010 Fisher Rezone R-2 to CG
	Res. 17-021 Alley Vacation Near Aucklet
	Res. 17-022 2017 VFA Grant
	AM 17-053 APEI Insurance Renewal
	Res. 17-023 Police Radio and CAD Purchase
	2017-0627 Council Packet Web Pgs 277-478.pdf
	Agenda
	AM 17-044 2018 GPFSA Agreement
	AM 17-045 2018 Rescue Services Agreement
	AM 17-046 WWTP MEA Utilities Relocate
	AM 17-047 Airport Lease with FCA Properties
	AM 17-048 Airport Lease with Artic's Air Academy
	AM 17-049 Airport Lease with N A Holdings
	AM 17-050 Airport Lease with Northern Aviation
	AM 17-051 Airport Lease with FSS
	AM 17-052 Airport Lease with Hinchinbrook
	Minutes 2-14-17 Regular Meeting
	Minutes 5-23-17 Regular Meeting
	City Manager's Report
	Mayor's Report
	Ord. 17-009 Whispering Winds Rezone R-1 to R-4
	Ord. 17-010 Fisher Rezone R-2 to CG
	Res. 17-021 Alley Vacation Near Aucklet
	Res. 17-022 2017 VFA Grant
	AM 17-053 APEI Insurance Renewal
	Res. 17-023 Police Radio and CAD Purchase




